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88TII CONGRESS } HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
fd Session 

OPERATIONS OF BILLIE SOL ESTES 

INTRODUCTION 

DESCRIPTION OF INVESTIGATION 

The Committee on Government Operations, 1mder the Rules of the 
House of Representatives, is assigned responsibility for examining the 
operntion of Government activities. Jmisdiction over the operations 
of the Department of Agriculture and certain other departments and 
agencies has been delegated by the committee to its Intergo,Tern­
mental Relations Subcommittee. 

The subcommittee began a preliminary examination of Billie Sol 
Estes' activities on March 30, 1962, the day following Estes' arrest. 
In April 1962, this preliminary inquiry developed into a full-scale 
investigation. 

When it began its irffestigation of the Estes situation, the sub­
committee did not anticipate that it would still be engaged in its 
arduous task more than 2 years later. However, despite sustained 
and diligent effort on the subcommittee's part, the nature of the 
matters being investigated made an extended inquiry unavoidable. 
The volume and complexity of Billie Sol Estes' operations will become 
clearly apparent in later sections of this report. The point can be 
illustrated here by noting that Estes controlled at least 80 different 
bank accounts ( a single one of which averaged 2,000 transactions per 
mont,h), and that he owned, controlled, or had a significant interest in 
more than 65 business enterprises during his career. 

The examination of Estes' multiple business operations would have 
been a formidable and time-consuming task because of their size 
alone; it was even more difficult because he habitually intermingled 
funds of his various enterprises and because the exact nature of some 
of his transactions and business relationships was confused or disputed. 
Some measure of the magnitude of the problems involved can be found 
in the fact that a national firm of certified public accountants (Ernst & 
Ernst) charged more than $100,000 to prepare what was essentially a 
mere listing of Estes' assets and liabilities. 

In the course of its investigation, the subcommittee held hearings 
on 21 days, with at least 2 and occasionally 3 separate sessions on 
most of those days; 3,464 pages of testimony were taken during 
the hearings from 29 different witnesses. The subcommittee's 
hearings, of course, represent only part of its work. During its 
investigation, the subcommittee had fromthree to seven staff members 
(not including clerical personnel) working full time on the Estes 
matter. Several accountants were borrowed from the General 
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Accounting Office to work as subcommittee staff members on tem­
porary assignment. Examples of work done include the following: 

Two staff members spent more than 6 months searching 
files of the Department of Agriculture for relevant correspondence 
and records. 

More than 125 people were personally interviewed and volumi­
nous records examined by the subcommittee staff in Washington, 
D.C., many parts of Texas, and several States other than Texas. 

Information was obtained from more than 300 firms and in­
dividuals by correspondence and through field offices of the 
General Accounting Office. 

The investigation of the Estes' matter conducted by the subcom­
mittee was one of many. The list of other Federal Government bodies 
which investigated or examined various aspects of Estes' activities 
(and in some cases are still doing so) includes at least the following: 

Senate Committee on Government Operations. 
Department of Agriculture. 
Comptroller of the Currency 
Department of Defense. 
Federal Bureau of Investigation. 
Federal Housing Administration. 
General Accounting Office. 
Internal Revenue Service. 
Interstate Commerce Commission. 
Department of Justice. 
Department of Labor. 
Post Office Department. 
Small Business Administration. 
Department of State. 
Treasury Department. 

Estes' operations were also scrutinized by the attorney general of 
Texas, a number of local government officials, private investigators 
hired by his creditors, and numerous members of the press. In 
addition, a large number of private lawsuits were filed because of the 
Estes' matter, and a very substantial amount of testimony was taken 
in connection with some of them. 

The number of investigatms who worked on matters related to 
Billie Sol Estes is not known, but it is unquestionably large. The 
Senate Committee on Government Operations, for example, used the 
services of approximately 60 persons, including a permanent staff of 
12. The Department of Agriculture made use of an estimated 84 
investigators and auditors on work related to the Estes situation. 
The Federal Bureau of Investigation used at least 452 agents from 46 
field offices on various assignments related to the Estes case. 

It would be difficult, if not impossible, to measure or even closely 
estimate the total number of man-hours and amount of money ex­
pended by all those concerned with the Estes matter. However, the 
subcommittee chairman's prediction in May 1962, that Billie Sol 
Estes was "likely to find a place in history as one of the most-if not 
the most-thoroughly investigated individuals of all time" seems in 
retrospect to be almost an understatement. 

The many investigations of the Estes matter produced an almost 
incredible amount of testimony and investigative data. This is 
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illustrated by the following examples of material reviewed by the 
subcommittee staff: 

Investigative reports of the Department of Agriculture totaling 
over 2,000 pages. 

Approximately 150 reports of interviews and investigations 
conducted by the Federal Bureau of Investigation. 

More than 10,000 pages of testimony and depositions taken in 
connection with other investigative hearings, criminal trials, and 
civil litigation. 

During the early Rtages of its investigation, the subcommittee 
concentrated virtually all of its attention on matters involving the 
storage of Government grain. There were two reasons for this 
action. The subccmmittee had considerable knowledge concerning 
Government grain storage operations because of the extensive investi­
gation of this activity which it conducted in 1959 and 1960. (This 
investigation is described in detail in H.Rept. 2220, 86th Cong., 2d sess.) 
In addition, it appeared that the Permanent Subcommittee on Investi­
gations of the Senate Government Operations Committee, which also 
was examining the Estes matter, would concentrate its major investi­
gative effort on activities of Billie Sol Estes involving the transfer of 
cotton allotments from land acquired by the Government for public 
use. 

The subcommittee originally intended to complete its investigation 
of Estes' grain storage activities before exploring other aspects of his 
operations. It became apparent, however, that while some f,hases of 
Estes' storage operations could be examined independent y, other 
aspects were so intermingled with fertilizer sales or tank transactions 
that it was not feasible to investigate them separately. Consequently, 
the subcommittee investigation was expanded to include all known 
activities of Billie Sol Estes in recent years which appeared to have 
any significant relationship to Federal Government operations, pro• 
~rams, or personnel except the cotton allotment transfers being 
mvestigated by the Senate committee. Since it was often difficult or 
impossible to tell in advance whether a !?articular transaction was 
relevant to its investigation, the subcommittee found it necessary to 
review to some extent all of Estes' major business activities. 

While other investigative bodies undoubtedly examined particular 
aspects of Estes' operations in greater detail, the subcommittee 
believes that its inquiry is probably the broadest in scope. The 
Senate subcommittee concentrated its investigation primarily on 
transfer of cotton allotments from land acquired for Government use. 
Other Government agencies which conducted inquiries have more 
limited jurisdictional interests, such as the investigation or prosecution 
of particular types of law violations or the examination of activities 
involving a single Government department or a~ency. In addition, 
the authority of some of the agencies concerned 1s limited to a single 
State or locality. 

The subcommittee tried to make its investigation both thorough 
and objective. The size of its staff was increased for this purpose, 
and the number of staff members who worked on the Estes matter 
was more than double the number assigned to any previous investi­
gation. Most of the additional staff members were experienced 
investigative personnel of the General Accounting Office who were 
selected by GAO for temporary assignment to the subcommittee. 
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Another staff member came to the subcommittee after 12 years as a 
special agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation. The sub­
committee's minority counsel participated in all phases of the investi­
gation. 

The total amount of effort devoted by the subcommittee to its 
investigation of the Estes matter far exceeded the amount expended 
by it on any previous single investigation. All allegations submitted 
to the subcommittee were investigated, no matter how vague or 
improbable. All relevant circumstances which appeared to have 
any significance were carefully examined. Special attention was 
given to any allegations or information relating to possible corruption 
in Government or improper conduct by Government officers and 
employees. 

Although the subcommittee did not hesitate to make necessary 
expenditures, it tried to conduct its investigation efficiently and 
economically. Where feasible, the expense and inconvenience of 
bringing witnesses to Washington was avoided by means of field 
interviews conducted by the subcommittee staff or field personnel 
of the General Accounting Office. A very substantial amount of 
information was obtained by correspondence, with the expenditure of 
only a fraction of the time and money that would have been necessary 
to get it by other means. 

In planning and conducting its inquiry, the subcommittee made a 
special effort to take advantage of information developed through 
other Government investigations without unnecessarily duplicating 
the detailed investigntive work which produced such information. 
For example, reports by Agriculture Department investigators were 
frequently used as a basis for further work by the subcommittee. 
Information developed in criminal investigations by the Justice 
Department was obtained from trial testimony or examination of 
FBI reports, where feasible, instead of through another investigation. 
The subcommittee did not attempt to trace Estes' expenditures on an 
item-by-item basis, as this work was being done by the Internal 
Revenue Service. Matters known to relate solely to the transfer of 
cotton allotments from land acquired for Government use were not 
examined by the subcommittee because these matters were the subject 
of an extensive investigation by the Senate subcommittee. 

Although there were some temporary exceptions, the cooperation 
of agencies of the Federal Government in allowing access to or pro­
viding information was generally at least equal to that received by the 
subcommittee in any previous mvestigation. In some respects, such 
as the availability of FBI reports for examination by the subcom­
mittee, it was better than in any previous investigation. 

The availability on a previously unprecedented scale of investigative 
work done by others made it possible for the subcommittee, with a 
relatively small staff (which never exceeded seven persons assigned to 
the Estes matter), to explore many facets of Estes' operations to a 
degree that otherwise would have been impossible or prohibitively 
expensive. The avoidance of unnecessary duplication also made it 
possible for the subcommittee to concentrate a larger share of its 
effort in areas which otherwise might not have been explored ade­
quately by any investigative agency. 

The concurrent existence of numerous other Government investi­
gations and an enormous amount of press and public interest often 
helped the subcommittee by making information more readily 
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available. However, the situation also created problems at times. 
For example, although it continued investigative work of a nonpublic 
nature, the subcommittee thought it advisable to discontinue public 
activity for several months in order to avoid possible interference­
or allegations of interference-with Estes' trial on Federal criminal 
charges. The subcommittee also devoted a great deal of time and 
effort to following up allegations made in press reports and public 
statements which turned out to be without foundation. 

A number of references are made in this report to testimony taken 
in courts of inquiry in Texas during 1962. These hearings were con­
ducted as part of an antitrust investigation by then attorney general 
of Texas, Will Wilson. Jn the report, for convenience, these hearings 
are identified by the place at which they were held. A list of the date 
and location of each of these hearings follows: 
April 10, 1962: County Court, Amarillo, Potter County, Tex. 
April 11, 1962: County Court, Plainview, Hale County, Tex. 
April 12, 1962: Precinct 1, Place 1, Dallas, Dallas County, Tex. 
April 14, 1962: County Court, Pecos, Reeves County, Tex. 
April 19, 1962: Precinct 1, Place 2, Lubbock, Lubbock County, Tex. 
April 20, 1962: Precinct 1, Place I, Du.llas, Dallas County, Tex. 
July 26, 27, and 28, 1962: County Court, Amarillo, Potter County, 

Tex. 
The subcommittee's report contains many direct quotations from 

testimony at the Texas courts of inquiry and other criminal, civil, or 
bankruptcy proceedings. It also includes numerous excerpts from 
statements obtained by the subcommittee and other governmental 
units which examined operations of Billie Sol Estes. The inclusion 
of such quotations or excerpts in the subcommittee's report does not 
necessarily mean that the subcommittee believes they are entirely 
or even substantially accurate. 

A large number of statements reportedly made by Billie Sol Estes 
have been included in the report; in most instances, the individuals 
to whom the statements were reportedly made were obviously not in a 
position to know whether or not they were true. It should be noted 
that the subcommittee's investigation clearly established that Billie 
Sol Estes habitually made false, misleading, and exaggerated state­
ments. It should also be noted that the subcommittee's investigation 
disclosed a number of instances where witnesses apparently gave 
misleading or inaccurate testimony concerning matters about which 
they allegedly had personal knowledge. 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 

Many persons in Government service he]ped the subcommittee in 
its investigation of the operations of Billie Sol Estes. The subcom­
mittee appreciates their assistance. 

The subcommittee particular]y appreciates the invaluable help 
provided by the General Accounting Office. The excellent work of 
Mr. Edward Hanna, of the General Accounting Office, who worked 
with the subcommittee during almost the entire period of its investiga­
tion, is deserving of special recognition. Particularly valuable 
assistance was also provided by Charles E. Eckert, Comer Harvill, 
John Carroll, and Stanley Haddock of the Washington office of the 
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General Accounting Office, and by personnel of the Dallas, New York, 
Los Angeles, and Atlanta field offices. 

The subcommittee also wishes to acknowledge the very substantial 
assistance provided in its investigation by personnel of a special field 
unit of the Internal Revenue Service. This unit worked under the 
very capable direction of Carl R. Gromatzky. 

During its investigation, the subcommittee requested information 
relating to operations of Billie Sol Estes from a large number of private 
firms and individuals. While there were some notable exceptions, most 
of those contacted gave the subcommittee very generous and helpful 
cooperation, for which the subcommittee wishes to publicly express 
its appreciation. 

WITNESSES AT SUBCOMMITTEE HEARINGS 

The following witnesses testified at subcommittee hearings relating 
to operations of Billie Sol Estes: 
Department of Agriculture: 

Hon. Orville L. Freeman, Secretary of Agriculture. 
Donald A. Campbell, Office of the General Counsel. 
Gerald E. Tichenor, Deputy Administrator, Foreign Agricultural 

Service. 
Frank W. Hussey, Deputy Administrator, Agricultural Stabiliza­

tion and Conservation Service. 
Roland F. Ballou, Assistant Deputy Administrator, Agricultural 

Stabilization and Conservation Service. 
Lionel C. Holm, Executive Assistant to Administrator, Agri­

cultural Stabilization and Conservation Service. 
C. Hilary Moseley, Director, Dallas Commodity Office, Agricul­

tural Stabilization and Conservation Service. 
Donald Smith, Director, Kansas City Commodity Office, Agri­

cultural Stabilization and Conservative Service. 
S. R. Smith, Administrator, Agricultural Marketing Service. 
Carl J. Miller, Chief, U.S. Warehouse Act Branch, Agricultural 

Marketing Service. 
Dabney W. Townsend, Assistant Chief, U.S. Warehouse .Act 

Branch, Agricultural Marketing Service. 
Donald I. McCoy, U.S. warehouse examiner. 
Donald A. Russell, Director, Internal Audit Division, Agricultural 

Marketing Service. 
Charles G. Cleveland, chief investigator, Internal Audit Division, 

Agricultural Marketin~ Service. 
Richard E. Turner, special agent, Internal Audit Division, Agri­

cultural Marketing Service. 
General Accounting Office: 

Charles E. Eckert, Office of Legislative Liaison. 
Orvel L. Tate, Transportation Division. 

Commercial Solvents Corp.: 
Maynard C. Wheeler, president. 
William S. Leonhardt, financial vice president. 
W. Ward Jackson, vice president in charge of sales. 
Edward Taylor, counsel. 
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Other: 
Frank Cain, attorney, Irion, Cain, Cocke & Magee, Dallas, Tex. 
Wayne L. Cooper, former manager, United Elevators. 
Winn P .. Jackson, certified public accountant, Lubbock, Tex. 
Robert Manuel, former minority counsel, Intergovernmental 

Relations Subcommittee. 
James A. McConnell, former Assistant Secret~y of Agriculture. 
William E. Morris, former employee, Department of Agriculture. 
Michael D. Provan, sales manager, Waters Travel Services. 
•James T. Ralph, former Assistant Secretary of Agriculture. 

IDENTIFICATION OF FIRMS AND INDIVIDUALS 

The following business enteryrises and individuals are mentioned at 
several places in the report. Smee the identification of these firms and 
individuals is not always repeated every time their names are used, 
they are listed and identified here in alphabetical order for the con­
venience of the reader. 
Business enterprises: 

Agriculture, Inc., Girvin, Tex.: A dairy and farming operation 
about 70 miles from Pecos owned by Billie Sol Estes, consisting 
of about 13,000 acres of farm and cropland and over 1,000 head 
of cattle. 

Allied Elevators, Hereford, Tex.: A 9.7-million bushel E!'ain 
storage facility ostensibly owned by L. G. Worsham and W. J. 
Worsham but actually owned and controlled by Billie Sol Estes. 

Equipment Service Co., Pecos, Tex.: Acquired by Billie Sol Estes 
m 1958 and engaged in sales, service, and reJ)air of farm 
equipment, tractors, and industrial engines, as well a9 distribu­
tor of irrigation supplies, pumps, and cement truck~ 

Estes Bros., Pecos, Tex.: Supposedly a partnership owned 
seven-eighths by Billie Sol Estes and one-eighth by his brother, 
Bobby Frank Estes, but actually a business device used and 
wholly controlled by Billie Sol Estes. 

Estes Enterprises, Pecos, Tex.: A trade name used to describe 12 
business operations owned by Billie Sol Estes and controlled 
from his Pecos headquarters. 

Farmers Co., Pecos, Tex.: A proprietorship organized in 1954 by 
Billie Sol Estes as a retail outlet for fertilizers and insecticides 
with offices in Pecos, Fabens, and Anthony, Tex. Also a 
supplier of anhydrous ammonia to Lester-Stone Co., an Este~­
owned fertilizer distribution company. 

Fort Stockton Implement Co., Fort Stockton, Tex.: A distributor 
of John Deere farm equipment and parts acquired by Billie Sol 
Estes in 1958. 

Hale County Grain Co., Plainview, Tex.: A 4.5-million-bushel 
grain storage installation at Plainview pl.ll"J>ortedly owned by 
W. W. Hill but actually controlled by Billie Sol Estes. 

Lester-Stone Co., Plainview, Tex.: A fertilizer distribution com­
pany acquired by Billie Sol Estes from Glenn Lester and 
Llo~d Stone in 1959. 

Palo Duro Grain Co., Tulia, Tex.: An 18.8-million-bushel grain 
storage facility_ purportedly owned by Claude Davis but 
initially controlled by Billie Sol Estes. 
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United Elevators, Plainview, Tex.: The business name under 
which Billie Sol Estes operated grain storage facilities in and 
around Plainview with a total capacity of more than 50 million 
bushels. 

Waterwell Service & Supply Co., Pecos, Tex.: A company en­
gaged in sales, service, and repair of irrigation pumps, acquired 
by Billie Sol Estes in 1958. In 1959 this company merged 
with the Equipment Service Co., which was also owned by 
Estes. 

Wheeler Fertilizer Co., Hereford, Tex.: Established by Billie Sol 
Estes in 1959 as an outlet for angydrous ammonia with Gerron 
S. "Mutt" Wheeler, a former filling station operator, as the 
apparent owner. A more complete list of business enterprises 
owned or controlled by Billie Sol Estes appears in the appendix 
on page 436. 

Individuals: 
Walter C. Berger, Baltimore, Md.: Associate Administrator of 

the Commodity Stabilization Service, Department of Agricul­
ture, from March 1954 to November 1956; Administrator from 
November 1956 to January 1961. 

Robert E. Clements, Amarillo, Tex.: Owner of Superior Manu­
facturing Co. from 1941 to April 1960. 

Wayne L. Cooper, Plainview, Tex.: General manager of United 
Elevators. 

Loy A. Everett, New York: Sales manager, agriculture chemicals, 
Commercial Solvents Corp. 

Ruel W. Alexander, Amarillo, Tex.: Secretary-treasurer of 
Superior Manufacturing Co. after April 1960. Bookkeeper of 
that company prior to that time. 

A. B. Foster, Jr., Pecos, Tex.: General manager of Billie Sol Estes 
Enterprises. 

W. Ward Jackson, New York: Vice president in charge of sales, 
Commercial Solvents Corp. 

Winn P. Jackson, Lubbock, Tex.: Certified public accountant 
who performed services for Billie Sol Estes, Superior Manufac­
turing Co., Coleman McSpadden, and Wade Construction Co. 

William S. Leonhardt, New York: Financial vice president, 
Commercial Solvents Corp., from April 1959. Previously 
treasurer of Commercial Solvents. 

James McConnell, Mansfield, Pa.: Administrator .of the Com­
modity Stabilization Service in 1954 and Assistant Secretary 
of Agriculture from January 1955 to January 1956. Member of 
board of directors of Commercial Solvents Corp. from June 1957 
to April 1959 and consultant to Commercial Solyents thereafter. 

Massey K. McConnell, Rayville, La.: Sales representative, 
.Agriculture Chemicals Department, Commercial Solvents 
Corp.; employed in the southern sales district from 1954 to 
March 1960. 

Donald I. McCoy, Wichita, Kans.: Warehouse. examiner, 
Wichita office, U.S. Warehouse Act Branch, Agricultural 
Marketing Service. 

Ray C. McPherson, Pecos, Tex.: Executive vice president, 
First National Bank of Pecos. 
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Coleman D. McSpadden, Lubbock, Tex.: Majority stockholder, 
Superior Manufacturing Co., Amarillo, from April 1960. Also 
engaged in anhydrous ammonia sales and grain storage 
operations. 

Carl J. Miller, Washington, D.C.: Chief, U.S. Warehouse Act 
Branch, Agricultural Marketing Service, Department of 
Agriculture. 

C. Hilary Moseley, Dallas, Tex.: Director, Dallas Commodity 
Office, Agricultural Stabilization and Conservation Service. 

Harold E. Orr, Amarillo, Tex.: Vice president of Superior Manu­
facturing Co. after April 1960. Salesman for Superior prior 
to that time. 

Coleman Wade, Altus, Okla.: A grain storage construction con­
tractor operating as Wade Contracting Co. 

Gerron S. "Mutt" Wheeler, Hereford, Tex.: A former filling sta­
tion operator employed by Billie Sol Estes as a distributor for 
anhydrous ammonia under the trade name of Wheeler Fertilizer 
Co. 

Maynard C. Wheeler, New York: President, Commercial Sol­
vents Corp., from April 1959. Previously acting president and 
senior vice president of Commercial Solvents. 

BACKGROUND 

The major business activities of Billie Sol Estes were carried on in 
two different parts of west Texas. Estes' business headquarters and 
his home were at Pecos, in the trans-Pecos area, a region which extends 
from the Pecos River about 200 miles west to the Rio Grande. Pecos, 
a town of about 13,000, is county seat of Reeves County, where Estes' 
farming operations were centered. Estes also had extensive farming 
operations in Pecos County, which adjoins Reeves County to the 
southeast. While some of his farm supply sales activities were 
located in the Pecos area, Estes' grain storage operations and his major 
anhydrous ammonia sales operations were in or near Plainview, Tex. 
Plainview is about 250 miles northeast of Pecos in the heart of a region 
generally called the High Plains or plains area. Maps showing coun­
ties, principal cities, and towns in west Texas appear on pages 411 and 
412 in the appendix. 

Most counties in the trans-Pecos area have huge land areas (the 
largest is neady six times the size of Rhode Island) but very few people. 
One county near Pecos with an area of more than 600 square miles had 
a 1960 population of 226 people. Counties in the plains area are 
generally smaller and more heavily populated than those near Pecos. 

Agriculture in west Texas differs substantially from farming opera­
tions in most other parts of the United States. Only about 10 percent 
of farms in the United States are irrigated; in parts of west Texas, the 
percentage of irrigated farms is over 90 percent. Insecticides and 
fertilizer are used heavily on the irrigated land; annual production 
costs for growing an acre of irrigated cotton may exceed the value of 
an acre of land in most other areas. Because of heavy production 
costs and the large size of many west Texas fn,rming operations, bor­
rowing of large amounts of money to finance equipment purchases and 
crop production expenses is customtiry. 

While farming operations in the Pecos and plains areas are similar 
in a number of respects, there are also significant differences between 
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the two regions. Depend.able sources of irr~gation water are available 
in large sectionr of the plains area. Around Pecos, if water can be 
found at all, deep and expensive wells are usually required to obtain it. 
Farms in irrigated sections of the plains area, while generall:y much 
smaller than those around Pecos, usually consist almost ent1rely of 
irrigated land. In the Pecos area, many farms have huge tracts of 
undeveloped land and comparatively small percentages of irrigated 
cropland. A map on pag;e 413 of the appendix shows the location of 
irrigated areas. 

Land in the Pecos area will produce phenomenal yields of cotton; 
however, production costs are extremely high. Both yields and 
costs are lower in the plains area; total production of cotton in the 
plains is far greater than in the trans-Pecos area because of the much 
greater acreage harvested.. Production of grain sorghum in the Pecos 
area is comparatively small; the plains area, however, contains the 
heaviest concentration of sor~hum production in the country. Hale 
County, of which Plainview 1s county seat, probably produces more 
grain sorghum than any ot,her county and certainly produces more than 
all but a very few States. · 

A table comparing agricultural statistics for Reeves, Pecos, and Hale 
Counties with those for the United States, Texas, and other States 
appears on page 416 of the appendix. Maps showing sorghum and 
cotton acreage appear on pages 414 and 415. 

ORGANIZATION OF REPORT 

Billie Sol Estes engaged in several major types of business opera­
tions. As Estes conducted them, these activities were intermingled 
and often confusing. In order to permit discussion of related events 
in logical sequence, operations relating to grain storage, ammonia 
sales, and financing methods are discussed in detail in separate sections 
of this report. Significant details concerning activities of Estes which 
did not appear to fall within the above categories are included in other 
sections of the report. 



SUMMARY 

Billie Sol Estes arrived in Pecos, Tex., in early 1951. Estes, then 
26 years old, had spent most of his life in Clyde, Tex., a small town 
near Abilene, some 240 miles east of Pecos. Just before moving to 
Pecos, Estes farmed for 2 years in Castro Coun t,y near Earth, Tex. 
He left there, according to a local banker, "owing about everyone in 
that area from $9.50 to $750." Shortly after his arrival in Pecos, 
Estes acquired land and began producing cotton. He also engaged 
in a variety of other business activities, including purchase and resale 
of surplus housing structures and construction of farm storage facilities. 
Some of Estes' early operations were financed with money borrowed 
from the Security State Bank of Pecos. He also obtained substantial 
financial backing from Dr. Harold Lindley of Pecos. Lindley, ac­
cording to his own account, continuously had from $300,000 to 
$450,000 loaned to or invested with Estes after 1954. Much of 
Estes' farmland was mortgaged to the Great Southern Life Insurance 
Company of Houston. Crop J>roduction was financed by Anderson, 
Clayton & Co., which eventually loaned Estes as much as $1 million 
annually. 

By the end of 1953, Billie Sol Estes was displaying conspicuous signs 
of success. His net worth, according to a financial statement given his 
banker, was nearly $750,000. Estes' net income, as reported to the 
Pecos Credit Bureau, was $100i000 a year. His achievements had 
attracted the attention of the junior chamber of commerce, which 
named Estes one of the 10 outstanding young men in America for 
1953. In choosing Estes for the award, the :junior chamber publicly 
saluted bis "tireless energy and brilliant insight," as well as his ''out­
standing contribution and leadership in church work.'' In the years 
that followed, Estes' selection as an outstanding young man re­
ceived ~idespread and enduring publicity-much of it generated by 
Estes hrmself. 

Estes' 1953 activities were also receiving less publicized attention of 
a different sort. In 1952 and 1953, Estes (doing business as the Pecos 
Steel Building Co.) built steel structures for a number of other farmers 
in the Pecos area. The buildings were financed under a Government 
program which authorized low-interest loans for construction of farm 
storage facilities. EstPs' activities under this program resulted in an 
investigation by the Department of Agriculture-probably the first 
in what was to become a long series of Federal investigations of Estes' 
operations. Although the structures were supposedly for storage of 
grain or cottonseed, the investigation disclosed that most of them were 
actually being used for housing of Mexican farmworkers (braceros) 
in violation of program regulations. The 1953 investigation was 
followed by a second one in early 1954 to determine whether Estes 
had acted in collusion with Department of Agriculture employees in 
obtaining construction contracts. The 1954 investigation disclosed 
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that a number of Reeves County residents had mther uncomplimen­
tnry opinions concerning Este~' activities and character, but did not 
produce evidence that he had received assistance from USDA em­
ployees in obtaining contracts. Reports on the two investigations 
were later referred to the Department of Justice for possible action 
under the False Claims Act, but the case file was closed without action 
on July 30i 1957. 

In 1954, cotton acreage allotments were reestablished for the first 
time in several years and Billie Sol Estes received allotments totaling 
1,749 acres. Before the end of February 1954, Estes had begun to 
engage in the first of a number of schemes and devices he used for 
the purpose of obtaining additional allotment acreage. 

By 1955, the story of Billie Sol Estes' success was becoming a 
legend. A laudatory article in a national magazine, entitled "Power­
house in Pecos," enthusiastically proclaimed that Estes had cleared 
"a cool half-million" on his 1954 cotton crop alone. The article also 
declared that Estes, while becoming a millionaire in just 4 years, had 
done "astounding things for Pecos and several other Texas commu­
nities, their industry and agriculture." 

However, a 1955 investigation by the Internal Revenue Service of 
Estes' tax liabilities for the years 1951-53 disclosed a considerably 
different picture. Instead of being a millionaire, Estes admitted, he 
actually was a million dollars or more in debt. Estes told IRS agents 
that his liabilities exceeded his assets in 1950; his returns for 1951-53 
showed net losses. He also told them that his financial statements 
were grossly inflated as part of a plan to keep his creditors from learn­
ing of his "desperate financial straits"; another part of this plan 
involved intermingling and transferring funds of his various enter­
prises to conceal their true financial condition. Estes was assessed 
around $8,000 in additional taxes for 1952 and 1953; however, the 
assessment was never paid because a 1956 examination of his 1954 
tax return resulted in tax loss carryback which wiped it out. 

The IRS agent who examined Estes' 1954 return recommended 
that his 1955 return be "sent to the field for a complete examination." 
However, despite the fact that Estes lived on a lavish scale and 
deliberately propagated a public image of enormous wealth, neither 
his 1955 tax return nor those for any later year were examined before 
he was arrested. 

During 1955, Estes transferred his banking business from the 
Security State Bank to the First National Bank of Pecos. The transfer 
came after the president of the Security State Bank accused Estes of 
cheating him out of $18,000 in a private transaction and demanded 
payment of all his unsecured loans. 

From 1955 until he was arrested, Estes' banking business was 
centered at the First National Bank. During this period, the bank 
always gave favorable responses to inquiries about Estes' financial 
condition but never made unsecured loans to Estes. 

Through the use of deeply cut prices and other aggressive sales 
tactics, Billie Sol Estes had become a large distributor of insecticides 
and other farm supplies by 1956. In 1957, Estes began selling anhy­
drous ammonia; he also began buying tanks and equipment needed 
to distribute it. Whenever possible, Estes acquired commodities 
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on credit and sold them for cash to meet whatever obligations were 
most pressing at the moment. When suppliers refused to make 
further sales on credit he looked for-and usually found-new sources 
of supply. By the end of 1957, however, Estes' poor credit record was 
beginning to catch up with him. His major supplier of insecticides, 
Agricultuml Chemicals, Inc., had placed Estes on a cash basis for 
further orders. Estes owed several companies for ammonia, t1nd was 
apparently having difficulty in finding one which would give him 
further supplies on credit. 

While expanding his sales operations during the 1950's, Billie Sol 
Estes was also using various schemes and devices to increase his 
cotton allotment acreage. One method used by Estes, along with a 
number of others in the Tmns-Pecos area, was to lease land which had 
a cotton allotment but was unsuitable for growing cotton, usually 
because of lack of water. The leased land then would be "combined" 
with a tract which had water but no allotment. Fred Chandler, Sr., 
a Pecos County resident who was involved in business transactions 
with Estes, encouraged ASCS county committees to approve such 
combinations while a member of the State committee in 1954 and 1955. 
Chandler himself engaged in numerous allotment transfers. Another 
device used by Estes was to misrepresent the amount of land which 
had been developed for crops through installation of irrigation wells 
and pumps. In 1957, Estes (using the name of his brother, Bobby 
Frank Estes) obtained a 402-acre "new grower" allotment in Pecos 
County by misrepresenting the amount of his cropland as 7,200 acres, 
when it was actually only 630 acres. 

Numerous complaints were received, starting in 1955, concerning 
alleged irregularities in transfers of cotton allotments in west Texas. 
A number of the complaints referred specifically to alleged irregulari­
ties in Reeves and Pecos Counties; some mentioned Estes by name. 
In 1958, a survey by the Department of Agriculture of allotment 
transfers in Pecos County disclosed clear evidence that producers 
there had been purchasing cotton allotments. However, the investi­
gation report was not referred to the Justice Department and a 
recommendntion that corrective action be taken by the Department 
of Agriculture was not followed. Other investigations of allotment 
irregularities resulted in little or no corrective action; some complaints 
were never investigated. The misrepresentation involving the 1957 
new grower allotment obtained in the name of Bobby Frank Estes 
was discovered by the Drpartment of Agriculture in 1958, but no 
action was taken to consider possible prosecution or even to cancel 
the allotment. 

Estes probably began using fraudulent warehouse receipts on com­
modity inventories and bogus water well pump mortgages at least as 
early as 1957. During 1958, Estes began using fraudulent tank 
mortgages to raise cash; tanks and equipment actually acquired 
that year were valued at $275,000 but tank mortgages recorded in 
Estes' name had a face value of more than $900,000. Fraudulent 
tank mortgages were negotiated by Estes from 1958 through early 
1960 with the assistance of Robert Clements, then owner of the 
Superior 1fonufncturing Co., n, relntively small ammonia tank nmnu­
facturing firm at Anrnrillo. Substantial purchasers of Estes' fmudu-
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lent tank mortgages prior to 1960 included Associates Investmen·t, 
CIT, Southwestern Investment Co., and the First National Bank 
of Amarillo. 

In 1958, Estes expanded his operations involving water well pumps 
by acquiring three farm equipment distributing firms; there are 
indications that fraudulent mortgages were used for this purpose. 
After acquiring the distributing firms, Estes obtained several hun­
dred thousand dollars worth of pumps and equipment from a number 
of pump manufacturing companies. Although he had not yet paid 
for the pumps, Estes used warehouse receipts on pumps supposedly 
in his warehouses a.s collateral for bank loans obtained from out-of­
town banks through the First National Bank of Pecos. In addition, 
Estes sold the Associates Investment Co. time sales contracts (sup­
posedly representing installment sales of pumps) with a total face 
value of almost $l.8 million. The sales contracts were secured by 
chattel mortgages purportedly covering the pumps; however, only a 
comparatively small percentage of the pumps actually existed. 

Estes managed to temporarily alleviate some of his credit problems 
in 1958 by finding new sources from which to obtain insecticides and 
ammonia. Large supplies of insecticides were obtained from Penn­
salt Chemicals. Commercial Solvents Corp., which had lost most of 
its agricultural market for anhydrous ammonia, shipped Estes nearly 
5,000 tons of ammonia on credit. 

During the summer of 1958, Estes began trying unsuccessfully to 
enter the grain storage business by having storage facilities built on 
credit. By fall, his unpaid ammonia account with Commercial 
Solvents was more than $500,000 and he was being {>ressed for pay­
ment. Estes solved both problems at the same time, through a 
December 1, 1958, agreement with Commercial Solvents under which 
that company advanced $225,000 for Estes to use in acquiring the 
Smith-Bawden elevator at Plainview. In return, Estes agreed to 
sell additional quantities of ammonia for Commercial Solvents and 
to assign Government grain storage payments to apply on his in­
debtedness to the company. 

In January 1959, Associates Investment Co. was informed that a 
Jarge percentage of Billie Sol Estes' pump mortgages were fraudulent. 
Officials of the company immediately went to Pecos for a meeting with 
Estes. Although Associates denies it knew the pumps were non­
existent, the company demanded-unsuccessfully-that Estes pay off 
all its contracts immediately and refused to purchase further contracts 
from any of Estes' companies. Estes continued to make periodic 
payments on most of the contracts held by Associates. 

Before January 1959, most--if not all-Estes tank mortgages had 
been in his own name. After that time, Estes began inducing other 
persons-whom Estes and his associates referred to as "horses"-to 
sign the mortgages for him, usually paying a IO-percent commission 
for their signatures. Although Associates bought no tank paper 
bearing Estes' name after January 1959, the company paid approxi­
mately half a million dollars for tank paper originated by Estes in 
the names of others during the next 3 years. 

The discovery of pump mortgage irregularities was not the only 
problem facing Billie Sol Estes in January 1959. Although Estes had 
completed arrangements for purchase of the Smith-Bawden elevator 
at Plainview in December 1958, he still had neither a Federal ware­
house license nor a contract authorizing him to store Government-
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-owned grain. Estes had filed an application for a warehouse license 
in November 1958, submitting with the application a financial state­
ment in which he stated that his net worth as of October 31, 1958, was 
.slightly more than $5 million. Estes' storage facilities at Plainview 
had been inspected in December 1958 by warehouse examiners from 
the Wichita, Kans., office of the AMS Warehouse Act Branch. How­
·ever, approval of a license for Estes was being delayed because the 
.Standard Accident Insurance Co., which had bonded the Smith­
Bawden elevator for its previous owners, was unwilling to provide 
Estes with a $200,000 surety' bond without a certified audit of his 
financial condition. However, after Estes secured a cosigner, Standard 
finally agreed to write the bond. A warehouse examiner went to 
Pecos on February 16, 1959, to obtain additional information con­
•cerning Estes' financial condition for use in evaluating his license 
application. During his visit, the examiner obtained a financial 
statement showing Estes' net worth on December 18, 1958, as almost 
$6.5 million. On February 24, 1959, issuance of Estes' initial Federal 
warehouse license was approved by Carl Miller, Chief of the AMS 
Warehouse Act Branch in Washington. The increase in net worth of 
more than $1.4 million in about 6 weeks shown by Estes' financial 
statements was not questioned by Miller. The Dallas ASCS com­
modity office approved Estes storage facilities for storage of Govern­
ment grain on March 4, 1959; in accordance with customp,ry pro­
cedures, Estes' Federal warehouse license was accepted without 
question as satisfactory evidence that his storage facilities were 
suitable for storage of Government grain. 

During the next 3 years, there were 39 more instances in which new 
warehouses or additions at existing facilities owned or controlled by 
Estes were licensed and approved for storage of Government grain. 
Total capacity of Estes' facilities at the time of his arrest was ap­
proximately 87 million bushels. Some 54 million bushels of space wa13 
operated under the name of United Elevators; the remaining facilities 
were operated under the names of others without disclosure of Estes' 
interest. The warehouses contained 33. 7 million bushels of Govern­
ment grain when Estes was arrested, and had previously handled an 
additional 11.1 million bushels. Of this total, 63 percent had been 
obtained through private sources and the remainder through Govern­
ment shipments. 

After preliminary steps in late 1958, Billie Sol Estes established 
ammonia sales operations in the Plains area in early 1959. In Janu­
ary, Estes acquired an apparently controlling interest in the Lest er­
Stone Co., a fertilizer distributing firm located at PlainYiew. Later in 
the year, an ex-filling station operator nnrned Gerron S. "Mutt" 
Wheeler established the Wheeler Fertilizer Co. at Hereford, 65 miles 
northwest of PlainYiew; although ostensibly owned by Wheeler, the 
firm was controlled by Estes. Through these firms and his own 
Farmers Co. at Pecos, Estes sold nearly 35.000 tons of anhydrous 
ammonia during 1959. Most of the sales were in the Plains area, where 
Estes' aggressive sales tactics had captured a large share of the market. 

By the end of September 1959, Billie Sol Estes owed Commercial 
Solvents about $3.5 million-more than $2 million over the credit 
limit established under his agreement with Solvents. In October 
1959, Commercial Solvents briefly cut off further shipments to Estes. 
Shortly thereafter, a revised agreement was signed raising Estes' 
credit limit to a maximum of $2.5 million, not including $900,000 in 
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notes previously signed by Estes. From then until early 1962 Com­
mercial Solvents limited ammonia shipments to Estes to an amount 
roughly equal in value to the storage payments being received under 
the assignment from Estes. 

Although the change in Commercial Solvents' credit policy toward 
Billie Sol Estes stopped the rapid growth of his unpaid account, it 
remained at a very high figure. In April 1960, J. H. Uhl, then con­
troller of Commercial Solvents Corp., questioned the manner in which 
the Estes account was being handled. Uhl pointed out that Estes 
had failed to pay a $235,000 note installment due on February 28, 
1960, and that $1.3 million of Estes' total indebtedness of $3.5 million 
was in default. Uhl also noted that Estes had failed to honor an 
agreement to allow examination of his books and records. Later 
in the year, Commercial Solvents' board of directors was advised 
that Estes' account had been substantially reduced. However, the 
"reduction" apparently was accomplished by crediting to Estes' 
account large notes payable to him from third parties and endorsed 
by him to Commercial Solvents. The notes were actually forged or 
worthless. No attempt was made to collect them when they matured 
in 1961; instead, they were given back to Estes. 

Financial problems did not prevent Estes from continuing to expand 
his storage operations. During the first few months of 1960, he 
acquired a number of warehouses on a long-term payment basis, 
with no money down. He also established two new storage firms­
Palo Duro Grain Co. and Hale County Grain Co.-in the names of 
others, apparently on a partnership basis. Tank mortgages signed by 
Estes partners were used to obtain funds for warehouse construction. 
Estes also negotiated fraudulent mortgages in the names of persons 
from whom he had purchased warehouses; in some cases, the individ­
uals concerned knew of the mortgages in their names long before 
Estes was arrested but took no action. 

In April 1960, Robert Clements sold Superior Manufacturing Co. to 
a group including Coleman McSpadden, Harold Orr, and Ruel 
Alexander. McSpadden was a Lubbock promoter and fertilizer 
distributor who had been cooperating with Estes in sales of anhydrous 
ammonia. Funds obtained through fraudulent tank mortgages or 
borrowed from Estes were used to acquire Superior. 

After April 1960, Estes greatly expanded the volume of fictitious 
tank mortgages sold to finance companies through Superior, using 
both coercion and persuasion to secure cooperation of the new owners. 
From May 1960 through February 1962, the face value of fraudulent 
mortgages handled by Superior for Estes was substantially more than 
$20 million. Additional tank mortgages with a face value of almost 
$3 million were negotiated by Superior for McSpadden, who was 
carrying on independent swindling operations of his own as well as 
assisting Estes. Later in 1960, Estes made arrangements for the 
Lubbock Machine & Supply Co. to handle tank transactions (sup­
posedly involving used tn,nks) for him on a commission basis; mort­
gages with n, face value of more than $5 million were ha.ndled by this 
company for Estes. 

From late 1960 through early 1961, CIT paid Superior $3.6 million 
for Estes-originated tank notes with a face value of $4.7 million. 
During this period, one employee of CIT's Dallas office (James 
Turriff) received a car from Estes; another (William King) was paid 
$500 per month by Superior. Begirming in 1961, Estes' tank mort-
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gages with a face value of $7 .1 million were sold to Walter Heller & Co. 
under leasing transactions offered by Robert Graham. Graham was 
paid more than $150,000 by Superior. 

By early 1960, United Elevators had a total capacity of almost 18 
million bushels, about 6 times its original size. However, United's 
surety bond remained at $200,000, the maximum ordinarily required 
at that time in the absence of special circumstances. In May 1960, 
C. H. Moseley, Director of the ASCS Dallas Commodity Office 
questioned whether the bond was sufficient, sending a memorandum 
and copies of Dun & Bradstreet reports concerning Estes' heavy in­
debtedness to Washington. The Moseley memorandum was called 
to the attention of Carl Miller. Miller did not examine the Dun & 
Bradstreet reportsi which contained information conflicting with that 
on Estes' financia statements in Miller's possession, but did order 
that Estes' surety bond should be increased 10 cents per bushel for all 
future expansion. 

By November 1, 1960 additions to United Elevators had brought 
Estes' bond to nearly $600,000 and additional space under construction 
would have raised the amount required to nearly $1.1 million under 
the IO-cents-per-bushel formula. Estes' surety company, at that 
time, Aetna Casualty, was unwilling to write a bond in excess of 
$700,000. Carl Miller agreed to accept the additional space under 
construction without increasing the bond, but issued instructions that 
a million-dollar bond and a certified audit should be required when 
Estes' licenses were renewed in February 1961. Since Aetna was un­
willing to write a million-dollar bond, the Wichita office of the Ware­
house Act Branch proposed issuance of two bonds totaling slightly 
more than $1 million, each covering only part of Estes' facilities. 
Before the Wichita proposal reached Carl Miller, Estes came to his 
office on January 25, 1961. On the basis of a financial statement 
submitted by Winn Jackson, a Lubbock certified public accountant, 
Miller agreed to continue Estes' bond at $700,000. Jackson actually 
made no audit; he received $6,000 for copying figures furnished by 
Estes on nis letterhead. (Jackson was also involved in questionable 
transactions with a number of Estes' business associates.) 

Some of Estes competitors were becoming suspicious of his tank 
transactions by the end of 1960. In January 1961, after a visit 
to Pecos, a field representative of Commercial Solvents reported to 
the company's New York office that he had received information 
"Estes has been borrowing money on nonexistent ammonia storage 
tanks." In February 1961, because of suspicion by bankers, dummy 
accounts in the name of fictitious companies were established by Estes 
and McSpadden for use in transferring the proceeds of fraudulent 
mortgages from Superior Manufacturing Co. to their own bank 
accounts. 

Beginning in 1960, a number of finance companies cut off further 
purchases of tank mortgages from Superior after learning that the 
tanks involved were supposedly leased to Estes. In May 1961, 
CIT employment of Turriff & King terminated after the company 
received information indicating a link with Estes. 

In March 1961, a 5-page memorandum prepared by Dr. John Dunn 
of Pecos concerning Estes' tank transactions was furnished to the 
Federal Bureau of Investigation, along with a 14 page listing of tank 
mortga~es. The information was sent to the El Paso office of the 
FBI and presented by that office to Assistant U.S. Attorney Lawrence 
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Fuller April. Fuller decided in July 1961 that the information 
presented did not indicate violation of the Federal Reserve Act. 

In late 1961, Estes began carrying out plans to build 100 grain 
receiving stations throughout the Plains area, a move which forebode 
considerable hardship for his competitors. In September, C. H. 
Moseley received from Estes' competitors allegations concerning the 
condition of grain in his warehouses, along with Dun & Bradstreet 
reports which listed mortgages not shown on his financial statement. 
A special examination of Estes' warehouses disclosed no indication of 
deterioration in grain stored in Estes facilities. The Dun & Bradstreet 
reports were forwarded to Carl Miller; and an inquiry into Estes 
financial condition was requested by the AMS internal audit division. 
Estes' office manager was requested on October 24, 1961, and Febru­
ary 8, 1962, to provide information, but no other significant action 
had been taken before Estes' arrest. 

Estes continued to expand his storage facilities during 1961. Steel 
grain storage tanks were built for him by Superior Manufacturing Co. 
and Lubbock Machine & Supply; construction costs were deducted 
by these companies from the proceeds of tank mortgag~_s handled for 
Estes. Nine million bushels of space was built for Allied Elevators 
under an arrangement whereby Estes promised a IO-percent interest 
for use of someone else's credit. Estes also paid IO-percent com­
missions for warehouses ostensibly "leased" from others but actually 
owned by Estes. Substantial kickbacks were paid to Estes and 
others in transactions where the amount of financing obtained exceeded 
construction costs. 

By the end of 1961, monthly payments on Estes' tank mortgages 
were approaching half a million dollars. In late 1961 and ear!y 1962, 
Estes made unsuccessful attempts to obtain from $10 million to 
$20 million in loans or credit from Commercial Solvents and other 
ammonia producing firms, offering to transfer all or part of his 
ammonia distribution business as part of the transactions. 

Commercial Solvents Corp., which had been restricting shipments 
of ammonia to Estes in 1960 and 1961, shipped Estes 13,200 tons 
during February and March 1962-approximately double the amount 
forecast in January. Estes disposed of almost all the ammonia before 
his arrest through sales at low prices. On February 28, 1962, William 
Leonhardt, Commercial Solvents' financial vice president, sent Estes 
$400,000 on the basis of a telephone request. 

On February 12, 1962, the Pecos Independent began publication of 
a series of articles about Estes' tank transactions, based on information 
gathered by Dr. Dunn and others. After confirming that the tanks 
did not exist through a collateral check toward the end of February, 
Pacific called in a Dallas attorney (Frank Cain) who met with Estes 
to discuss possible methods by which Estes might eventually arrange 
to pay _the fictitious tank mortgages. On March 18, 1962, Cain met 
with Maynard Wheeler, president of Commercial Solvents, who was 
visiting at Estes' home m Pecos. On March 27, a meeting of all 
finance companies holding Estes' tank mortgages was arranged in 
Dallas by Pacific Finance. Negotiations between Estes and the 
finance companies were terminated by the arrest of Estes on March 29; 
Estes' arrest culminated an FBI investigation which began earlier in 
March. 



GENERAL FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

INTRODUCTION 

The arrest of Billie Sol Estes on March 29, 1962, and the resultant 
collapse of his west Texas agricultural and financial empire terminated 
a fantastic multimillion-dollar swindling operation. 

Since March, 1962, literally hundreds of investigators from Federal, 
State, and, local government agencies have spent untold thousands 
of hours examining various phases of Estes' operations. Their efforts 
have been paralleled by a large number of lawyers and private inves­
tigators seeking information in scores of lawsuits filed by business 
firms and individuals. 

The Intergovernmental Relations Subcommittee began its investi­
gation of the Estes matter shortly after his arrest. In its eady stages, 
the subcommittee's investigation was concentrated primarily on Estes' 
Government grain storage operations; the investigation was later ex­
panded to include all known activities of Estes which appeared to have 
any significant relationship to Federal Government operations, pro­
grams, or personnel, with the single exception of matters related to 
transfer of pooled cotton allotments, which were being investigated by 
the Senate Committee on Government Operations-

Because of the confusing and intermingled nature of Estes' opera­
tions, the subcommittee found it necessary to review to some extent 
almost all of Estes' major business activities in recent years in order 
to ascertain whether or not particular transactions were relevant to its 
investigation. Consequently, since other Government agencies con­
cerned with Estes' activities concentrated on particular phases of his 
operations, the subcommittee believes its inquiry has been the broadest 
in scope of the many investigations which have been conducted or are 
still in progress. In its investigation, the subcommittee had access 
to reports of agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigation and other 
Federal investigators and to information developed by the Internal 
Revenue Service. It also had access to investigative hearings con­
ducted by the attorney general of Texas and to a substantial amount 
of information developed in the course of private investigations and 
litigation. 

The subcommittee has tried to make a thorough, comprehensive, 
and objective investigation. Minority counsel participated in all 
phases of the inquiry. The amount of work done was far greater than 
m any previous inquiry the subcommittee has undertaken. Particu­
lar effort was devoted to the question of whether-and if so, to what 
extent-Billie Sol Estes' operations were made possible or facilitated 
by corruption in Government or improper conduct by Government 
officers or employees. Since neither the subcommittee members nor 
its staff are omniscient, the subcommittee cannot guarantee that 
nothing significant was overlooked in its investigation. However, it 
can say without reservation that an honest effort was made to obtain 
all relevant facts which might have a significant relationship to 
programs, activities, and personnel of the Federal Government. 
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The subcommittee's report, voluminous though it is, contains only a 
small fraction of the mass of information developed in its investiga­
tion. However, the subcommittee has tried to place on the public 
record all information which it believes is significant. 

THE ESTES EMPIRE 

Before his arrest, Billie Sol Estes was widely regarded as a man of 
amazing achievements. Printed pamphlets, published by Estes 
himself, suggested in a modest manner that Estes was a multimillion­
aire, a business genius, a civic and religious leader, a friend of those 
in high places, and a benefactor of the underprivileged. His luxurious 
home, massive warehouses, and numerous ammonia tanks were 
visual evidence of his prosperity. While there were elements of truth 
in it, the legendary success story of Billie Sol Estes-as the world 
now knows-was essentially fraudulent. 

However, Billie Sol Estes' actual achievements-while .far from 
admirable-are in some ways even more remarkable than those he 
falsely claimed. Billie Sol Estes was not, as his lawyers argued at 
his trial, a millionaire who made a mistake. Estes never was worth 
a million dollars or anything close to it. In all probability, he was 
insolvent from the day he arrived in Pecos in 1951 until the day he 
was arrested in 1962. The tank transactions through which Estes 
obtained millions of dollars from some of the country's most sophisti­
cated moneylenders were only one of many unethical or fraudulent 
devices by which Estes obtained money or credit for more than 10 
years. 

Estes' success in deceiving people concerning the true nature of 
his fraudulent operations was impressive, but his ability to continue 
and expand these operations after they were discovered not once 
but several times was perhaps even more impressive. 

HOW THE EMPIRE WAS BUILT 

Billie Sol Estes dbviously had sufficient natural talent and per­
suasive ability to become a succ~ful swindler almost anywhere. 
However, he probably would have had grewt difficulty in finding a 
locale better suited to his operations than west Texas. The huge 
irrigated farms in that area require tremendous expenditures for 
equipment and operating expenses; much of the capital required is 
cutomarily borrowed. During the period of time in which Estes oper­
ated, use of anhydrous ammonia for fertilizer was rapidly increasing 
in west Texas, as was the need for more storage space :for Government 
grain. Consequently, transactions_ of a size which would immediately 
attract attention almost anywhere e]se could go virtually unnoticed in 
west Texas. 

Billie Sol Estes built his empire by successfully deceiving those 
who dealt with him. He managed to convince almost everyone that­
whatever his faults-he had money. On the strength of his su:pposed 
wealth, Estes was able to use a variety of schemes and devices to 
obtain cash or credit. Many of these schemes involved raise repre­
sentations of one kind or another concerning the nature or existence 
of co1lateral. Through ownership of several equipment sales firms 
and close connection ~rith a tank manufacturing firm, Estes was able 



21 OPERATIONS OF BILLIE SOL ESTES 

to document the purported existence of fictitious collateral or to hide 
encumbrances on existing chattels. Although often refused credit, 
Estes was usually successful in obtaining it elsewhere if he was unable 
to obtain a reversal of an adverse decision. 

Although one man was responsible, it took more than one person to 
build the Estes empire. Billie Sol Estes received assistance from 
employees who did what they were told without asking questions. 
He ,vas helped by local bankers who gave him consistently favorable 
rneommendations. Estes benefited from poor procedures and poor 
judgment involving Government agencies and private firms with 
which he had dealings. He apparently had little difficulty in finding 
i11dividua]s who were willing and even anxious to sign his tank notes 
for a consideration. 

HOW Tl-IE EMPIRE WAS MAINTAINED 

Billie Sol Estes' fraudulent operations were disclosed not once but 
seYeral times, beginning years be.fore his arrest. Many people knew 
he was engaging in unethical business practices. A substantial num­
ber of firms or individuals knew-or ha,d reason to believe-that Estes 
was engaging in fraudulent transactions long before he was arrested. 
A few of them even knew--or should have suspected-that he was 
insolvent. An almost nnbelieTable number of inquiries and i11Yesti­
gations into various phases of Estes' activities were conducted before 
his arrest by agencies of the Federal Government, beginning at least 
as early as 1953. While these events were going on, Billie Sol Estes' 
empire continued to expand. 

Some of the firms or individuals who knew-or had reason to be­
lieve-that Billie Sol Estes was engaging in fraudulent transactions 
were owed substantial sums of money by Estes. When they discov­
ered evidence of possible or probable fraud, they had two choices. 
They could report the evidence of Estes' fraud to the proper authori­
ties, running the risk of throwing him into both jail and bankruptcy. 
On the other hand, they could remain silent and continue to receive 
full or partial payments on Estes' indebtedness. The subcommittee is 
not aware of any instance in which a creditor of Estes who had reason 
to suspect his honesty reported such suspicions to appropriate authori­
ties for the purpose of having him prosecuted. The subcommittee did 
find one instance in which a creditor (Pacific Finance Co.) did con­
tact an attorney in private practice, who was also the local prosecuting 
attorney, about Estes. However, Pacific Finance was not seeking 
prosecution of Estes; its purpose was to engage the attorney to repre­
sent Pacific in the Estes matter. 

Other individuals who knew or had reason to believe Estes was 
engaging in fraudulent transactions were benefiting from or assisting 
him in such transactions. Some employees of private firms who sus­
pected Estes' activities were placed on his payroll. Their reasons for 
not informing the authorities are obvious. 

In early 1961, detailed information concerning_ Estes' tank trans­
actions, which had been prepared by Dr. John uunn of Pecos, was 
furnished to the FBI. The information was presented by the FBI to 
an assist.ant U.S. attorney in El Paso, who decided that there was 
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no apparent violation of the Federal banking laws. Although FBI 
agents from the El Paso office discussed the case with the assistant 
U.S. attorney on three separate occasions, the subcommittee found no 
indication that they disagreed with his decision. The arrest of 
Estes in March 1962, after a further FBI investigation, was based on 
confirmation of essentially the same information that had been sub­
mitted in 1961. Further details concerning the 1961 circumstances are 
discussed on pages 355 to 360. 

Had all-or even a few-of the many Federal investigations of 
Estes' operations been properly coordinated, it is almost inconceiva­
ble that his fraudulent activities could have been continued for such 
a long period. However, most of the many Federal investigations 
were conducted with an almost total absence of effective coordination 
or communication between or within the departments, agencies, and 
subunits involved. In some instances, Federal agencies unsuccess­
fully sought information from private sources which was already in 
the possession of other Government units; in others, Federal agencies 
which had information of probable significance to other Government 
units failed to alert them concerning it. 

Since the arrest of Billie Sol Estes, the Department of Agriculture 
has placed all of its audit and investigative activities under the direc­
tion of an inspector general, who reports directly to the Secretary of 
Agriculture. While the subcommittee is not in a position to evaluate 
at this time how well the new system is working in practice, it ob­
viously should result in a very substantial improvement in the co­
ordination of USDA audit and investigative activities. 

The subcommittee has no reason to believe that coordination of 
audit and investigative activities between and within other depart­
ments and agencies of the Federal Government is materially different 
than it. was before Estes' arrest. 

WHY ESTES' EMPIRE COLLAPSED 

The really effective work in exposing Billie Sol Estes was done 
almost entirely by persons who were being injured financially by his 
ruthless competitive tactics. A number of complaints were made to 
appropriate authorities by competitors in various lines of business 
concerning alleged illegal or unethical activitie,s of Estes. Some of 
the complaints were farfetched and without foundation; others were 
detailed and accurate. However, no effective action was taken until 
information concerning Estes' tank transact.ions was made public. 

Publication of stories about Billie Sol Estes' tank transactions 
triggered a final series of events which ultimately led to the arrest of 
Billie Sol Estes. The stories resulted in investigations and inq_uiries 
by finance companies, note signers, and by creditors of Billie Sol Estes. 
Renewed attention to Estes was shown by Federal and State agencies. 
On March 29, 1962, Estes was arrested by the FBI, which had opened 
a new investigation of his tank transactions early that month. 

GRAIN STORAGE OPERATIONS 

Billie Sol Estes engaged in activities involving storage of Govern­
ment grain from late 1958 through early 1962. The subcommittee 
examined these operations in great detail and held extensive hearings 
concerning them. The investigation did not disclose evidence to 
substantiate allegations that Billie Sol Estes received deliberate pref-
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erential treatment because of bribery, po]itical influence or pressure, or 
for any other reason im·olvini corruption of Government officials or 
employees. The subcommittee found no credible evidence that Estes 
had made arrangements for or had reasonable cause to expect he wou]d 
get such preferential treatment. 

Estes obtained approval of his facilities and Government grain 
storage contracts, by submitting false statements concerning his 
financia] condition. While Billie Sol Estes' record amply demon­
strates his talent for deception, his misrepresentations concerning his 
financial condition succeeded primarily because of shortcomings in the 
performance of the Department of Agriculture; factors contributing 
significantly to his success were the inadequate nature of USDA 
administrative regulations, procedures and pructices relating to finan­
cial responsibility of warehousemen, the assignment of responsibility 
for investigating and evaluating financial responsibi]ity to individuals 
insufficiently qualified to carry them out, and a number of instances 
in which USDA personnel displayed a conspicuous lack of alertness 
or exercised poor judgment. 

Detailed findings and conclusions concerning grain storage start 
on page 29. 

AMMONIA SALES OPERATIONS 

Commercial Solvents Corp. did not put Billie Sol Estes into the an­
hydrous ammonia business. However, by providing Estes with 
virtually unlimited supplies of ammonia on credit in 1959, Commer­
cial Solvents made it possible for Estes to gain control of much of the 
ammonia market in the Plains area of Texas. Estes made almost no 
payments for ammonia during this period, and CCC storage revenues 
received by Commercial Solvents under an assignment from Estes 
were only a fraction of the amount due on his account. As a result, 
Estes' indebtedness to Commercial Solvents exceeded $3.5 million by 
the end of 1959. 

During 1959, funds derived from sale of ammonia were available 
for expansion of Es.tes' storage operations; it probably was no co­
incidence that a relatively small amount of fraudulent ammonia tank 
J:!aper was originated that year. In 1960 and 1961, Commercial 
Solvents restricted the amount of credit available to Estes by limiting 
ammonia shipments to roughly the amount of storage payments re­
ceived under the assignment. During those years, Estes continued 
to expand his storage operations, but the amount of tank paper nego­
tiated increased substantially. In early 1962, Commercial Solvents 
shipped Estes ammonia at a far faster rate than ever before; in addi­
tion, the company advanced Estes $400,000. 

The subcommitte,e investigation indicated that it was highly unlikely 
that total and permanent monopolization of the Plams ammonia 
market was a reasonable objective for Estes or Commercial Solvents. 
Phillips Petroleum a.nd Grace Chemical Co.-both larger than Com­
mercial Solvents-had ammonia plants operating or under construc­
t.ion in west Texas which were much more favorably located for this 
market than the Commercial Solvents plant at Sterlington, La. 

However, the grain storage-fertilizer deal made by Commercial Sol­
vents and Estes in late 1958 offered apparent advantages to both. It 
provided Commercial Solvents with a means of disposing of surplus 
ammonia at an attractive price and, through the assignment of Estes' 
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storage revenues, in effect enlisted the a.id of the U.S. Government as 
a device for collection from its slow-paying customer. 

For Estes, the arrangement provided capital with which to acquire 
his initial storage facility in the Plains area. Moreover, it supplied 
a means of raising additional funds since he obtained ammonia on 
credit and sold it for cash. Expansion of his operations to the Plains 
area also furnished a plausible explanation for Estes' tank deals. In 
addition, although Estes could not hope to drive Phillips or Grace out 
of business, he may have thought that one or the other might eventu­
ally pay a high price for his ammonia business to get rid of costly 
competition. 

In obtaining an assignment of grain storage revenues, Commercial 
Solvents described itself as a "financial institution," an action the 
subcommittee considers questionable. Under procedures established 
prior to 1959, the subcommittee regularly receives reports on all pay­
ments in excess of $50,000 made by the Commodity Credit Corpora­
tion. Consequently, payments made to Commercial Solvents under 
the assignment from Estes should have been reported to the subcom­
mittee. However, except for the first one, payments to Commercial 
Solvents were improperly identified as going to United Elevators. 
Responsible officials of the Department of Agriculture ascribed the 
failure to identify Commercial Solvents as payee as a clerical error, 
and the subcommittee's investigation did not disclose evidence to the 
contrary. 

Officials of Commercial Solvents stated that they had no knowl­
edge or suspicion of Estes' fraudulent activities or precarious financial 
condition prior to his arrest. However, the subcommittee's investiga­
tion disclosed that a field representative of Commercial Solvents sent 
information to his superior in the New York office concerning Estes~ 
nonexistent ammonia tanks more than a year before Estes was arre._.;;ted. 
The subcommittee's investigation also ii1dicated that officia]s of Com­
mercial Solvents suspected Estes was misrepresenting his financial 
condition as early as 1959. 

The subcommittee's investigation disclosed that Commercial Sol­
vents' financial vice president, ·William S. Leonhardt, sent Billie Sol 
Estes a check for $400,000 on February 28, 1962, without advance ap­
proval of either the company's board of directors or its executive 
committee. The subcommittee found no documentation whatever con­
cerning the purpose of the check except a one-sentence letter of trans­
mittal from Leonhardt to Estes referring to a previous telephone call. 
Although Leonhardt testified that the check was to be used by Estes 
to moot March 1 payments due on storage facilities on which Commer­
cial Solvents held junior liens, the subcommittee's investigation indi­
cated that mortgage installments of this nature due on March 1 totaled 
only about $200,000 and that Estes did not pay them. Furthermore, 
Estes had failed to pay a $180,000 installment due on February 28, 
1962, on a note payable to Commercial Solvents. The subcommittee 
finds the explanation of the $400,000 payment offered by Commercial 
Solvents very unsatisfactory. 

The subcommittee~s investigation disclosed that Billie Sol Estes 
submitted forged notes to Commercial Solvents as collateral for his 
indebtedness and that such notes were returned to Estes under unusual 
circumstances. 

Maynard Wheeler, president of Commercial Solvents, and Frank 
Cn.in, an attorney for Pacific Finance Co., gave directly contradictory 
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testimony with respect to statements allegedly made by Wheeler. The 
statements allegedly were made in the presence of Cain and Billie Sol 
Estes during a meeting in Estes' home 2 weeks before his arrest. 
Cain's account of what Wheeler said tends to portray Commercial 
Solvents as an equal and knowing partner in Estes schemes. Wheeler, 
on the other hand, denied he had any know ledge or suspicion of :pos­
sible irregularities in Estes' operations at the time of the meetmg. 
The subcommittee finds it difficult to believe that Wheeler would have 
made some of the admissions attributed to him by Cain. The sub­
committee finds it equally difficult to accept Wheeler's contention that 
he had no suspicion whatsoever of irregularities. 

ESTES' RELATIONSHIPS WITH GOVERNMENT OFFICIALS AND EMPLOYEES 

As has been previously indicated, the subcommittee's investigation 
did not cover matters relating to transfer of pooled cotton allotments 
which were the subject of a Senate investigation. The subcommittee'!, 
investigation disclosed the existence of business dealings and financial 
transactions involving Billie Sol Estes and Government employees 
residing in Reeves and Pecos Counties. The investigation indicated 
that the activities of most of these employees were primarily concerned 
with cotton allotment matters and related programs; it disclosed no 
evidence that any of them had anything to do with Estes' grain storage 
operations. However, the relationships between Estes and these 
employees were not examined in sufficient detail to justify expression 
of further conclusions concerning their nature at this time. Conse­
quently, the findings and conclusions expressed in the following para­
graphs do not cover the above matters. 

The subcommittee found substantial evidence that Billie Sol Estes 
paid bribes to employees of some private firms in connection with his 
fraudulent operations. However, the subcommittee's investigation 
disclosed no credible evidence that bribes had been offeroo or paid to 
any elected or appointed Federal officials or employees. While the 
subcommittee did not examine Billie Sol Estes' financial transactions 
on an item-by-item basis, such an examination was carried out by the 
Internal Revenue Service. The supervisor of the unit which con­
ducted this examination informed the subcommittee that the IRS 
audit had developed no evidence disclosing or suggesting bribery of 
Government officers or employees by Billie Sol Estes. 

Billie Sol Estes customarily sent unsolicited gifts of nominal value-­
such as Pecos cantaloups, fruit, pecans, and candy-to business ac­
quaintances and promment political figures. He also entertained 
Government officials or employees on occasion and gave substantial 
campaign contributions. This information became a matter of gen­
eral public know]edge after Estes' arrest in 1962. The subcommittee's 
investigation indicated that Estes frequently told exaggerated stories 
concerning the extent of his gifts. No siW1ificant information not 
previously made public was found. The Internal Revenue Service 
informed the subcommittee that ( except for matters previously pub­
licly disclosed and those involving residents of Reeves and Pecos 
Counties) its detailed investigation of Estes' financial transactions 
had found no evidence disclosing or suggesting that Government of­
ficers or employees or their families had any direct or indirect busi­
ness relationships with or received gifts from Billie Sol Estes. 

During the subcommittee's investigation, allegations were made con­
cerning a purported list of "names of high officials who received $100 
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money orders" from Estes, supposedly discussed at an executive meet­
ing of the subcommittee. The subcommittee has found no evidence 
that such a list ever existed. The subcommittee investigation con­
firmed that James Ralph and William Morris had received two $100 
money orders each from Estes around Christmas, 1961, which were 
used to make political contributions instead of being returned to Estes. 
The Justice Department informed the subcommittee that its investiga­
tion of the Este,s matter, which included a review of approximately 
38,000 postal money orders issued by the Pecos post office from Janu­
ary 5, 1961, to March 31, U)62, developed no evidence that any other 
Federal officials or employees received money orders from Estes. The 
subcommittee made an independent review of all $100 money orders 
purchased at the Pecos post office from December 15, 1961, through 
January 20, 1962, with the same result. 

The subcommittee investigated published allegations and rumors 
that prominent political figures or members of their families secretly 
owned interests in Billie Sol Estes' grain storage facilities and found 
no credible evidence whatever to support such allegations. 

The subcommittee's investigation, which included a thorough search 
of USDA files, disclosed no evidence that any elected Federal official 
exerted or attempted to exert influence to assist Billie Sol Estes in his 
operations involving the Federal Government. The subcommittee did 
find that a Member of Congress called the Dallas commodity office 
regarding Estes' storage operations in December 1961; however, the 
purpose of the call was not to assist Estes but to relay complaints re­
ceived from constituents concerning Estes' storage operations. The 
subcommittee also found a number of other instances in which Mem­
bers of Congress had forwarded to the Department of Agriculture 
complaints received from constituents concerning allotment transac­
tions or the o:fierin~ of inducements to secure Government grain. 
While these complamts did not mention Estes by name, they were 
directed at practices in which he-and others-were engaged. 

Billie Sol Estes unquestionably suggested, claimed, or even boasted 
that he was able to obtain favorable treatment from Government of­
ficials. The subcommittee's investigation indicated that Estes 
habitually claimed close friendship with prominent people but dis­
closed little or no evidence to support his assertions. The motive for 
some of Estes' claims of influence appears obvious, since they were 
made at a time just prior to his arrest when he was trying to convince 
his creditors that he would be able to stay out of jail and gradually pay 
off his obligations if they would go along with him. 

The subcommittee's investigation disclosed that three former 
officials of the Department of Agriculture-two of whom had been in 
charge of its grain storage program-were employed by Commercial 
Solvents after leaving the Department. During their service with 
Commercial Solvents, they worked on matters involving either Billie 
Sol Estes' grain storage operations or price support and stora<Te 
policies generally. The subcommittee also exammed personal rel~­
tionships between Billie Sol Estes and two persons who were then 
USDA officials. ·while the subcommittee found that some activities 
of all the above individuals were clearly inappropriate at best, it did 
not find evidence establishing improper conduct which directly af­
fected Estes' operations. Detailed comments concerning actions of 
these individuals are on pages 361 to 364 of this report. 



RECOMMENDATIO NS 

1. The subcommittee's investigation disclosed a serious lack of 
effective coordination and communication among Federal units 
engaged in auditing and investigative activities. 

The subcommittee recommends that the President authorize and 
direct a comprehensive review of Federal audit and investigative ac­
tivities with a view to securing improved coordination and commu­
nication both among and withm Federal departments and agencies. 
The subcommittee believes that such a review should include-but not 
be limited to--consideration of appropriate actions designed to pro­
mote the following objectives: 

(a) To insure that information coming to the attention of Fed­
eral agencies or personnel from outside sources is promptly re­
ferred to all agencies of the Federal Government that might have 
a potential interest in it or responsibility for taking action con­
cerning it. Efforts should be made to better inform Federal em­
ployees, particularly those engaged in auditing and investigative 
activities, concerning the types of information that may be sig­
nificant to other agencies. Federal employees should be encour­
aged and instructed to regard themselves as having a responsi­
bility for the public interest generally, in addition to the specific 
duties assiwied by their particular agency. 

(b) To insure that Federal employees are a ware of and make 
appropriate use of sources of information available within the 
Federal Government. 

(c) Where evidence of irregularities may be of potential in­
terest to more than one Federal agency, appropriate measures 
should be taken to insure proper coordination of Federal investi­
gative activity with a view to avoiding both unnecessary duplica­
tion of effort and inadvertent failure to cover significant matters. 
This would include such measures as joint investigations, where 
desirable, temporary assignment of personnel with special ex­
perience or qualifications to assist other agencies, joint determina­
tions concerning priorities where one agency's work might conflict 
with another, etc. 

(d) In planning, conducting, and assigning priorities to inves­
tigative work, greater emphasis should be placed on giving ad­
vance consideration to the relative importance of criminal 
prosecutions which may result and on obtaining greater coordina­
tion between personnel responsible for investigative work and 
personnel responsible for the conduct of prosecutions or litigation. 

The subcommittee requests that it be informed of the action taken 
,Yith respect to this recommendation. 

2. Billie Sol Estes secured approval of contracts for storage of 
Government grain by misrepresenting his financial condition. Since 
the Government was induced by fraud to grant these contracts, the 
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subcommittee recommends that appropriate legal action be taken with 
a view to recovering, insofar as feasible, profits derived from them. 

3. Because of a possible loophole in Federal law, the sale of fraudu­
lent commercial paper to a national bank probably is not a violation 
of Federal law in the absence of use of the mail, interstate transporta­
tion, or knowledge or participation by an officer or employee of the 
bank. The subcommittee recommends that the appropriate commit­
tees of the Congress give consideration to making it a specific violation 
of Federal law to knowingly sell fraudulent commercial paper to 
national banks, without regard to whether or not use of the mails, 
interstate transportation, or knowledge or participation by an officer 
or employee of the bank is involved. 

4. The subcommittee's investigation indicated that it has been the 
practice of the Department of Agriculture to allow assignment of the 
proceeds of contracts with the Department to third parties without 
cons~dering whether or not such assignments OJ?erateto the benefit or 
detriment of the Government. The subcommittee recommends that 
the Department of Agriculture reexamine its policies and procedures 
with respect to the assignment of proceeds of Government contracts 
with a view to eliminatmg assignments which are not in the best in­
terests of the Government. 

5. The committee recommends that the Department of Agriculture 
give consideration to possible consolidation, insofar as feasible, of 
the similar warehouse examination and approval functions now per­
formed individually by the Agricultural Marketing Service and the 
Agricultural Stabilization and Conservation Service. 

6. The subcommittee's investigation disclosed serious inadequacies 
in the procedures and practices of the Department of Agriculture 
relating to grain storage. A number of changes in these procedures 
and practices, which are described on page 387, were made during the 
subcommittee's investigation. The subcommittee recommends that the 
Department of Agriculture ~ve continued attention to the problem 
of assuring adequate protect10n for the Government and others who 
store grain in commercial warehouses. The subcommittee specifically 
recommends that consideration be given to the possibility of utilizing 
a blanket bond system for warehouses licensed under the U.S. Ware­
house Act, as is now being done in the case of State-licensed ware­
houses storing grain for tlie Commodity Credit Corporation. 

7. During the course of its investigation, the subcommittee made 
available to the DeJ?artment of Justice transcripts of its hearings and 
any other informat10n it believed might be of particular significance 
in connection with the responsibilities of that Department. The sub­
committee recommends that the Department of Justice make a careful 
examination of this report, as well as the information previously sup­
p lied, with a view to taking appropriate action. The subcommittee 
requests that the Department of Justice inform it of action taken with 
respect to this recommendation. 



GRAIN STORAGE OPERATIONS 

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

Growth of Estes' Storage Operations 
Within a little more than 3 years from the time he entered the grain 

storage business, Billie Sol Estes acquired or was responsible for the 
construction of storage facilities with a total capacity of approximately 
87 million bushels. The subcommittee made a detailed examination 
of the manner in which this occurred; this phase of its inquiry was 
directed particularly toward determining whether or not the rapid 
growth of Estes' storage empire was made possible or facilitated by 
deliberate misconduct of Government officials or employees, adminis­
trative inefficiency, or bad procedures. 

While Estes' accomplishments were unquestionably remarkable, it 
should be noted that neither the total size of his storage operations 
nor the rate at which they grew was unparalleled. Billie Sol Estes' 
warehouse operations were the largest in Texas, but they were far 
from the largest in the country; there were also instances in which 
warehousemen added storage capacity at comparable speed. Rapid 
and substantial expansion of warehouse facilities, on a smaller scale, 
was commonplace. During the period from late 1958 through early 
1962, of course, Estes expanded more rapidly than any other Texas 
warehouseman. 

The unprecedented expansion of commercial grain storage facilities 
generally-and Billie Sol Estes' operations in particular-cl uring the 
1950's and very early 1960's was made possible by two closely related 
factors. First, record stocks of surplus grain were acquired by the 
Department of Agriculture. Second, a policy that privately owned 
warehouses-rather than Government-owned facilities-be used for 
storage of practically all surplus wheat and grain sorghum resulted in 
payment of tremendous sums by the Department of Agriculture to 
operators of private grain storage facilities. Within a few years what 
amounted, in effect, to a huge new industry was created, supported 
by Government payments of as much as $500 million per year. 

Under policies in effect before and throughout Billie Sol Estes' 
storage operations, the Department of Agriculture made no significant 
effort to restrict or discourage expansion of individual warehousemen. 
Warehouse operators who apparently met basic requirements were 
licensed or approved for storage of Government grain without regard 
to whether or not the additional storage capacity involved was either 
necessary or desirable. Moreover, since CCC paid a fixed and uni­
form storage rate to all warehousemen, price competition as such did 
not constitute a deterrent to overexpansion. On two occasions, one 
in 1959 and the other in 1961, C. H. Moseley, director of the Dallas 
ASCS commodity office, specifically recommended that the Depart­
ment of Agriculture take action to discourage further expansion of 
commercial grain storage facilities. While the potential drawbacks 
of such action might well have outweighed the possible benefits, the 

29 
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subcommittee's investigation did not indicate that Moseley's supe­
riors gave really careful consideration to the questions involved before 
turning down his recommendations. 

Local conditions were particularly favorable for rapid expansion of 
Estes' facilities. Production of grain sorghum-the primary com­
modity stored by Estes-expanded more rapidly than that of any 
other major grain crop, and the northwest Texas plains area, where 
Estes concentrated his elevators, produces more grain sorghum than 
any other part of the country. 

The subcommittee examined the price support policies under which 
huge stocks of surplus grain were accumulated and the storage policies 
under which they were stored in considerable detail in 1959 and 1960. 
Its findings and conclusions on these subjects are contained in House 
Reports 2219 and 2220, which were adopted by the Committee on 
Government Operations in August 1960. 

Construction and Acquisition nf Storage Facilities 
A fundamental reason many warehousemen, including Billie Sol 

Estes, were willing and able to expand their grain storage operations 
rapidly was that the relatively low cost of grain storage facilities in 
comparison to the rates paid by the Department of Agriculture for 
storage of Government grain made expansion attractive. Flat 
warehouses suitably equipped for storage of grain sorghum could be 
constructed for less than 20 cents per bushel of capacity; by contrast, 
warehousemen were paid approximately 16}~ cents per bushel per year 
for storing CCC grain until mid-1960 and 13}~ cents per bushel after 
that time. Storage revenues received from such facilities, when 
reasonably well occupied, often exceeded amounts required to meet 
operating costs and mortgage payments by substantial margins. 

As in his other business operations, Billie Sol Estes relied heavily on 
the use of credit to finance expansion of his facilities. Estes acquired 
several existing warehouses on a no-money-down basis, with payment 
to be made oyer a period of 5 years or longer; a substantial part of the 
cost of constructed facilities was also financed on a 5-year payment 
schedule. 

In addition to the extensive use of low-cost facilities built on credit, 
a practice also engaged in by many other storage entrepreneurs, Billie 
Sol Estes used less ethical methods of his own to facilitate his rapid 
expansion. Estes habitually submitted padde.d invoices to commer­
cial financing firms in order to obtain 100-percent financing of con­
struction costs and avoid 'inaking the cash downpayments normally 
required. In other cases, Estes demanded refund of his cash down­
payment from the storage contractor, giving notes in exchange. In 
a few instances, finance companies were induced by misrepresentations 
to provide financing which actually exceeded the total cost of stor­
age construction; Estes then obtained a kickback from the contractor 
in cash which was available for operating expenses or other purposes. 
When financing for storage construction was difficult or impossible 
to secure in his own name, Estes obtained it by inducing others to 
"lend" him their credit. 

Estes' original entry into the grain storage business and his huge 
expansion thereafter would, of course, have been impossible if he had 
not been successful in misrepresenting his financial condition to the 
Department of Agriculture. Perhaps the most important factor in 
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Eates' ability to expand far more rapid]y than other warehousemen 
was his ability to .obtain large amounts of money for this purpose 
from outside sources. Estes' entry into the grain storage business 
and his early expansion were largely financed-either directly or 
indirectly-by Commercial Solvents Corp. Commercial Solvents pro­
vided Estes with $225,000 for the downpayment on his original ware­
house at Plainview, and subsequently made more than $600,000 in 
payments on storage facilitiei:1 for Estes. In addition, Commercial 
Solvents shipped Estes anhydrous ammonia priced at more than $2.5 
million on credit during 1959; revenues from the sale of this ammonia 
probably provided a substantial amount of the capital used by Estes 
for storage expansion during this period. After Commercial Solvents 
tightened its credit policies toward the end of 1959, Estes began to 
use fraudulent tank mortgages on a larger scale; through this device, 
he raised millions of dollars for storage construction and other uses. 
Licensing and Approval of Estes' Warehou8es 

From March 1959 through March 1962, numerous warehouses 
owned wholly or partially by Billie Sol Estes were approved for storage 
of Government grain; total capacity of the approved facilities was ap­
proximately 87 million bushels. Most of these facilities were approved 
for storage of CCC grain on a routine basis after first being issued 
Federal warehouse licenses; the remainder were operated under State 
licenses. The subcommittee examined the circumstances involved in 
the licensing and approval of Estes' facilities in considerable detail. 

Requirements prescribed for obtaining a Federal license for opera­
tion of a grain storage warehouse are basically the same as those 
established for approval of a warehouse for storage of Government 
grain under a uniform grain storage agreement (UGSA). However, 
under a "dual system" used by the Department of Agriculture, the 
Warehouse Act Branch of the Agricultural Marketing Service is 
responsible for the Federal warehouse licensing program and personnel 
of the Agricultural Stabilization and Conservation Service determine 
whether or not to approve warehouses for storage of Government 
grain. In c8l'l'ying out their closely related responsibilities, the two 
units utilize separate groups of warehouse examiners working out of 
field offices at different locations. 

The three basic requirements established for issuance of a Federal 
warehouse license or approval of a UGSA are suitable physical facili­
ties for storage and handling of grain, experienced and trustworthy 
management, and adequate financial responsibility. Proper facilities 
and management are regarded by the Department of Agriculture as 
essential in order to prevent loss through shortages or deterioration 
of grain; regular warehouse examinations are made to insure that such 
losses have not occurred. Financial responsibility requirementi:i;, 
relating to the warehouseman's net worth and the amount of surety 
bond to be furnished, are designed to insure reimbursement in the 
event losses are suffered. Their purpose is to serve as supplemental 
protection, since there is no need to call on them unless losses occur. 

Before a Federal warehouse license is issued, an original examina­
tion is made by Warehouse Act Branch personnel to ascertain whether 
the warehouse operation involved meets the necessary requirements 
for a Federal license; Warehouse Act Branch personnel also make 
subsequent examinations of federally licensed elevators to check the 
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condition and quantity of grain in storage. ASCS personnel make 
original and subsequent examinations of warehouses which do not 
have Federal licenses in order to determine whether such warehouses 
are qualified for storage of Government grain and to check grain in 
storage. When CCC grain is stored in federally licensed warehouses, 
ASCS normally does not make independent examinations but relies 
instead on the Warehouse Act Branch program to insure that ware­
houses meet requirements and that Government grain is receiving 
proper care. 

The subcommittee found that Billie Sol Estes' warehouses were 
generally satisfactory insofar as two of the three basic requirements 
for licensing or approval were concerned. Estes' physical facilities­
although not outstanding-were adequate. Wayne Cooper, general 
manager of Estes' storage operations, was experienced and well 
regarded. However, Estes' storage operations were obviously not 
backed by adequate financial responsibility, since Estes was insolvent 
throughout his storage operations and his surety bond coverage repre­
sented only a very small fraction of the value of grain stored in his 
warehouses. 

The subcommittee found that Billie Sol Estes' willingness to 
fraudulently misrepresent his financial condition-and his demon­
strated talent for accomplishing this deception-were essential 
elements of his success in securing and retaining Federal warehouse 
licenses and grain storage agreements despite his insolvent status. 
In order to obtain licenses and grain storage agreements, Estes 
consistently filed false financial statements misrepresenting himself 
as a multimillionaire when he was actually insolvent. Estes was 
aided in this misrepresentation by a certified public accountant who, 
for a $6,000 fee, vouched for one of the spurious financial statements 
Estes submitted to the Department of Agriculture. Estes was also 
aided by favorable recommendations from his local banker to the 
Department of Agriculture. 

However, Estes was successful in deceiving the Department of 
Agriculture concerning his financial condition for more than 3 years 
only because U:SDA personnel responsible for licensing and approval 
of his facilities never took effective steps to ascertain his true financial 
status. This was particularly true of the Warehouse Act Branch, 
whose complacent attitude can perhaps at least partially be attributed 
to-although not excused by-the fact that claims against federally 
licensed warehousemen or their sureties have been almost nonexistent 
in recent years. Factors which contributed significantly to this 
result are discussed in detail in the body of this report and are sum­
marized-not necessaiily in order of importance-in the following 
paragraphs. 

The "dual system" under which responsibility for closely related 
activities involving storage of Government grain was assigned to two 
different units of the Department of Agriculture diffused responsi­
bility, proliferated redtape, and restricted the flow of information. 
However, despite the weaknesses of the system, Billie Sol Estes' mis­
representations concerning his financial condition could and should 
have been detected under it. Had they been, the foundation of grain 
storage revenues on which Estes built his financial empire would not 
have been available. 
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In evaluating the financial condition of warehousemen, Department 
of Agriculture personnel relied primarily on unsupported financial 
statements supplied by the warehouseman concerned; independently 
audited statements were not required and usually were not obtained. 
ASCS instructions actually directed that financial statements filed 
by warehousemen should not be questioned, in the absence of in­
formation indicating some specific reason to do so. 

Although Warehouse Act Branch procedures called for warehouse 
examiners to obtain a limited amount of financial data at the time 
they examined physical facilities for suitability, the personnel as­
signed this responsibility were not selected with any noticeable regard 
for their ability to perform it properly. For example, Warehouse 
Examiner Donald McCoy, the man sent to Pecos to check on Billie 
Sol Estes' financial condition, was-through no fault of his own­
completely unqualified to carry out this assignment. 

Carl l\filler, Chief of the Warehouse Act Branch, personally assumed 
responsibility for determining whether the financial condition of 
federally licensed warehousemen was adequate. While it does not 
question the manner in which he cnrried out his other duties, the 
subcommittee found Mr. Miller's qualifications for analyzing financial 
statements unimpressive and his performance in this respect even 
worse. If :Yliller had taken the trouble to make even a cursory 
examination of conflicting financial information about Estes presented 
to him when his initial warehouse license was approved in 1959, or if 
he had insisted on detailed audit information in 1961, serious questions 
concerning Estes' financial condition should have been readily 
apparent. 

C. H. Moseley, Director of the Dallas Commodity Office, acted 
promptly to refer questions concerning Billie Sol Estes' financial condi­
tion to the Warehouse Act Branch; however, Moseley did not take 
worthwhile independent action to investigate the validity of allega­
tions about Estes' financial status even though the conflicting financial 
information presented to Carl Miller was also provided to the Dallus 
Commodity Office. Mr. Moseley's lack of action can perhaps be 
justified insofar as federally licensed facilities are concerned, since the 
Warehouse Act Branch had responsibility for ascertaining the financial 
condition of these houses under the dual system; however, this justifi­
cation did not exist for Estes' State-licensed facilities, where re­
sponsibility was clearly that of the Dallas office. 

Mandatory regulations of the Warehouse Act Branch concerning 
the amount of bond to be provided were followed and even exceeded 
for Billie Sol Estes' warehouses. However, these regulations, which 
permitted a warehouseman whose financial statement showed sufficient 
net worth to store unlimited amounts of grain under a $200,000 
surety bond, were inadequate. Although Warehouse Act Branch 
regulations provided that additional bond might be required, there 
were no written procedures specifying the factors which should be 
taken into consideration in deciding whether and how much addi­
tional bond should be required; in effect, the decision was left entirely 
to the judgment of responsible officials. It is the opinion of the 
subcommittee that Carl Miller exercised poor judgment in not requir­
ing a higher bond for Billie Sol Estes. 

It should be noted that Billie Sol Estes' success in deceiving Govern­
ment personnel concerning his financial condition was paralleled to a 
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considerable extent in his relationships with surety companies. Al­
though these surety companies placed limits on the amount of bond 
they would write for Estes-and at times expressed considerable 
reluctance in bonding him at all-he managed to obtain surety bonds 
in amounts as high as $700,000. However, it should be emphasized 
that the procedural and personnel inadequacies of commercial busi­
nesses do not justify the existence of similar conditions in the Depart­
ment of Agriculture. 

The subcommittee's investigation disclosed no evidence that the 
licensing or approval of Billie Sol Estes' grain storage facilities was 
either accomplished or facilitated through bribery, political influence, 
or deliberate misconduct involving any Government official or em­
ployee. The subcommittee found that decisions relating to licensing 
and approval of Estes' warehouses were made by the Warehouse Act 
Branch of the Agricultural Marketing Service and the Dallas ASCS 
commodity office; it found no evidence that any other Government 
official or employee-elected or appointed-attempted to influence 
such decisions. 
Acqui,sition of Grain for Storage 

When Billie Sol Estes was arrested in March 1D62, his warehouses 
contained not quite 34 million bushels of Government-owned grain­
enough to fill less than 40 percent of their 87-million-bushel capacity. 
An additional 11 million bushels of CCC grain had been stored for a 
time in Estes' facilities, but had been shipped out before his arrest. 
After Estes' arrest, a number of widely circulated allegations were 
made relating to the manner in which he had obtained Government 
grain for storage. 

The subcommittee made a thorough examination of the circumstances 
under which Billie Sol Estes acquired grain for storage, with a par­
ticular view to determining whet her or not Estes obtained Government 
grain through favoritism, political influence, or by any other means 
involving deliberate misconduct on the part of Government officials 
or employees. In analyzing shipments of Government grain to Estes' 
facilities, the subcommittee made considerable use of information de­
veloped by Ge,neral Accounting Office personnel while on temporary 
assignment to the Senate Committee on Government Operations; the 
subcommittee was given access to data obtained in the inve,stigation by 
GAO personnel through the courtesy of Chairman McClellan of the 
Senate committee. 

The subcommittee found that more than 28 million-63 percent­
of the 45 million bushels of CCC grain stored by Estes before his arrest 
was acquired through the actions of private firms or individuals; only 
16.5 million bushels of grain was actually shipped to Estes' facilities 
by the Department of Agriculture. 

Of the more than 28 million bushels of CCC grain not shipped to 
Estes by the Department of Agriculture, nearly 6 million bushels was 
already in storage when Estes acquired warehouses. An additional 
7 million bushels was acquired through "exchange" transactions with 
other war~housemen; GAO personnel reported that their review of 
these transactions disclosed no irregularities. 

The remaining 15.4 million bushels of CCC grain acquired through 
private firms or individuals was the property of producers when it 
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was brought to Estes' facilities and pledged as collateral for price­
support loans; the grain later was acquired by the Government and 
remained in storage as CCC property. (An additional 12 million 
bushels of grain in Estes' warehouses at the time of his arrest belonged 
to producers who had pledged it as collateral for price-support loani:) 
and was acquired by CCC after Estes was arrested.) Under CCC 
procedures, the producer himself chooses the elevator in which he 
wishes to store grain to be pledged under _price-support loan. _The 
subcommittee found no evidence that any Government officer or em­
ployee influenced or attempted to influence producers to store grain 
in Estes' warehouses. 

The subcommittee found ample evidence that Billie Sol Estes and 
many other Texas warehousemen offered producers free storage and 
other inducements-even including trading stamps-in order to obtain 
loan grain for storage. (Since loan grain taken over by CCC normally 
remained in storage for some time at the original storage point, the 
warehouseman would receive storage payments from the Department 
of Agriculture starting on the takeover date.) However, the subcom­
mittee investigation established that the practice of offering induce­
ments such as fr~e storage to producers was not prohibited by CCC 
regulations or policies. 

The subcommittee found evidence that Billie Sol Estes considered 
making sales of anhydrous ammonia to producers at reduced prices 
in return for their promises that they would store grain in his ware­
houses; however, the subcommittee found no evidence such transac­
tions ever actually took place. In 1960, the Department of Agriculture 
specifically stated that such transactions were not prohibited by the 
Departmenfs regulations. (The subcommittee's investigation indi­
cated that, although Estes did not obtain grain for storage as a direct 
result of ammonia sales, he benefited indirectly because the availability 
of low-cost ammonia contributed substantially to increased production 
of grain sorghum in the plains area where his warehouses were 
located.) 

Although only 16.5 million-37 percent-of the 45 million bushels 
of Government grain stored by Estes before his arrest was shipped to 
his facilities by the Department of Agriculture, there were many 
allegations that Estes had received deliberate preferential treatment 
from the Department in the acquisition of ~rain. Charges made in 
these allegations are discussed in the follow mg paragraphs. 

It. was alleged that unnecessary shipments of grain were made from 
the Kansas area to Estes' warehouses, byp~ing available storage 
space in the Kansas area on the way to west Texas. The subcommittee 
found that shipments to Estes' warehouses from the Kansas area to­
taled 8.5 million bushels; the shipments were made in the years 1959 
through 1961. Department of Agriculture records indicated the 8.5 
million bushels shipped to Estes was part of more than 300 million 
bushels of grain shipped out of the Kansas area for further stomge 
elsewhere during this period. A substantial part of the grain moved 
from the Kansas area was shipped to Texas wa.rehouses located on rail 
routes to export points on the gulf coast. 

The heaviest movement from the Kansas area to Estes' facilities 
took place in the late spring and early summer of 1961. The sub­
committee found, on the basis o:f its own investigation and the com-
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prehensive review made by GAO personnel, that the 19Gl shipments 
from the Kansas area were necessary because of a shortage of grain 
storage space in that area; it found no evidence that any available 
terminal storage space in the Kansas area was bypassed in order to 
ship grain to Estes' warehouses. The review by GAO personnel did 
not cover shipments prior to 1961; hmvever, the subcommittee found 
no evidence suggesting irregularities in shipments to Estes' ware­
houses from the Kansas area in 1959 and 1960. 

Another allegation frequently heard after Estes' arrest was that 
he was given preference over his competitors in the allocation of 
Government grain for storage. Under USDA procedures, the Dallas 
commodity office was responsible for determinmg which warehouses 
in its area would receive shipments of CCC grain, regardless of 
whether the shipments originated inside or outside the Dallas com­
modity office area. The subcommittee found no evidence that Wash­
ington officials of the Department of Ag-riculture ordered, influenced, 
or even had specific knowledge about shipments of grain to Estes' 
warehouses. 

The subcommittee found that Wayne Cooper, general manager of 
Estes' grain storage operations, contacted the Dallas commodity 
office from time to time to off er storage space and make inquiries 
concerning shipments of CCC grain. However, the subcommittee's 
investigation indicated that this was the customary manner in which 
warehousemen offered space for CCC grain and disclosed no evidence 
that Cooper's activities in this respect were either unusual or improper. 
The subcommittee found no evidence that Billie Sol Estes himself 
ever personally solicited shipments of CCC grain for his warehouses 
from or through any Government official or employee. . 

At times when the amount of storage space offered by termmal 
warehousemen exceeded the quantity of grain to be shipped, Dallas 
commodity office procedures provided for a four-man allocation com­
mittee-rather than a single individual-to decide which elevators 
should receive grain based on a number of inventory management 
factors. However, according to testimony of USDA witnes.ses. dur­
ing the 1961 period in which the heaviest shipments to Estes' facili­
ties were made, a severe shortage of storage space existed in the Dallas 
commodity office area; consequently, the principal factor involved in 
the allocation of grain to Estes' warehouses at that time was the fact 
that no other suitable space was available. A comprehensive review 
by GAO personnel, which included analysis of the availability of 
space at 50 competitive terminal warehouses, substantiated the testi­
mony of USDA witnesses and disclosed no preferential treatment in 
the allocation o-f CCC grain to Estes' facilities. ·while the review by 
GAO personnel did not cover allocation o-f grain prior to 1961, the 
subcommittee investigation <lisclosed no evidence of irregularities in 
19!rnand 1960 shipments to Estes' warehouses. -

The subcommittee fonnd evidence that a number of competing ware­
housemen had complained about the manner in which Estes was 
obtaining grain for storage. However, these complaints re.lated to 
the methods used by Estes to secure grain from producers and did not 
allege or imply any improper conduct on the part of USDA personnel. 
Estes' competitors were undoubtedly-and understandably-concerned 
about his partially executed plan to build 100 country receiving points 
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for grain throughout the Plains area; this plan also illustrated Estes' 
dependence on producers-rather than CCC-as the primary source 
of grain for storage. 

An allegation that substantial unnecessary freight costs were in­
curred to make shipments of grain to Estes' facilities was investigated 
by the General Accounting Office, which made a comprehensive review 
of substantially all shipments of CCC grains to his warehouses. On 
freight charges totaling around $4 million, the General Accounting 
Office found possible excess costs of approximately $650; this amount 
was attributed by GAO personnel to clerical errors in making railroad 
tariff changes.

It was alleged that shipments of grain were dispatched to Estes' 
warehouses before construction was completed, causing a serious ac­
cumulation of unloaded railroad cars. The subcommittee found that 
there was considerable amount of congestion when rail cars arrived 
at Estes' Plainview facility faster than they could be unloaded; how­
ever, a review by GAO personnel and the subcommittee's own investi­
gation established that no shipments had been allocated to Estes' 
warehouses before completion and approval of sufficient space to 
receive them. 

The subcommittee's investigation, which included an exhaustive 
search of Agriculture Department files and interrogation of many 
employees, disclosed no evidence that Estes obtained or attempted to 
obtain Government grain for storage through favoritism, political 
influence, or by any other means involving deliberate misconduct on 
the part of Government officials or employees. 

The subcommittee found that Estes did contact USDA employees 
in Dallas and Washington in an attempt to have his Plainview facility 
reclassified from a terminal to a country elevator. Estes apparently 
believed such a reclassification would slow down or stop the hea\'y 
shipments of CCC grain being made from his Plainview facility. 
However, the requested reclassification was refused. 

BACKGROUND 

Increased Production of Grain Sorghum 
A tremendous increase in production of grain sorghum was one of 

the factors which made Billie Sol Estes' grain storage operations 
possible. During the 1950's, total production of feed grains in the 
United States increased sharply. Production of grain sorghum, the 
major commodity stored by Estes, increased by a far higher percentage 
than any other important feed grain. The 1960 production of 620 
million bushels of grain sorghum-an alltime record-was more than 
five times as large as the 1951-53 average of 123 million bushels. 

Perhaps the most important reason for the tremendous expansion 
in grain sorghum production was improved agricultural technology. 
Through the introduction of hybrid seed and the increased use of 
irrigation and fertilizer the average yield per acre of grain sorghum 
harvested more than doubled in less than 10 years. Per acre produc­
tion of grain sorghum was around 20 bushels during the early 1950's; 
by 1961 the average yield was more than 40 bushels per acre. 

A second major factor in increased total production of grain sorghum 
was the imposition of acreage restrictions on wheat and cotton in 
1954. A substantial amount of acreage formerly used for these crops 
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was diverted to production of grain sorghum on which price supports 
were available without acreage restrictions. In 1953, slightly more 
than 6 million acres of grain sorghum were harvested in the United 
States; during the last few years harvested acreage has averaged more 
than double that amount. 

Grain sorghum production is concentrated in a comparatively few 
States. Three States-Texas, Kansas, and Nebraska-normally ac­
count for as much as 80 percent of the total production, with much of 
the remainder being produced in Oklahoma, Missouri, and California. 
The heaviest concentration of sorghum production is in the Plains Area 
of northwest Texas; this is clearly demonstrated by the map on page 
414 of the appendix which shows the geographical distribution of 
sorghum acrea.ge in 1959. Hale County, locntion of Billie Sol Estes' 
largest storn,ge facility, produces more grain sorghum within the 
county than all but a few States. 
Growth of Storage Industry 

Utilization of wheat and feed grains did not keep pace with increased 
production during the middle and late 1950's. Under the price 
support programs in effect, the Department of Agriculture was obli­
gated to take ownership of eligible grain which was not sold for 
commercial purposes. Much of the corn acquired by the Depart­
ment of Agriculture under the price support program was stored in 
Government-owned bins; however, privately owned storage facilities 
were used for practically all of the wheat and grain sorghum. Con­
sequently, as the subcommittee pointed out in an August 1960 report 
(H. Rept. 2220, 86th Cong., 2d sess.), storage of grain for the Govern­
ment, which was almost nonexistent before 1949, had become a $500 
million a year industry by 1960. In its report, the subcommittee 
gave the following description of the growth of the new industry: 
· Before 1949 only comparatively small amounts of Govern-

ment grain were stored in commercial warehouses, and these 
stocks were usually not stored for extended periods of time. 
Storage of grain for the Government became a substantial 
business in 1949, when commodities from the bumper 1948 
crop were taken over by the Commodity Credit Corporation. 
It declined sharply during the Korean conflict when Govern­
ment inventories were reduced substantially, but has ex­
panded stef1dily since 1953 as Government stocks have 
grown to alltime record levels. 

Even before the accumulation of huge Government grain 
inventories, it was unusual for really large amounts of grain 
to be carried over from year to year by commercial elevators, 
and during the last few years the grain inventories owned by 
mills and processors have dwindled almost to the vanishing 
point just before harvesting of a new crop. By contrast, 
Government grain often remains in storage in commercial 
warehouses for sev~ral years without being moved. 

Commercial warehouse space approved for storage of 
CCC grain in July 1960 totaled about 4.2 billion bushels­
near]y four times the amount under contract in 1952. 
Much of the new space represents capacity added to existing 
facilities by firms already operating grain elevators; in other 
cases, however, individuals with no background in grain 
merchandising have gone into business for the ~ole purpose 
of storing Government 2:rain. 

https://acrea.ge
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In its 1960 report, the subcommittee pomted out that over half the 
commercrn,l warehouse space approved for storage of Government 
grain was concentrated ill four .Midwestem States and Texas. These 
five '3tates-Kn.nsas, Texas, N ebmska, Iowa, and Illinois-had 
nearly 2.4 billion bushels of space approved for Government storage 
at the end of 1959; this WH,s three times the estimated total storage 
space of about 800 million bushels for these ~tates in 1951. 

Before 1950, most commercial grain storn.ge facilities were built 
primarily for merclrn.ndising purposes, rather thn.n for long-term 
storage. However, much of the new space constructed in the late 
1950's was intended primarily-if not exclusively-for storage of 
Government grain. This circumstance, together with the develop­
ment of new storage techniques, resulted in significant changes in the 
t:vp(\ of storage facilities being constructed. The subcommittee 
described the situation in its 1960 report as follows: 

The trrnwndous expnnsion of storage space has been 
accompanied by extremely significrm t chn,uges in storage 
technology. Effective techniques have been developed for 
"1wrating" grain by pulling outside air through stored grain 
with fans, a process which appen,rs to be cheaper and more 
efficient than the previous method of keeping grain in con­
dition by turning it from bin to bin. The aeration process 
makes it feasible to use so-called flat stomge focilities, instead 
of the more conventional type of upright elevator, without 
serious danger of grain spoilage. Flat storage cun be built 
much more rnpidly and cheaply than upright elevator space, 
and aeration will keep grain in condition without the risk of 
damage that is sometimes caused by turning. On the other 
hand, flat storage facilities are usually not as well adapted as 
upright elevators for blending or merchandising grain. 
Although exact statistics are not available, there is little 
doubt that a large percentage of new storage space is flat 
storage. Some of these structures were built as independent 
units, while others are additions to previously existing upright 
facilities. 

Although there were exceptions because of seasonal and local 
factors, most newly constructed storage space wus soon used for 
storage of Government grain. :Moreover, despite the tremendous 
expansion of available space, shortages caused by even more rapid 
expansion of Government surplus stocks resulted in use of structures 
such as oil tanks, surplus military buildings and shipyards for storage 
of Government grain. The 1960 report pointed out that storage 
and handling costs for Government grn,in stored in commercial ware­
houses soared from $56 million in fiscal year 1952 to more than $500 
million in fiscal year 1960; costs for grain sorghum alone incren,sed 
from less than $150,000 a year to $94 million during the same period. 

ACQUISITION OF GRAIN STORAGE FACILITIES 

Smith-Bawden Elevator 
Billie Sol Estes entered the gram storage business in late 1958 

through the purchase of the Smith-Bawden facilities at Plainview, 
Tex., about 50 miles north of Lubbock. The purchase occurred 

https://storn.ge
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nfter unsuccessful negotiations by Estes earlier in the year, according 
to Dr. Harold Lindley, of Pecos. Dr. Lindley, who provided financial 
backing for a number of Estes' business ventures, told subcommittee 
staff members that Estes asked him to provide financing for purchase 
of the Smith-Bawden property in the spring of 1958. However, 
Lindley snid, nJter a trip to Plainview with Estes to inspect the 
facilities, he declined to provide financial backing. 

Wa.yne Cooper, who owned an interest in the Smith-Bawden 
properties and became general manager of Billie Sol Estes' grain 
storage operations after they were sold, testified at subcommittee 
hearings concernin& Estes' acquisition of the Smith-Bawden facilities. 
Cooper ga,~e the following description of the sale to Estes after earlier 
negotiations had fallen through: 

* * * He came back later, probably in August of 1958, 
and seemed more interested in the properties and wanted 
to buy them. * * * 

We had in our organization a Mr. Ben F. Smith, who ha.cl 
suffered a severe heart attack in earlier years and could not 
spend much time with the operation. He started in the 
grain business in 1918 and grew up with the grain industry 
out there. Because of his health, we accepted an offer made 
by Estes for $850,000, requiring a minimum of $250,000 
paid in cash and agreed among the stockholders that the 
balance would be carried individually in their proportionate 
interests in the company with a first mortgage held against 
the property. 

According to Cooper, Estes depocsited $25,000 in cash in escrow, 
together with a $25,000 note, to be forfeited in the event he did not 
go through with the proposed purchase. When the sale was dosed, 
Cooper said, the Smith-Bawden interests received a $225,000 check 
from Commercial Solvents and retained the $25,000 which had been 
deposited in escrow. The $25,000 note was returned to Estes. The 
remaining balance of the purchase price-$600,000-was to be paid 
off at the rate of $100,000 per year plus 5 percent interest. (Further 
details concerning the $225,000 advance by Commercial Solvents to 
Estes appear on pages 174 to 181.) 

Acguisition of Additional Warehouses 
On September 1, 1959, Billie Sol Estes acquired additional storage 

facilities with a capacity of 1,985,000 at Olton, Tex., 25 miles west of 
Plainview. The property was purchased from the eatate of Ben F. 
Smith, who had been one of the owners of the Smith-Bawden e]evator. 
The purchase price was $400,000, with no downpayment. According 
to Wayne Cooper, periodic installments on a purchase money mort­
gage on the Olton facilities were paid by Commercial Solvents Corp. 
from CCC grain storage payments received under an assignment from 
Estes. 

Estes also acquired an additional 262 acres of land and a large 
building south of Plainview on September 1, 1959. The property, 
which was referred to as the South Plainview Terminal Annex, was 
purchased from the Consolidated Gas & Equipment Co. Total price 
for the land and improvements, according to Wayne Cooper, was 
$375,000. As usual, there was no downpayment; the price was to be 
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paid in five installments with interest at 8 percent. Storage capacity 
of the Consolidated Gas building was 1,370,000 bushels. 

On January 1, 1960, Estes acquired storage facilities with a totu,l 
capacity of 2,744,000 bushels from the Kress Grain Co., Kress, Tex. 
·warehouses with a capacity of 1,223,000 bushels were located at Kress, 
Tex. An additional 1,023,000 bushels of space was at Claytonville, 
10 miles east of Kress, and the remaining 498,000 was at, r,enter Plains, 
10 miles west of Kress. Owners of Kress Grn,in Co. were H. E. 
Wilson, Wichita Falls, Tex.; Troy Burson, Silverton, Tex.; and 
Curtis Binghu.m, of Kress. Purchase price for the Kress properties 
was approximately $1 million, with no downpayment. Periodic pay­
ments u,pparcntly were around $160,000 annually, plus 6 percent 
interest. 

On February 1, 1960, Estes acquired a 915,000-bushel warehouse at 
South Plnins, Tex., about 25 miles east of Plainview. The South 
Plains installat,ion was purchased from H. E. Wilson and Troy Burson 
for $335,000, on the usual no-downpayment basis. On March 1, 1960, 
Estes purchased a 2, 190,000-bushel property at Silverton, about 40 
miles northeast of Plainview, from H. E. Wilson. The purchase price 
was $800,000; the subcommittee found no indication that any of it was 
paid in cash at the time of purchase. 

In July 1960, Commercial Solvents Corp. made two payments 
totaling approximately $250,000 to the Wilson-Burson interests on 
Estes' behalf; the payments presumably were made out to CCC 
storage revenues received by Commercial Solvents under assignment 
from Estes. 

In Agust 1960, Estes, acquired additional facilities at Kress with 
a capacity of 300,000 bushels. The buildings were purchased from 
F. F. Bozeman, Springlake, Tex., for $60,000, payable on a long-term 
basis. 

In the late summer of 1960, Estes leased a 483,000-bushel installa­
tion at Dempsey (about 10 miles southwest of Silverton) from H. E. 
Wilson and a 1,977,000-bushel fn,cility at South Kress (1 mile south of 
Kress) from vVilson and Troy Burson. The two properties were 
purchased by Estes in April 1961 for $144,500 and $510,000, respec­
tively, on a no-downpayment basis. 
Use of Tank Mortgages for Storage Financing 

The subcommittee's investigation indicated that Billie Sol Este::; 
began using the proceeds of fraudulent ammonia tank mortgages to 
finance acquisition or construction of storage facilities during 1960. 
Estes' first use of tank mortgages for this purpose apparently was in 
May_ 1960, shortly after Superior Manufacturing Co. was purchased 
by Harold Orr and other associates of Estes. (The circumstances 
under which Superior was acquired and the methods used by Estes to 
obtain funds through fraudulent tank mortgages are discussed in 
detail later in this report.) 

As has been previously noted, Billie Sol Estes acquired a number of 
grain elevators from H. E. Wilson and Troy Burson during the early 
part of 1960. In testimony at Amarillo, Harold Orr gave the following 
description of an incident which, On- said, occurred thereafter. 
According to Orr: 

Approximately the latter part of May of 1960, or the first 
part of June 1960 anyway, it was at the grain dealers' con-
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vention in the Herring Hotel at Amarillo, Tex., Mr. Estes 
called me in and asked me to come to his hotel room, and in 
his presence, he had Mr. H. E. Wilson of Electra, Tex., and 
it seemed he owed Mr. Wilson a substantial amow1t of money 
for a down.payment on elevators and he was tr:ving to get 
Mr. Wilson to go on some tank deals and :Mr. Wilson said no. 

l\1r. Estes said, "Well, if you don't sign the tank notes 
* * * would you go?" 

He said, "I ,vill just use your nl-tme and your finnncinl 
statement." And he said, "Yes, sir." 

At that time, or approximately thereafter. WP liandl~d 
quite a bit of mmwy, I can't recall, $:~00.000 or $400,000 011 

~fr. H. E. "lVilson-and I cnn even remember the refinanee 
firms, if you want me to give them to you. 

Q. Who were they? 
A. CIT Corp., First Acceptance Corp., and Associate:, 

Investment Co. 
While the subcommittee's investigation did not establish whether 

or not H. E. Wilson actually agreed to Estes' use of his name, it did 
disclose information supporting other aspects of Orr's testimony. 
Three ammonia tank notes purportedly signed by H. E. Wilson were 
sold to CIT, Associates, and FAC later in May by Superior Manu­
facturing Co. The three finance companies paid a total of $404,067 
for the notes, which had an aggregate face value of $529,266. The 
subcommittee's investigation indicated that Wilson's name was 
signed to the notes by Harold Orr. Although Wilson did not sign 
the fraudulent notes, the subcommittee's investigation indicated 
that he knew of their existence more than a year before the arrest 
of Billie Sol Estes. 

In August 1960, Estes obtained approximately $400,000 through 
fraudulent tank notes bearing the name of Troy Burson. The sub­
committee's investigation indicated that Harold Orr-not Burson­
signed the notes, but that Burson knew of their existence long before 
Estes was arrested. Southwestern Investment Co., Amarillo, Tex., 
which paid $50,112 for one of the Burson notes, told the subcom­
mittee that it had the following mqJerience when it checked on a 
late payment in early 1961: 

On February 14, 1961, a collect call was placed to the 
telephone listed under Troy Burson, Silverton, Tex. We 
were ad vised that Mr. Burson was not in and a call was left 
by the operator. On February 16, 1961, a person identify­
ing himself as Troy Burson called and advised our office 
that he had been out of town, but the payment would be 
made that day. 

The subcommittee's investigation indicated that Harold Orr, at 
Estes' instructions, signed Burson's name to seven tank notes with a 
total face value of nearly $555,000 and that of Wilson to six tank 
notes with face vaiues tota1ing almost $821,000. Payments on these 
notes were made through bank accounts established at the City Na­
tional Bank, Plainview, in the names of the Burson Grain Co. and 
Wilson Elevators. In addition to the tank notes, the names of Wilson 
and Burson appeared on two worthless notes totaling more than 
three-quarters of a million dollars which were given by Billie Sol 
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Estes to Commercial Solvents Corp. in the fall of 1960. (Further 
details concerning the notes given Commercial Solvents appear on 
pages 223 and 224.) 

The names of three other persons from whom Estes acquired 
grain storage facilities also appear on ammo_nia tank notes. Grady 
Acuff, one of the original owners of a storage facility at Lamesa which 
Estes acquired, signed eight tank notes with a total face value of 
approximately $543,000. The name of F. F. Bozeman, from whom 
Estes purchased storage facilities at Kress, appeared 011 16 tank 
notes with face values totaling about $731,000. The first two of these 
notes were negotiated by Estes at about the same time he bought 
Bozeman's storage buildings. The name of E. H. Patterson, Roswell 
N. Mex., who owned the South Plains Grain Co. at Level1and before 
Estes acquired it, was forged to two tank notes with an aggregate 
face value of $230,000. 

CONSTRUCTION OF STORAGE FACILITIES 

Unsuccessful Attempt to Obtain Credit 
In June 1958, several months before he 

Bawden facilities, Billie Sol Estes asked an 
firm to build grain storage facilities for him. 

purchased 
Amarillo 
However, 

the 
cons
the 

Smith­
truction 
deal fell 

through because of credit difficulties. The incident was described 
as follows by R. C. Davidson, president of Panhandle Steel Buildings, 
Inc., of Amarillo, Tex.: 

In June 1958 Billie Sol Estes made inquiry about grain 
storage and finance to our Amarillo office through a f ertil­
izer representative of his in Friona, Tex. A telephone fol­
lowup produced the information that Estes, who at that 
time was not in the grain storage business at all, had learned 
of the attractive opportunities associated with it and, as he 
said, "He wanted m it." He had no preferences as to loca­
tion of a facility but wanted to know the necessary proce­
dures. Plainview was suggested as a location to which he 
was agreeable, and Coleman Wade ( then a salesman for 
Panhandle) was assigned to make contact with him in Pecos, 
Tex. Wade returned with a signed contract subject to ap­
proval of his application for finance, extensive credit infor­
mation including volumes concerning his Pecos land pur­
chases, personal financial statements (none certified), and 
a copy of a magazine article, "The Power House in Pecos." 
The contract was for construction of tanks, buildings, and 
grain handling equipment totaling $965,000. Payment was 
to be handled 25 percent in cash and 75 percent through 
Butler finance if obtainable. * * * 

Davidson gave the following description of Panhandle's efforts to 
obtain financing for Estes' proposed storage facility: 

Because of the size of the contract and its importance to all 
concerned, I presented it personally to Mr. J. C. Acuff, of 
Butler in Kansas City, Mo. For a full week, during which 
time I remained in Kansas City to assist with informa­
tion if required, every effort was made to qualify the credit 

3:8-588-64--4 
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information furnished by Estes and a sincere attempt was 
made by Butler officiala to justify the issuance of a commit­
ment. Kansas City and Dallas banka were contacted, I was 
told, and other possible sources of credit information, none of 
which contributed to the favorable solution of the problem. 

The ButJer Manufacturing Co. advised the subcommittee that the 
request for financing for Estes' proposed facility was turned down 
because it "was not an acceptnble risk for us and we were unabJe to 
procure nonrecourse financing." 
Constrvction of Additional Facilities at Plainview 

Billie Sol Estes' inability to obtain financing through Panhandle 
Steel Buildings, Inc., in the summer of 1958, temporarily halted his 
plan to build storage facilities at Plainview. However, the situation 
changed later in the year, after Estes acquired the Smith-Bawden 
elevator. 

Coleman Wade, who had represented Panhandle in the Plainview 
area since 1958, resigned almost immediately after the rejection of 
the Estes credit application. R. C. Davidson, president of Panhandle, 
described subsequent events as follows: 

In less than 30 days an announcement was made of the 
organization of a new Armco dealership, Plaintex Steel 
Building Co., in Plainview, Tex. The announced owners 
were Jerry Kimble and Coleman Wade. Shortly thereafter 
construction was started on the United Elevator terminal in 
South Plainview for Billie Sol Estes by this new com­
pany * * *. 

The subcommittee's investigation indicated that the actual name 
of the new company was Plaintex Steel Structures, Inc. It was 
formed in October 1958 by Wade, Jerald J. Kimble, and D. R. 
McGuire. Kimble and McGuire had been associated since 1954 in a 
partnership known as Pre-Fabricated Structures; Plaintex was 
established with Wade as a separate corporation. 

Through the purchase of Smith-Bawden, which was completed 
around December 1, 1958, Estes acquired grain storage facilities with 
a total capacity of 2,960,000 bushels. Within 6 weeks after that time, 
Estes contracted with Plaintex for construction of additional ware­
houses at Plainview with a total capacity of 5,685,000 bushels-almost 
double that of the original Smith-Bawden property. 

The Plaintex buildings were built about 2 miles south of Plainview, 
rather than at the Smith-Bawden location in town. According to 
Plaintex, construction contracts were signed on December 22, 1958, 
and January 17, 1959, several weeks before Estes' application for a 
Federal warehouse license covering the Smith-Bawden facilities was 
finally approved. 

Contract prices for the South Plainview facilities totaled $1,247,000, 
or slightly more than 25 cents per bushel of capacity. Twenty per­
cent-approximately $250,000-was to be paid in cash, with the re­
mainder to be financed by Commercial Credit Corp. However, 
instead of making the cash downpayments called for by the contracts, 
Estes actually paid only $9,800 in cash and gave Plaintex notes in the 
amount of $240,000. According to J. J. Kimble, some notes were 
paid as agreed but others became delinquent and the final payment 
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on the notes was not made until August 12, 1960. Commercial Credit 
Corp., which provided $997,200 in cash to .finance construction work, 
indicated in a letter to the subcommittee that it did not know the 
purported downpaymen ts were not actually made. 

The Plaintex construction at South Plainview marked the beginning 
of a fantastic amount of storage construction initiated by Billie Sol 
Estes. Wayne Cooper described what happened thereafter in testi­
mony at subcommittee hearings: 

* * * from that point on, it was just continuous, I mean 
he would call and have an idea of grain storage here and grain 
storage there, and I spent practically all of my time just 
checking out and looking over locations." 

* * * ** 
* * * I worked with contractors, and assistants in my 

office, on layout plans as to location of storage, when he would 
call me and ask where can we put 5 million bushels of grain 
storage. Then his assistant, who is a draftsman, and myself 
get into a huddle and try to figure out where it could be most 
useful, and most economically built. 

By mid-1959, through the purchase of the Smith-Bawden property 
and construction of warehouses at South Plainview, Billie Sol Estes 
controlled storage facilities with a total capacity of nearly 9 million 
bushels. He had accomplished this feat almost entirely on other 
people's money. The pattern of rapid expansion with little or no 
initial capital mvestment continued throughout Estes' storage opera­
tions. 
Further Proposals to Panhandle 

Panhandle Steel Buildings, Amarillo, which had turned down a 
proposal by Estes for construction of storage facilities during the 
summer of 1958 because of credit difficulties, was again approached 
concerning construction for Estes on several subsequent occasions. 
The first one was in late 1958, when Estes was negotiating with 
Plaintex for construction of storage facilities at South Plainview. 
R. C. Davidson, president of Panhandle, provided the following 
description of the incident: 

* * * Before actual construction started on the South 
Plainview terminal, Mr. Cooper invited us to make a quota­
tion on the proposed work and gave us a copy of the Plaintex 
working drawings. We declined on the basis that we could 
not obtain financing for Mr. Estes and were told that arrange­
ments were made for them to pay cash. A copy of our quo­
tation of December 19 to Wayne Cooper is attached. Hind­
sight now makes it apparent that this invitation and our 
quotation was only to serve in keeping Plaintex prices within 
bounds because it was later reported that the facility was 
.financed by Commercial Credit Corp. with recourse against 
the suppliers (Armco and its dealer). 

During 1959 and the early months of 1960, Davidson said, Estes 
contacted Panhandle frequently regarding storage financing. In 
June 1959, Panhandle again contacted the Butler Finance Co., Kansas 
City, Mo. (which handled financing for buildings sold by the Butler 
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Manufacturing Co.), to see if credit could be arranged for Estes. 
On June 12, 1959, the Butler Co. advised Panhandle that attempts by 
Butler to secure nonrecourse financing through the Texas Bank & 
Trust Co., of Dallas, and other banks had been unsuccessful. In a 
June 23 letter to D. D. Tusha, Panhandle's Lubbock representative, 
relaying the news from Butler, Davidson commented: 

From information received recently of an indirect nature 
concerning Billie Sol's financial condition, I don't know 
whether to say that we were lucky or not. Unfortunately, 
in a transaction of this kind, it's difficult to determine the 
true financial condition of a man whose activities are so 
diversified. 

A third and last effort to secure financing for Estes through Butler 
was made by Panhandle after an accidental meeting between Davidson 
and Estes at the Amarillo airport on November 3, 1960. On 
November 4, 1960, Davidson wrote a letter to Charles Waldron, 
Houston representative of the Butler Manufacturing Co., concerning 
a 10- to 15-minute meeting with Estes at the airport on the previous 
day. The letter described Estes as "a human dynamo who is always 
sellini-himself and/or his plans," and stated: 

Everyone in the building business, and more especially 
those connected with any type of financing at all, has be­
come intimately familiar with the name Billie Sol Estes. 
There is a good deal of speculation in the minds of most 
people in the business world as to just where he continues to 
get the financing to carry him forward. 

* * * * * 
During the course of our conversation he asked me if I 

had ever been successful in encouraging either the Butler 
Manufacturing Co. or the Butler Finance Co. to finance him 
on any ventures at all. He repeated a verbal proposition he 
had given me in Lubbock 30 days ago to the effect that he 
had a million dollars cash which he would put into a $5 
million grain storage facility if he could get the balance 
financed. He said that Coleman Wade had been granted the 
Armco dealership in the western Kansas territory and that 
he was planning to have Coleman build s::>me terminal space 
for him in Nebraska and Kansas. 

This brings me to the point that I would like to suggest 
certainly that Butler should make a concentrated effort to 
find out as much as possible about this man because he is 
continuing to build grain storage facilities and he i~ using 
everybody else's steel but ours. During your flight with me 
over the southern plains I showed you over 5 million bushels 
in Armco steel buildings, plus several 100-f oot diameter 
welded steel tanks under construction at his Plainview 
installation. Until yesterday I have never been able to 
understand how he arranged financing for the tanks. While 
we were talking he volunteered the information that these 
tanks were being built entirely from German and Swiss steel 
and that they- were being financed by the Swiss steel com­
panies. Furthermore, he told me that some of the steel 
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companies in these foreign countries were planning to fly him 
over there by jet transportation to discuss additional con­
struction. He said that he had contacted many of the U.S. 
steel companies and that none of them would give him any 
consideration. 

Perhaps nothing can be done about thig man's business, 
and possibly nothing should be done; however, it would be 
regrettable if we continued to miss good business because of 
the lack of adequate information. Incidentally, he told me 
yesterday that he plans to build in Houston immediately. 

The Butler Manufacturing Co. advised the subcommittee that: 
The 1960 proposal for financing $4 million was considered 

in a preliminary way only from the possibility of obtaining 
outsidefinancing, butnothingofsubstancecould be developed. 

Negotiations vVith Gorn States Hybrid Service 
Another company approached by Billie Sol Estes about proposed 

storage construction was the Corn States Hybrid Service, Des Moines, 
Iowa. Estes conducted negotiations with Corn States in late 1959 
and early 1960 for construction of approximately 2 million bushels of 
grain storage capacity. Corn States obtained a commitment from 
First Acceptance Corp., of Minneapolis, for financing three-fourths of 
the cost of a proposed facility, with the other one-fourth to be paid in 
cash. The 1.9 million bushel facility was to be built by Corn States 
and the Atlas Tank Co. of Tonkawa, Okla. However, the transaction 
fell through when Corn States refused to provide Estes with dummy 
invoices which would enable him to finance the entire project without 
making a downpayment. John J. Spence, president of Corn States, 
provided the subcommittee with the following description of the 
incident: 

On March 22, 1960, I received a firm commitment from 
the above-mentioned finance company (F AO) for a $400,000 
installation with the understanding there would be a $120,000 
downpayment, with $280,000 financeable balance. Then, 
on July 11, 1960, we received a revised commitment for 
$377,500 with a $94,500 downpayment. These commitments 
were issued in the name of Mr. 0. E. Davis, a friend of Mr. 
Estes, with the understanding that Mr . Estes would also 
sign the mortgage. 

Mr. Curtis Perry, of the Atlas Tank Co., and I flew to 
Pecos and again went over our proposition with Mr. Estes. 
At this ime, he was reluctant to make the downpayment 
and suggested some arrangements be made whereby he did 
not have to make the payment and he would then go ahead 
with the proposition. This was highly- unsatisfactory to our 
company so negotiations were terminated and no further 
work was done. 

In the course of his negotiations with Corn States, Estes proposed 
use of a rather unorthodox financing technique. According to Spence: 

At various times, Mr. Estes sent me financial statements of 
friends with whom he was doing business on the theory that 
we would contract with these people t.o build the gmin 
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storage-ahvu.ys ,,rith the understanding that he would sign 
the mortgages or leases ,,rith them. 

Among the financial statements sent Corn StRtes by Estes was one 
for Henry M. Reeves, of Pecos. Reeves told the subcommittee that 
"I am sure that I never did furnish Billie Sol a statement for him to 
use in his enterprises" and that he had no knowledge that Estes had 
done so. Reeves indicated he might have furnished Estes with a 
copy of his financial stateme.nt for another purpose, which he described 
as follows: 

My records do not show if I have ever furnished Billie Sol 
a statement, but if I did it would be in connection with a loan 
application which I was making and was not for the purpose 
of Billie Sol's enterprises. Several years ago I held some 
rather large, long-term notes which I desired to convert into 
cash and Billie Sol, among several other people, attempted to 
help me find a buyer for my notes. 

Proposal to Interstate Steel Co. 
Still another company contacted by Billie Sol Estes regarding 

storage construction was the Interstate Steel Co., Des Plaines, Ill. 
Howard R. Conant, president of Interstate, provided the subcomittee 
with the following description of a proposal made by Estes: 

* * * In March 1961, I went down to Pecos to meet with 
Billie Sol to discuss with him the purchase of 20 grain storage 
tanks, which he was going to install in an area near Pecos, 
Tex., on a tank farm. While we do not ordinarily fabricate 
tanks, our customer, the Atlas Tank & Steel Co., of Tonkawa, 
Okla., suggested that if we could work out some way of fi­
nancing the purchase of the tanks either from us or from 
Atlas, they would manufacture the tanks and we could sell 
the steel. The only thing we were interested in was in 
selling the steel and since Atlas was not quite large enough to 
comfortably handle a transaction of this size themselves, we 
tried to work together. We contemplated selling the tanks 
for about $51,000 apiece, as I recall, so that the total sale 
would have been somewhat in excess of $1 million. 

The proposed transaction did not materialize, a circumstance which 
Conant described as "one of the brightest spots in my business career 
in the last several years." Conant told the subcommittee the proposal 
fell through because: 

* * * We didn't get together on the terms, nor did we 
get together on price. It seems that Billie Sol wanted to 
buy the tanks for $1,000 or $2,000 each less than the bottom 
price which we quoted, and we refused to meet the price. 
In addition, I believe we were going to give him 90-day 
terms, but he wanted longer terms and we weren't willing 
to do that either, so the deal collapsed. 

Of course, I had no idea at all that he was involved in any 
phony manipulations. * * * As a matter of fact, I later was 
rather amazed that he didn't agree to pay us the price for the 
tanks which we asked, which I felt that he would have if he 
had any idea that he was going to be caught up with any 
time in the future. 

https://stateme.nt
https://storage-ahvu.ys
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We did investigate Billie Sol through Dun & Brn.dstreet 
and through some of the finance companies, whom he sub­
mitted as references. In general, the references were pretty 
good, although some of the finance companies said that 
occasionally he was late in payment of some of his obligations. 
In general, even that wasn't too negative because the 
finance companies reported that when he was late, he always 
notified them in advance and then did pay them later when 
he said he would. 

In addition to the incidents described in the preceding pages, the 
subcommittee's investigation disc]osed numerous other instances in 
which Estes had attempted unsuccessfully to have storage facilities 
built on credit. 
Constructivn of Steel Grain Tanks 

Although Estes' attempt to obtain steel for tank construction 
through the Interstate Steel Co. was unsuccessful, he eventually 
succeeded in having tanks with a total capacity of more than 28 million 
bushels built by three different firms at facilities he controlled. The 
tanks cost an average of less than 15 cents per bushel of capacity, only 
part of which was actually paid by Estes. 

The Atlas Tank & Steel Co., Inc., Tonkawa, Okla., was already in 
the process of building tanks with a total capacity of approximately 
7.5 million bushels at Estes' South Plainview terminal when the 
Interstate proposal fell through. Curtis Perry, president of Atlas, 
gave the subcommittee the following description of the work his 
company did for Estes: 

We were advised early in July 1960, that Mr. Estes was 
looking for a contractor to erect some steel storage tanks. 

We wrote a contract for five 114-foot diameter by 48-foot 
steel storage tanks on August 13, 1960, and another contract 
for ten 114-foot diameter by 48-foot steel storage tanks on 
September 13, 1960, for a total sum of $726,250. 

While the Atlas Co. was eventually :paid for its construction work, 
there apparently were some collection difficulties. R. L. Crowder, Jr., 
president of the First National Bank, Tonkawa, Okla., advised the 
subcommittee that: 

* * * we did back in 1960 handle some contracts on 
Billie Sol Estes. 

One of our customers, the Atlas Tank Co., was building 
grain storage bins for Mr. Estes and we advanced funds for 
the building against the assignment, from the United Eleva­
tors, Mr. Estes the owner. 

We refused to take any assignments after the first two, due 
to our trouble in collecting. We handled two contracts 
amounting to about $170,000. 

We did not suffer any loss and I do not think the Atlas 
Tank Co. suffered any loss. 

Grain storage tanks with a capacity of approximately 12 million 
bushels were built for Estes by the Lubbock Machine & Supply Co., 
Inc., Lubbock, which also handled a considerable amount of ammonia 
tank paper for Estes (see p. 265). T.A. Rogers, president of Lubbock 
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Machine, provided the following d~scription of that company's 
storage construction for Estes: 

Around the first week of September [1960], Mr. Estes 
asked if we were interested in building grain storage. Since 
our construction equipment was not suited to outside work, 
we at first did not consider the proposal. Then we worked 
out a plan in our engineering department whereby the top of 
the storage bin could be built on the ground and by relatively 
inexpensive equipment of motors and jacks, the bin could 
be raised, ring by ring, with the workman always on or 
near the ground. The first four bins (then six more) we 
built on a verbal order from Mr. Estes, and they were not 
completed until late October and mid-November and De­
cember and into January 1961. He proposed (this is still 
1960) to pay us by continuing to sell out the balance of his 
original $3 million (plus) worth of ammonia tanks. (We 
attempted to finance the grain storage directly but bogged 
down in redtape because some were on leased land.) 

Early in 1961 Mr. Wayne Cooper, the Plainview manager 
of United Elevators, signed a contract, at Mr. Estes' request, 
for 14 grain storage bins, plus aeration equipment for _part 
of them. Altogether we constructed 12 million bushels of 
storage, plus tunnels, and installed aeration equipment for 
part of them * * *. 

* * * * * 
The highest amount of credit for work done at a given time 

extended to Mr. Estes (United Elevators and Lester & 
Stone) was $697,680.20. Lubbock Machine & Supply Co. 
handled about $4½ million worth of paper, most of which was 
endorsed with recourse, at all times assuming we were doing 
all of the financing on his ammonia tanks. As of April 7, 
1962, Mr. Estes owed us a total of $697,680.20 ($644,694.21 
on grain storage and $52,985.00 on work on "country 
points"-pickup stations). 

We have never invoiced him for about $30,000 worth of 
special trusses and other material lying on our yard, at the 
time it was due; we thought it was useless to do so * * *. 

The grain storage tanks built by Lubbock Machine were at the 
South Plainview terminal, the South Plainview terminal annex, and 
at Claytonville. Additional grain storage tanks with a total capacity 
of about 7.5 million bushels were built by Superior Manufacturing Co., 
at the South Plainview terminal annex, at Silverton, and at Hereford. 
The cost of these facilities, which totaled around $1 million, was de­
ducted by Superior from the proceeds of fraudulent tank mortgages 
handled by Superior for Estes. 
Leasing Deals 

In addition to the storage space Estes owned at Plainview, United 
EleYators also operated a total of 5,840,000 bushels of space ostensibly 
leased from four individuals-Guy Nickel s, Jim McCormac, G. M. 
Atwood, and J. C. Williamson. The subcommittee's investigation 
indicated that the facilities supposedly leased from Nickels, 
McCormac, and Atwood were at:tually owned by Estes, and that he 
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had paid these individunls 10 percent of the amount borrowed for 
construction of the ,,Tarehouses involved as a fee for use of their credit. 
The exact ownership of the Williamson facility was not clear, although 
it appears that it may have been some sort of partnership arrangement. 

Facilities supposedly leased by the four men were built by Coleman 
Wade. The subcommittee's investigation indicated that Estes re­
ceived a total of $170,000 in kiekbacks from Wade on the construction 
work. 

Each of the individuals involved in the storage leasing transactions 
also signed tank mortgages for Estes. The number and face amount of 
tank notes bearing their names follows: 

Name Numherof 
notes 

Face 
amount 

Guy Nickels (Nickels Ginning Co.)-----------------------------------------
Jim McCormac __------------------------------------- ______________________
G. l\'.l. Atwood ______________________________________________________________ 
J. C. Williamson ____________________________________________________________ 

6 
9 
8 
4 

$1,454,311.23 
857,523. 72 
452, 885. 04 

1, 126, 805. 25 

Country Receiving Points 
After 1959, with the exception of the steel grain tanks built by 

Atlas, Superior, and Lubbock Machine, most of Billi(' Sol Estes' stor­
age construction was accomplished in the names of other persons; 
these transactions will be described in the following sections of this 
report. However, the subcommittee's investigation indicated that 
toward the end of 1961 Estes began implementing n plan to build 
100 country receiving points for grain in the Plains area. The pur­
pose of the receiving stations was to obtain grain from farm<'rs by 
providing a delivery point near their farms, thus eliminating the 
necessity for hauling grain to more distant warehouses. 

The possible effect of Estes' plan to put in 100 country receiving 
points on competing storage operators was discussed in testimony at 
Lubbock by Harry Igo, operator of Plainsman Elevators at Plainview. 
Igo expressed the opinion that, had Estes been able to carry out his 
plan, the grain-storage business would have been concentrated into 
the hands of a few large operators without any profit for anyone. 
Igo gave his personal reaction to news of Estes' plan in the following 
testimony: 

Q. Now, when Estes started this rapid expansion and this 
type of competition, what did you do-what did you do to 
your business? 

A. Well, I was not in debt very deeply at the time, but I 
began to try to get all of my debts paid off, and as the old 
saying goes, wind my ball a little tighter so I'd have a little 
more bounce in it, and stay a little longer.

Q. You saw a hurricane coming, didn't you? 
A. Yes, sir; it looked like one. 
Q. And it looked like there was going to be stormy weather 

ahead? 
A. Yes, sir; it was black on the horizon. 

In November 1961, Billie Sol Estes enlisted the aid of a Plainview 
real C'State man, Wendell Gambill, in acquiring site,;; for his proposed 
receiving points. At the time of Estes' arrest, Gambill had acquired 
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a number of locations and was in the process of obtaining additional 
ones. According to an examination of Estes' records by Emst & 
Ernst, as of April 7, 1962, one raceiving facility had been completed, 
another was 80 percent complete, and scale houses for 12 others were 
in various stages of completion. Some construction work on receiving 
stations was done by Lubbock Machine & Supply and some by Cole­
man Wade. 

HALE COUNTY GRAIN CO. 

Hidden Partnership With W. W. Hill 
N earl~~ 4.5 million bushels of storage space operated by United 

Elevators at Plainview was approved for storage of Government 
grain in the name of the Hale County Grain Co. Although the Hale 
County· Grain Co.'s storage facilities were located in the midst of 
United's South Plainview terminal and operated by United employees, 
the company was represented as being owned by W. W. Hill of Pecos. 

After the arrest of Billie Sol Estes, Hill admitted to Federal investi­
gators that the company had actually been established as a 50-50 
partnership between Estes and himself. Hill gave the following 
account of the negotiations leading to the establishment of Hale 
County: 

In approximately August 1959, Billie Sol Estes, Pecos, 
Tex., began asking me to go into the grain storage business 
with him. While I was not interested at first, later, in about 
March of 1960, I agreed to go into such grain storage business 
with the understanding that it would be a 50-50 partnership, 
sharing the costs as well as any subsequent profits. 

The first storage building, a 700-foot long structure, was 
to be constructed by Plain-Tex Steel Structures, Inc., of 
Amarillo and Plainview, Tex. This particular contractor 
had been suggested by Estes and I had agreed to his choice. 

Records of the Hale County clerk indicate that the land on which 
storage facilities of Hale County Grain were located was conveyed to 
W. W. Hill in two separate tracts by warranty deeds from Lloyd 
Stone of Plainview in 1960 and 1961. However, Stone was acting as 
a strawman for Estes and lrnd no interest in the land himself, according 
to a statement he gave investigators for the Department of Agricul­
turP. In the statement, Stone said: 

I wish to state that Estes originally instructed me to buy 
the land which included the tracts later sold to Hill. The 
reason I handled the purchase and sale in this manner, 
according to Estes, was that he was afraid that the cost of 
the land would have been much higher if it became known 
that Estes, with his reputation for riches, was interested 
in the land. 

I don't know the fine points of the sale of land to Hill-in 
fact, I have no knowledge of any of the financial arrange­
ments, since all that I did was sign papers presented to me 
for my signature. I don't know how much Hill paid for the 
two tracts, nor do I know how much I paid for the total 
acreage which included the two tracts. * * * 
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W. W. Hill gave the following statement to Department of Agri­
culture investigators concerning the management of Hale County 
Grain Co.: 

The management of the Hale County Grain Co. has 
been entirely under the control of United Elevators, Inc., 
an Estes enterprise, with actual management being performed 
by W. L. Cooper and his various assistants, including Mel­
vin Glantz and Jerry Harder, both of Plainview. I did not 
pay any of these people directly, none of them being on my 
payroll. However, Cooper kept accounts on the work per­
formed and billed my company for such expenses. * * * 

After the arrest of Estes, W. W. Hill contended that he had, in 
effect, bought out Billie Sol Estes' interest in Hale County Grain Co.; 
however, the subcommittee found no documentary evidence to 
support Hill's contention. An examination of Agriculture Depart­
ment files disclosed that applications for a Government grain storage 
contract were filed by W. W. Hill doing business as Hale County 
Grain Co. On these applications, Hill consistently certified that he 
was owner and failed to disclose that Estes had any interest in Hale 
County, even during those periods of time when Hill later admitted 
he and Estes were actually equal partners. 
Use of Ammonia Tank Notes To Finance Construction 

The subcommittee was advised by J. J. Kimble, president of 
Plain-Tex Steel Structures, Inc., of Plainview, that he contracted with 
Hill and Billie Sol Estes on April 12, 1960, for construction of a 
700-foot steel building with a capacity of 1,760,000 bushels. The 
agreed price for building, according to Kimble, was $375,000, of which 
$75,000 was to be paid as a downpayment and the remainder financed 
by Commercial Credit Corp. 

A $75,000 check to Plain-Tex on the "W. W. Hill special account'' 
at the First National Bank of Pecos, dated May 14, 1960, and signed 
by Hill, was endorsed and deposited by Kimble. Hill gave the 
following explanation of the source of funds for the check to Plain-Tex: 

The downpayment, which amounted to $75,000 was made 
from funds secured through the mortgage of anhydrous 
ammonia tanks, a practice which was suggested by Estes. 
Estes had represented the tanks as his and being in existence, 
but I had not seen the particular tanks involved in the first 
three chattel mortgages I signed. In any case, the first 
deposit of consequence to my special bank account main­
tained for Hale County Grain Co. was $93,000 approxi­
mately. * * * 

Hill also stated that an additional $24,200 from tank mortgage 
proceeds was deposited in the W. W. Hill special account. Hill's 
account is confirmed by records of the First National Bank of Pecos, 
which disclosed deposits of $93,320 and $24,200-a total of $117,520-
to the account in May 1960. The subcommittee's investigation dis-
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closed that Hill signed the following notes, secured by mortgages on 
anhydrous ammonia tanks: 

Date Company Face amount 

May 6, 1960______________________________ CIT ____________________________________________ $85,952
May 11, 1960_____________________________ Corp _FirRt Acceptance _________________________ 44, tll i
May 13, 1960 ____________________________Southwestern Invc~tment Corp _________________ ao,290 

The amount paid for the notes and mortgages by the finance 
companies totaled $123,312, somewhat more than the $117,520 
deposited by Hill; however, the difference in the two amounts pre­
sumably represented commissions taken by Superior Manufacturing 
Co. for handling the transactions. 

In addition to the three tank mortgages Hill signed in May 1960, to 
obtain funds for Hale County, Hill's name appears on five additional 
tank mortgages with a total face value of around $288,000 dated in 
late 1960 and early 1961. Hill made the following comment concern­
ing these obligations: 

None of the remainder of the mortgages, which I believe to 
be the last five mortgages, had anything to do with the grain 
company, since I was supposed to receive credit for fertilizer 
and/or insecticide in the amount of 10 percent of the value of 
the mortgages, less interest. 

Rehtrn of Downpayment 
When the $75,000 downpayment check was delivered to Plain-Tex, 

$37,500 was returned to Estes. According to a statement by Kimble, 
the circumstances were as follows: 

* * * Hill and Estes brought a check to me for $75,000. 
However, before I actually received the check, Estes stated 
he was short of money and would like to have his half of the 
downpayment back in return for a.note in the same amount. 
Hill was in and out of the room and I do not recall if Hill 
was present during Estes' request. Estes may also have 
mentioned this to me at an earlier date, but I am not sure. 
I agreed to return Estes' half of the downpayrnent by check 
and to accept his note for $37,500. I am reasonably sure 
that the one transaction was contingent upon the other. In 
other words, if I did not agree to return Estes' half in cash 
and take his note, Estes would not have gone through with 
out building the Hale County grain facility at all. * * * 

Hill told Federal investigators that he did not learn of Lhe $37,500 
check from Plain-Tex to Estes until after Estes' arrest. Kimbl" 
contended, however, that: 

* * * I am not sure that Hill was aware of Estes' request 
at the beginning but, I know that Hill became aware a short 
time later of the return of Estes' half of the down payment, 
although Hill now denies this. * * * Estes did not ask me 
to keep this return of $37,500 a secret from Hill. If Hill was 
not aware of the $37,500 being returned by us to Estes at the 
time, I believe he did become aware of it a short time later. 
My feeling is based on subsequent conversations with IIill. 



55 OPERATIONS OF BILLIE SOL ESTES 

In addition, I seem to recall that when we constructed addi­
tional facilities for Hale County Grain Co., Hill made a 
downpayment and told me that he did not want Estes to 
get his hands on any of that downpayment. 

Estes made no paymmts on the $37,500 note during the remainder 
of 1960; however, according to Kimble, on December 15, 1960, 
Estes agreed to convert the $37,500 demand note, plus $1,767.08 in 
DccembPr 15, 1960, calling for payment of a total of $49,083.85 in 
60 monthly installments of $818.07 each beginning on January 15, 
1961. Kimble's records indicate that 13 monthly pu.ymcnts were 
subsequently made; the unpaid balance of the note at the time of 
Estes' arrest was $38,448.94. 

Further construction work at HnJe County handled by Plain-Tex 
consisted of a 300-foot u.ddition to the original 700-foot building, which 
nddcd 734,000 bushels to its capacity. The construction contract 
for the addition, according to Kimble, was entered into with Hill and 
Estes on June 19, 1961; cost of the addition was $136,000; $27,200 of 
this amount was paid from funds of the Hale County enterprise on 
June 30, 1961, and the balance of $108,800 was finnnced by Com­
mercial Credit Corp. 
Kickback8 From Wade Contracting Co. 

A second storage facility was built for Hale County by the Wade 
Contracting Co., of Altus, Okla., under a contract entered into on 
July 25, 1961. Coleman Wade, president of the company, had been 
associated with Plain-Tex in ln,tc 1959 and early 1960. Price of the 
building, which was a 100- by 800-foot steel structure with a cu.pacity of 
approximately 2 million bushels, was represented to be $580,000; 
$116,000 was to be paid down, with a balance of $464,000 to be 
financed by Walter Heller. When the facility was completed, Walter 
Heller & Co. paid approximately $464,000 to Wade, taking t1 note 
from Hill secured by a mortgage on the building. The Heller note 
provided for payment to Heller of a total of $626,400 in 20 quarterly 
installments of $31,320 each beginning January 15, 1962. 

Although a downpayment of $116,000 had supposedly been made 
on the Wade Building, W. W. Hill later admitted: 

* * * vVhile some documents may indicate that a dow-:n­
payment of $116,000 was mnde on this 800-foot building, 
this was not the cnse, the full price, including interest, 
being $626,400. * * * 

Hill also told representatives of the Department of Agriculture that 
a note for $116,000 to the Wade Contracting Co. us representing the 
downpayment wns never intended to be a binding obligation and had 
been surrendered to him by the construction company. 

Even though the cost of the Wade building had been represented 
as $580,000, Federal investigators found from a document in the 
possession of A. B. Foster, general manager of Estes Enterprises, 
that the actual price was originally only $380,000. The $464,000 
obtt1ined from Heller was intended not only to cover the entire cost 
of the building, but also to provide for an $84,000 rebate. However, 
subsequent addition of un aerntion tunnel added $1~,000 to the 
original cost tmd reduced the amount available for a rebate to $71,000. 
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Records examined by the subcommittee reflect a deposit of $35,000 
to W. W. Hill's personal bank account on September 30, 1961, and 
$36,000 to the Hale County account on November 30, 1961; the source 
of both these amounts is identified as the Walter HPller Co. W. W. 
Hill made the following statement concerning the deposit to his 
account: 

Regarding the $36,000 credited to my bank account at 
Pecos, I wish to state that this amount was part of $71,000 
credited to me by Walter Heller, Inc., with the amount being 
a figure over and above the cost of the last building. This 
was done for the purpose of securing additional operating 
capital for my company and was not unusual in any way, 
inasmuch as Heller was willing to lend more than the actual 
cost of the warehouse. This matter was not originally 
arranged by me, with the builder having made such original 
agreements. * * * 

However, Walter Heller & Co. said in a statement to the subcom­
mittee that: 

Our company did not knowingly loan any amounts in ex­
cess of the costs of the respective facilities, or any other facili­
ties in which Estes was involved. We had no knowledge of 
any direct or indirect involvement by Estes in any of these 
facilities. In each case a cost price was given to us, and a 
downpayment of 20 percent or more was represented to have 
been made, so that we believed that we were financing 80 
percent or less of the cost. 

A $45,000 check to Billie Sol Estes on the Hale County account was 
dated November 29, 1961, 1 day before the $36,000 deposit to the 
account; purpose of the check to Estes was stated as "withdrawal." 
In addition to the $35,000 from Heller, which was deposited to his 
personal account, Hill also withdrew $30,000 from the Hale County 
account on August 18, 1961. The only actual cash contributions (not 
including funds derived from tank mortgages) made by Hill and Estes 
were $19,062, each, deposited on March 14, 1961, to make the first 
semiannual payment of $38,124 on the original storage building. 
Consequently, instead of putting cash into the Hale County venture, 
Hill made net withdrawals of $46,000 and Estes $26,000 from this 
enterprise. Hale County Grain Co. received $282,000 in grain storage 
payments from the Department of Agriculture through March 1962. 

PALO DURO GRAIN CO. 

Relationship With C. E. Davis 
Negotiations leading to construction of the Hale County Grain 

Co. did not occupy all Billie Sol Estes' time during the spring of 
1960. Estes was also busily engaged at that time in initiating a 
somewhat similar-but eventually much larger-enterprise called the 
Palo Duro Grain Co. Palo Duro Grain Co., although re.presented 
as being solely owned by Claude E. Davis, of Coyanosa (a small town 
near Pecos), actually began as a 50-50 partnership between Davis and 
Estes. As in the case of Hale County Grain Co., fraudulent tank 
mortgages were used to finance storage construction. In a statement 
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to Agriculture Department investigators, Davis gave the following 
account of the establishment of Palo Duro: 

In the early part of 1960 I was talking to Billie Sol Estes 
of Pecos, Tex., about the grain storage business. I am a 
former resident of Tulia, Tex., and know that area to be a 
tremendous grain sorghum producing area. After some 
discussion over several days' time Billie Sol Estes told me 
we could build an elevator in Tulia on a partnership basis 
and we even talked of a stock company whereby we would 
issue 49 shares each to ourselves and 1 share each to A. B. 
Foster, Jr., and J. Robert Scott. Foster was the office 
manager for Estes Enterprises ancl. Scott was a CPA and 
was my accountant. We talked a lot and later we decided 
to go into the deal on a 50-50 basis as partners.. There was 
no written contract. Estes told me I could get my part of 
the downpayment by signing two chattel mortgages for 
anhydrous ammonia tanks and he would use the tanks in his 
ammonia business and we could pay the payments on the 
chattel mortgages out of the proceeds from grain storage. 
I signed two chattel mortgages in June 1960 on anhydrous 
ammonia tanks. Both were to Superior Manufacturing Co., 
Amarillo, Tex. One mortgage was in the amount of $382,450 
and another in the amount of $75,285 for a total of $457,-
735. * * * 

The subcommittee's investigation indicated that Davis signed two 
ammonia tank mortgages on June 17, 1960. One of them, with a face 
value of $75,285, was purchased by the Southwestern Investment Co. 
The other was p-urchased by CIT; however, CIT told the subcommittee 
that the face value of the mortgage it purchased was $322,650, rather 
than the $382,450 figure given in Davis' statement. In his statement, 
Davis contended he had not received all the money he was entitled to 
from the fraudulent mortgages. According to Davis: 

* * * I only received one check from Superior Manu­
facturing Co. for $191,200 and I thought I was to receive 
another check from them for $53,091.81 but this check was 
sent to Estes. I went to the telephone and called Harold 
Orr of Superior Manufacturing Co. in Amarillo and ask him 
why the second check was not mailed to me. I immediately 
found out that Orr claimed it was sent to Estes in error. 
I then went to Pecos, Tex., and went to the Estes office and 
met A. B. Foster and was told by Foster that the check came 
to Billie Sol by mistake and he then wrote me a check for 
$53,091.81 covering that check. 

I put both checks in Palo Duro Grain Co. account at Tulia, 
Tex., or a total of $244,291.81 and that represented all I 
received from the anhydrous ammonia tank mortgages. 
I thought Billie Sol Estes was going to receive $47,000 as a 
"holdback" but later I found out later that Harold Orr and 
Estes "held back" $65,000 instead of $47,000 and therefore 
I consider that this money should be in the total accounting 
as a charge off to what Billie Sol put in the company. 
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Construction of Storage Facilities 
In less than 2 years, storage facilities with a total capacity of nearly 

19 million bushels were built by Palo Duro. More than 11 million 
bushels of this space was built by Plain-Tex Steel Structures, which 
had previously handled construction for Estes at Plain view. The 
contract prices for the Plain-Tex construction totaled around $2.7 5 
million, of which around $720,000 was to have been paid in cash. 
However, as in the case of Hale County Grain, Estes gave notes for 
his share of the downpayments and even secured a refund of cash 
actually paid. Commercial Credit Corp. advanced $1.6 million to 
finance construction work. 

In early 1961, Panhandle Steel Buildings-which had been unsuc­
cessful in several previous attempts to work out financing arrangements 
for Estes himself-contracted to build 4 million bushels of storage 
space for Palo Duro. The circumstances under which this occurred 
were described by Panhandle as follows: 

Claude E. Davis of Tulia, Coyanosa, and Pecos, Tex., came 
to our attention first in 1960 through Billie Sol Estes. He 
suggested that if we couldn't obtain financing for him that 
he would like for us to consider building and financing plants 
for Mr. Davis and/or a Mr. Worsham. He sent us financial 
statements on both men and said that he would work out 
any partnership arrangements with them after their opera­
t.ions were established. * * * 

* * * * * 
We approached Mr. Davis who told us that he wasn't 

interested in developing any of the areas mentioned by Estes 
but that he was definitely interested in a three-building addi­
tion to his Palo Duro Grain Co. in Tulia, Tex. He said 
that financing of at least 75 percent of the total was neces­
sary, that cash for the down_payment was readily available, 
and that he could give us clear title to the land on which 
the buildings were to be located. Because of the peculiar­
ities of the proposed installation, its proximity to other build­
ings, limited access, and the fact that Mr. Davis was obvi­
ously heavily obligated for the existing facility although it 
was reasonably filled at the time, we invited Mr. Gene Olsen, 
manager of the Butler Finance Co., to visit the site in per­
son and attempt to appraise the situation at the local level. 
He did so and in the few days that followed his arrival there 
were numerous meetings with Mr. Davis, discussions with 
his banker, and several discussions with Mr. Davis and 
Wayne Cooper of Plainview. * * * 

According to Panhandle, the presence of Cooper-who was general 
manager of Estes' elevator interests-"caused some concern." When 
Davis was asked "if Estes had anything at all to do with Palo Duro 
Grain Co., Panhandle said: 

* * * He emphatically denied any relationship with EsMs 
and said that Cooper's interest was that of a friendly adviser. 
Cooper confirmed this. Furthermore, Mr. Davis explained 
that Mr. Estes and A. B. Foster were both good friends, 
that they were anxious to help him establish himself in the 
grain business, and that Estes had made an agreement with 
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him to put up money for a percentage interest in his Tulia 
operation but that he had failed to do so and that he, Davis, 
was no longer interested since he had found it possible to 
handle the operation by himself. 

After completing its credit investigation in February 1962, the 
Butler Co. issued a commitment to finance approximately $482,000 
of the $644,000 total cost of a storage facility to be constructed !or 
Palo Duro Grain Co. 

In addition to storage facilities constructed by Plain-Tex and Pan­
handle for Palo Duro, the Wade Contracting Co. built warehouses with 
a capacity of 3.5 million bushels. The construction contract was. 
entered into around September 1961, and $446,442 was obtained from 
Walter Heller & Co. to finance construction work. The subcommittee 
investigation indicated that an $83,500 payment-presumably a 
kickback-was made by Wade to Davis on December 15, 1961. 
Dams Claim of O'U!fl,ership 

Around May 1961, C. E. Davis later claimed, he took steps to buy 
out Billie Sol Estes' interest in Palo Duro. In his statement to Agn­
culture Department investigators, Davis said: 

Billie Sol put up some cash for his interest and also signed 
numerous notes for various deals. The last money Estes 
put up was in May 1961 when he put in $41,600. Shortly 
after this time I knew something was wrong and I told Billie 
to buy me out and let me out of this deal. Billie advised me 
that he had extended his credit too far and I would have to 
buy him out instead. 

I then did the best I could and had a stock company set up 
which had a capitalization of $250,000. I was to get 2,400 
shares at $100 __per share and J. Robert Scott was to receive 50 
shares and A. B. Foster was to receive 50 shares. The stock 
certificates were written up and these two men still owe me 
$5,000 each for their shares. 

The subcommittee's investigation indicated that the stock certifi.­
eates were backdated to February 28, 1961. Financial statements 
furnished to the Department of Agriculture thereafter continued to 
indicate that Palo Duro was wholly owned by Davis. The subcom­
mittee's investigation did not establish whether Davis' actions were 
designed to actually acquired Estes' interest in Palo Duro or simply to 
give that appearance. 

Davis' concern that "something was wrong" with Estes' operations 
around May 1961 may have been related to the discovery by CIT at 
that time that there were irregularities in Estes' ammonia tank mort­
gage activities. Details concerning CIT's actions and suspicion 
expressed by others concerning a tank mortgage signed by Davis and 
purchased by CIT appear on pages 298 through 303 of this report. 

ALLIED ELEVATORS 

Relationship With Worsham Brothers 
Palo Duro Grain Co. and Hale County Grain Co. were initiated as 

50-50 partnerships between Billie Sol Estes and the individuals whose 
names were being used. Estes later made proposals to other individ-

38-588- 64---5 
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uals under which those "lending credit" for storage construction would 
receive a 10 percent interest in the warehouses to be built. Like 
Estesi' tank deals, the storage proposals promised a 10 percent com 
mission for signing mortgages; unlike the tank transactions, the 
collateral actually existed. 
,· Ina number of instances, Estes tried to interest the same individual 

in participating in both tank and storage deals. One of these involved 
R. L. Skov, of Clint, Tex., to whom Estes wrote the following letter in 
early 1961: 

DEAR BoB: Please forgive me for not getting you this 
information sooner. 

Bob, I would be interested in going in with you on a grain 
elevator. All that you would furnish would be. your financial 
.statement. For example, if the grain elevator costs $542,500, 
the downpayment would be $108,500, which would leave a 
balance to be financed of $434,000. You would sign this 
:mortgage which I would sign also as a guarantor with you. 

I am enclosing herewith a projection based on my past 
history with elevators, showing you a projection of income. 
As you can see, it takes a lot of operating capital before the 
elevators gets on a paying basis, but it is a very profitable 
business and by building in the right location and building a 
group 9 terminal which has a No. 1 priority over obtaining 
grain, and as long as there is a Government program, we 
would not have any trouble keeping it full of grain. 

Also enclosed you will find a mortgage which is required to 
be signed on anhydrous ammonia tanks and also a lease 
agreement whereby I would lease the tanks back from you 
and also the guarantee from the tank company if I should 
default on the payments whereby they would be willing to 
take the tanks for the amount against them. After we havo 
put 20 percent in the tanks they would be safe, unless there 
was an all-out depression and H became necessary for them to 
take the tanks back. 

Let me hear from you at your earliest convenience. 
Sincerely, 

(S) BILLIE SoL EsTEs. 
P.S.-The amount of profit you would derive would be 10 

percent in cash on the tank deal or 10 percent net interest in 
the grain elevator. 

R. L. Skov turned down both of Estes' proposals. However, Estes 
had more success with L. G. Worsham and W. J. Worsham of Pecos. 
In late 1960, the two Worsham brothers signed tank mortgages for 
Estes. Thereafter, according to a statement given Federal investi­
gators by L. G. Worsham: 

* * * Estes approached my brother nnd me with the 
proposition to help him finance a grain elevator to he known 
as Allied Elevators. He said he was intf'rested in expanding 
his elevator operations but hnd used up ull his credit. He 
stated that he could get more grnin and fill more elevators 
if he had them, nnd offered us either a IO-percent commission 
on the cost of the elevators or a 10-perrent interest in the 
net profits of the operation. W<' decided to go in with him 
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when he showed us projections of what we could expect from 
our 10 percent of the profits. We did not make the monthly 
payments on this elevator. I understand that the grain 
runs were assigned to Commercial Credit, the financing 
institution, to satisfy the mortgage liability * * *. 

Wayne Cooper, general mana.ger of Estes' United Elevators, was 
also general manager of Allied's operations. Alton C. Cox, Hereford 1 

the local manager of Allied Elevators, told USDA investigators that 
he had submitted his employment application to Estes Enterprises 
a.nd had been hired to work under Cooper's direction. Cooper told 
Agriculture Department investigators that he had met the Worshams 
on only one occasion before Estes' arrest and had never had direct 
correspondence with either of them. Cooper said that, in accordance 
with instructions from Estes, all operating expenses for Allied were 
paid from funds of United Elevators. 
Construction of Storage Facilities by Kimble and Superior 

On December 14, 1960, Allied Elevators contracted with Pre-Fab 
Steel Structures, Inc., Amarillo, for construction of approximately 
3.5 million bushells of grain storage space. The president of Pre-Fab 
was J. J. Kimble, who was also president of Plain-Tex Steel Structures, 
Inc., Plainview. The other officers and stockholders of Pre-Fab were 
identical with those of Plain-Tex. 

According to Kimble, the price for the initial construction at Allied 
was originally set at $772,000, but was subsequently reduced to 
$750,000. Twenty percent of the purchase price was to be paid 
down; Kimble had obtained a commitment from Commercial Credit 
Corp. to finance the remaining $600,000. Instead of insisting on 
$150,000 in cash, Kimble said, he had agreed to allow Estes to pay 
$60,000 in cash and give a $90,000 note for the remainder. However, 
Estes actually paid only $30,000 in cash and gave Kimble 15 $2,000 
checks, postdated for the fifth of each month from February 1961 
through April 1962. All but one of the checks were cashed before 
the arrest of Estes; however, there were apparently no payments made 
on the $90,000 note. 

Commercial Credit Corp. advanced $606,480 to finance construction 
costs of the initial Allied facilities, taking a mortgage on the buildings 
as security. Commercial Credit received a note with a face value of 
$762,480, payable in equal semiannual installments over a 5-year 
period. Only one installment-$76,248- was actually paid before 
Estes was arrested. 

On February 23, 1961, Pre-Fab Steel Structure contracted for 
construction of two Armco buildings and three steel tanks with a total 
capacity of 2,274,000 bushels. Approximately $400,000 of the 
$500,000 cost was financed by Commercial Credit Corp. Although a 
downpayment of $100,000 was supposed to be made, E_stes actually 
paid only $25,000 in cash and even that was not paid until nearly a 
year later. A $75,000 note was given by Estes to Pre-Fab for the 
balance of the "downpayment," but no payments were made on it. 
Only about $35,000 was paid on the indebtedness to Commercial 
Credit before Estes' arrest. 

An additional 4 million bushels of storage capacity was built for 
Allied by Superior Manufncturing Co. The cost of this construction 
was around $465,000. All payments were deducted by Superior from 
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the proceeds of fraudulent tank mortgages handled for Estes, with no 
actual cash being paid. As of the time he was arrested, the total 
actual cash expended by Estes for downpayments and installments on 
construction of nearly 10 million bushels of storage space at Allied 
was around $200,000-approximately 2 cents per bushel of capacity. 

In addition to their involvement in Allied, the Worshams' names, 
individually and as partners, appeared on nearly 20 tank mortgages 
with a total face value of more than $1.5 million. Statements filed 
b_y W. J. Worsham with the Department of Agriculture did not dis­
close Estes' ownership of Allied. 

USDA SUPERVISION OF WAREHOUSES 
Background 

Two separate units of the Department of Agriculture have important 
responsibilities directly related to storage of grain in commercial 
warehouses. One of these, the Agricultural Marketing Service (AMS), 
administers a Federal licensing system for grain storage facilities 
through its United States Warehouse Act Branch. The second, the 
Agricultural Stabilization and Conservation Service (ASCS), has 
responsibility for storage of _Government grain in private warehouses. 
AMS operations are intended to guarantee protection for all depositors 
storing grain in federally licensed warehouses; ASCS activities, on the 
other hand, are concerned primarily with the safe storage and handling 
of Government grain in privately owned warehouses. 

Although the basic purposes of their programs are different, AMS 
and ASCS conduct a number of similar or closely related activities 
involving commercia.l storage facilities. For example, both agencies 
have employees engaged in examining financial responsibility of 
warehousemen and in making warehouse examinations; although they 
do not normally inspect the same warehouses, ea.ch agency has its 
own set of examiners working in the same geographic area. (The 
subcommittee plans to give further attention in the future to the ~eneral 
question of possible unnecessary duplication or waste in the existence 
of two separate units of the Department of Agriculture with such 
closely related functions.) 

The United States Warehouse Act was enacted in 1916 to provide 
a voluntary system for licensing and bonding warehouses storing 
agricultural commodities. By 1962, approximately 1,250 warehouses 
capable of storing more than 1.3 billion bushels of grain were licensed 
under the act. The capacity of individual grain elevators licensed 
under the a.ct ranged from 25,000 to approximately 50 million bushels. 

The United States Warehouse Act Branch of AMS, which admin­
isters the program established under the United States Warehouse 
Act, is one of a number of units concerned with activities affecting 
marketing of agricultural commodities which were assigned to the 
Agricultural Marketing Service when that Service was created in 
1953. (The Warehouse Act unit had performed essentially the same 
duties prior to 1953, but had done so under general supervision of 
other agencies of the Department of Agriculture.) In carrying out 
its responsibilities, the Warehouse Act Branch utilizes the services 
of about 60 warehouse examiners stationed at eight field offices; super­
visory and clerical personnel in Washington and the field offices 
bring the total staff of the Branch to around 100 persons. The 
Warehouse Act Branch field office at Wichita, Kans., had direct 
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responsibiliti for activities involving federally licensed warehouses 
owned by Billie Sol Estes; however, final decisions concerning issuance 
of licenses and the amount of bond required were made by the 
Washington office. 

Storage of Government grain in commercial warehouses has been 
carried out since 1940 under terms of a uniform grain storage agree­
ment (UGSA) with the warehouseman. The UGSA does not require 
the Department of Agriculture to store grain or the warehouseman 
to accept grain for storage; however, it does specify the rates and 
conditions which are applicable in the event grain is stored. In 
order to qualify for a uniform grain storage agreement, a warehouse­
man must meet requirements established by the Agricultural Stabili­
zation and Conservation Service; approval by ASCS and the issuance 
of a UGSA are necessary before a warehouse is permitted to store 
Government grain. Practically all of the ~p_proximately 1,250 
warehouses licensed under the United States Warehouse Act also 
have uniform grain storage agreements. Around 8,750 other ware­
houses, with a total capacity of more than 3 billion bushels, have 
uniform grain storage agreements but do not have Federal warehouse 
licenses; most of them are licensed under State laws. 

Government grain storage operations are carried on by ASCS in 
the name of the Commodity Credit Corporation (CCC), a wholly 
owned Government corporation. Although CCC technically is a 
separate legal entity, its grain storage operations are conducted 
entirely through ASCS employees; as a practical matter, the terms 
"CCC" and "ASCS" are frequently used interchangeably in referring 
to storage operations involving Government grain. CCC storage 
operations are carried out by regional commodity offices under 
general supervision from ASCS headquarters in Washington; the 
Dallas Commodity Office had direct responsibility for storage of 
CCC grain in Billie Sol Estes' warehouses. 

Examinations of the quantity and quality of stored grain in fed­
erally licensed warehouses are conducted by personnel of the United 
States Warehouse Act Branch; ASCS personnel are responsible for 
checking the quantity and quality of CCC grain in warehouses which 
do not have Federal licenses. 
Development of Dual Warehouse System 

The concurrent existence of separate programs for approval and 
inspection of grain storage facilities in both the Warehouse Act Branch 
and ASCS-described by one witness as a "dual warehouse system"­
played an im_porta.nt pa.rt in the Department of Agriculture's handling 
of Billie Sol Estes' storage operations. 

The fact that only a com para ti vely small percentage of the Nation's 
warehouses have been and are federally licensed has been a significant 
factor in the development of the dual system. Before passage of the 
United States Warehouse Act in 1916, there was no Federal licensing 
system. Since that time, the Federal program has been entirely 
voluntary; warehousemen who cannot-or do not-obtain a Federal 
license are free to o-eerate without one, subject to any applicable 
State laws or regulations. 

Although Federal warehouse standards and regulations may leave 
something to be desired, Federal requirements for warehouse opera­
tion historically have been-and still are-generally more stringent 
than State requirements. Some States have no meaningful system of 

https://im_porta.nt
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warehouse licensing or regulation; only a handful of States have pro­
grams comparable to the Federal system. Because of the difference 
m standards, federally licensed warehousemen have tended, generally 
speaking, to be more experienced, larger, and stronger financially than 
many warehousemen who do not have Federal licenses. Losses to 
depositors in federally licensed warehouses through spoilage or conver­
sion of grain have been relatively rare; such losses have been much 
lar~er and more frequent in facilities which are not federally licensed. 

'I he Federal program for licensing and regulation of warehouses is 
considerably older than the program for storage of Government grain. 
The Commodity Credit Corporation, the Government Corporation 
through which USDA grain storage operations are carried on, did 
not come into e:\.istence until 1933, 17 years after the passage of the 
United States Warehouse Act. Moreover, CCC operated in affilia­
tion with the Reconstruction Finance Corporation (RFC) until 1939, 
when it was transferred to the Department of Agriculture. UST)A 
operations involving storage of CCC grain in commercial warehouses 
did not become really significant until the late 1940's; during the 
1950's, of course, CCC grain storage operations expBnded to become 
and remain many times larger in terms of personnel and e},.1>enditures 
than the Warehouse Act program. 

Because of the rapid growth of CCC grain inventories in the late 
l 940's and early 1950's, a serious shortage of storage space developed. 
Consequently, CCC stored substantial amounts of Government grain 
in warehouses which not only did not have ~""'ederallicenses, but almost 
certainly could not have qualified for them. The operators of these 
faci]ities, in a number of instances, had little or no previous grain 
storage experience; in some cases, the warehouses were substandard 
facilities originally built for other purposes and hastily converted for 
emergency use in storing grain.

In the early stages of its grnin storage program, when utilizing 
nonfederally licensed facilities, CCC relied heavily on State laws and 
procedures to prevent loss. CCC's independent procedures for pro­
tecting its grain, to the extent they existed at all, were woefully 
inadequate; for example, the General Accounting Office, in a report 
issued on January 11, 1952 (l-17048), noted that, the one warehouse 
examiner employed by the Dallas Commodity Office at the time to 
inspect several hundred warehouses storing CCC gm.in \\·as checking 
only the condition and not the qu.ant.ity of the stored grain. 

In view of the conditions existing, it was hardly surprising that CCC 
suffered substantial losses due to spoilage or conversion of grain. 
Such losses were particularly heaYy in the Dallas office area; the Gen­
eral Accounting Office estimated known or suspected shortages at 
some 50 warehouses in the Dallas Commodity Office area as of 
January 1952, would total at least $3.8 million. 
Strengthening of CCC Storage Reouirements 

After heavy losses in the very early 1950's, CCC procedures appli­
cable to storage of grain in commercial warehouses were revised 
substantially; the revised CCC requirements for warehouses storing 
Government grain were generally similar to the requirements for 
licensing under the United States Warehouse Act program. By 
1962, according_ to testimony of C. H. Moseley, director of the Dallas 
Commodity Office, the only significant difference between Warehouse 
Act Branch and CCC requirements related. to the amount of bond 
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required for flat warehouses; this difference, which did not" apply 
to CCC commodity offices other than Dallas, was described bf 
Moseley in the following testimony: 

Mr. FOUNTAIN.In your opinion, are there any significant 
differences between AMS requirements for a Federal license . 
and ASCS requirements for storage agreements; and if so, 
would you describe them, please? 

Mr. MosELEY. * * * In our area, it has become our 
practice to double the bonding requirements, double the 
minimum bonding requirements for Hat warehouses. That 
was the principal difference. As far as other matters are con­
cerned, I know of no significant difference in the standards 
of the two. 

In practice, the difference in bonding requirements for flat war~ 
houses between CCC and the Warehouse Act Branch in the Dallas 
Commodity Office area probably was not too significant. COO 
normally fixed the amount of bond required at 6 percent of the value 
of the commodity being stored; the Warehouse Act Branch used 6 
percent of the value of wheat in figuring the amount of bond, even if 
the commodity actually stored was worth less than wheat. Grain 
sorghum, the commodity most frequently stored in flat warehouses in 
Texas, is usually valued at about half as much as wheat; consequently, 
a bond figured at 12 percent of the value of grain sorghum would not 
differ greatly from a bond figured at 6 percent of the value of wheat. 

Despite the similarity between CCC o.nd Warehouse Act Branch 
requirements and procedures in recent years, the subcommittee found 
no indication that responsible officials of the Department of Agri­
culture ever gave serious consideration to the question of whether or 
not two separate units were necessary to carry out such closely related 
activities. 

UNITED STATES WAREHOUSE ACT PROGRAM 

Licensing Requirements and Procedures 
S. R. Smith, Administrator of the Agricultural Marketing Service, 

described the objectives of the licensing and supervision program 
established under the United States Warehouse Act as follows: 

(1) To provide protection for agricultural producers and 
other depositors who store their property in federally 
licensed warehouses; (2) to assist in the orderly marketing 
and financing of agricultural commodities; and (3) to set anq. 
maintain a standard for sound warehouse operation. N ego-­
tiable warehouse receipts representing commodities value4 
at between $3 and $4 billion are frequently outstanding under 
this program. These receipts are considered by financial 
-institutions as highly a.cceptti,ble collateral by reason of the 
reputation and integrity of the administration of the United 
States Warehouse Act. · 

The United States Warehouse Act authorizes the Department of 
Agriculture, when application is made for a Federal license, to deter­
mine whether a warehouse is suitable for proper storage of any 
agricultural commodity or commodities. In addition, the act author­
izes the Secretary of Agriculture to prescribe duties of warehousemen 
with respect to the care of and responsibility for agricultural products 
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stored in federally licensed warehouses; in order to obtain a license, a. 
warehouseman must agree to comply with the rules and regulations. 
prescribed under the act by the Secretary. The act also specifically 
requires that a surety bond be furnished by the warehouseman, and 
authorizes the Department of Agriculture to examine records relating 
to licensed warehouses. 

Under regulations of the Department of Agriculture, applicants for 
a Federal warehouse license must comply with three general require­
ments: First, the physical facilities of the warehouse must be suitable 
for storage and handling; second, the operators, whether owners or 
employees, must have satisfactory qualifications in storing and han­
dling grain; third, the warehouse operation must be backed by ade­
quate financial responsibility. In determining the adequacy of 
financial responsibility, the Department of Agriculture considers both 
the net worth of the warehouseman and the amount of bond furnished. 
In his testimony, S. R. Smith said the procedures followed by the 
United States Warehouse Act Branch in determining whether a ware-­
house license should be issued were: 

Upon the receipt of an application for a license, United 
States Warehouse Act examiners conduct an "original" 
examination of the warehouse to determine its suitability 
for storage of the commodity for which a license is sought. 
This examination involves not only the physical facilities of 
the warehouse but also the reputation of the warehouseman, 
his experience in the warehouse business, and the experience 
of employees who will operate the business. 

In addition, a financial statement is req_uired of the ware­
houseman prior to licensing and the exammer looks into the 
warehouseman's books and records for the purpose of deter­
mining the rensonableness of items in the financrnl statement. 
Titles to land and buildings are verified to the extent practic­
cable, as are encumbrances on these holdings. Also in­
quiries are made as to the warehouseman's financial and 
business reputation. * * * 

Financial statements are not necessarily accepted at face 
value. Additional supporting information is requested 
when deemed necessary. Certain items may not be allowed 
in determining net worth. For example, insurable assets, 
such as buildings, machinery, and equipment are allowable 
only to the extent covered by insurance; homestead values 
are disallowed; cash value of life insurance is not allowed 
unless the policies are payable to the company; stock 
subscription notes are normally disallowed and appreciation 
of fixed assets must be fully justified to be accepted. * * * 

If, on the basis of all findings, it appears that the ware­
houseman is capable of operating the facility in such manner 
as to provide adequate protection of the commodities to 
be stored, has sufficient net worth, furnishes the required 
bond, and meets all other requirements, a license is issued •. 
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· The adequacy of Warehouse Act Branch procedures and the manner 
in which they were administered are discussed in later sections of this 
report. 
Net Worth and Bo11d Requirements 

Under regulations of the Warehouse Act Branch, S. R. Smith told 
the subcommittee, two basic tests of financial responsibility must ha 
met by grain warehousemen before a license can be issued. The 
warehouseman must have a net worth equal to at least 4 percent of 
the value of the maximum number of bushels of wheat which can be 
stored in his facility; in addition, the warehouseman must provide 
bond equal to 6 percent of the value of the wheat which can be stored 
in bis facilities. No warehouseman may be licensed unless be has a 
net worth of at least $10,000; if his net worth exceeds $10,000, but 
does not equal 4 percent of the value of the wheat which can be stored 
in his warehouse, the deficiency in net worth may be met by an in­
crease in the amount of bond provided. The minimum amount of 
bond required at the time of Smith's testimony was $5,000. The 
maximum amount of bond basically required under the regulations, 
regardless of the amount of grain to be stored, was $200,000; however, 
additional bond in excess of the $200,000 m11rximum was required in 
case of a deficiency in net worth and permitted in any other instance 
in which Wa.rehouse Act Branch personnel found that conditions 
existed which warranted additional bond. 

According to Smith's testimony, the exact amounts of net worth 
and bond required are determined in the following manner: 

Calculations with respect to net worth and bond require­
ments are made on the basis of commodity values determined 
annually for this purpose by ASCS and adopted by AMS for 
application under the United States Warehouse Act. For 
example, the value used for wheat during the past several 
years is $1.90 per bushel. Net worth requirements are cal­
culated on the basis of 4 percent of $1.90, or 7.6 cents per 
bushel. Bond requirements are calculated at 6 percent of 
the same value, or 11.4 cents per bushel, up to the $200,000 
maximum. 

Under regulations in effect during the period in which Billie Sol 
Estes was storing Government grain, a warehouseman normally was 
not required to provide more than $200,000 bond no matter how much 
grain was stored in his facilities as long as his reported net worth was 
equal to 4 percent of the value of wheat to be stored and Agriculture 
Department personnel did not determine that conditions existed which 
warranted additional bond. (At the time of Estes' arrest, under these 
regulations, one warehouseman with a storage capacity in excess of 
50 million bushels actually was providing only $200,000 bond.) Be­
fore 1953, regulations concerning the maximum amount of net worth 
necessary and the maximum amount of bond to be provided were even 
less stringent. Carl J. Miller, Chief of the United States Warehouse 
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Act Branch during Estes' storage operations, described the earlier 
regulations as follows in testimony before the subcommittee: 

The idea of the maximum is traditional from the very 
inception of the Warehouse Act operation in 1916. Up until 
1953, and for a long time prior to that, the maximum was 
$50,000. There was also another provision prior to 1953, 
that the maximum net worth that anyone need have was 
$100,000. 

So a warehouseman with a net worth of $100,000 furnishing 
a $50,000 bond could operate a grain warehouse of any 
capacity-any capacity at all. 

The 1953 amendment, in addition to increasing the 
maximum of bond from $50,000 to $200,000, also did away 
with the maximum net worth requirement of $100,000 and 
based net worth on the total capacity at the rate of 4 percent. 

Provisions for Protection of Depositors 
Licensed warehousemen who store grain for others issue warehouse 

receipts to persons depositing grain which evidence the warehouse­
man's obligation to deliver the same quantity and quality of grain to 
depositors at a future time. In his testimony, S. R. Smith told the 
subcommittee that a number of other safeguards required under the 
Warehouse Act were more important than a surety bond in protecting 
depositors; according to Smith: 

* * * the protection afforded by the bond itself on the 
total volume of grain storage capacity of a warehouse, while 
important, is nevertheless relatively minor when considered 
in relation to the other safeguards that are required both 
before and after a warehouse is licensed and the protective 
measures provided by the act and regulations. 

In listing safeguards for depositors provided through the United 
States Warehouse Act program, Smith cited measures designed to 
insure that warehouses are suitable for grain storage, and that per­
sonnel involved in their operations are qualified and trustworthy; 
he also included provisions for insuring grain against loss or damage 
by fire or other accidental cause. However, according to Smith, 
warehouse examinations provide the most significant single safeguard; 
he told the subcommittee that: 

Most important of all, a program of unannounced exami­
nations is conducted subsequent to licensing of a warehouse 
to determine whether the grain is being maintained in proper 
condition and is sufficient both as to quantity and grade to 
satisfy all outstanding obligations of the warehouseman. 
Any adjustments needed to bring stocks and storage obliga­
tions into balance are required following the examination. 
Housekeeping and recordkeeping practices are checked and 
correction required where they are deficient. These actions 
are taken to maintain the high standards of performance 
required by the United States Warehouse Act. 
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Smith said that severe criminal penalties-fines of up to $10,000 
and imprisonment for as much as 10 years-are provided to dis­
courage conversions of grain and other deliberate violations of the 
Warehouse Act. Smith also indicated that protection affordea by 
surety bonds was secondary to that provided by the net worth of the 
warehouseman in the following testimony: 

The net worth of the warehouseman is of prime importance, 
since claims arising out of the warehouse operation are made 
first against the warehouseman. The fact that claims against 
bonds under the United States Warehouse Act have been 
practically nil attests to the fact that net worth requirements 
have been generally adequate. 

Smith stated that, in addition to the financial statement filed with 
their original license application, most warehousemen are requested 
to furnish current financial statements as of the midpoint and end of 
their fiscal year. Smith said such statements are not usually required 
of corporations which make periodic public disclosure of their earnings 
and financial condition. Smith also said that 6 to 8 weeks prior to the 
anniversary dt1te of each license, a review is made of each warehouse­
man1s "financial position, the results of t.he most recent examination 
of the warehouse, and other significant information with respect to 
the warehouse operation. 11 Since bond coverage is written for a 
1-year period, the review is used to determine the appropriate amount 
of new bond coverage to be furnished. The warehouse license is 
subject to termination if the new bond is not provided. 

Despite the importance assigned to a warehouseman's net worth 
by Smith, another Agriculture Department official testified that the 
Department's policy did not require obtaining financial reports from 
sources other than the warehouseman himself. Dabney Townsend, 
Acting Chief of the Warehouse Act Branch, gave the following testi­
mony on this point: 

Mr. NAUGHTON.* * * what is your policy with respect 
to obtaining independent financial reports both on the 
original approval of a facility and in connection with subse­
quent examinations? 

Is it mandatory that an independent financial report be 
obtained? 

Mr. TowNSEND. It is not mandatory, no, sir. It is a 
matter of judgment as to whether we believe that we need 
additional information or a financial statement comes in that 
reflects rather an involved financial position that we want 
more information or independent verification on. 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Do you request Dun & Bradstreet re­
ports customarily? 

Mr. TOWNSEND. We do not customarily request Dun & 
Bradstreet reports, no, sir. 

Mr. NAUGHTON.If an independent financial report is sub­
mitted, do you require that it be by certified public ac­
countant? 

Mr. TowNsEND. Well, I don't know that I can answer that 
question exactly, sir, because we have no written procedure 
on that. 
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Townsend's testimony that it was not customary to request Dun & 
Bradstreet reports was something of an understatement. The Wichita. 
field office of the Warehouse Act Branch, which had initial responsi­
bility for insuring that the net worth of Billie Sol Estes and hundreds 
of other warehouse operators was adequate to protect depositors, 
apparently went about this task totally ignorant of any information 
-collected by Dun & Bradstreet concerning the financial condition of 
the warehousemen under its jurisdiction. 0. P. Harren, who was in 
charge of the Wichita office, told Agriculture Department investi­
gators that he did not recall ever seeing a Dun & Bradstreet report 
during his Government service. Further evidence that Warehouse 
Act Branch personnel relied essentially on statements of warehouse 
o:perators in determining whether net worth was adequate was pro­
vided in the following testimony by Dabney Townsend: 

* * * we have to depend on the information that we 
obtain from the warehouseman under his statement. And 
if we are not satisfied with that, then we can go back and 
request a statement by a certified public accountant. 

Under questioning by subcommittee members, S. R. Smith ac­
knowledged that in cases of bankruptcy or dishonesty involving ware­
housemen the only real protection for depositors wasjrovided by the 
surety bond. Carl Miller also affirmed that the hon is the ultimate 
recourse in the following testimony: 

Mr. FouNTAIN. I am sure that the criminal provisions to 
which Mr. Smith referred in his statement applicable to the 
Warehouse Act are useful in penalizing and discouraging 
misconduct. 

However, what protection do they provide for the de­
positor or the Government in the event there is a conversion 
and the warehouseman has no assets subject to resulting 
claims? 

Mr. MILLER. Then you have to fall back on the bond. 
But our work down through the years has been preventive 
rather than emphasizing punitive action. 

Exemption of Federal Licensees From 000 Requirements 
ASCS regulations in effect during the time in which Billie Sol Estes 

was storing Government grain required that nonfederally licensed 
warehouses approved for storage of Government grain meet standards 
substantially equivalent to those established for issuance of a Federal 
license; ASCS regulations also provided for subsequent examinations 
of such warehouses similar to those conducted by the Warehouse Act 
Branch for federally licensed warehouses. However, it was CCC 
policy to exempt federally licensed warehouses from these require­
ments. Roland Ballou, Assistant Deputy Administrator for Com­
modity Operations, ASCS, told the subcommittee, in describing this 
policy, that "full recognition is given to warehouse approvals and 
warehouse examinations performed under the authority of the United 
States Warehouse Act." The policy is formally stated in the ASCS 
grain warehouse approval handbook used by Commodity Office per­
sonnel; part 7, section 24 B of the handbook provides that: 

The provisions with respect to financial statements, credit re­
ports, original and subsequent examinations, and surety bonds will 
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not be required for those commodities covered by the United 
States Warehouse Act license. For those commodities not 
covered by the United States Warehouse Act license, all 
provisions of this handbook shall apply. 

While ASCS reguh1tions clearly authorize exemption of federally 
licensed warehouses from that agency's provisions with respect to 
financial responsibility and inspection of warehouses, the regulntinns 
do not make it mundntory thnt federally licensed houses be approved 
without question. Sections 24 C and D of the warehouse approval 
handbook provide that: 

Possession of a license under the United States lllarehouse Act 
does not make it mandatory to antomatically approve warehouses 
for CCC programs. Busic standards for approval shall be 
considered in appraising such npplica tions. 

Information concerning history, financial responsibility and 
bond status of warehousemen licensed under the United States 
Warehouse Act may be obtained, when needed, from the 
appropriate United States W urchouse Act Branch field office. 

Under operating policies in effect during Estes' storage operations, 
ASCS Commodity Offices ordinarily did not receive copies of finan­
cial statements and related data submitted to the Warehouse Act 
Bmnch concerning federally licensed houses. Copies of reports of 
original and subsequent examinations conducted by Warehouse Act 
Branch examiners were not cusi,omarily submitted to Commodity 
Offices unless they disclosed evidence of some significant problem or 
irregularity. 

INITIAL LICENSE APPLICATION 

Original Application 
In November 1958, Billie Sol Estes filed an application for a Federal 

warehouse license covering the Smith-Bawden warehouse at Plainview, 
Tex., which Estes had arranged to purchase. The Smith-Bawden 
elevator already had a Federal license; however, a new license was 
necessary because of the change in ownership. With his application, 
Estes submitted a financial statement in which he stated that his 
net worth as of October 31, 1958, was slightly more than $5 million; 
the October 31 statement-as well as all subsequent ones filed by 
Estes-contained the following certification: 

Under penalty of perjury, I declare I have examined the 
above statement of assets and liabilities and that to the 
best of my knowledge and belief it is a true, correct 

1 
and 

complete statement of the financial status of the aoove­
named warehouseman as of the date shown. 

On December 4, 1958, examiners from the Wichita (Kans.) office 
of the Warehouse Act Branch conducted an original examination of 
the Plainview facilities. A report on this inspectic,n was received by 
the Wichita office on December 8, 1958; the report was reviewed in 
Wichita on December 16 and then sent to Washington for use in deter­
mining whether Estes should be issued a license. 

At the t.ime of Estes' original application, th9 capacity of the Smith­
Bawden elevator was 2,960,000 bushels. Under the applicable-
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formula, the amount of bond required-computed at 6 percent of the 
value of the wheat that could be stored-would have been $337,440; 
however, because of the $200,000 maximum applicable under Ware­
house Act regulations, bond was fixed at the lower amount. (The 
amount of net worth required-approximately $225,000-was only 
a fraction of the amount claimed by Estes on his financial statement.) 
In accordance with usual procedures, Estes was furnished a bond 
form made out in thJ amount of $200,000 to be executed by an 
approved surety company and mailad to the W a.rehouse Act Branch. 

The Standard Accident Insurance Co., which had written the surety 
bond for the previous owners of the Smith-Bawden facilities, was 
unwilling at first to continue the bond for Estes; as a result, a con­
siderable delay resulted in action on Estes' license application. 
(Details concerning Estes' difficulty in obtaining a $200,000 bond 
from Standard appear later in this report.) 

The completed bond form was finally received in Washington on 
February 9, 1959. A Federal license covering the Smith-Bawden 
facilities (which were to be operated by Billie Sol Estes under the 
name of United Elevators) was then prepared and presented to 
Carl Miller, Chief of the Warehouse Act Branch, for signature on 
February 11. In accordance with regular procedures of the Ware­
house Act Branch, the application file furnished to Miller contained 
a copy of a financial statement (form WA-51) filled out by Estes 
and a supplement to the financial statement (form WA-52) filled 
out by Examiner Warren Williams, who had conducted the original 
examination at Plainview. After examining this information, Miller 
sent the following wire to the Wichita office: 

FEBRUARY11, 1959. 
Regarding Estes Plainview, Tex. Examiners investigation 

of financial statement apparently limited to elevator opera­
tion. Please make further investigation covering other 
items, and obtain audited statement, if available. Also 
make inquiries relative to general reputation and business 
integrity. 

McCoy Trip to Pecos 
In accordance with Miller's instructions, Donald McCoy, a ware­

house examiner, from the Wichita office, went to Plainview. On 
February 16, 1959, McCoy flew from Plainview to Pecos in a char­
tered plane provided by Wayne Cooper, general manager of Estes' 
storage enterprises. McCoy explained his reasons for making the 
trip and using a plane provided by Cooper as follows: 

* * * I was in Plainview, Tex., and Wayne L. Cooper, 
general manager of grain operation for Billie Sol Estes, said 
to me that Cooper and I would fly to Pecos, Tex., in a char­
tered plane, and I agreed to do that. 

At about 8 o'clock or shortly thereafter, Cooper, the pilot 
and I flew to Pecos, Tex., from Plainview, Tex. Later that 
same day, Cooper, the pilot and I flew from Pecos, Tex., back 
to Plainview, Tex. This flight was accomplished for the pur­
pose of obtaining requested information concerning the 
financial statement filed by Billie Sol Estes in• connection 
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with his application for a United States Warehouse Act 
license covering the United Elevators at Plainview, and to 
investigate the business integrity of the applicant. The 
reason for taking the plane was to accomplish the assign­
ment in the least amount of time and least cost to the 
Government. To have driven the Government automobile 
would have required more time which could have been used 
on other assignments which I had at that time. 

When the decision to fly to Pecos was made, I did not 
know that this might be construed in any way to be a favor, 
either to me personally or to the U.S. Department of Agri­
culture. * * * 

This was the first and only time such a situation like this 
was ever encountered in my Government career. Ordinarily, 
assignments are such that all of the work involved may be 
accomplished at the location of the storage facilities or by 
correspondence. 

Immediately after his trip to Pecos, McCoy informed his superiors 
that he had trnveled by chartered plane supplied by Cooper at no 
cost to the Government; since transportation was provided by Cooper. 
McCoy did not charge any travel expense to the Government. 
Report on Trip 

In reporting the results of his check on Billie Sol Estes' financial 
condition, McCoy did not use the standard form (WA-52) provided 
for this purpose, which calls for specific answers and explanations to 
listed questions relating to financial status of the applicant. Instead, 
McCoy sent a narrative report on his trip to Otto P. Harren, Chief of 
the Wichita office, on February 16. The report, which was immedi­
ately forwarded by Harren to Washington, was as follows: 

DEAR MR. HARREN: Mr. Way-ne Cooper of the United 
Elevators, Plainview, Tex., supplied a chartered plane at 
no cost to the Government for my transportation from 
Plainview to Pecos and return. 

The purpose of the trip was to supply more information 
concerning the financial statement and business integrity of 
Billie Sol Estes, applicant for United States Warehouse Act 
license covering the U;nited Elevator at Plainview, Tex. 

A statement on form MF-25 is enclosed as is a December 
18, 1958, balance sheet. The amount of cash in the bank 
was confirmed at the First National Bank, Pecos, Tex. 
Accounts and notes receivable could better be shown as 
$291,299.97 as accounts receivable, and $286,:785 as other 
investment and assets and the latter amount consists of 
United Construction Co. first lien mortgages in the amount. 
of $135,000. ~ 

"Note this item has been liquidated since December ,18 
for the approximate amount shown." · 

First mortgage on three buildings and lots, Midland, Tex., 
$90,000; and first mortgage on steel buildings sold to· farm .. 
ers, $61,785; merchandise inventory consists of merchandise 
inventory of the West Texas Steel Co. (owned individually 

https://291,299.97
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by Billie Sol Estes) in the amount of $48,500. Commercial 
fertilizer, $885,786.26 and cotton on gin yards, $900,000; 
land in the amount of 9,507 acres valued at $2,763,900, 
according to the bankers is conservative. 

Title to land owned by Billie Sol Estes as an individual is 
shown over the certification of the Western Abstract & Title 
Co. and may be considered as a part of this letter report. 
Oil production, Winkler County, is conservatively valued at 
$200,000. The market value is $240,000 while the book 
value is twice the market. Billie Sol Estes owns 45 percent 
of the shares. The home shown at $90,000 consists of a 
large, well-built structure with all the trimmings. Ver­
halen Merchantile Co. shows Billie Sol Estes with 25 percent 
interest. Billie Sol Estes owns 1,600 shares of stock of the 
Pecos Growers Gas Co.; and this comprises about 20 percent 
of the shares; and he owns 625 shares of stock of the Illinois­
Indian Life Insurance Co. which comprises a small percentage 
of the total number of shares. 

Mr. Estes owns 650,000 shares of Agriculture, Inc., and 
this is seven-eighths of the total. He is the president of this 
corporation. This property consists of 16,000 acres of land 
in Pecos County and of the total, 10,000 acres are under 
irrigation and the balance in the process of being developed. 
According to R. C. McPherson, president of the First 
National Bank, Pecos, Tex., this land was purchased by 
Mr. Estes several years ago for about $500,000 without the 
usual option of t,esting for irrigation water. It so happened 
that excellent wells have been developed. 

His land produces very good yields of long staple cotton 
and other products. 

The statement shows the value at $2,472,408.57. A 
certified appraisal of 13,338 acres of this tract on July 4, 1957, 
shows a value of $8,250,000. Other assets item have either 
been appraised at the original examination or are more or 
less self-explanatory. 

The item of machinery and equipment consists of an 
immense amount of anhydrous ammonia in tanks and farm 
and house moving equipment. This enterprise is the largest 
distributor of commercial fertilizer in the country. Many 
of the assets are encumbered with notes or mortgages; 
however, the statement shows a substantial net worth. 
Mr. McPherson, president of the First National Bank, 
Pecos, Tex., stated that Mr. Estes has enjoyed a very good 
reputation and that he had loaned him the maximum per­
missible by banking law and that he handled Lawrence 
warehouse receipts for Billie Sol Estes and that he considered 
Mr. Estes a good businessman. 

My findings indicated that Mr. Estes employs high-caliber 
men for key jobs and pays them well, thus relieving him­
self of a great many details. At the present time, Mr. 
Estes has a contract to buy one-haH interest in the Kermit 
Dyche Warehouse, Inc., Stockton, Tex. This item does 
not appear on the financial statement and the property was 
not viewed personally by me at this time; however, it is 

https://2,472,408.57
https://885,786.26
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believed that this property is operated under the Warehouse 
Act to store cotton. 

It developed in discussing this matter that Mr. Estes 
does not plan to keep the stock very long after it is issued to 
him. Most of the farmland of Billie Sol Estes and of 
Agriculture, Inc., was inspected and under the present 
economy, it is my opinion the values shown in the state­
ment are quite conservative. My investigation indicates 
that the reputation and business integrity of the applicant 
are good. Mr. Estes informed me that the United Ele­
vators, Plainview, Tex., would be incorporated sometime 
in the future. 

I trust this is the information that you desire, and that it 
will now be possible to reconsider the application. 

Yours truly, 
DONALDL. McCoY, U.S. Examiner. 

McCoy did not obtain an audited statement, as suggested in 
Miller's wire; however, he did obtain an unaudited financial statement 
which showed a net worth of $6,456,941 as of December 18, 1958. 
This statement was forwarded to Washington with McCoy's report 
where it was presented to Carl Miller. Thereafter, accordingL'.to 
testimony of S. R. Smith: 

On the basis of Mr. McCoy's investigation report, the 
prior examination of the warehouse facility, the filing of a 
$200,000 bond, and the knowledge that the warehouse was to 
be under the management of an individual (Mr. Wayne L. 
Cooper) of known experience and capability, the license 
was issued on February 24, 1959. 

Lack of Accounting Q:u.al,ification.'iJ 
Donald McCoy's performance as a warehouse examiner was praised 

highly by Carl Miller, who told the subcommittee that: 
During my 7 years with being in charge of the Warehouse 

Act, we had approximately 55 to 60 men traveling all over 
this country in 37 States, going to 1,800 warehouses, and if 
all of them had performed as well as Mr. McCoy has per­
formed through that time, I would have had no personnel 
problems whatsoever. 

However, the following testimony at subcommittee bearings shows 
clearly that, while McCoy may have been well qualified as a warehouse 
examiner, he had very little training or worthwhile experience in 
investigating financial responsibility: 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Have you had any accounting training, 
Mr. McCoy? 

Mr. McCOY. I have had no formal accounting training. 
I think I took one course when I went to school, and I have 
not kept books or maintained books and closed out, opened 
records, or anything of that nature. 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Are you familiar with auditing pro­
cedures? 

Mr. McCOY. Some of them. 

88-58S-,64-6 
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Mr. NAUGHTON.And techniques.? Did you apply any 
auditing techniques for establishing that Mr. Estes owned 
the assets that you were reporting on? 

Mr. McCoY. No, sir. 
Mr. NAUGHTON. Is your work mostly to examine physical 

facilities? 
Mr. McCoY. At original examinations, of course, a person 

checks into the financial statement the best he can. How­
ever, most of our time is spent in conducting subsequent 
examinations, which is the establishing of inventories and 
auditing of warehouse receipts and open storage accounts. 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Is your primary job, then, or the one at 
which you spend most of your time, checking to see that 
none of the grain is missing, that the grain is in good con­
dition? 

Mr. McCoY. Well, I do both of those examinations, and 
I would say I spend more time doing subsequent work. 

In view of McCoy's lack of training or experience for his mission, 
it was hardly fair to expect him to do a professional job of verifying 
Estes' financial status. The inadequate nature of the investigation 
made by McCoy was disclosed in questioning by Congressman Neal 
Smith and Chairman Fountain: 

Mr. NEAL SMITH: In conducting these examinations, what. 
do you do about liabilities? Do you have any way of check­
ing upon the liabilities to see whether or not they exceed what 
they have listed on their balance sheet? 

Mr. McCoY. The only way I would know would be to 
check the public records with somebody that did know. 

Mr. FouNTAIN. You don't do that in the normal course of 
business, then? 

Mr. McCoY. Ordinarily I don't check the mortgage rec­
ords, and so forth, which acknowledge the statement. There 
could be more, I suspect, and I haven't gone into that. 

Mr. NEAL SMITH. Actually you can't determine what net 
assets are unless you know whether or not the liabilities 
are stated, can you? 

Mr. McCOY. No. 
While McCoy's own examination was admittedly inadequate to 

ascertain Estes' true net worth, McCoy testified that he relied heavily 
on statements made to him by Estes' local banker, Ray McPherson, 
executive vice president of the First National Bank of Pecos: 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Mr. McCoy, what was your basis for 
evaluating the assets? 

Mr. McCoY. I relied rather heavily on the banker's state­
ment to me. I figured that he was probably the best source 
of information at that location. And I viewed at least part 
of the land that is reported here, and some of the other items 
on the financial statement. 
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The subcommittee later learned that, although McPherson habitu­
ally issued favorable credit reports about Estes to others, his own bank 
would not loan money to Estes without collateral worth substantially 
more than the amount loaned. 
Evaluation of Financial Data 

Carl Miller, who determined whether or not financial information 
supplied by field offices was adequate to justify issuance of a license, 
did not have a professional accounting background. His testimony, 
which follows, indicated that his training and experience prior to his 
Government position involved bookkeeping rather than analyzing 
financial statements: 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Do you have an accounting background, 
Mr. Miller? 

Mr. MILLER. Yes, I took accounting; I took bookkeeping 
in high school. I took accounting in college. I kept books 
for a store. I wa-s a cashier in a store when I was 17 years 
old for about a year and a half. 

I was an office manager in a grain company for about 5 
years. I have worked with figures and with statements 
pretty near all my life. 

Mr. NAUGHTON. You are not a certified public accountant? 
Mr. MILLER. But I am not a certified public accountant. 
Mr. NAUGHTON. Have you ever done public accounting 

work? 
Mr. MILLER. I never have done any public accounting 

work; no, sir. 
The original financial statement submitted by Estes to the Ware­

house Act Branch showed a net worth of slightly more than $5 million 
as of October 31, 1958. The second statement, obtained by McCoy, 
showed a net worth of almost $6.5 million as of December 18, 1958-a 
gain of more than $1.4 million in 6 weeks' time. However, according 
to Carl Miller, this phenomenal increase raised no question in his mind 
concerning the integrity of Estes' financial statement; in fact, Miller's 
testimony indicates he probably was not even aware of it: 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Did it arouse your suspicions that here 
in the short space of approximately 6 weeks' time, in 1958, 
Mr. Estes' net worth had apparently increased by $1,400,000 
approximately? 

Mr. MILLER. No, I would not say that it did, because 
Mr. McCoy's report indicated to us that even the December 
18 statement was stated conservatively, that there wer" 
values-there were current values of some of the assets thar, 
far exceeded their book-the values stated on the books. 
So that we were-we were, I believed that the statement as 
of December 18 was a conservatively stated statement. 

No effort was made to check it against the one previously 
furnished, nor the one that he might have gotten together 
6 months ago or a year ago or any other time. 
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EXTENT OF E;STES' STORAGE EMPIRE 

Rapid Growth of Storage Operations 
The approval of Billie Sol Estes' original storage facilities at 

Plainview for a Federal warehouse license on February 24, 1959, was 
only the first of many such decisions made by personnel of the De­
partment of Agriculture. By the end of February 1962, Estes owned 
or had some interest in more than 87 million bushels of storage ca­
pacity in Texas. This was more than twice the amount of Texas 
warehouse space operated by any other warehouseman, and made 
Estes one of the largest warehousemen in the country. 

During the 3-year period following the issuance of Billie Sol Estes' 
first warehouse license, there were 39 more instances in which storage 
facilities owned wholly or partially by Estes--or additions to such 
facilities-were licensed or approved by USDA personnel. In addi­
tion to its first license at Plainview, United Elevators obtained three 
more Federal licenses at Kress, South Plains, and Silverton, Tex.; 
the 4 licenses were amended a total of 19 times to provide for added 
storage space. Additional Federal licenses were obtained for the 
Palo Duro Grain Co. and Allied Elevators; there were a total of eight 
amendments at these two facilities. In addition to the federally 
licensed facilities, Estes was interested in three State-licensed facili­
ties-the Hale County Grain Co. at Plainview, the South Plains Grain 
Co. at Levelland, and the Farm Grain & Warehouse Co. at Lamesa. 
The three facilities-and a total of four additions to them-were ap­
proved for storage of CCC grain by the Dallas commodity office. 

The following tables show the amount, location, and date of licensing 
or approval of storage space in which Estes had an interest. For 
federally-licensed houses, the date given is the date of licensing; for 
those facilities which were not federally licensed, the date given is 
that on which the Dallas commodity office approved issuance of a 
uniform grain storage agreement for the facility. (Uniform grain 
storage agreements were also approved for each of the federally 
licensed facilities within a short time after issuance of the license.) 
Significant details concerning the manner in which Estes obtained 
licensing or approval of his storage space will be discussed in the next 
few pages of this report. Tables on pages 424-426 of the appendix 
give additional details concerning licensing and approval of facilities 
operated by United Elevators. 
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Storage space licensed or approved by date and location 

[Thousands of bushels] 

State licensed fe.cllltles 
Federally licensed fe.cilltles approved !or storage of 

CCC grain under UGSA 

Date of license or 
UGBA United Elevators Pe.lo Allied Hale South 

Duro Ele- United County P!Bins 
Ore.in ve.tors- Ele­ Ore.in Ore.in 

Pl81.n­ Kress South Silverton Co.­ Hereford vators 1- Co.­ Co.­
v1ew (3-4596) Plains (3-4601) Tulia (3-4694) Lamesa Pie.in Level-

(3-4458) (3-4597) (3-4619) view land 

Feb. 24, 1959________ 2,960 __________________·····-··- --,------ ___________________________________
May 11, 1959________ 3,420 _______________________________________________________________________ 
July 24, 1959________ 2,265 _______________________________________________________________________ 

Sept. 16, 1,985 --------- ----- --- --------- --------- ---------Nov. 10, 1959_______ ______________________________________________________ ---------666 --------- --------_________________ 
Dec. 1, 1959_________ 1,370 _______________________________________________________________________ 
Feb. 19, 1960_________________ 2, 744 915 _____________________________________________________ 
May 6, 1960____________________________________ 2,190 ____________________________________________ 
June 30, 1960________________________________________________________________________________ 1 406 

July 8, 1960_________--------- --------- --------- --------- 2,170 --------- --------- --------- --------

~:gut:~~:_______Oct. 17, 1960________ ---------1,006 ----·aoo---------- -----48a" --------- --------- --------- ---~:~~- --------_______________________________________________________________________ 
Nov. I, 1960________ 1,977 _______________________________________________________________ -----··· 
Nov.a, 1960________ ____________________________________ 2,350 ___________________________________ 
Nov. 28, 1900_______ ____________________________________ 1,132 ___________________________________ 
Dec. 7, 196()_________________________________________________________________________________ 1,041
Dec. 13, 1960________ 4,027 _______________________________________________________________________ 
Dec. 28. 1900________ 1,000 _______________________________________________________________________ 
Jan. 3, 1961-________ ____________________________________ 1,034 ___________________________________ 
Jan. 13, 1961________________________________________________________________________________ 1,016 
Feb. 20, 196L_______ 2,967 _______________________________________________________________________
Apr. 26, 196L_______ 2,000 _______________________________________________________________________ 

1·000 1·000r~!ri~~L:------___ _ --------- --------- ___ _ ---4~0i4------------------------------------
June 26, 1961_____________________________________________________ 5,730 __________________________ 
Aug. 3, 1961.________ 1,000 liOO ______________________________________________________________ 

ti 1i\\~\:::::: ::::::::: ::::::::: ::::::::: ::::::::: _Jit_::::::::::::::::::-----734- ::::::::Oct. 17, 1961________ 3,989 _______________________________________________________________________ 

4 000i~~ ~a.1~k::::::---3, 000- ::::::::: ::::::::: ::::::::: ::::::::: --- • _ ::::::::: ::::::::: ::::::::Nov. 20, 1961_______ _______________________________________________________________ 1,995 ________ 
Nov. 22, 1961_______ ____________________________________ 3,512 ___________________________________ 
Feb. 14, 1962________ 8,851 _______________________________________________________________________ 

1 A uniform grain storage agreement was approved for the Farm Grain & Warehouse Co., Lamesa, on 
Nov. 10, 1959; at this time, Billie Sol Estes was shown as owner of 35,000 of approximately 80,000 shares 
of stock. On Apr. 26, 1961, a new UGSA was issued for United Elevators to operate the Lamesa facilities 
as lessee. 

1 Estes apparently bad no interest in South Plains Grain Co. at the time the UGSA was Issued, but 
acquired an interest prior to approval of the first addition to its fe.cilltles on Dec. 7, 1960. 

Total space licensed or approved 

[Thousands of bushels] 

United Palo Duro Allied Hale South Total, all 
Year Elevators Ore.in Co. Elevators County Plains Ce.cilitles 

Grain Co. Grain Cp. 

1959___---- --------------------
1960__·--------------------- ---
1961••____. --- --- -- ---- ------ __ 
1962_____... -- ------- ----- ---- -

112,000 
14. 642 
16,122 
8,851 

5,652
13, 138 

------------
9, 730 

1,760 
2,729 

1,447 
1,016 

12,000 
23,501 
42, 7315 
8,851 

Total, 1959--62.. _________ 51,615 18.790 9,730 4,489 2,463 87,087 

1 Approximately 666,000 bushels of storage space at Le.mesa was initially approved for storage or Govern• 
ment grain in 1959 but did not become e.part of the United Elevators operation untll 1961; consequently,
this space is included 1n the 1961 figures. 
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RAPID EXPANSION QUESTIONED 

Memorandum From Moseley in 1960 
Even before his first Federal warehouse license at Plainview was 

approved, Billie Sol Estes had made arrangements for construction 
of additional facilities which would almost triple the size of his original 
2,960,000-bushel facility at Plainview. In late 1959, Estes began 
acquisition of additional facilities at other locations; he also began 
building additions to the space acquired. By May 1960, some 14 
months after his initial license was issued, Estes owned or had an 
interest in more than 15 million bushels of storage space and was 
continuing to expand. 

On May 11, 1960, C.H. Moseley, Director of the Dallas Commodity 
Office, sent the following memorandum to Andrew J. Mair, then 
Deputy Administrator for Operations of the Commodity Stabilization 
Service (now called the Agricultural Stabilization and Conservation 
Service): 

Date: May 11, 1960. 
To: Andrew J. Mair, DAO, CSS, Washington. 
From: C. H. Moseley, Director, CSS CO, Dallas. 
Subject: CCC bonding requirements for warehouses licensed 

under United States Warehouse Act. 
In accordance with procedure and precedent we have 

never questioned the financial responsibility or the bonding 
required of warehousemen licensed under the United States 
Warehouse Act. We understand that generally their bonds 
do not exceed $200,000, but our files contain no information 
on the subject, and it is not our desire that they should. 
Occasionally, however, we encounter a case which seems to 
be deserving of special consideration, and it is the purpose 
of this memorandum to seek your advice on such a case. 

Billie Sol Estes, doing business as United Elevators, oper­
ates facilities at Plainview, Kress, and South Plains, Tex., 
with a total capacity over 15 million bushels. Other facil­
ities of the same firm pending approval or under construction 
have capacities of from six to nine million bushels. As the 
attached Dun & Bradstreet report shows, the operations of 
Mr. Estes are extremely complex and are characterized by 
heavy indebtedness. 

Do you think we should continue our "hands off" policy 
or require additional bond? 

Attachment. 
Under questioning by Congressman Bass, C. H. Moseley gave the 

following explanation of the use of the term "hands off" in his memo­
randum: 

Mr. BAss. Mr. Moseley, what is meant by the statement 
about the "hands off" policy in the memorandum dated May 
11, 1960, directed to Mr. Andrew J. Mair, DAO, CSS, 
Washington? 

Mr. MosELEY. I think that is partially explained in the 
first paragraph, where I point out that, under our procedure 
and precedent, we are not responsible in the Dallas Commod-
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ity Office for reviewing the financial responsibility, or for 
determining the bonding requirements of those warehouse­
men who are licensed under the United States Warehouse 
Act. 

Mr. BAss. Explain specifically, then, why you use the 
term '.'hands off" and put it in quotes. Did this "hands off" 
policy originate with someone else, was it a directive to you? 

Mr. MosELEY. No, sir. It was my choice of words, indi­
cating that the financial responsibility of U.S. licensed ware­
housemen did not come under the heading of my business 
* * *. I believe that I put it in quotes because it is not nor­
mal, formal language for an official memorandum. It is a 
somewhat slang expression. 

In response to further questioning from Congressman Bass concern­
ing the reason for his memorandum, Moseley stated that: 

The only thing wrong I saw in the operation was that I felt 
there should be more bond simply due to his rapid growth 
and the size of the operation. 

Later in his testimony, Moseley again emphasized that he wrote 
the May 11, 1960, memorandum concerning Estes: 

* * * only because I felt that the facility was growing so 
rapidly that additional bond was in order. I had in mind 
no other irregularities except the rapid growth. 

Additional details regarding Moseley's concern about rapid expan­
sion by Estes and other warehousemen are discussed later in this 
report; later sections of the report will also cover complaints received 
from other warehousemen as a result of Estes' rapid expansion. 
Forwarding of Dun & Bradstreet Reports 

Since recourse to a warehouseman's bond is necessary only in the 
event his net assets are not sufficient to handle claims resulting from 
his operations, Moseley's concern about the adequacy of Estes' bond 
logically must have included at least some element of doubt about 
Estes' financial condition. This is borne out by the fact that Moseley 
transmitted to Washington with his May 11 memorandum a number 
of Dun & Bradstreet reports concerning Estes' financial status. 

According to sworn statements given to Agriculture Department 
investigators, the Dun & Bradstreet reports were obtained at the 
request of Lee Wanner, Chief of the Storage Management Division of 
the Dallas Commodity Office, and Wanner's assistant, Albert Eads. 
Wanner explained the circumstances leading to the request for the 
Dun & Bradstreet reports as follows: 

I had never heard of Billie Sol Estes prior to 1959, but 
knew he was inexperienced in the grain business. However, 
he had hired competent grain personnel including a general 
manager, Wayne Cooper. Mr. Cooper visited our office 
several times concerning additional warehouse construction. 
In March of 1960, our uniform grain storage agreement 
covered approximately 15 million bushels of warehouse 
storage space. Mr. Eads and myself were concerned about 
this expansion. A check of Dun & Bradstreet reference 
book manual revealed no valuable information. We re­
quested Mr. Baird (Robert B. Baird of the Fiscal Division) 
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to order a formal Dun & Bradstreet report on Billie Sol 
Estes. 

Wanner gave the following description of subsequent developments: 
* * * When I received the Dun & Bradstreet report it 

actually consisted of several reports; however, I made no 
record of them and do not know the exact number or the 
dates of the reports. Mr. Eads and I discussed the reports. 
There were many chattel mortgages listed in these reports 
but we were not sure of their significance because the informa­
tion concerning Billie Sol Estes' net worth was inconclusive. 
We discussed the reports with Mr. C.H. Moseley, Director, 
Dallas ASCS Commodity Office. We discussed the fact that 
the Estes warehouses were federally licensed and normally 
we do not question financial responsibility or bond posted 
under the United States Warehouse Act. It was decided 
that the Dun & Bradstreet reports should be sent to the 
Deputy Administrator Operations, CSS, Washington, D.C. 
Mr. Moseley prepared a memorandum dated May 11, 1960, 
to Andrew J. Mair, transmitting the reports. 

An examination of USDA files disclosed that five Dun & Bradstreet 
reports were received by the Dallas office and forwarded to Washing­
ton; the reports were dated December 16, 1959, and Febr1,1ary 29, 
April 7, 21, and 28, 1960. 

The December 16, 1959, Dun & Bradstreet report contained a 
summary at the beginning of the report which read as follows: 

In recent years expansion has been very rapid and believed 
to have been financed mostly through outside support on a 
secured basis. Financial details are lacking, however, it 
is generally believed that investment is centered primarily 
in deferred assets and encumbrance heavy. Activities are 
very diversified and strong volume is being maintained. 
Financial strain is evidenced by continuous slow trade relations. 

The last sentence of the above report was heavily underscored in 
copies of the report found in USDA files. The report also contained 
a four-page listing of chattel mortgages recorded against Billie Sol 
Estes between June 1958 and May 1959; although not totalled in the 
report, the total face value of the listed obligations exceeded $7 million. 
An item on the last page of the report indicated that payments were 
past due on a $160,000 account owed by Estes. 

The four 1960 reports consisted of only one page each; however, 
three of them contained significant information. The February 29 
report indicated that Estes owed $2.5 million on a single account; 
although not identified in the report, the creditor involved no doubt 
was Commercial Solvents Corp. The April 7 report, quoting a 
newspaper item in the March 9 edition of the Pecos Independent as 
its source of information, stated that Estes was building a large grain 
storage terminal at Tulia on which construction was already underway. 
The April 28 report listed four separate chattel mortgages for $900,000 
each-a total of $3.6 million-from Billie Sol Estes to Commercial 
Solvents; all four mortgages had been recorded on April 9, 1960, and 
the report gave no description of the property covered. (The sub­
committee's investigation subsequently indicated that two of the 
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mortgages reported were 
covered was anhydrous 
disclosed by the report.) 

duplicate 
ammonia 

filings and 
tanks; however, 

that the 
this 

property 
was not 

Washington Handling of Moseley Data 
According to a sworn statement by Roland Ballou, Assistant 

Deputy Administrator for Operations of ASCS (which was called 
CSS in 1960). Moseley's May 11, 1960, memorandum was received in 
Ballou's office in Washington on May 16, 1960, and routed to Norman 
J. Gromen, Chief of the Warehouse Standards Branch, Inventory 
Management Division, CSS, for action. Gromen, in a sworn state­
ment, confirmed receipt of the memorandum and the attached copies 
of the five Dun & Bradstreet reports on the morning of May 17; in his 
statement, Gromen gave the following account of subsequent events: 

* * * I contacted Carl J. Miller, Chief, U.S. Warehouse 
Act Branch, Agricultural Marketing Service, and informed 
him that I had some financial information on an elevator 
operator who was licensed under the United States Ware­
house Act which I thought might be of some interest to him. 
It had always been my practice to inform Miller informally 
of any significant information which I received regarding 
any licensee under the United States Warehouse Act. Also, 
when Miller was considering granting a license to someone 
who had done business with ASCS he would call me to 
determine our experience with that person. All of this was 
conducted in a routine manner on an informal basis without 
the preparation of any written memorandums. 

After I had contacted Miller about the memorandum 
from Moseley, Miller came to my office and I showed him 
the information contained in the memorandum and the Dun 
& Bradstreet reports which Moseley had forwarded. I 
believe that Miller and I were the only persons in my office 
at that time. * * * 

Gromen stated that he had no record of the exact date of his meet­
ing with Miller, but that the sequence of memorandums involved 
showed it was between May 17 and May 20. Although he recalled 
discussing the Dun & Bradstreet reports with Miller and giving 
Miller a copy of Moseley's memorandum, Gromen was not certain 
whether he had also given Miller copies of the Dun & Bradstreet 
reports. Gromen summarized his own consideration of the informa­
tion in the reports as follows: 

I did not make any analysis of the Dun & Bradstreet 
reports when I received them. They had been forwarded 
by Moseley as being of possible interest to the U.S. Ware­
house Act Branch and were routed to me to be brought to 
the attention of that branch. * * * 

Carl Miller also gave a sworn statement concerning the handling 
of the May 11 memorandum. In his statement, Miller corroborated 
Gromen's account of the manner in which the May 1960 meeting in 
Gromen's office had been arranged, and gave the following description 
of what took place: 

* * * I believe that Gromen and I were the only persons 
in Gromen's office at that time. Moseley's memorandum 
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pointed out that Estes' operations were extremely complex 
and characterized by heavy indebtedness. I reviewed the 
Dun & Bradstreet reports while in Gromen's office but I 
did not make a detailed analysis of them because they did 
not seem to be as revealing or conclusive as financial in­
formation on Billie Sol Estes which was on file in the U.S. 
Warehouse Act Branch. I was made aware at that time 
that Moseley, whose office was the principal depositor in the 
Estes' warehouses which were licensed by the U.S. Warehouse 
Act Branch, was, in effect, suggesting that the amount of the 
required bond should be raised and I agreed that this should 
be done. * * * 

* * * I do not believe that Gromen furnished me with 
copies of Dun & Bradstreet reports. I did not consider that 
I needed those in connection with the decision that I had 
made in this matter. * * * 

Despite the possible significance of some of the information they 
contained, the Dun & Bradstreet reports apparently made very little 
impression on Miller; when asked at subcommittee hearings if he 
recalled seeing the April 28, 1960, re_port which listed mortgages to 
Commercial Solvents totaling $3.6 million, Miller responded: 

No, sir. I do not recall seeing that. I have seen it 
since. * * * But whether I looked at it at that time or not, 
I cannot answer the question. 

The subcommittee found no evidence to indicate that Carl Miller­
or any other USDA official who hud access to the information in May 
1960-took the trouble to compare the data contained in the December 
16, 1959, Dun & Bradstreet report with the financial statement sub­
mitted to the Department by Estes as of December 31, 1959. If they 
had done so, it would have been readily apparent that the more than 
$7 million listed by Dun & Bradstreet in recorded chattel mortgages 
alone was $3 million greater than the approximately $4 million in 
totalliabilities declared by Estes. (Estes reported less than $3 million 
in secured notes payable on his December 31, 1959, statement.) 

A mere glance at the February 29, 1960, Dun & Bradstreet report 
would have disclosed that Estes apparently owed a single creditor 
$2.5 million; this was more than 10 times the approximately $248,000 
in accounts payable listed on his December 31, 1959, statement. 
Action to Increase Bond 

Although Carl Miller took no effective action to investigate Estes' 
financial status or to increase bond coverage on existing facilities, he 
did act to provide for additional bond on new storage space. Miller 
also suggested that the Wichita office ascertain whether Estes em­
ployed an independent auditor and, if so, obtain a copy of the last 
audit report. These actions were taken by Miller rn the following 
memorandum to 0. P. Harren, head of the Wichita office, on May 
20, 1960: 

Please note the attached copy of a memorandum from the 
Dallas Commodity Stabilization Service Commodity Office. 
While we have more information regarding the financial con­
dition of this firm than Mr. Moseley has, we are inclined to 
agree that an increased bond would be a prudent require-
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ment. This would be based on the unusually rapid expan• 
sion of storage capacity, the single ownership, the involved 
financial structure, and the brief experience we have had 
with Mr. Estes. 

With respect to any additional capacity for which Mr. 
Estes may file a1plica tion for license, please require addi. 
tional bond equa to at least 10 cents per bushel. That is, 
increase the $200,000 bond accordingly. 

We should also like to ascertain whether Mr. Estes em­
ploys an independent auditor, and if so we should have a 
copy of the last audit report. If not, there is all the more 
reason for requiring an increased bond. 

In response to Miller's request, 0. P. Harren of the Wichita Office 
wrote to Wayne Cooper, general manager of United Elevators, on 
May 24, 1960; in the May 24 letter, Harren asked Cooper whether 
Billie Sol Estes employed an independent auditor and, if so, for two 
copies of the last audit report. In a reply dated May 27, 1960, 
Cooper told Harren: 

This is to advise you that Mr. Estes does not employ the 
services of an independent auditing firm, and such statement 
as requested is not available. 

Mr. Estes has in his employ Mr. A. B. Foster, Jr., who 
is general manager of Billie Sol Estes Enterprises and a 
former ngent for the Internal Revenue Service, who prepares 
financial reports for his various companies. 

Carl Miller's action in ordering increased bond for future additions 
to Estes' storage capacity was a matt.er of judgment. While Ware­
house Act Branch regulations prescribed a $200,000 maximum limit 
on bond coverage regardless of the amount of stornge capacity under 
ordinary circumstances, the regulations provided for higher bond in 
case the appropriate official of the Branch found that conditions 
existed which warranted additional bond. However, according to 
the following testimony of Dabney Townsend, Acting Chief of the 
Warehouse Act Branch, there were no written regulations as to the 
factors which should be considered in determining whether to require 
bond in excess of the normal maximum: 

Mr. NAUGHTON.* * * Do you have any guidelines 
as to what judgment factors should be used in raising a bond 
beyond the maximum at which it otherwise would be placed? 

Mr. TowNSEND. I don't think we have any written 
guidelines on that. * * * 

Townsend described the procedure followed in a number of instances 
in which the Branch determined that additional bond should be 
required, based on judgment factors, as follows: 

* * * We have advised-did advise some 2 or 3 years ago 
all field offices to require an additional 10 cents a bushel 
above the maximum $200,000 bond on unconventional 
storage space, with a maximum of $500,000. 

Although his testimony did not make it clear, Townsend later 
advised the subcommittee that additional bond was not automatically 
required for unconventional (flat) warehouse space, but that the 10-



86 OPERATIONS OF BILLIE SOL ESTES 

cents-per-bushel formula was used in the event it was required. 
Townsend also stated that $500,000 was the top limit in every case 
he knew of in which additional bond was based solely on judgmentt 
except for Billie '3ol Estes. 
Washington Reply to Dal,las 

On May 20, 1960, Carl Miller sent a memorandum to Norman 
Gromen, of the 0'3'3 Washington staff, to be used in drafting a mem­
orandum to 0. H. Moseley, Director of the Dallas Commodity Office. 
The memorandum follows: 

1. To supplement Mr. Moseley's file we attach additional 
information on Mr. Estes' financial condition. 

2. When Mr. Estes took over United Elevators Co., he 
retained the manager and operating personnel of Smith­
Bawden Grain Co., who have had considerable satisfactory 
experience. 

3. Our brief experience with United has been satisfactory. 
4. In view of the rapid expansion of United Elevators, we 

believe additional bonded protection is warranted in the 
event any additional capacity is proposed for licensing. 

5. Thank Mr. Moseley for calling attention to this rather· 
unusual case. 

Enclosures. 
In a footnote to the memorandum, Miller advised Gromen that: 

We have directed our field office to require additional 
bond at 10 cents per bushel for any additional capacity on 
and after this date. 

After receiving Miller's May 20 memorandum, Norman Gromen 
drafted a memorandum on May 24 for the signature of Roland Ballou, 
Deputy Administrator for Operations, OSS, addressed to 0. H. 
Moseley. The memorandum, which follows, was signed by Ballou 
and sent to Moseley on June 2, 19G0: 

000 BONDING REQUIREMENTS FOR WAREHOUSES LICENSED 
UNDER UNITED STATES WAREHOUSE Ac,T 

This is in reply to your memorandum of May 11, 1960, 
in which you make inquiry concerning the possibility of' 
requiring additional bond for Billie Sol Estes, doing business 
as United Elevators, who is licensed under the United States 
Warehouse Act. 

The information you have transmitted was referred to the· 
United States Warehouse Act Branch for review and con­
sideration. Personnel of that Branch have furnished us 
copies of financial statements of Billie Sol Estes as of Decem­
ber 18, 1958, June 30, 1959, and December 31, 1959. They 
have also furnished a copy of a letter report, dated February 
16, 1959, from one of their warehouse examiners concerning 
this enterprise and a copy of a certification by the Western 
Abstract & Title Co. of the property owned by Billie Sol 
Estes. These documents a.re attached for your information 
and files. 
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The United States Warehouse Act Branch has also advised 
that when Mr. Estes took over the United Elevators, he re­
tained the manager and operating personnel of Smith-Baw­
den Grain Co., who have had considerable satisfactory ex­
perience in the storage of grain. They also advised that 
their brief experience with United Elevators has been satis­
factory. 

It is our understanding that in view of the rapid expansion 
of United Elevators, the United States Warehouse Act 
Branch will give consideration to requiring additional bond 
protection in the event any additional capacity is proposed 
for licensing. 

If, after your review and consideration of the foregoing and 
the attachments, you desire any additional information, 
please ad vise. 

Copies of the three financial statements filed by Billie Sol Estes with 
the Warehouse Act Branch and the report by Donald McCoy con­
·Cerning Estes' financial status were forwarded to the Dallas Com­
modity Office with the June 2 memorandum. The subcommittee 
found no evidence that the Dallas office made any effective use of this 
information with respect to the State-licensed warehouses for which 
it had sole responsibility. 

BOND FIXED AT $700,000 

Surety Company Unwilling To Increase Bond 
Billie Sol Estes continued to expand his storage operations at a rapid 

pace after the May 1960 exchange of memorandums between CSS 
.and the Warehouse Act Branch. License amendments on September 
20, October 17, and November 1, 1960, brought the total capacity of 
United Elevators to more than 21 million bushels; by that time his 
bond had reached $578,000. (Estes had also secured approval of 
additional facilities under both State and Federal licenses in the 
names of others.) 

On November 18, 1960, 0. P. Harren, head of the Wichita Office, 
notified Carl Miller that Estes was then seeking approval of an addi­
tional 4 million bushels of space at Plainview with another million 
bushels to be completed in December. Under the 10-cent-per-bushel 
formula, the first addition would have increased Estes' required bond 
coverage to $981,000; the second would have added another $100,000. 
Harren advised Miller that the Aetna Casualty Co., the surety com­
pany carrying Estes' bond, was unwilling to raise the amount above 
$700,000 and proposed that the matter be handled bi obtaining two 
bonds, each covering only part of Estes' storage facilities. (Details 
,concerning Aetna's refusal to write more than $700,000 in bond cov­
erage are discussed later in this report.) Harren's November 18, 
1960, memorandum to Miller follows: 

Subject: Billie Sol Estes, d.b.a. United Elevators. 
We examined this warehouseman's additions at Plainview 

to be included by amendment. His bond should be increased 
to $981,000 to include this space. 

The Aetna Casualty Co. objects to carrying more than 
$700,000 and can place the excess with another surety 
,company, not as an underwritten coverage but under a 
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separate bond. This would, of course, require a new license 
at the location to be covered by the new bond, to coincide 
with the new bond effective date. 

It has been proposed to extend the present bond to 
$600,000 to cover the facilities at Plainview with a new total 
capacity of 17,033,000 bushels; South Plains, 915,000 
bushels; and Silverton, 2,673,000. 

The warehouseman would then apply for a new license now 
with the same license number, with a bond in another surety 
for $381,000 on the 5,021,000 bushel elevators at Kress, Tex. 

There is another amendment pending in December to 
include another million bushels at Plainview, which will bring 
that bond up to $700,000. 

Please wire if this is acceptable so we may prepare the 
papers for a new license at Kress. 

Waim'ng of JO-Cent-Per-Bushel Formula 
Miller replied to Harren's memorandum with the following wire on 

November 22, 1960: 
YLK18, United Elevators, when preparing our memo of 

May 20, we did not anticipate amendments which would 
increase bond to amount indicated. We pref er to retain all 
houses under one bond. Will accept current amendment 
basis $700,000 bond and further increase of million in De­
cember without increase in amount of bond. 

On November 23, 1960, Harren sent Wayne Cooper, general man­
ager of United Elevators, a new bond form in the amount of $700,000, 
to replace a previous form given Cooper calling for $981,000. 

On December 13, 1960, a license amendment was issued covering 
4,027,000 bushels of additional storage capacity at Plainview. 

On December 16, 1960, Donald McCoy, a warehouse examiner at 
the Wichita office, sent Carl Miller a memorandum indicating that 
Wayne Cooper, manager of United Elevators, intended to meet with 
Miller in the near future to discuss acceptability of warehouses pro­
posed to be built in Kansas and Nebraska. McCoy suggested Miller 
discuss bonding requirements during this meeting. The memorandum 
follows: 

At the recent examination to amend the license of United 
Elevators, Mr. Wayne Cooper stated that he planned to 
make arrangements for an interview with you in your office 
in the very near future. 

The purpose of the meeting was to discuss the licensing of 
certain proposed elevators to be built in Kansas and 
Nebraska or perhaps I should say to obtain your approval 
of certain proposed elevators. I don't know how many 
elevators are planned at this time, however, the basic design 
of each is the same. The first stage consists of two large, 
500,000-bushel steel tanks with twin legs of 5,000-bushel­
per-hour capacity each and all the other receiving and ship­
ping facilities. Each elevator is eventually destined to have 
a total of six tanks of 500,000-bushel capacity each, or a total 
capacity of 3 million bushels. 
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I think it would be well to discuss the bonding requirement.s 
of the Estes empire with Mr. Cooper. As you can see from 
the last amendment to include 1 million bushels at Plain­
view, the warehouseman has reached the limit establisiied by 
the bonding company and your limit set out in the wire dated 
November 22, 1960. 

We are holding the last amendment for the agreement to 
extend bond. 

On December 28, 1960, another license amendment was issued for 
1 million more bushels of storage space at Plainview; bond coverage 
remained at $700,000 under instructions given by Carl Miller on 
November 22. 

On January 18, 1961, the Wichita office advised Carl Miller by wire 
that still more storage space-3.5 million bushels-was ready for 
examination at Plainview, and asked for a decision on bonding require­
ments. (If the IO-cent-per-bushel formula of May 1960, which had 
been waived by Carl Miller on November 22, 1960, for space added in 
December, had been reapplied for the Janu'i.ry space, the bond re­
quired would have been $1,050,000.) The January 18 wire follows: 

Re our memo December 16 United Elevators, Plainview, 
Tex., 3-4458. Wayne Cooper in office today. Has 3}' 
million bushels of space in Plainview ready for examination. 
Will assign examiner first of next week. Need decision on 
bonding requirements. Present bond $700,000 is limit set 
by surety. Renewal bond due February 23. 

Carl Miller responded to the Wichita message with a wire, also on 
January 18, authorizing approval of the 3.5 million bushels of space 
at Plainview under the current $700,000 bond. 
Request for $1 Million Bend and Jnd,ependent Audit 

While approving addition of a further 3.5 million bushels of storage 
space without an increase in the $700,000 bond, Carl Miller also 
instructed Wichita office personnel in his January 18, 1961, wire to 
ask for $1 million bond and an independent audit before renewal of 
Estes' licenses in February. Miller's wire appears below: 

Re United Elevators proceed with Plainview amendment 
basis $700,000 bond. To continue licenses fix renewal bond 
at $1 million. Also require current financial statement 
certified by independent qualified auditor. Cooper did not 
visit us per your December 16 memo. We feel more bond 
and independent audit minimum rettSonable requirements 
in view rapid expansion and increasing potential liability 
to depositors. 

It soon became apparent that Estes would have no more success in 
obtaining a $1 million bond through Aetna in January than he had 
achieved in his previous effort to obtain $981,000 coverage. This was 
made clear in a letter from warehouse examiner Donald McCoy to 
0. P. Harren, his superior at the Wichita office, on January 25 1 1961. 
In the letter, McCoy advised Harren that agents of the bonding com­
panies had confirmed that it was impossible for Estes to obtain a $1 
million bond; however, McCoy suggested an alternative b01 ding 
proposal: 

https://Janu'i.ry


90 OPERATIONS OF BILLIE SOL ESTES 

It now develops and is confirmed by personal interview 
with agents of the bonding companies that it is impossible 
to obtain the services of a bonding company in the amount 
of $1 million; however, arrangements have been made 
whereby Aetna would execute a bond in the sum of about 
$700,000 or a little more and GIC of A in the sum of about 
$300,000. Under the circumstances the only feasible thing 
to do was to prepare two renewal bonds based on some kind 
of an analysis of the various licenses involved and this anal­
ysis follows : 

Capacity Percent 
total 

of Percent of 
$1,000,000 

3-4459 Plainview, Tex _________________________ 21,000.000 70.923-4596 Kress, Tex ______________________________ 5,021,000 16. 96} 
3-4601 Silverton, Tex"_------------------------ 2,673,000 9. 03 29. 08 
3-4597 South Plains, Tex ______________________ 915,000 3.09 

Total_____________________________________29,609,000 100. 00 

$709,200 

290,800 

As a result of the above and with the assurance of the 
bonding agents that the surety companies would execute 
the bonds, same were prepared in the amounts of $710,000 
and $300,000, of course, Mr. Miller may require a single 
bond which would terminate the licenses. 

Estes' Meeting With Carl Miller 
On the same day McCoy's letter was written-and 2 days before 

it reached the Wichita office on January 27-Billie Sol Estes met with 
Carl Miller in Washington. 

Billie Sol Estes went to Carl Miller's office for the obvious purpose 
of persuading Miller, if he could, not to insist on the proposed $300,000 
increase in bond coverage at United Elevators. However, Estes did 
not limit his conversation with Miller to business matters; in fact, the 
nature of Estes' comments to Miller are a good illustration of his 
persuasive technique. Under questioning by Chairman Fountain, 
Miller gave the following description of his discussion with Estes: 

Mr. FouNTAIN. Just what did he say?
Mr. MILLER. He took up a great deal of time, Mr. 

Fountain, telling me about his humble beginning and his 
early life and the struggle that he had had from a poor boy 
to what he was now, which was obviously a millionaire now. 

He told me about working his way north with combine 
crews during the harvest time, from Texas on up to the 
Canadian border. He told me how he had gotten into the 
cotton-growing business by buying cheap land near Pecos, 
finding that water was available for irrigation, that this 
land when irrigated would produce 2 bales of high-quality 
cotton per acre, which he sold for as much as 50 cents a 
pound and it didn't take long to pay for the land and the 
irrigation wells. * * * 

* * * ** 
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* * * He told me about his philosophy of life, how you 
win by losing, you multiply by dividing, you increase by 
diminishing--

* ** * * 
* * * He said that the idea of the word "surplus" of any­

thing was wrong, surplus grain; there was no such thing. It 
was merely a matter of working out a method of getting our 
abundance into the stomachs of hungry people around the 
world, and he was about to solve that problem by going over 
to India and doing something which I told him a good many 
people had failed to do. 

He said that the ability to raise food in this country in 
abundance was a God-given gift and if we didn't use that 
gift to the full, that gift would be taken away from us. In 
other words, we would forget how to raise the grain. 

This took quite a while and we h84 quite an interesting 
conversation. I learned, I thought, quite a bit about him but 
app~rently not enough. 

Mr. FouNTAIN. Did that make any impression on you? 
Mr. MILLER. Yes, it did. I described him forever after 

as the most unusual person I had ever met. 
While giving Carl Miller a glowing description of his business 

success and humanitarian plans, Estes did not forget to include an 
account of his churchwork. When asked by Congressman Bass if 
Estes mentioned this subject, Miller responded: 

Mr. MILLER. He mentioned his churchwork and the 
number of people, young people, whom he was helping 
through school. 

Mr. BASS. How much money he was giving to the church 
and all that? 

Mr. MILLER. That he was a lay preacher and he covered 
that subject pretty thoroughly. 

After telling Carl Miller a colorful-if somewhat inaccurate-story 
of his progress from humble beginnings to a position of wealth and 
prominence, Estes finally got around to the real purpose of his visit. 
Carl Miller described this purpose, under questioning by Congressman 
Langen, as follows: 

Mr. LANGEN. * * * I suppose that he tried to convince 
you that there was no need for expanding the bond? 

Mr. MILLER. Well, in a-in a gentle way, yes; not in a 
desk pounding way at all. * * * 

* * * * * 
* * * Ithinkitwashispurposeto so convince me;yes, sir. 

According to his testimony, Miller agreed to reconsider his decision 
to increase the bond if Estes submitted a report by an independent 
auditing firm concerning his financial condition. Miller's description 
of the agreement with Estes follows: 

* * * He did indicate that his financial standing was 
good and I told him that in order to satisfy ourselves of that, 
we would ask him to employ an auditing firm so that he could 
give us some independent verification of what he had repre-

38- 588-64~7 
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sented to us; and when he a~reed to do that, sir, we then said, 
that on the basis of a consideration of that, we will remain 
with this $700,000 bond until we see what the independent 
verification-what independent verification you can furnish. 

:\filler told the subcommittee that Estes mentioned the names of 
prominent people, whom Estes described as acquaintances, during 
their conversation; however, Miller stated that this did not influence 
his decision. Miller wns questioned concerning this point by Chair­
man Fountain: 

~fr. FouNTAIN. Di<l he ever allege his friendship with 
your departmental superiors or other influential persons in 
nn effort to persuade you to do anything? 

~fr. MILLER. No, sir; he did not. 
~fr. FouNTAIN. He never mentioned his acquaint~nce 

with prominent people? 
::\fr. MILLER. He mentioned his acquaintance with promi­

nent people, but not in such a way as to try to influence me, 
sir. * * * 

Mr. FouNTAIN. \Vere you influenced or persuaded to do 
anything which you did not think was proper by virtue of 
n.nv conversation? 

Mr. MILLER. Ko, this had no such influence on me. 
Mr. FouNTAIN. Did he ever tell you or suggest or infer 

that it was the desire of your departmental superiors or of an.v 
other influential persons outside the Department that he be 
given any special favors? 

Mr. MILLER. No , he never suggested anything of the sort.. 
In his testimony, Miller stated that he had final responsibility for 

making all decisions involving Billie Sol Estes' .financial statements 
and surety bond coverage beginning with the issuance of Estes' 
first Federal warehouse license in 1959; Miller said his decisions 
were not reviewed by his superiors, and that they never spoke to 
him on behalf of Estes. Miller also stated that he had never met 
Estes before the January 25 conference. 

Dabney Townsend, Miller's assistant, testified in response to 
questions by Congresswoman Dwyer that he knew of no outside 
intervention in connection with the bond matter: 

Mrs. DwYER. To your knowledge, Mr. Townsend, were 
there any phone calls, visits to your office, or Mr. Miller, or 
any letters written by Members of Congress or public offi­
cials on behalf of Mr. Estes getting this $700,000 bond? 

Mr. TowNsEND. Not to my knowledge. 
Mrs. DWYER. Mr. Miller never discussed this with you, 

or had correspondence? 
Mr. TowNSEND. The only knowledge I have is the visit 

of Mr. Estes to the office in January of 1961. I know of no 
outside telephone calls or visits from outside persons with 
respect to this bond. 

The subcommittee investigation, which included a thorough search 
of USDA files and questioning of many of its employees, disclosed 
no evidence that anyone other than Estes or Estes' employees con­
tacted Warehouse Act Branch personnel concerning issuance or 
renewal of warehouse licenses. 
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Correspondence With Estes' Banker 
In financial statements filed with the Warehouse Act Branch, 

Billie Sol Estes consistently identified the First National Bank of 
Pecos as the bank with which he did business. On January 27, 1961, 2 
days after meeting with Estes, Carl Miller wrote a letter to Ray 
McPherson, executive vice president of the First National Bank of 
Pecos. (Miller identified McPherson as president of the bank, 
rather than by his correct title.) In the letter, Miller quoted Estes as 
saying that a complete independent audit would entail a tremendous 
effort, particularly from the standpoint of inventory, and asked 
McPherson for any ad vice or comment he might wish to give con­
cerning Estes. Miller's letter follows: 

JANUARY 27, 1961. 
DEAR MR. ~IcPHEHSON: ~fr. Billie Sol Estes, who we 

understand is a customer of your bank, has become rather 
heavily interested in the grain storage business. At the 
present time his facilities have a storage capacity of more 
than 26 million bushels. He has told us that he intends to 
add substantially more warehouse space. 

Since Mr. Estes has chosen to operate these warehouses 
under the U.S. Warehouse Act, we have a responsibility for 
evaluating the extent of financial resources and the amount 
of surety bond which are or should be back of the operation. 
Knowledge of the integrity and ability of a licensee to honor 
his obligations is also important. 

As a licensee, Mr. Estes can become the custodian of many 
millions of dollars worth of grain belonging to depositors. 
Our interest lies in the protection of such depositors and in 
the integrity of warehouse receipts representing the products. 

We should very much appreciate any advice or comm.ant 
you may wish to give us concerning Mr. Estes. The bal­
ance sheets he has supplied are not prepared by independent 
auditors, and Mr. Estes r.oints out that a complete inde­
pendent audit would entail a tremendous effort, especially 
in the field of inventory which is widely scattered. 

Your comments, of course, will be treated in strict con­
fidence. 

Very truly yours, 
CARL J. MILLER, 

Chief, United States Warehouse Act Branch. 
On February 2, 1961, Miller received a letter from McPherson 

warmly endorsing Estes; the letter was similar to many others written 
by McPherson or other officers of the First National Bank of Pecos 
in response to inquiries about Estes' financial condition. In the 
letter, dated January 30, 1961, McPherson told Miller: 

I have your letter concerning Mr. Billie Sol Estes who has 
extensive grain storage interests. 

Mr. Estes has been doing business with us for about 6 years, 
and during this time we have extended him loans up to our 
limit and have also secured loans for him through our cor­
respondent banks for additional $400,000. We have found 
Mr. Estes to be very prompt in meeting his obligations and 
at one time we handled a considerable amount of equipment 
for him under a warehouse contract. This contract was 
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through the Lawrence warehouse system, and they sent their 
fieldman in to check his warehouses about twice every 6 
weeks. Their fieldman never did find the inventory short 
by one single i tern. 

We believe Mr. Est.es to be honest and reliable. He is of 
good morals and character. In dealing with us, he has 
always performed just as agreed, and we have found no dis­
crepancy in any statements he has ever made us. 

As well as being in the warehouse business, Mr. Estes is a 
large irrigated cotton farme:-. He also has interest in a well 
service company, a pump company, an engine company, a 
concrete premix plant, and is one of the largest distributors 
of chemical fertilizer and insecticide in this area. 

The last financial statement furnished us from Mr. Estes 
shows him with a net. worth in excess of $5 million. 

Yours very truly, 
RAY C. McPHERSON, 

Executive Vice President. 
Two-Bond Proposal 

Two days after the January 25 meeting in Washington, the Wichita 
office of the Warehouse Act Branch-which presumably did not know 
about Estes' visit to Carl Miller's office-was still proceeding with 
plans for coverage of Estes' warehouse operations with two separate 
surety bonds totaling slightly more than $1 million. The two bonds 
would provide $710,000 coverage for facilities at Plainview and 
$300,000 total coverage for facilities e.t all other locatione. Donald 
McCoy, the warehouse examiner handling details of the license re­
newals for Estes' facilities, had been assured that Estes could secure 
the two bonds necessary for this coverage. 

On January 27, 1961, Warren Williams, who was temporarily in 
charge of the Wichita office, received Donald McCoy's January 25 
letter containing the two-bond proposal. Later the same day, 
Williams forwarded a copy of the McCoy letter to Carl Miller in 
Washington; in the memorandum of transmittal, which follows, 
Williams used language indicating that he either anticipated or was 
recommending approval of the two-bond proposal by Carl Miller: 

We have just received Mr. McCoy's original report to 
amend license 3-4458 to include additional tanks having a 
total capacity of 2,957,000 bushels. He left with the ware­
houseman an agreement to extend bond currently on file 
in the amount of $700,000, as you instructed in your wire 
of Janruary 18, 1961. 

You requested the renewal bond in the amount of $1 
million. You will note in Mr. McCoy's letter of January 
25 that he prepared two renewal bonds and he gives his 
analysis of these bonds. When you have reviewed Mr. 
McCoy's letter, will you kindly indicate your approval. 

The subcommittee found no record in the files of any response to 
Williams' January 27 memorandum, which was received in Washington 
on January 30; Carl }.filler advised that the Wichita office was noti­
fied by telephone that the order to increase Estes' bond was being 
reconsidered. 

On :February 2, 1961, the Wichita office sent the following letter 
to Wayne Cooper, general manager of United Elevators: 
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This pertains to your renewal bonds prepared by Mr. 
McCoy m the amounts of $710,000 to cover the Plainview 
operations and $300,000 to cover the remaining warehouses 
in Texas operated by Mr. Estes. 

You are undoubtedly aware of the study being made of 
Mr. Estes' financial status for the purpose of determining 
whether the bonding amounts could be revised. It is also 
possible that you are deferring execution of the two bonds 
pending our decision in this matter. At any rate, we 
suggest that you defer execution of the two bonds until 
you hear from us about the bond amount. We presume 
that you will be able to execute a single bond without too 
much delay to be available before the expiration date of 
February 23. 

On February 10, 1961, in accordance with instructions from Wash­
ington, the Wichita office sent Wayne Cooper a renewal bond form 
in the amount of $700,000, to be filled out by the surety company 
and returned to Wichita; the renewal bond would become effective 
as of February 24, 1961, if the license were renewed. Cooper was 
advised that the two bonds previously prepared by McCoy and left 
with him should be canceled. (The Wichita office apparently believed 
that the two bonds had already been executed by the surety companies, 
even though not yet returned.) 
Submission of Audit Report 

On February 21, 1961, the Warehouse Act Branch office in Wash­
ington received a financial statement purporting to show Billie Sol 
Estes' financial condition as of December 31, 1960. 'rhe statement 
was accompanied by a letter dated February 14, 1961, indicating that 
it had been prepared by Winn P. Jackson, a Lubbock, Tex., certified 
public accountant. The statement, and the accompanying letter 
appear below: 

LUBBOCK, TEx., February 14, 1961. 
Mr. B1LLrn SoL ESTES, 
Pecos, Tex. 

DEAR Sm: We have examined the balance sheet, pre­
sented in condensed form, of Billie Sol Estes as of December 
31, 1960. Our examination was made in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards and accordingly in­
cluded such tests of the accounting records and such other 
auditing procedures as we considered necessary in the cir­
cumstances; except that our examination did not include the 
generally accepted auditing procedure of observing and test­
in~ the methods used in determining inventory quantities, 
prices, and amounts. 

By reason of the limitation of the scope of our examination 
as to inventories, no opinion may be expressed as to the 
fairness of presentt1tion in the accompanying balance sheet 
of the financial position of Billie Sol Estes as of December 31, 
I9nO. 

RPspectfully, 
JACKSON & Ronmms, 
V\TINN P. ,JACKSON, 

Certified Public Accountant. 
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Condensed balance sheet, Billie Sol Estes, as of Dec. 31, 1960 

ASSETS 
Current assets: 

Cash on hand and in banks____________________ $480,641.97 
Accounts and notes receivable ___ $2, 136, 721. 18 
Less allowance for bad debts_____ 17, 211. 76 

2,119,509.42 
Inventories, merchandise for re-

sale, at lower of cost or market________________ 9-12, 701. 13 

Total, current assets______________________ 3, 5-12, 852. 52 
Land and depreciable assets, at cost: 

Land_______________________________________ 2, 062, 7-18. 60 
Buildings ______________________ $4,402,760.82 
:Machinery and equipment _______ 12,261,784 94 
Furniture and fixtures___________ 32,802.60 
Oil production_________________ 200,000.00 
Minerals and royalties__________ 20, 000. 00 

Total _______________________ 1~ 91~ 34& 36 
Less accumulated depreciation___ 4, 458, 696. 41 

12, 458, 651. 95 
Other investments and assets: 

625 shares, Oil Industries Life 
Insurance Co., at cost_ ________ 21,875.00 

Verhalen Mercantile stock, atcost _______________________ _ 35,000.00 
Agriculture, Inc., stock, stated at 

% of equity in net assets, Dec. 
31, 1960____________________ _ 1,664,647.03 

Prepaid interest on notes payable_ 211, 641. 28 
Residence, Pecos, Tex., at cost_ __ 90,000.00 

2,023,163.31 

Total assets _______________________________ 20,087,416.38 

LIABILITIES AND NET WORTH 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable, trade_________ $543,782.03 
Notes payable, secured, current 

portion______________________ 1,278,411.32 
Accrued interest payable________ 61, 203. 67 

Total, current liabilities_____________________ 1,883,397.02 
Long-term debt, portion due after 1 

year: 
Notes payable, buildings and 

equipment_ __________________ $3,627,437.55 
~otes payable, real estate_______ 841,627.06 

4,469,064.61 

Total liabilities_____________________________ 6,352,461.63 
Net worth, Billie Sol Estes ________________________ 13,734,954.75 

Total liabilities and net worth ________________ 20,087,416. 38 

The December 31, 1960, financial statement showed a net worth of 
$13.7 million-$6 million more than the net worth shown on the 
financial statement previously filed by Estes as of June 30, 1960. 
However, Carl Miller told the subcommittee that the tremendous 
increase in net worth shown in the December 31 statemrnt did not 
disturb him; one reason for Miller's lack of concern may have been a 
telephone call from Estes just before the audit report was received, 
which Miller described as follows: 

He called me from Pecos. He said, "The audit is completed. 
I am putting it in the mail tonight. The reason I am calling 
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you is that it will arrive one day late, one day later than you 
expect it." 

He remarked that he owed a debt to me for requiring him 
to have this audit made because the auditors had gone 
through his books and records with a fine-tooth comb and 
they told him he was worth a great deal more than he thought 
he was worth. 

With that kind of st,atement, he could borrow money at 
lower rates of interests than otherwise. 

SpurioU8 Nature of Jackson Audit 
The subcommittee's investigation disclosed that Winn Jackson had 

made no audit whatsoever of Estes' operations, but had simply copied 
on his own stationery figures provided by Estes; for this, Estes paid 
Jackson $6,000. As a result of his conduct, Jackson's license to 
practice was suspended for 2 years by the Texas Board of Public 
Accountancy. Further details concerning Jackson's relationship 
with Estes and the manner in which the December 31, 1960, report 
was obtained appear in another part of this report. 

Carl Miller testified that he considered the Jackson audit report 
to be authentic and relied upon it; Miller said that he interpreted the 
second paragraph of Jackson's letter as limiting his certification only 
with respect to the inventory figures included in the balance sheet. 
Miller stated that he had received and accepted OP A reports for other 
warehousemen with limitations similar to that in the Jackson report, 
but had never obtained an interpretation of the meaning of such 
language. Dabney Townsend, Miller's assistant, told the sub­
committee he knew of no case in which the Warehouse Act Branch 
had ever questioned the authenticity of a OP A report before accept-
. "t 
~though, according to this testimony, Carl Miller did not doubt 
the authenticity of the Jackson CPA report, he took steps to disallow 
or obtain further information concerning some of the items it con­
tained. These actions were described in the following testimony 
by S. R. Smith, Administrator of the Agricultural Marketing Service: 

Since Mr. Jackson did not include in his audit any check on 
inventory quantities, prices, and amounts, the item on the 
financial statement labeled: "Inventories-merchandise for 
resale-at lower of cost or market-$942,701.13" was dis­
allowed in the review of the financial statement. This was 
the only item on the statement labeled "Inventories." 

The resulting net worth as shown, was well in excess of the 
requirement under the regulations. However, Mr. Carl 
Miller did not accept the financial statement on this basis 
alone. 

Information on file disclosed that insurance in excess of 
$6.5 million was carried on the grain elevator properties. 
Even discount:ff the claimed value of depreciable assets 
of some $12.4 · 1ion, to the extent these were not covered 
by insurance, an allowable net worth of nearly $7 million was 
indicated. 

This compared with the net worth of $2,250,284 required 
on the 29,609,000-bushel capacity existing at that time. In 

https://market-$942,701.13
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view of these circumstances, the new bond due February 
24, 1961, was accepted in the amount of $700,000. 

Mr. Miller took further steps to seek information relating 
to Mr. Estes' financial position. On February 23, 1961, Mr. 
Miller wrote to Mr. Estes on the subject of insurance cover­
age on depreciable property listed as buildings, machinery 
and equipment, furniture and fixtures. Mr. Estes replied by 
submitting two letters, one from the Superior Manufacturing 
Co., of Amarillo, Tex., and one from the Lubbock Machine & 
Supply Co., Inc., of Lubbock, Tex., and stating that an­
hydrous ammonia tanks were not customarily insured and 
that the finance companies who had made loans on this type 
of asset did not require then that they be insured. 

Mr. Estes also supplied a letter from the Superior Manu­
facturing Co., of Amarillo, certifying that Estes had pur­
chased from Superior, anhydrous ammonia tanks valued in 
excess of $9 million and had paid for them in full. 

As of February 24, 1961, Billie Sol Estes' warehouse licenses were 
renewed. 

On March 2, 1961, Carl Miller sent the following memorandum to 
C. H. Moseley, director of the Dallas Commodity Office; with the 
memorandum, Miller sent a copy of the Jackson CPA report: 

At our request Mr. Estes has supplied a balance sheet as of 
December 31, 1960, prepared by Jackson & Rodgers, certified 
public accountants, of Lubbock, Tex. 

With respect to the comments on merchandise inventory, 
Mr. Estes has informed us that an actual audit of this item 
would require observation of more than 4,000 anhydrous 
ammonia tanks scattered over a wide area. 

On the basis of the statement, we have accepted a $700,000 
bond, even though storage capacities have been increased. 
Further substantial increases are planned according to Mr. 
Estes. 

The attached audit report certifies to net worth con­
siderably in excess of statements formerly filed by Mr. Estes. 

Since CSS seems to be the principal depositor in United 
Elevators, we think you will be interested in this information. 

In April, May, June, and August, 1961, five more license amend­
ments totaling 5.5 million bushels of space were approved for United 
Elevators, bringing its total capacity to 35.1 million bushels. A 
further financial statement submitted during this period showed Estes' 
net worth as of June 30, 1961, as $15.4 million; this was several times 
the $2.7 million in net worth required under the Warehouse Act Branch 
formula, calculated on the basis of 4 percent of the value of 35 million 
bushels of wheat. The amount of bond required was kept at the 
$700,000 figure set by Carl Miller for renewal of Estes' licenses in 
February 1961. 

In early September 1961, a special examination of the quality and 
quantity of grain in storage at Estes' Plainview facilities was made; 
the reasons for and results of this examination are discussed later in 
thi~ report. 
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SECOND WARNING JlROM DALLAS COMMODITY OFFICE 

Estes' Financial Responsibility Questioned 
On September 13, 1961, C. H. Moseley, director of the Dallas 

Commodity Office, sent Frank Hussey, Deputy Administrator of the 
Agricultural Stabilization and Conservation Service in Washington, 
an administratively confidential memorandum entitled "Financial 
Responsibility of Billie Sol Estes." The memorandum read as 
follows: 

Please forward the attached material to lVIr. Carl J. Miller, 
Chief, U.S. Warehouse Act Branch, Special Services Division, 
A~IS, for his consideration, since it is not within our jmis­
diction. 

In their conversations with me, the complainants alleged 
that the chattel mortgages totaling $7,745,156 were not fully 
reflected on the financial statements. Of course we have 
made no comment. 

For your information, we can certainly substantiate the 
statement that "the trade in general has been disturbed for 
some time about the activities of this warehouseman." 

It is also true that rumors are widespread. Some of the 
rumors are ridiculous, while others are vicious and alarming. 

Attached is a package of Dun & Bradstreet reports. 
Attached to the Moseley memorandum was a copy of the following 

letter to Moseley from Frank M. Phariss, assistant general manager, 
Producers Grain Corp., Amarillo, Tex.; the Phariss letter was dated 
September 8, 1961: 

11r. Triplett and I discussed with you the other day our 
concern about the progress of one of our new warehousemen. 
The trade in ~eneral has been disturbed for some time 
about the activities of this warehouseman, not so much con­
cerned from a competitive standpoint as it is about the 
manner in which he has expanded his operations. The 
Department and the present administration is getting a lot 
of criticism because of some of the rumors which have been 
spread and that actually originated from this warehouseman. 

We sincerely believe that for the protection of the Depart­
ment all of the activities of this warehouseman should be 
thoroughly investigated; then, if everything is in order, the 
Department at least can have its name in the clear. I am 
enclosing some data which you may or may not wish to use. 

I want to personally thank you for meeting with the trade 
the other day, because I feel that you did help to clear up 
some matters that were in doubt in the minds of those 
present. 

Very truly yours, 
FRANK M. PHARISS. 

The enclosed "data" ref erred to by Phariss consisted of copies of 11 
Dun & Bradstreet reports concerning Billie Sol Estes; the reports 
were dated August 20, 1959; February 29, April 7, 21, and 28, May 13 
and 26, October 26, November 29, and December 13, 1960; and 
April 6, 1961. The October 26, 1960, report contained two pages 
listing chattel mortgages involving Estes filed in Reeves County 
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from January 1, 1959, to October 1960; an adding machine tape 
attached to this report listed the amounts of the chattel mortgages 
on the two pages and gave a total of $7,745,156. The August 20, 
1959, report also contained a listing of chattel mortgages and an 
adding machine tape totaling them at $4,716,276. 
Events Responsible for Moseley Memorandum 

In a sworn statement, C. H. Moseley gave the following account 
of the events responsible for his September 13 memorandum: 

On August 30, 1961, I attended a meeting of members of 
the grain trade at Amarillo, Tex. Prior to the meeting I 
met, at their request, with J. Frank Triplett and Frank M. 
Phariss of Producers Grain Corp. They stated that Estes 
was having trouble with CCC-owned grain in his ware­
houses, that the grain had been seriously damaged and that 
they felt the Estes warehouses should be examined. Phariss 
showed me some Dun & Bradstreet reports which he said 
indicated that chattel mortgages totaling over $7 million 
were not fully shown on Estes' financial statement. I re­
quested that Phariss furnish me the Dun & Bradstreet 
reports, and he stated that he would consider it. 
* * * * * ** 

About September 10, 1961, I received a letter dated Sep­
tember 8, 1961, from Phariss, to which he had attached 
several Dun & Bradstreet reports pertaining to Billie Sol 
Estes. I recall that some of these were photographic copies. 
I did not make any analysis of these reports but transmit­
ted them with Phariss' letter to Frank W. Hussey, Deputy 
Administrator, Commodity Operations, ASCS, by memo­
randum dated September 13, 1961. * * * 

Frank Phariss, in a sworn statement, said that he had been dis­
cussing the financial status of Billie Sol Estes with Tom Jones for 
some time prior to the meeting with Estes. (Jones was manager of 
Southern Farm Supply Association, an Amarillo firm, which had dis­
tributed anhydrous ammonia for Commercial Solvents in the Plains 
area prior to Estes' entry into that market.) According to Phariss, 
Jones had run adding machine tapes on chattel mortgages listed for 
Estes on Dun & Bradstreet reports which revealed that the mort­
gages were apparently not fully reflected in the financial statement 
information included in the same reports. 

Phariss gave the following descript10n of his meeting with Moseley: 
About the latter part of Au~ust 1961, C. H. Moseley, 

Director, Dallas ASCS Commodity Office, U.S. Department 
of Agriculture, Dallas, Tex., was in Amarillo, Tex., to discuss 
certain matters with members of the grain trade. Prior to 
that meeting, J. Frank Triplett, vice president and general 
manager, Producers Grain Corp., and I met with Moseley in 
my office at my request. I showed some of the Dun & Brad­
street reports to Moseley and explained to him that the 
chattel mortgages apparently were not fully reflected in 
the financial statements. I raised the question with Moseley 
of whether the Government should be getting involved 
with an individual who was not financially responsible. 
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I expected Moseley to look into this matter since I, at that 
time, thought that Moseley was responsible for handling the 
bonding requirements for grain elevators that were licensed 
by the Federal Government. Moseley ndvised me that he 
did not handle the bonding but thnt if I would send the 
information which I had to his office he would forwnrd it 
to the responsible office in Washington, D.C. * * *. 

Tom C. Jones, who is a certified public accountant as well as being 
general manager of Southern Farm Supply Association, gave the fol­
lowing statement concerning the circumstances leading to his dis­
cussions with Phariss: 

Southern Farm Supply Association's first concern over 
the financial condition of Billie Sol Estes was in 1957. At 
that time one of Estes' firms purchased fertilizer from the 
Southern Farm Association plant at Sulphur Springs, Tex. 
Estes asked for a line of credit of $250,000 for the purchase 
of fertilizer. I requested information on Estes from certain 
banks and customary credit sources and was not satisfied 
with the information which I received. I then requested a 
report from Dun & Bradstreet as we do in all instances 
where a person or firm unknown to us requests the exten­
sion of credit. At first Dun & Bradstreet was unable to 
furnish information on Estes but later rendered reports in 
accordance with routine requests under our contract. 

Frank M. Phariss, executive vice president and assistant 
general manager, Producers Grain Corp., Amarillo, Tex., 
and I frequently confer on mutual problems. Phariss be­
came concerned with Estes' operations when Estes' grain 
elevator at Plainview, Tex., began offering free storage on 
grain. Phariss also wondered how Estes was able to obtain 
a license to operate a grain elevator from the U.S. Govern­
ment so rapidly. Phariss asked me if I had any financial 
data on Estes. I then discussed the Dun & Bradstreet 
information with Phariss and pointed out to Phariss that the 
chattel mortgages on certain reports were apparently not 
fully shown in the financial statements included in these 
reports. 

lVashington Handling of Information From Dallas 
According to a sworn statement by Roland Ballou, Assistant 

Deputy Administrator of ASCS, the September 13, 1961, Moseley 
memorandum and the attached copies of Dun & Bradstreet reports 
were received in Ballou's Washington office on September 20; Ballou 
then forwarded the material to Carl Miller's office without analyzing 
or making copies of it. 

On September 21, 1961, Miller addressed a memorandum to C.H. 
J\foseley on the subject of "Financial Responsibility of Billie Sol 
Estes" in which Miller reported: 

!\fr. Ballou has handed me your memorandum of Septem­
ber 13 on the above subject. We shall look into the facts 
and let you know our findings in due course. 
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Recently personnel from your office and from our Wichita 
office joined in a thorough examination of Mr. Estes' opera­
tions at Plainview, Tex. I am sure you have been made 
acquainted with the results of that examination. 

Carl Miller, in a sworn statement, described his actions fifter 
receiving the material from Moseley as follows: 

* * * I did not make any analysis of the Dun & Brad­
street reports although I do rcmem ber that one report had 
an adding machine tape attached to it with a total figure of 
$7,745,156 and thu,t Moseley stated in his memorandum 
that the complainants had alleged that chattel mortgages 
totaling $7,745,156 were not fully shown in Estes' financinl 
statement. 

I took the Dun & Bradstreet reports and financial state­
men ts on Estes which were on file in the U.S. Warehouse 
Act Branch to the office of Charles G. Cleveland, chief inves­
tigator, Internal Audit Division, Agricultural Marketing 
Service. Mr. Cleveland and I discussed Estes' financial con­
dition and agreed that a preliminary investigation should be 
conducted. It was my understanding that the Internal Audit 
Division would request a current Dun & Bradstreet report 
on Estes and would then attempt to reconcile the information 
in that report with the working papers of Winn P. Jackson 
certified public accountant, who had prepared a financiai 
statement on Estes as of December 31, 1960, which was on 
file in my office and which showed a net worth for Estes of 
$13,734,954.75. 

Audit Division Investigation Requested 
On September 22, 1961, Carl Miller sent the following memo­

randum to Donald Russell, Director of the Internal Audit Division of 
the Agricultural Marketing Service: 

8ubject: Billie Sol Estes doing business as United Elevators. 
On September 21 we discussed with Mr. Cleveland certain 

information from the Dallas office of ASCS and allegations 
from other sources that the financial condition of Mr. Estes 
might bear investigation. 

We left our file of information with Mr. Cleveland for 
copying and discussed a plan of investigation which very 
briefly includes obtaining a current Dun & Bradstreet report. 
It was then proposed that Mr. Estes should be approached 
to obtain his permission to interview the certified public 
auditors who prepared his balance sheet early in 1961. 

If we can be of further assistance, please let us know. 
Mr. Estes doing business as United Elevators is licensed 

under the Warehouse Act at Plainview, Tex., and certain 
other points. 

On September 28, 1961, Russell's office sent the following memo­
randum concerning Billie Sol Estes to the Director, Special Services 
Division, AMS (George Dice, Director of this Division, was Miller's 
immediate superior): 

As discussed by Mr. Cleveland and Mr. Miller, a current 
Dun & Bradstreet report on the above individual has been 

https://13,734,954.75
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requested. As soon as the report is received we will conduct 
such further inquiry as appears to be warranted. 

Dabney Townsend, Carl Miller's assistant, testified at subcommittee 
hearings that the Warehouse Act Branch normally asked for Internal 
Audit Division investigations less than 10 times a year; Townsend 
said that, to his knowledge, the Estes case was the only one in which 
an inquiry had been made into matters covered by a report from a 
certified public accountant. 

More than 6 months elapsed between the day that Carl Miller 
requested the AMS Audit Division to look into Estes' financial status 
and Estes' arrest in lat·e March 1962; however, the Warehouse Act 
Branch never received a report on the results of the Audit Division 
investigation. Furthermore, except for an unproductive inquiry in 
March 1962, which was prompted by the events leadiug to Estes' 
arrest, the Warehouse Act Branch never made any effort to ascertain 
the status of the Audit Division investigation. (The Audit Division 
investigation is discussed in another part of this report.) 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS INVOLVING WAREHOUSE ACT BRANCH 

Letter From McCoy 
On October 3, 1961, Donald McCoy sent the following letter to 

0. P. Harren, head of the Wichita office, warning about potential 
difficulties presented by Estes' continued expansion: 

There are two points which I would like to bring up 
concerning an operation in Plainview, Tex., known as the 
United Elevators. 

First, it is now known that this organization is expanding 
at an increasing rate. The last estimate called for 200 
million bushels of storage space at this one location. It 
would seem that this is entirely too great a risk to have at 
one place, especially when we consider the type of construc­
tion. 

The conveyor system, for example, is a maze of screw 
conveyors connecting one tank to another, and so forth. 
At this writing there are about 3 miles of screw conveyors 
in action. A strong wind or tornado would render havoc 
with this sort of arrangement and would undoubtedly result 
in the largest grain salvage operation in history. 

Second, the present facilities present a tremendous 
problem in getting at a clean cutoff at all locations. Added 
tanks and buildings will only add to the problem. It would 
seem advisable to review this entire operation before the 
operation gets any larger. 

McCoy's letter was soon called to the attention of Carl Miller; 
Miller told the subcommittee what he did about it in the following 
testimony: 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Are you familiar with any action that 
may have been taken as a result of that communication 
from McCoy? 

Mr. MILLER. Well, it didn't reach 200 million in the first 
place--far from it. And as to a strong wind, a strong enough 
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wind destroying almost everything, everything m that 
property was insured against strong winds. 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Did you see this letter'? 
l\Ir. MILLER. Yes, I saw that letter. 
Mr. NAUGHTON. When did it first reach your attention? 
Mr. MILLER. I suppose shortly after it was written. 
Mr. NAUGHTON. What action did you take at that time? 
Mr. MILLER. Just to read the letter is about all, because 

this is a speculation. This is thinking out loud about some­
thing that may happen if we reached way up into the strato­
sphere. And it didn't appear likely that anything like that 
was going to happen, Mr. Naughton. 

Call to :Miller 
Despite McCoy's letter and the unresolved question concerning 

Estes' financial status, the Warehouse Act Branch continued doing 
business with him as usual. License amendments covering nearly 7 
million bushels of additional space for United Elevators were issued 
in October and November 1961; more than 8.8 million bushels more 
space was approved in February 1962. 

In January 1962, Carl Miller received a telephone call from Billie 
Sol Estes; Miller described the call as follows: 

Mr. Estes called me from somewhere in town-I don't 
know where-and asked me to have dinner with him the 
next night. I told him that I could not because I was leaving 
town the next morning to go to Texas. I was going to 
College Station for a meeting called the workshop meeting 
put on by Texas A. & M. Mr. Moseley was present and 
gave a talk. 

I was on the program. Several others were on the pro­
gram. It was a 2-day meeting. There were, as I recall, Mr. 
Moseley, no Estes representatives at that meeting because 
it was out of their area of operation. This was in south 
Texas. 

But in this telephone call I commented over the phone to 
Mr. Estes that it appeared that production of grain sorghum 
would decline and that this could empty elevator bins in 
Texas and that obviously in this process perhaps some of the 
operators were going to be injured financially, and that we 
were concerned because when there is a reduction, a rapid 
reduction of that kind, some people fail and some people 
might be tempted to help themselves to a little bit of grain 
that belongs to other people. 

We didn't want that to happen. We wished we knew the 
names of the operators who couldn't weather the storm. 

He indicated to me-he told me-that as far as he was 
concerned, he would not help himself to anybody else's grain. 
He said, "Before I would do that, I would bring you the 
keys to all my plants and tell you to go lock them up and 
keep me out.'' 

Failure To Reque8t Financial Statement 
In February 1962, Estes' renewal bond was accepted even though 

the Warehouse Act Branch did not have the semiannual financial 
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statement customarily required in connection with renewal action. 
S. R. Smith, Administrator of the Agricultural Marketing Service, 
gave the subcommittee the following explanation of this occurrence: 

In connection with the renewal bond furnished by Mr. 
Estes which was accepted February 24, 1962, I want to point 
out that this was done without receiving a year-end financial 
statement. However, a financial statement as of June 30, 
1961, reflecting a net worth of $15,394,110.10, was on file. 

I would like to give the committee the background on this. 
Lists of expiring bonds are prepared by the Washington office 
and forwarded to the field offices approximately a month 
prior to the first of the month in which the new bonds be­
come due. 

This leadtime is r1ecessary to permit the field offices to 
prepare and forward the bond forms to the warehouseman, 
and for the warehouseman and surety to execute the bond 
and file it in time for acceptance by the U.S. Warehouse Act 
Branch in Washington, prior to the anniversary date of the 
license. 

A list of warehousemen whose bonds were due in the month 
of February 1962, which included Estes, was transmitted to 
our Wichita field office on December 28, 1961. 

The requirement for furnishing semiannual financial state­
ments is a matter of policy and not of regulations. Further, 
there is a normal timelag of 6 to 8 weeks before financial 
statements are received. 

The field offices of the Branch make the calls for financial 
statements and follow up when the statements are not re­
ceived within a reasonable time. In this case, when the re­
quest for financial statements went out in January 1962, the 
Wichita field office inadvertently failed to send a request to 
Mr. Estes. This was not known in the Washington office 
at the time the Estes bond was approved and accepted on 
February 16, 1962. 

The only explanation for this omission we have been able 
to establish is the inexperience of the new clerical field office 
force, whose task it was to send out the notices. 

Gaye M. Jewell, a clerk-stenographer in the 'Wichita office of the 
vVarehouse Act Branch, gave the following explanation of the cir­
cumstances which resulted in the failure to request a financial state­
ment from Estes: 

A financial statement is requested from each warehouseman 
at intervals of 6 months. vVhen the license is issued a finan­
cial statement card is set up on which the license number, the 
name of the elevator, and the location of the elevator is 
shown. The name of the manager of the elevator is written 
in pencil to allow for changes in managers. In the upper 
left-hand corner appears in red the two dates on which the 
statement for that warehouseman is called for. Four col­
umns appear on the card. They are headed: "As of (elate)," 
"Net worth," "Requested," and "Received." 

At the end of each month, it is my duty to check these cards 
one by one and separate the cards with that month's date in 
red in the upper left-hand corner. I do this by removing 

https://15,394,110.10
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the file drawer containing the cards, taking it to my <lesk, and 
looking through the cards separating the cards dated for that 
month. Wnen this has been done, I send out three financial 
statement forms ,vA-51 and a letter requesting a statement 
for each warehouseman whose card was separated. I show 
that this has been done by writing the date this request was 
sent out in the "Requested" column of the card. The original 
and one copy is returned to this office and the warehouseman 
retains the third copy for his files. Wnen the statements are 
received in this office, I check them for completeness and 
accuracy. If there are no errors, I record the cutoff date, the 
net worth, and the date the statement is received on the finan­
cial statement card for the respective warehousemen. 

The financial statement for Billie Sol Estes, doing business 
as United Elevators is called for on .June 30 and December 
31. These dates appear in the upper left-hand corner of the 
financial statement card. When checking the cards for the 
December 31 can dates, the card for this organization, 
through inadvertency, clung to another card or was somehow 
overlooked and was not separated with the December 31 cards. 
Therefore the request for this statement was not sent out. 

ESTES' PROBLEMS WJTH BONDING COMPANIES 

The Warehouse Act Branch office in Washington was notified in 
late 1960 and again in early 1961 by the Wichita office that Billie 
Sol Estes was unable to obtain a single bond in excess of $700,000. 
In addition, Estes' initial license application was delayed for a con­
siderable period of time because of failure to furnish the $200,000 
bond required-a circumstance that might logically have resulted in 
some suspicion of his ability to obtain the bond. S. R. Smith, Ad­
ministrator of the Agricultural Marketing Service, told the subcom­
mittee that 

Setting a limit of underwriting participation is a matter of 
policy and administrative decision of each surety in each 
case. 

Therefore, Smith said, program administrators "saw no occasion to 
pursue the reasons" which caused the surety company to impose a 
$700,000 limit. However, the subcommittee, through documents ob­
tained under subpena, did explore the reasons why two separate surety 
companies either refused or limited bond coverage to Estes. 
Difficulty in Obtaining Initial Bond 

The Standard Accident Insurance Co. of Detroit was bonding the 
Smith-Bawden Grain Co. when Estes acquired that company's 
Plainview facilities in 1958. Estes attempted to obtain the $200,000 
bond required at that time from Standard; the effort was made through 
the Harder Agency at Plainview, which dealt with Standard's branch 
office in Dallas. On December 29, 1958, Standard's home office in 
Detroit informed the company's Dallas office that it was unwilling to 
authorize a bond for Billie Sol Estes on the basis of the information 
submitted. In a letter to the Dallas office on December 30, 1958, the 
home office explained its reasons as follows: 

In order to enable us to authorize a bond of this size for 
Mr. Estes we will m~ed the following information: 
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(1) A CPA statement accurately detailing Mr. Estes' 
financial situation. The statement submitted was unsatis­
factory in this regard. 

(2) We will need to know something of the background of 
Mr. Estes, including a retail credit report and the agents 
recommendation. We would like to know his reputation in 
the community. 

(a) In this regard we would like to point out that the 
D. & B. report states, as you are aware, that Mr. Estes 
owes approximately $1 million secured by chattel 
mortgages and that his assets are heavily encumbered. 
It is also stated that on at least one occasion credit has 
been refused him and on another he was slow in paying. 

Since, however, this was a supplemental rather than an 
original report, perhaps the original can explain this more 
fully. At any rate we would be unwilling to authorize this 
bond without this additional information. 

The CPA statement requested by the home office was never fur­
nished. However, on January 30, 1959, the Dallas office advised the 
home office that Estes had requested reconsideration of his application 
for bond, based on the individual indemnity of H. M. Reeves, a 
Pecos concrete contractor. With the January 30 letter, the Dallas 
office included a CPA statement for Reeves showing a very sub­
stantial net worth. The Dallas office also told the Detroit office that: 

We expect our agent to be calling us every day next week 
for an answer as to whether or not we could provide the bond 
with the additional indemnity as stated above. 

In a February 4, 1959, file memorandum, E. Clyde Wilber of the 
home office made the following comments concerning a telephone 
conversation with George Powledge of the Dallas office about the 
proposed bond for Estes: 

* * * George advised that he now has a retail credit report 
on Billie Sol Estes in his possession, which indicates his net 
worth in excess of $9 million. The report is otherwise favor­
able except that it indicates that he is sometimes late in mak­
ing some of his trade payments. It further indicates that 
several civil suits have been filed against him but each has 
either been won by him or dropped. The report goes on to 
indicate that he is a partner in 15 other businesses and is 
considered honest. * * * 

I asked George what his frank opinion of the risk was and 
he recommended that we write the bond since we are getting 
the indemnity of Reeves and on the understanding that the 
old Smith-Bawden people are going to continue managing 
the warehouse operation. In this regard, George has told 
the agent that if and when the Smith-Bawden men drop out 
of the picture, we will want to retire from the risk. * * * 

I advised George that I still was not sold on the risk and 
certainly on the basis of Billie Sol Estes' standing and repu­
tation, we would prefer to decline the risk. George agreed 
but felt that the indemnity of Reeves makes the risk write­
able and I reluctantly went along with him on this basis. 

38-588--64-8 
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Although it finally agreed to write Estes' bond, Standard retained 
only 25 percent of the risk for its own account, placing the remainder 
with other companies. 

H. ::\1.Reeves gave the subcommittee the following account of his 
agreement to assist Estes in obtaining bond: 

On December 18, 1958, I signed a bonding company's en­
dorsement agreement on a warehouseman's bond which they 
were making for Mr. Estes. * * * I received no considera­
tion of any character for executing the indemnification 
ngreement to Standard Accident Insurance Co., and I was 
motivated in executing the agreement purely by a desire to 
assist Mr. Estes, whom I had known favorably for several 
years. 

Standard Refusal To Renew Bond Without OP A Report 
In a September 25, 1959, letter to the Harder Agency, its agent in 

Plnin view, Standard requested a CPA report on Estes for use in 
determining whether to renew his bond. The letter stated: 

.As you know, the anniversnry date of the Federal ware­
housing bond on the above elevators comes up in December. 
\Ve feel tlrn.t before the anniversary date, we should be 
furnished with a CPA statement of Mr. Estes. We realize 
thnt the man has a great deal of equities but in acquiring 
these equities, he has had to nssume tremendous financial 
responsibilities so we are in need of a detailed CPA state­
ment that will show the entire picture including the details of 
the payout on these equities and how the income for taking 
cn,re of these equities has been arranged so they can be paid 
as the obligations are due. * * * 

A copy of the September 25, 1959, letter to the Harder Agency, 
together with a copy of the August 20, 1959, Dun & Bradstreet report 
on Billie Sol Estes, was sent by Standard's Dnllas office to the home 
office in Detroit. In a memorandum to Dallas on September 29, 
acknowledging receipt of this information, the home office commented: 

We are certainly in agreement with your comments after 
rending the latest Dun & Bradstreet report. 

We frankly feel that Billie Sol Estes is getting in "over his 
head." 

Much will depend on what information you are able to 
develop * * * but the way things stack up at present, our 
inclination is toward retiring from the risk at renewal date. 

On November 13, 1959, George Powledge, mn,nager of Standard's 
Dallas office, advised the home office that it was unlikely the Estes 
bond would be renewed by Standard, and made the following com­
ments on the situation: 

* * * One reason why If elt inclined to handle this bond in 
the first place was due to the fact that Billie Sol Estes was 
maintaining in his organization some very capable men that 
had run this type of operation for the former owner of these 
warehouses. These people are still with Mr. Estes and are 
still running this operation for Estes. 
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The agency understands that we will not be asked to 
continue this bond beyond its anni,Tersary date in December, 
as they have been told that the Aetna has indicated they 
would write this bond without any indemnity and without 
having a CPA statement from Estes, as I requested in my 
letter of September 25 to the agency, copy of which was fur­
nished you. I am sure that Billie Sol Estes has some real 
financial worth and possibly has equities worth several 
million dollars. His worth is only equities in various business, 
and what disturbs me is whether or not he can make over 
and above taxes sufficient money to liquidate his indebted­
ness and clear his equities. This is the reason why I think 
the only way anyone could appraise his true worth is to have 
a very complete and accurate OP A statement, including 
profit and loss figures. 

It appears this gentleman has tried to pattern his opera­
tions after the operations in the book called "Cash McCall." 
He seems to be willing to buy anything as long as he can 
buy it on a long-term payout. It is interesting to observe 
that, from January 1, 1955, to the latter part of December 
1958, he claims to have increased his net worth by over 
400 percent as he gave a statement as of January 1955 
showing a net worth of $1,590,989.70 with liabi]ities at that 
time of $781,232.12. In December 1958, he claims worth of 
$6,456,941.42 and increased his liabilities to $4,221,358.45. 
At the same time, he increased his cash from $46,250 to 
December 18 of $337,638.07. His largest increase in worth 
has been from the investment in Agriculture, Inc., and 
equipment for handling commercial fertilizer. The man may 
may be a genius, but it just does not make sense to me that he 
can make sufficient money to liquidate his indebtedness 
after taxes and pay off the tremendous indebtedness that 
he has. The only way I think anyone could actually 
appraise his worth is a CPA statement. 

I have already made up my mind that if we cannot secure 
a OP A statement, we would not be interested in the renewal. 
I understand from the agency that they have informed Mr. 
Estes of the contents of my letter of September 25 about 
wanting the new statement, and that is possibly causing 
him to seek the bond elsewhere. * * * 

Estes Obtains Bond From Aetna 
In late 1959, presumably because of Standard Accident's insistence 

on a CPA statement as a prerequisite for renewing his existing bond, 
Billie Sol Estes began attempting to obtain a new bond from the 
Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. Estes' negotiations were conducted 
through a Fort Worth agency, the M. 0. Andrews Co., and Aetna's 
branch office in Dallas. 

On October 2, 1959, Aetna's Dallas office sent the company's home 
office in Hartford, Conn., copies of a December 18, 1958, financial 
statement for Billie Sol Estes (containing the same net worth data 
as the statement of that date previously submitted to the Department 
of Agriculture) and the August 20, 1959, Dun & Bradstreet report 
on Estes; in a memorandum accompanying this data, the Dallas office 
asked authorization to execute a $200,000 bond for Estes. 
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On October 9, 1959, Aetna's Hartford office advised Dallas that 
the proposed bond for Estes was being declined. The Hartford office 
indicated dissatisfaction with information in the Dun & Bradstreet 
report and a feeling that warehousing was "simply another sideline" 
for Estes; it also commented that Estes' financial statement was 
"impossible to evaluate." 

W. N. Pitts, manager of the bond department in Aetna's Dallas 
office, told the Hartford office in an October 15, 1959, memorandum 
concerning Estes: 

Don't throw away your file. Agent getting statement 
breakdown and other data for submission. 

On November 9, 1959, the M. 0. Andrews Co. submitted to Aetna's 
Dallas office a considerable amount of additional financial data con­
cerning Estes, including a 15-page listing of accounts receivable total­
ing $832,677 and appraisers' reports on some of Estes properties; also 
included was a copy of the June 30, 1959, financial statement pre­
viously submitted to the Department of Agriculture, which showed 
a net worth of $6.6 million. In a letter accompanying this material, 
the Andrews Co. noted that: 

The bond will cover only the grain operations of Mr. Estes. 
The grain operations are under the direction of Mr. Wayne 
Cooper of Plainview, Tex. This grain warehouse and facility 
is the same as the old Smith-Bawden Grain Co., of Plain­
view, and Mr. Cooper was associated as president of this 
company for many years. This company under Mr. 
Cooper's direction has a long history of profitable operations. 
Mr. Cooper and the present management are well known 
locally and have an excellent reputation in the grain trade 
and with the U.S. Department of Agriculture. 

On the basis of the additional information submitted, the Hartford 
office authorized execution of a $200,000 bond for Estes; the authorized 
bond was subsequently issued to cover a I-year period beginning with 
the renewal of Estes' licenses on February 24, 1960. 
Aetna Correspondence With Standard 

On April 20, 1960, W. N. Pitts, of Aetna's Dallas office, sent a 
memorandum to the home office in Hartford concerning a telephone 
conversation with representatives of Standard Accident about Billie 
Sol Estes; referring to Standard, Mr. Pitts stated: 

* * * It appears that they were on the grain warehouse 
bond and the information they got they didn't like and 
decided to get off of it. They thought there were a number 
of hot checks in the area out there by Estes and also there 
might be a possibility of income tax evasion. This possibility 
stems from the same information we originally had that the 
local agents originally handling the account there are doing 
considerable to discredit Estes. 

The April 20 memorandum from Dallas suggested that the Hartford 
office contact the home office of Standard to "find out why they got 
off the business"; the memorandum also reported on a call by Pitts to 
the M. 0. Andrews agency: 

* * * on receipt of this information I called Mr. Claude 
Dickerson of our agency in Fort Worth and he told me that 
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there had just been an examination by the U.S. Department 
of Agriculture and that every grain of the commodity was 
there and accounted for, that Mr. Cooper is keeping his 
fingers on this at all times and that they have been paid 
some $30,000 or more in premium and that the man has 
paid off like clockwork. The Standard apparently had 
other indemnity on the bond they had. Dickerson tells me 
that their checkups are very good. 

On April 27, 1960, Aetna's Hartford office wrote Standard's home 
office in Detroit to request information concerning Estes; in the letter, 
the Hartford office indicated that they had assumed until recently 
that the Aetna bond was the first one written for Estes' grain storage 
operations. E. Clyde Wilber, of Standard, replied to Aetna's request 
for information in a letter dated May 6, 1960, which stated: 

For your confidential information, we are pleased to advise 
that we retired from this risk for the following reasons: 

1. Mercantile reports indicated worth centered in de­
ferred heavily encumbered assets and financial strain 
evidenced by continuous slow trade payments. 

2. While Mr. Estes is reputedly worth several million 
dollars, we were informed that this worth was repre­
sented largely by equities in various businesses and we 
were disturbed as to whether or not he could make, over 
and above taxes, sufficient money to liquidate his in­
debtedness and clear his equities. In other words, we 
felt that he might be getting in over his head. 

3. We further felt that the only way we could appraise 
this situation and his true worth was by way of an up­
to-date certified public accountant's balance sheet and 
profit-and-loss statement. This we were unable to 
secure. 

I believe one could say that we had little tangible evidence 
derogatory to the risk and it was more a case of not being 
able to get complete information which would satisfy us that 
the risk was not abnormal. 

A copy of the letter from Standard was sent by L. L. Tarbell of 
Aetna's Hartford office to the Dallas office on May 11, 1960, with a 
memorandum in which Tarbell commented: 

We cannot disagree with Mr. Wilber's comments on the 
financial statement of Mr. Estes. As I told you when this 
business was first put up to us, it was practically impossible 
to analyze the statement. However, it appears that the 
Standard developed no tangible derogatory information and 
I see no reason why we should not continue on this bond. 

Of course if we were asked to increase this bond substan­
tially or write additional bonds, we would have to have up­
to-date financial information and probably would want to 
check the financial statement to quite some extent and also 
talk with the bank where our principal does business. 

Bond Increased From $200,000 to $700,000 
Jn August 1960, through the AndrP.ws agency, Billie Sol Estes sub­

mitted to Aetna a financial statement showing a net worth of $7.6 

https://AndrP.ws
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million as of June 30, 1960; the Andrews agency asked Aetna to ap­
prove increased bond for Estes up to around $700,000 to cover addi­
tional facilities to be completed in the next 60 to 90 days. On 
September 21, 1960, the Hartford office authorized an increase in bond 
from $200,000 to $279,000 to cover the first section of new construc­
tion completed; however, the Hartford office advised Dallas that no 
further increases would be considered until additional information had 
been submitted and considered. 

In early October 1960, Estes visited Aetna's Dallas office several 
times and met on one occasion with a representative of the American 
Surety Co., which was sharing the bond risk with Aetna. In the 
course of these visits, Estes made what must have been-at least tem­
porarily-a very forceful and favorable impression on W. N. Pitts, 
manager of the bond department in Aetna's Dallas office; an October 
14, 1960, letter from Pitts to the Hartford office, which follows, indi­
cates that Estes' persuasive genius inspired not only confidence, but 
enthusiasm: 

Time is quite an essence in this matter and we had Mr. 
Estes in here three times within the last week and we had a 
meeting on Wednesday with Mr. Estes, Mr. Foster, his 
general manager, and with P. K. Birdwell, of the American 
Surety Co. 

We pointed out the frustration we had in trying to com­
pletely understand Mr. Estes' operations, so we sent them 
back to Pecos to give us a breakdown of his operations and 
then a combined operations statement so that we could see 
exactly where the financial worth of Mr. Estes lies and 
frankly how much. 

We attach hereto the financial statement of Billie Sol 
Estes, broken down under United Elevators, United Chem­
ical Co., and Billie Sol Estes other than the two foregoing. 
Frankly, I wish that you personally could have been in on 
these meetings as it is most revealing and some of the 
information, of course, is absolutely com_p!etely confidential. 
The attached letter of the Superior Manufacturing Co. 
certainly is something that he does not in any way want to 
be in circulation because of the fact that he feels the Gov­
ernment might change his depreciation schedule on the 
anhydrous ammonia tanks to a 10- or 15-year proposition 
instead of a depreciation factor of 5 years. As Mr. Estes 
pointed out that he wanted to build an Estes empire and the 
only possible way in the world for him to do it was with 
utilizing the depreciation and capital gain. As far as 
money itself is concerned, Mr. Estes is not the least bit 
interested in acquiring an income of cash in itself because 
that means a tremendous tax payment. He wants to obtain 
those things which he can eventually sell or dispose of on 
a ~ital _gii.in basis. 

When Mr. Estes was in the office earlier in the week, he 
brought with him the letter from the Superior Manufacturing 
Co. to substantiate the valuation of his anhydrous ammonia 
equipment and he brought with him the operating statement 
of United Chemical Co., which is his individual operation, . 
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and a financial statement of United Chemical Co. Now this 
is the first information as to the valuation of this operation 
that we had any knowledge of and it is the first time the 
assets and liabilities of that operation show up. We there­
fore more or less literally threw up our hands and told him he 
would have to go back and give us a composite picture of the 
entire operation and it is attached hereto. 

We want to point out to you that it appears that he has a 
very substantial income-tax liability to pay, but this is not 
necessarily true. In order to do this or become subject to it 
he must sell the cotton in the current tax year which he does 
not intend to do or at least he will only do so on the advice of 
his tax accountant. 

The subjects discussed with Mr. Estes were many and 
varied. For example, the writer brought up the question 
of the possibility of the Federal Government emptying his 
grain warehouses. His answer to this was very quick. He 
stated that we certainly did not think that he would in 
anyway go into this kind of an operation banking on the 
sole mercy of the Federal Government. He tells me that 
he would welcome a depletion of the grain from his ware­
houses as he could get the storage and buy it on a credit 
basis from the farmers. In this way, he would sell anhydrous 
ammonia to the farmers, they would bring him his grain and 
he in turn then has an understanding with Chemical Solvents 
Co. whereby they will take the grain and they will use 
it in making alcohol and other products. In other words 
he is looking far beyond the possibility of trouble with the 
Federal Government removing their grain from the ware­
houses. It was most interesting. 

We might point out that Mr. Estes told us this noon that 
he carries $3½ million in life insurance in the event anything 
should happen to him so that this operation would not break 
up through inheritance taxes. 

He apparently hires a very highest rate people that 
he can get and pays them excellent salaries and gives them 
ml!!lY other benefits. 

We think the man is entitled to the bonds he is requesting 
and possibly well beyond what we have already considered. 

Shortly thereafter, Aetna increased its surety bond coverage for 
Estes-first to $578,000 and then to $700,000. 
Aetna Refuses To Write Bond Over $700,000 

In November 1960 Estes asked Aetna to increase his bond coverage 
to $981,000; Aetna declined to do so, although it was willing to make a 
slight increase in its $700,000 coverage in accordance with the two­
bond coverage then being proposed by the Wichita office of the 
Warehouse Act Branch. 

Br December 1960, W. N. Pitts, of Aetna's Dallas office, apparently 
was having second thoughts about Estes. In a December 19, 1960, 
memorandum to the Hartford office, Pitts suggested that Estes be 
required to provide a certified audit within the next 6 months, stating 
that-



114 OPERATIONS OF BILLIE SOL ESTES 

I have been giving an awful lot of thought to the above 
account and without a doubt Mr. Estes is one great pro­
moter. * * * 

We realize that it would be a terrific proposition to try to 
get any such information together for us before the February 
19, 1961, renewal of any bonds we might have, but I think 
we are on a considerable amount of liability for a very small 
premium rate and that we should probably become adamant 
even though the agency in this has a terrific amount of 
premiums coming from that operation. * * * 

I get a bit jittery on this business and of course I am not 
too worried about it as long as they have the excellent man 
in charge of the grain operations which they do have but we 
have no way of keeping constant track whether or not the 
fellow is there and operating the operations. l wish you 
would give this a thought and discuss it with me when we 
are talking or write me n. note. 

On December 22, 1960, in accordance with Pitts' suggestion, 
L. L. Tarbell, of Aetna's Hartford office, notified Dallas that-

* * * I feel we should insist upon being furnished with 
audited CPA statements sometime during the year 1961 
and you should notify your agent that unless these state­
men ts are forthcoming we will not continue on this business 
beyond February of 1962. 

Despite its concern about Estes, Aetna renewed its $700,000 bond 
coverage for an additional year, effective from February 24, 1961. 
Continuation of Bond Without Certified Audit 

In August 1961 Aetna was informed of rumors of possible irregular­
ities in Billie Sol Estes' business dealings involving the South Plains 
Grain Co., a State-licensed warehouse at Levelland, Tex. However, 
the rumors were explained by the M. 0. Andrews Co. as being due 
primarily to personal animosity between Estes and E. H. Patterson, 
a former associate in the South Plains venture. 

Later in 1961, Aetna reminded the M. 0. Andrews agency that it 
would require a certified audit before renewing Estes' bond. On 
October 31, 1961, Claude Dickerson of the Andrews agency sent 
Aetna's Dallas office a letter making the following comments: 

The only way a bonding company would be called upon to 
pay a claim under a grain warehouse bond is because of loss of 
auantity or loss of auality. We think a thorough discussion 
of both of these items might be helpful in your understanding 
of this particular grain warehouse business. 

* * 
This warehouseman has selected a capable, experienced 

man, whose integrity has never been questioned (Wayne 
Cooper) as general superintendent of all grain storage 
operations. Mr. Cooper has complete control of hiring all 
employees, including local warehouse managers. All the 
local managers selected by Mr. Cooper are men of long 
experience in the storage of grain. Warehouse receipts are 
issued only by l\fr. Cooper , ,r certain designated employees 

* * * 
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at the home office. Mr. Cooper and his designated em­
ployees have complete control of grain loaded in and grain 
loaded out. In other words, no grain could be shipped with­
out Mr. Cooper's knowledge. Mr. Cooper is financially 
independent and he would not do anything that would 
jeopardize his reputation. * * * 

* * * * * 
Mr. Estes has constructed and purchased warehouses and 

storage facilities of the best construction and with the most 
up-to-date testing equipment and equipment for conditioning 
the grain. Hotspot detection systems are installed to detect 
heating of the grain at any location in the warehouc,e. 
Adequate aeration systems are installed to keep the ~rain 
cool and a regular system probes or samples is maintamed. 
Much of the equipment installed is not required by either 
Federal or State laws for storing grain. * * * The fact that 
Mr. Estes has provided facilities better than required is an 
indication that this is not strictly a promotion deal, but he 
is vitally interested in the preservation of grain in his 
possession. 

The Andrews agency memorandum pointed out that premiums on 
fire insurance for Estes' warehouses amounted to approximately 
$60,000 annually and that the agency was earning close to $15,000 
per year on this business. (The fire insurance coverage, although 
obtamed by Estes through the Andrews agency, was not written by 
Aetna.) The Andrews Co. memorandum then indicated that other 
surety companies were willing to write Estes' bond if they could also 
get his fire insurance business; the language of the AndrewslCo. 
memorandum follows: 

The Miller's Mutual Fire Insurance Co. has prepared a 
bond for Mr. Estes and has offered to execute it and lay it 
on his desk at any time that he will allow them to write his 
fire insurance. An agent in Muleshoe, Tex., being an agent 
for Trezevant & Cochran has also a power of attorney for 
execution of this bond in the amount of $700,000, likewise, 
providing he can secure the fire insurance. An a~en t in 
Pecos has a letter from the Gulf Coast Underwriters in 
Houston giving him authority to execute the bond, providing 
they can write the fire insurance. 

In the concluding paragraphs of the memorandum, Dickerson 
stated: 

Although we know that last year it was defipitely requested 
that a CPA statement be available before renewal of this 
bond, still we believe consideration should be given to the 
fact that this agency is earning a large commission on this 
account, plus tbe fact that we have done business with 
Aetna some 25 years or more with, we believe, a fairly good 
record. Although we have been told these bonds are ex­
tremely difficult to get, still, ~pparently, Mr. Estes has 
three sources that are ready, willing and eager to take his 
bond and it is difficult to understand why this agency should 
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be penalized by the loss of the fire insumnce business simplv 
because a CPA statement is not available. ~ 

We are making a definite request that for very important 
agency reasons this bond be executed. 

The subcommittee's investigation did not establish whether Estes 
actuaJly could have obtained surety bonds from other sources by 
transferring his fire insurance busin_ess or whether this claim was 
merely one more of his many misrepresentations. 

As of late Janunry 1962, Aetna had still not been provided an 
audited statement concerning Estes' financial condition. On Jan­
uary 23, 1962, the M. 0. Andrews Co. sent Aetna an unaudited state­
ment showing a net vwrth of $16.3 million as of November 31, 1961. 
Although expressing considerable reluctance to do so, Aetna ultimately 
renewed Estes' bond at the $700,000 figure for an additional year 
under nn arrangement whereby only one-fourth of the risk was taken 
by Aetna and the remainder was assumed by other surety companies. 

GRAIN STORAGE POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

Bacl..•g;'ound 
Earlier sections of this report have covered, to a considerable ex­

tent, the dual system under which warehouses are licensed by the 
AMS ·warehouse Act Branch and approved for storage of Govern­
ment grain by the Agricultural Stabilization and Conservation Serv­
ice; they have also covered the circumstances of questions raised by 
the ASCS Dallas commodity office with the Warehouse Act Branch 
concerning Billie Sol Estes' grain storage operations. Details pre­
vions ly covered ·will not be repeated in this section. 

Although Warehouse Act Branch licensing standards and ASCS 
apprornl requirements for grain storage facilities are basically simi­
lar, there are substantial differences in the size of the two programs 
involved and the organizational arrangements under which they are 
carried out. 

The "'a.rehouse Act Branch had a total of less than 100 employees 
in Washington and its 8 field offices in 1962; only 5 of the field offices 
are concerned ,,ith grain storage facilities. The ,vichita office of the 
Warehouse Act Branch, which has responsibility for Texas and 5 
other States, had 16 employees; by contrast, the Dallas ASCS com­
modity office alone ( 1 of 5 commodity offices carrying on grain storage 
operations at that time) had around 500 employees in 1962; of this 
number. approximately 40 were engaged in duties involving ware­
horn;;e approval and inspection. 

In H)62, the Wichita office of the Warehouse Act Branch was respon­
sible for licensing and supervising operations of about 425 warehouses 
with a total capacity of around 600 million bushels in the 6-State area 
under its jurisdiction. In these same States, ASCS had grain storage 
contracts with nearly 2,700 warehouses with a total capacity of more 
than 2 billion bushels. The Dallas commodity office, at that time, was 
storing grain in nearly 900 warehouses with a capacity of more than 
880 million bushels in Texas alone. 

Under the procedures-and the operating practices-of the Ware­
honse Act Branch. practically all significant decisions affecting ware­
houses are made on an individual basis in ·washington: field offices, 
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in effect, provide the Washington office with information on which 
to base decisions and implement them after they are made.. On the 
other hand, ASCS decisions relating to approval and supervision of 
warehouses are customarily made by the commodity office concerned; 
information relating to individual warehouses is not normally sent 
to Washington. 

As a practical matter, it would be extremely difficult for ASCS to 
centralize its operations in Washington as the AMS Warehouse 
Act Branch does. The approval and supervision of warehouses stor­
ing Government grain is only one of a number of duties assigned to 
Commodity Office personnel; they are also responsible for the acqui­
sition, movement, and disposition of the Government's multibillion­
dollar commodity inventories. The workload requires hundreds of 
employees and involves innumerable decisions every day. The Ware­
house Act Branch, on the other hand, deals with less than 2,000 grain 
warehouses throughout the Nation; the necessity for making decisions 
with respect to each warehouse, under ordinary circumstances, would­
at moRt-occur only a few times a year in connection with examina­
tions, additions, or license renewals. 
A pproval Requ.irements and Procedures 

Although the ,varehouse Act Branch and ASCS ha ,·e essentially 
similar standards for approval of grain warehouses under their re­
spective programs, some requirements are--either actually or poten­
tially-more important to ASCS than to the ,Yarehouse Act Branch. 
This is true because ASCS, in addition to its responsibility for ap­
prornl of State-licensed warehouses, also is the owner ( through CCC) 
of the grain to be stored there. Since it is responsible for by far the 
largest grain merchandising and transportation operations in the 
country, ASCS must be particularly concerned about the ability of 
warehousemen to promJ?tly load out the quality of grain called for in 
loading orders; otherwise, large-scale grain mornments could not be 
carried out efficiently. Furthermore, if losses occur which cannot be 
recovered from t~e warehouseman or his surety company, ASCS 
(CCC) suffers a dn-ect financial loss. 

Although there have been no really significant differences in recent 
years between Warehouse Act Branch and ASCS requirements con­
cerning financial responsibility of warehousemen, there has been a 
considerable variance in the number of instances in which the financial 
responsibility of the warehouseman or the adequacy of his surety bond 
has become an issue. For the Warehouse Act Branch, such instances 
have been almost nonexistent in recent years; Carl Miller told the sub­
committee that he could recall only one case in the 7 years prior to 
1962 in which it had been necessary to proceed against the bond of a 
federally licensed warehouseman; ASCS and its predecessor agencies, 
however, have been forced to seek recourse against warehousemen or 
their bonding companies on a substantial number of occasions. (For 
reasons previously discussed, the difference in losses suffered should 
not be construed as reflecting the relative efficiency or personnel re­
sponsible for the two programs involved.) 

It is rather surprismg, in view of ASCS ownership of grain in stor­
age and its more frequent loss record, that procedures prescribed by 
.ASCS for checking financial responsibility are-in at least one re­
spect-weaker than those of the Warehouse Act. Branch. ASCS regu-
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lations provide for examination by Commodity Office personnel of fi­
nancial statements submitted by warehousemen, however, they also 
specify that information shown on such statements should be accepted 
as correct in the absence of information to the contrary from other 
sources. The applicable rei?U!ation, which appears in the ASCS Grain 
·warehouse Approval Handbook (17-GR), follows: 

ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

.Acceptability.-Financial statements shall be examined to 
the extent necessary to determine their general acceptability. 
Excessive analysis and verification of financial statement 
data which may unnecessarily delay the approval of ware­
houses or increase administrative costs should be avoided. 
The information shown on statements certified by the ware­
houseman and a reputable public accountant should be ac­
cepted as correct. Informat10n shown on statements certified 
only by warehousemen should be accepted on the same basis 
unless information is available from the report of inspection, 
credit report, or other sources which indicate that the state­
ment may not be reasonably correct (No. 14(.A.), p. 11). 

Prior to 1958, ASCS ( then CSS) regulations provided that the 
Commodity Office "shall obtain a credit report from a reliable source 
as an additional verification of the financial history anJ reputation of 
the applicant." However, in 1958 the word ~'shall" was changed to 
'~may," and obtaining of credit reports thereafter was authorized but 
not required. 

Despite the negative tone of the ASCS regulations, it should be 
noted that in_practice independent credit reports were obtained fairly 
often by ASCS. The Dallas commodity office, it might be added, was 
obviously far more accustomed to obtaining Dun & Bradstreet reports 
than the Wichita office of the Warehouse Act Branch, whose chief did 
not recall ever seeing such a report in the course of his official duties. 
Policy Regarding Use of Commercial Stomge Facilities 

'I'he rapid growth of CCC inventories of surplus grain in the 1950's 
created tremendous storage problems. The shortage of storage space 
was so severe during some periods that private warehousemen were 
allowed to store Government grain in such nonconventional facilities 
as oil tanks, tents, and even a skating rink. In the Midwest, CCC 
storage needs were partially met by the eventual acquisition of approx­
imately 1 billion bushels of Government-owned storage bins used 
primarily for storage of corn. In areas such as Texas, however, where 
sorghum and wheat were the principal grain crops, the Department 
of Agricu]ture's policy was to rely almost exclusively on privately 
owned facilities to provide space for storage of CCC grain. 

As a result, incentives were provided during the 1950's to encourage 
expansion of privately owned warehouse space. These measures were 
described as follows in testimony by Secretary Freeman: 

In order to provide adequate facilities in which to store the 
tremendous accumulation of surplus grain, the Government 
adopted policies designed to en<'ourage private enterprise to 
construct commercial warehouse space. These policies in­
cluded-
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( 1) Guaranteed storage agreements under which 
warehousemen were guaranteed that, if they would con­
struct new storage space, the Government would assure a 
minimum percentage of occupancy :for a period up to 6 
years. This practice was discontinued in 1954. 

(2) Accelerated amortization of construction costs­
which was authorized by law and provided some tax re­
lief for a brief period. 

(3) Government loans which were made available to 
commercial grain storage warehousemen by the Small 
Business Administration. 

(4) Attractive storage rates paid to commercial ware­
housemen by the Department of Agriculture-which 
were deliberately increased several times from 1952 
through 1956, and were maintained at a high rate until 
1960 when they were reduced by about 19 percent. 

(5) Priority use of private warehouses for storage of 
Government grain over Government-owned storage bins 
in the same locality. 

These policies induced a tremendous expansion of commer­
cial storage space during the 1950's. Commercial grain 
storage capacity under uniform grain storage agreements 
increased from about 1 billion bushels in 1951 to over 4 billion 
bushels in 1960. 

Concern About Overewpansion in 1959 
By the late 1950's, C. H. Moseley, director of the Dallas commodity 

office, had become increasingly concerned about what he regarded as 
overexpansion of commercial grain storage capacity in the South­
west. In July, 1959, Moseley recommended to his superiors in Wash­
ington thait a public statement be made in an effort to discourage
further expans10n. Moseley's recommendation was made in a sug­
gestion submitted on June 18, 1959 for the agenda of a meeting of 
commodity office directors to be held in Minneapolis on July 15. 
Moseley's suggestion follows : 

JUNE 18, 1959. 
Frank R. McGregor, DAO, CSS, Washington. 
C.H. Moseley, Director, CSS CO, Dallas . 
.Agenda for Minneapolis Directors' Meeting. 

Attached are our suggestions for the agenda of the Direc­
tors' meeting in Minneapolis. 

5. (a) What is the problem� · Review of _g'!"ain storage policy. 
Should CCC take cognizance of serious overexpansion 

of commercial storage� 
Should we continue to approve unlimited expansion in 

areas where additional storage will not serve farmers 
directly i 

Should we rely upon competition, empty space, 
storage rates, a:nd free enterprise to solve the problem� 

Should any -public statements be made recognizing
the 1;t,dequacy · of storage space in certain States i 

In allocating CCC-owned grain for reconcentration, 
should consideration be given to priorities for existing 
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houses or those constructed prior to a certain date, per­
haps January 1, 1960? If so, should such an announce­
ment be made? 

(b) How does it affect other offices? 
Affects all grain offices. 

(c) What will be the benefit of discussion at the Directors' 
meeting? 

A meeting of the minds concerning the problem and 
a look at the future. 

We now have 40 million bushels more space than is 
required for the current wheat harvest and new construc­
tion continues at a million bushels per day. 

(d) What is the recommended solution? 
We have none at this time. 

(e) Is a decision expected at the Directors' meeting? 
Probably not. 

After discussion at the July 15, 1959, meeting in Minneapolis, the 
problem of overexpansion was again discussed in Washington on July 
27, 1959, at which time it was decided that no J?Ublic statement would 
be issued. The discussion took place at a meetmg between officials of 
the Department of Agriculture and representatives of the grain trade 
serving on the Department"'s Grain Storage Advisory Committee. 
Minutes of this meeting contain the following account of what was 
said: 

There was some discussion of the bill which is being con­
sidered in California which was referred to as a bill of 
necessity and convenience. If enacted into law, this bill 
would require a warehousem1m to show the necessity of the 
structure before he would be allowed to build. It was 
reported that the bill was on the Governor's desk a waiting 
his signature. 

This was followed by a considerable discussion of the 
question of how to prevent overexpansion. There was some 
sentiment for a press release which would tend to discourage 
any further expansion. It was finally agreed, however, that 
such a release could be misinterpreted and that in the long 
run it might be better to leave the question of further ex­
pansion to the judgment of the individual warehouseman. 
There was also some discussion of the possibility of tightening 
up on Commodity Credit Corporation's requirements for ap­
proval. It was pointed out that any move in this direction 
would have to apply across the board and could not be used to 
exclude individuals who were as well qualified as those who 
are now storing grain. Several instances of tightening up 
on the part of the Commodity Credit Corporation were 
pointed out and it was finally agreed that this process had 
not been a discouragement to expansion. It was also agreed 
that the Government was not in a position to say who could 
or could not go into a business and that the present policy of 
offering the facilities of the Department to mdustry in help­
ing them make such decisions was as sound now as it was at 
the time it was adopted. 
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Subcorn1nittee Recommendation in 1960 
In a report adopted on August 31, 1960 (H. Rept. 2220, 86th Cong.), 

the Committee on Government Operations formally adopted the fol­
lowing recommendation by the subcommittee concerning Department 
of Agriculture storage policies: 

The subcommittee recommends that the Department of 
Agriculture revise its grain storage policies to avoid encour­
agmg further expans10n of commercial storage facilities 
in areas where such expansion is unnecessary and undesir­
able. • * • 

In addition to the general recommendation that USDA policies be 
revised, the report included a specific recommendation that: 

In areas where existing commercial storage space is already 
more than adequate for normal commercial ne,eds, but where 
even more storage space must be constructed because there is 
no empty storage space available for additional Government 
grain being taken over under the price support program, the 
added storage space needed for Government grain should be 
provided, insofar as practicable, without further construction 
of commercial storage space. Rather than encouraging more 
commercial construction where there is no foreseeable com­
mercial need, the Department of Agriculture should try to 
provide needed additional storage space for Government 
grain under these conditions by-

(1) Encouraging expansion of farm storage facilities; 
(2) Utilizing directly, where feasible, any Govern­

ment-owned installations which are properly located and 
are or can readily be made suitable for emergency grain 
storage; 

(3) Acquiring Government storage facilities wherever 
the total cost will be lower over the anticipated period 
for which new overflow storage will be reqmred than the 
cost of any reasonable ·alternative method of meeting the 
need for additional storage space. 

The storage recommendations formally adopted in the August 31 
report had previously been submitted by the subcommittee to the De­
partment of Agriculture on June 30, 1960, at which time the subcom­
mitte,e was informed by the Department that its recommendations 
would be submitted to the CCC Advisory Board and the CCC Board 
of Directors for consideration. However, when asked whether the 
subcommittee's recommendations were ever presented to the CCC 
Board, Lionel Holm, Secretary of the Commodity Credit Corporation, 
responded as follows : 

In anticipation of that question, I have made a search of the 
records, of the minutes of the Corporation, and I can find no 
record where the specific-or the recommendations in toto, 
put it that way, as a group-were ever placed on the agenda 
and considered and discussed by the Board of Directors. * * * 

Moseley Recommendation in 1961 
In 1961, C. H. Moseley, director of the Dallas commodity office, 

again recommended that the Department of Agriculture take action to 
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discourage further storage expansion. The recommendation was con­
tained in a memorandum prepared by Moseley as a result of a meeting 
in the fall of 1961 at which Moseley, ,James Ralph, then Assistant 
Secretary of Agriculture, and John White, Texas commissioner of 
agriculture, were present. Moseley deiscribed what happened at the 
meeting in the following testimony : 

The substance of the discussion was the serious overexpan­
sion of storage space and Dr. Ralph only listened to Commis­
sioner White and I, and asked me to write the memorandum 
on the subject. He made no commitments and did not ex­
press himself one way or the other as for it or against it. 

The gist of my recommendation was that we issue a press 
release and stop approving new warehouses. * * * 

On October 31, 1961, Moseley sent the following memorandum to 
Ralph: 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, 
COMMODITY STABILIZATION SERVICE, 

October 31, 1961. 
U.S. Government memorandum. 
Subject: Overexpansion of grain storage facilities in the Southwest. 

When you were in Dallas last week we conferred with Mr. John 
White, commissioner of agriculture for the State of Texas, concern­
ing the serious overexpansion which is now takin~ place in the grain 
storage industry of the Southwest. Upon concluding that discussion 
you requested that I write you a letter upon this subject, sending copies 
to the Under Secretary, the Administrator, and the Deputy Adminis­
trator, Commodity Operations. 

The rapid expansion of storage facilities in the Southwest can best 
be illustrated by the record of total space approved under the uniform 
grain storage agreement since January 1, 1958, as shown below: 

[In bushels] 

Oklahoma Texas 

Jan. 1, 1958. ...............................................................•. 
Jan. 1, 1959.................................................................. 
Jan. 1, 1960.................................................................. 
Jan. 1, 1961.................................................................. 
Jan. 1, 1962 (estimated)...................................................... 

144,651,300 
172,685,000 
216,751,400 
229, 667, 000 
247, 715, 00 

353,016,300 
529, 432, 700 
624, 194, 100 
721, 982, 000 
893, 978, 000 

NoT11:.-These .figures do not include farm storage. 

The stocks of CCC.owned grain now stored in Oklahoma total 
approximately 118 million bushels and in Texas, approximately 545 
million bushels. In addition, there are approximately 28 million 
bushels of 1961 crop wheat remaining under loan in Oklahoma and 14 
million bushels in Texas. Redemptions are being made very rapidly, 
and substantially all of the 1961 wheat should be redeemed. With milo 
harvest nearly complete, approximately 150 million bushels of empty 
space have been offered us for use for CCC grain. Of course, this space 
is not needed. 

As in any industry with overexpanded facilities and high fixed costs, 
there is a strong tendency toward price wars. With the vast amount 
of empty space awaiting the current milo harvest, rate cutting became 
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widespread and assumed many forms. One of the most common in­
ducements offered farmers is to give them free storage until March 31, 
1962, the maturity date of grain sorghum loans. This gives the farmer 
the advantage of the gross loan rate and raises the effective price­
support level 8 to 12 cents per hundredweight. The warehouseman 
hopes that the grain will be taken over by CCC at maturity and that 
it will remain in storage thereafter in order that he may earn storage 
under the uniform grain storage agreement. Rate cutting also takes 
other forms, such as cash payments and various tie-in sales arrange­
men ts. Some warehousemen buy the producer's excess milo which is 
ineligible for the loan at inflated prices if he places all of his loan milo 
in storage with them. 

These symptoms of an overexpanded industry do _not necessarily 
mean that the storage rates under the UGSA are too high. The ques­
t ion of fair and reasonable storage rates is an entirely different matter. 
"71ien we reduced storage rates by 19 percent on July 1, 1960, the 
expansion of storage increased rather than decreased. 

Alt hough we ha rn no desire to ham per free enterprise, we believe 
that the policies of CCC are in a large measure responsible for the 
1·apid expansion of the storage industry to meet the needs of the farm­
ers and the Government and that we now have some responsibility for 
curtailing further expansion. 

Our feed grain program for 1961 has been a success. We expect 
further good results in 1962 in reducing- the production of both feed 
grains and wheat. Efforts to expand the exportation of our abund­
ance are also meeting with success. One of the significant results will 
be a lessening of the need for grain storage and the expense thereof. 
,ve believe, therefore, that the time has come for us to reconsider our 
long-established policy of executing uniform grain storage agreements 
with all warehousemen who meet our requirements. We believe that 
there is more than ample storage space in the Southwest to meet the 
11eed for the foreseeable future. The need for storage can be expected 
to decrease rapidly in the months ahead as the result of the feed grain 
and whent programs and continuing exports. For the past 3 months 
we have been reducing our stocks by sales averaging 17 million bushels 
per month. Yet, during October we approved 20 million bushels more 
new space in Texas alone and another 49 million is under construction 
in this State. This way lies disaster. 

It is our considered opinion that the grain storage industry of the 
Southwest faces economic colla)?se within the next 1 or 2 years if the 
present trend continues. The risk to the Government will increase as 
warehousemen storing millions of bushels of grain face bankruptcy. 

The solution which we propose takes the form of a press release 
along the lines of the attached rough draft. In simple terms we pro­
pose to stop approving further expansion under the uniform grain 
storage agreement. Exceptions will be limited to the following 
circumstances: 

1. Port elevators may be approved for additional export han­
dling facilities. They willnot be approved for dead storage. 

2. It is barely possible that the :farmers in some isolated area 
might develop a local need which should be met. If such a facility 
were approved, it would be small in size and would not be used 
for the storage of reconcentrated grain. 

38-588-64-9 
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3. Warehouses which are destroyed by fire or other disaster 
could be replaced by facilities of the same size at the same location. 

4. Provision must be made to approve facilities which are under 
construction on the date of the announcement. 

The significance of this last item makes it very important that no 
hint of this proposal reach the public prior to the issuance of a press 
release. It is for that reason that this memorandum is marked "Ad­
ministratively confidential." Any advance rumors concerning this 
proposal could bring about a further sharp increase in "starts." 

C. H. MOSELEY. 
With the memorandum, Moseley forwarded to Washington the fol­

lowing draft of a proposed press release: 

[Draft] 

ASCS ANNOUNCESNEW POLICY OF APPROVING 
GRAIN STORAGE SPACE 

Dallas commodity office of the Agricultural Stabilization 
and Conservation Service today announced a change of policy 
in approving warehouses under the uniform grain storage 
agreement in Texas, Oklahoma, and New Mexico. 

Generally, the Dallas ASCS commodity office will not 
approve any new storage space or expansion of already 
existing warehouse space in these three States, C. H. Moseley, 
director, announced. 

This new policy went into effect November-. 
"We believe that more than ample space has been built 

to meet any need in the foreseeable future," the Dallas ASCS 
commodity official pointed out. 

He added that changes in the feed grain and wheat -pro­
grams indicate storage needs for storing grain owned by 
Commodity Credit Corporation will decrease rapidly in 

the months ahead. 
With milo harvest in the Southwest almost complete, 

approximately 150 million bushels of empty space from Texas, 
Oklahoma, and New Mexico have been offered for storing 
CCC-owned grain. 

"We have been reducing stocks during the past 3 month!'I 
by selling approximately 17 million bushels per month," 
Moseley explained. 

Continuing, he said there are some types of storage the 
Dallas ASCS commodity office may accept under UGSA, 
such as tidewater warehouses built only for loading ocean­
going vessels; those built to meet a well-defined local need ~ 
those built to replace existing storage and those which were 
under construction November-. 

Heretofore, ASCS has followed the practice of approving 
applications under UGSA when warehousemen and the 
facility met minimum requirements. Now, as in the case· of 
other commodities, space will be approved only as it is needed. 

Moseley said today's announcement in no way precludes 
construction of warehouses by industry, only the policy ASCS 
will fo11ow in approving warehouses under the uniform grain 
storage agreement. 
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000 Board Decides Against Action 
On December 26, 1961, the Board of Directors of the Commodity 

Credit Corporation decided against limiting further approvals of 
warehouses for storage of Government grain. The action of the 
Board was taken after its members received the following memoran­
dum from Horace Godfrey, Executive Vice President of the Com­
modity Credit Corporation: 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE. 
COMMODITY CREDIT CORPORATION' 

TV ashington, D.O., Decem.ber 20, 1961. 
Subject: Approval of warehouses under the uniform grain storage 

agreement. 
This is in further response to a request for information on a recent 

proposal made before the Board that no further approvals of ware­
houses be made under the uniform grain storage agreement. 

As you well know, our current storage situation is changing. We 
have considerable storage space available to us in various parts of the 
country which is far in excess of our needs. Currently, there is nearly 
5 billion bushels of storage space approved under the uniform grain 
storage agreement. This figure, plus approximately 1 billion bushels 
of space in Commodity Credit Corporation-owned bms and the reserve 
fleet at east and west coast anchorages make a total of approximately 
5.75 billion bushels of storage space available to CCC at this time. 
In comparison, our current stocks of grain total approximately 3.2 
billion bushels. 

Because of the overexpansion of commercial grain facilities, par­
ticularly in certain sections of the country, the demands from ware­
housemen for stocks of grain for storage are rapidly increasing. 
This is particularly true in the Southwest where expansion of storage 
facilities has been the greatest. 

This overabundance of storage space has led to the proposal that 
we approve no additional facilities under the uniform grain storage 
agreement. While this action would eliminate one problem, it would 
raise several others. 

The price-support program is primarily to benefit the producer. In 
order to take advantage of price-support loans on wheat approved 
storage facilities must be made available to all producers within reason­
able distances. Limiting approvals would make the producer, in 
effect, a captive customer of the warehouseman and would diminish 
the bargaining power which a producer would have with respect to 
storing his grain. Moreover, the refusal by CCC to approve any addi­
tional facilities would actually shackle commercial freedom of action 
and establish a Government control over the economy of the grain 
warehousing industry. 

Moreover, there is a serious question as to whether anyone today 
can go into the grain business without a uniform grain storage agree­
ment because of the size of CCC inventories and the quantities being 
placed under price-support loans. Denial of approval to warehouse~ 
men who meet CCC's standards would also be morally, if not legally, 
questiona hie. 

If CCC were to deny further approvals, we would be subjected to 
heavy congressional and industry pressures because we are denying a 
person the right to establish himself as a public warehouseman. 
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Finally, any proposal to limit additional warehouse approvals must 
carry certain exceptions. Experience has demonstrated that in mat­
ters of this kind the exceptions soon nullify the purpose of the rule. 

In brief, there is very little that cnn be said in favor of denying 
further approvals to warehousemen. It may be held that, since CCC is 
in a large measure responsible for the rapid expansion of grain storage 
facilities, it now has the responsibility for curtailing further ex­
pansion. It would effectively stop additional construction of ware­
house facilities for grain and would save the administrative costs in­
volved in additional examination and maintenance of records. It 
could also reduce the constant demands and pressures made upon 
CCC to fill unused storage space for grain. 

It is my judgment that the factors agai!1st the li~iting of further 
approvals of warehousemen under the umform gram storage agree­
ment preponderantly outweigh any factors in favor of such action. 
It is, therefore, recommended that no action be taken by CCC to 
attempt to deny or restrict additional approvals under the uniform 
grain storage agreement. 

(signed) H.D.GooFREY. 
In his testimony, which follows, C.H. Moseley told the subcommit­

tee that his warnings about overexpansion had generally been proved 
wrong because of increased grain production until 1961, when the 
situation finally changed : 

Our inventories continued to build up and, although I 
viewed overconstruction, overexpansion, with alarm over n. 
period of years, I was generally proved wrong the next spring 
when we actually needed the space. 

Now I think after these many years I have been proven 
right this year because I don't think we are going to need the 
space any more. 

Dallas O ommodity O ffece Approval Requirements 
As has been previously noted, approval of a warehouse for storage 

of CCC grain under a uniform grain storage agreement does not 
necessarily mean that grain will actually be stored there. The UGSA 
sets forth the terms and conditions which will apply in the event C( ~(. ~ 
grain is stored, and its issuance indicates that the warehouseman re­
ceiving it is considered to be properly qualified for storage of Govern­
ment grain. CCC policy is to approve all applicants considered quali­
fied for UGSAs, without regard to whether or not additional storage 
space is needed; C. H. Moseley~ director of the Dallas commodity 
office told the subcommittee that "Our policy is that we will approve 
space for any warehouseman who meets our requirements * * *." 

In his testimony, Moseley stated that he had established require­
mPnt for warehousemen storing CCC grain in the Dallas commodity 
office area, which in some respects, exceeded the minimum standard 
prescribed by regulations. It was Moseley's practice to require a 
double surety bond for flat warehouses; Moseley's testimony, which 
follows, indicated that the double bond was retained after flat ware­
houses proved successful in order to serve as a deterrent to overexpan­
sion: 

Mr. NAUGHTON.Is it true, Mr. Moseley, that you have been 
requiring a double bond for flat or nonconventional facilities i 
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Mr. MosELEY. Yes, sir, that is correct. 
Mr.NAUGHTON. vVhy have you done that? 
Mr. MosELEY. We started that a number of years ago at a 

time when flat facilities were somewhat experimental in na­
ture and no one lmew in the trade or in the Government 
how successful would be the latest developments in aeration 
equipment and in handling equipment for flat storage. 

At that time we did not know whether there was a greater 
risk involved or not. In order to be on the safe side, we 
doubled the bonding requirement on the flat storage. 

Mr. NAUGHTON.So these flat facilities were not usual and 
customary? 

Mr. MOSELEY At that time. However, a great change has 
taken place and the flat storage facilities have over the years 
proven themselves. The aeration systems have been developed 
to a very hjg;h level of efficiency. 

It would be difficult to say now that flat storage is inferior 
to upright storage. However, because we had our bonding 
requirements previously established there, and because in 
general we didn't want to reduce any bonds in the face of such 
a rapidly expanding industry, we simply did not change. 

Another practice :followed by Moseley was to require personal 
endorsements from the major stockholders of corporations storing 
CCC grain. The effect of this requirement in discouraging expansion 
of commercial storage space was described by Moseley in the follow­
ing testimony: 

Mr. NAUGHTON.Now if you had been willing to permit 
them to do it, these people naturally would have been inter­
ested in setting up a corporation with the least amount of 
invested capital they could get by with? 

Mr. MosELEY. There was that tendency; yes, sir. 
Mr. NAUGHTON.And your requirement they assume J>l~r· 

sonal financial responsibility was to prevent the practice 
of setting up a shell corporation, with very littl~ assets 
against which you could recover? 

Mr. MosELEY. That is correct. 
Mr. NAUGHTON.Now did you find that any of the people 

who wanted to get into the grain storage business, when they 
learned what your requirements were, personal financial re­
sponsibilities, higher bond, did any of them then decide 
not to get approval under your regulations and go instead 
to the U.S. Warehouse Act Branch? 

Mr. MosELEY. I don't know of any that took that alterna­
tive. A great many of them decided not to go into the grain 
business after talking to us. We have been very, very dis­
conraging on the subject over the years and a great many of 
them decided it wasn't as good a thing as they had been led 
to believe. Also, some of them looked askance at that per­
sonal endorsement form. Oilmen tend to look at that as tlwv 
would a rattlesnake. ~ 

Mr. NAUGHTON.In other words, they wanted Uncle Sam 
to take the gamb] e instead of taking it themselves. 
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Mr. MosELEY. Yes, sir; and many, many of them were 
discouraged and did not go into the business. 

Moseley gave the following description of steps taken by the Dallas 
commodity office to tighten its storage requirements as more space be­
came available : 

We have made a distinct effort to improve the quality of 
grain storage facilities. We have removed from the ap­
proved list several houses of questionable value. And we have 
continued to tighten up all the time our requirements as to 
load-out ca1-1ac1ty and handling equipment and aeration. 
Our standards have been constantly going up as we saw 
plenty of space becoming available from time to time. 

Procedures vnDallas Commodity Office 
Moseley told the subcommittee that the approval of storage agree­

ments was handled by the storage management division of the Dallas 
commodity office, usually without his prior knowledge. Moseley's 
testimony on this point follows : 

Mr. NAUGHTON.What is the process and what has been the 
process for approval of new applications for uniform grain 
storage agreements in the Dallas commodity office and who 
are the officials involved~ 

Mr. MosELEY. That function is in our storage manage­
ment division. The chief of that division is Mr. Lee Wanner. 
His assistant is Mr. Albert Eads and his subordinate is Mr. 
Donald Kolp. Those are the key men in the execution of 
warehouse contracts. 

Mr. NAUGHTON.ffli.o has the authority to approve a ware­
house contract in the Dallas office~ 

Mr. MosELEY. Mr. Wanner, Mr. Eads, Mr. Kolp, and of 
course the director or the acting director . 

. Mr. NAUGHTON.Is it customary for them to consult with 
you before approving a contract~ 

Mr. MosELEY. Not unless there is something which they 
feel we should discuss. They normally approve them in a 
rather routine fashion, when the applicant meets the regular 

. requirements. 
The routine manner in which federally licensed warehouses were 

approved for storage agreements was described by Moseley in the 
following testimony : 

Mr. FouNTAIN Do you automatically accept issuance of a 
Federal license as a sufficient basis for entering into a storage 
agreement~

Mr. MOSELEY.Almost automatically. I would say it is 
prima facie evidence of eligibility. We do have the author­
ity to deny such contracts but it is almost automatic. 

Mr. FouNTAIN. Do you make any inquiry behind the issu­
ance of a Federal license~ 

Mr. MosELEY. No, sir, we do not. We have no desire to 
duplicate the responsibilities of AMS. 
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Mr. FouNTAIN. In other words, there is no requirement you 
look behind it ? 

Mr. MosELEY. That is right. 

APPROVAL OF ESTES' STORAGE CONTRACTS 

Federally Licensed Warehouses 
At the time of his arrest, Billie Sol Estes owned or exercised some 

degree of control over grain storage facilities with a total capacity of 
slightly more than 87 million bushels. Nearly 80 million bushels­
more than 90 percent-of this storage space was federally licensed. 
Federal licenses for 51.6 million bushels of storage capacity were 
issued to Estes himself, doing business as United Elevators. Federal 
licenses for another 28.5 million bushels of space were issued to C. E. 
Davis and the Worsham brothers, doing business respectively as 
Palo Duro Grain Co. and Allied Elevators. The issuance of Federal 
licenses for Estes' warehouses by the AMS Warehouse Act Branch has 
been discussed in some detail in previous sections of this report. The 
preceding discussion also covers most of the more significant actions 
by ASCS personnel involving federally licensed warehouses. Matters 
previously covered will not be discussed in this section. 

As has been previously noted, it was the practice of the Dallas 
commodity office to approve federally licensed warehouses for uniform 
grain storage agreements almost automatically; this procedure was 
authorized under ASCS regulations, but was not required. C. H. 
Moseley, director of the Dallas commodity office, told the subcom­
mittee that he was fre~uently consulted about approval of Estes' 
facilities by his subordmates; Moseley's testimony on this point 
follows: 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Let me ask you then about the facilities 
with which Mr. Estes has been connected. Were they 
approved in a routine fashion or were you consulted about 
the approval and the approval of each ex1;>ansion? 

Mr. MOSELEY. I was consulted many times as the expan­
sion took place, because it was so amazingly rapid. And I 
was consulted even before the applications were made as our 
people would report that millions and millions of more 
construct,ion was underway. So we were very mindful of the 
expansion and we were concerned about it as the record 
shows. 

Although Moseley was kept informed because of Estes' rapid 
expansion, the subcommittee's investigation indicated that grain 
storage contracts for Estes' warehouses were approved on a perfunctory 
basis within a few days after such facilities were federally licensed. 
The routine manner in which this was done is perhaps best illustrated 
by the fact that, on one occasion, the commodity office, apparently 
through inadvertent error, actually issued a uniform grain storage 
agreement on recently completed facilities a few days before the license 
was obtained. (The error did not result in any benefit to Estes, since 
no grain was loaded into the facilities involved before they were 
licensed.) 
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Moseley testified that none of his Washington superiors ever asked 
him to approve storage contracts for Estes, and the subcommittee's 
investigation disclosed no evidence of such intervention. The 
subcommittee's investigation indicated that contacts with the Dallas 
commodity office relating to approval of grain storage contracts were 
handled by Wayne Cooper, general manager of Estes' storage opera­
tions, rather than by Estes himself. 

Actions taken by C. H. Moseley to raise questions with AMS 
Warehouse Act Branch officials concerning Billie Sol Estes have been 
discussed in detail in previous sections of this report. 
State-Licensed Facilities 

Although most of Billie Sol Estes' grain storage space was federally 
licensed, approximately 7,600,000 bushels was under State license. 
Facilities at Lamesa with a capacity of 666,000 bushels and 2,463,000 
bushels of space at Levelland (South Plains Grain Co.) were known 
to be controlled by Estes. An additional 4,489,000 bushels of capacity 
at Plainview (Hale County Grain Co.) was ostensibly owned by 
W. W. Hill. Testimony of C. H. Moseley regarding approval of the 
Lamesa and Levelland facilities follows: 

Mr. SMITH. Do you play any part in determining whether 
or not financial statements submitted by grain storage 
operations are sufficient? 

Mr. MosELEY. In connection with houses which are not 
licensed under the United States Warehouse Act, I am 
responsible for the review and acceptance of those statements. 

Mr. SMITH. But specifically with regard to Billie Sol 
Estes, did you have anything to do with determining whether 
or not the financial statements he submitted were sufficient 
and should be taken at face value? 

Mr. MosELEY. I was responsible for the approval of the 
two State-licensed houses, the small house at Lamesa and 
the house at Levelland. 

Mr. SMITH. Did he submit a financial statement with 
regard to that operation, the same as he did with others? 

Mr. MosELEY. Yes, sir. 
Moseley te~tified that the Lamesa contract was approved on 

April 2, 1961, and the Levelland facilities in September 1961, and that 
financial statements submitted by Billie Sol Estes in connection with 
approval of the contrn,cts were not questioned by the Dallas com­
modity office. The subcommittee's investigation indicated that, 
while Estes supposedly did not control the Lamesa and Levelland 
installations prior to the dates given by Moseley, he did have an 
interest in them before that time. A financial statement for Estes 
was submitted to the Dallas commodity office in connection with the 
Lamesa facility in November 1959; the subcommittee's investigation 
did not disclose evidence that any question wns raised concerning it. 

The financial statements submitted to the Dallas commoditv office 
contained the same misleading information concerning Biilie Sol 
Estes' financial condition as did the ones provided to the AMS Ware­
house Act Branch. In testimony at subcommittee hearings, which 
fol1ows, C.H. Moseley stated that the Dallas commodity office would 
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have refused to approve storage contracts for Estes if it had been 
aware of this: 

Mr. SMITH. If you had actually known the net worth was 
zero, would you have requested a higher bond? 
Mr. MosELEY. We would have refused to approve the 
house. 

Mr. SMITH. So it was a very material factor? 
Mr. MosELEY. Yes, sir. 

Billie Sol Estes has been indicted for submission of false statements 
to the Commodity Credit Corporation, but has not yet been tried on 
these charges. 

A table on page 426 of the appendix contains additional information 
concerning approval of grain storage contracts for both Stu.te and 
federally licensed warehouses operated by Billie Sol Estes doing 
business as United Elevators. 

ASSIGNMENT OF GRAIN STORAGE PAYMENTS 

Assignment to Commercial Solvents 
Until around 1940, the assignment of payments due to firms pro­

viding goods or services for the Federal Government to third parties 
was generally prohibited by law. However, the Assignment of 
Claims Act and subsequent amendments to it relaxed the prohibition 
against assignments considerably in order to encourage private 
financing of defense contractors. (In the absence of an assignment, 
claims of Federal agencies against sums owed Government contrac­
tors normally take precedence over debts owed private financing 
agencies. However, under certain circumstances, firms holding a 
valid assignment covering money owed by the Government to a 
contractor may be in a position to asse.rt a prior claim as against 
Government agencies.) 

The subcommittee's investigation indicated that it apparently 
has been the practice of the Department of Agriculture to allow the 
assignment of proceeds of CCC grain storage contracts without 
considering whether or not a particular assignment operates to the 
benefit or detriment of the Government. The Department told the 
subcommittee that: 

Assignment of earnings under UGSA contracts is not an 
unusual arrangement; it is an arrangement rather frequently 
employed by warehousemen for the benefit of their bankers 
or creditors. It has not been CCC's practice in connection 
with assignments made by warehousemen to inquire about 
indebtedne.ss by the warehouseman to his assignee. There­
fore, our Dallas commodity office was not familiar (prior to 
April 1962) with the facts relating to any advances or loans 
that may have been made by Commercial Solvents to Estes 
either before or after the execution of assignments by Estes. 

The subcommittee's investigation indicated that, in accordance 
with a prior agTeement to do so, Billie Sol Estes executed an assignment 
of grain storage payments due or to become due to United Elevators 
to Commercial SolYents on March 4, 1959. A copy of the instrument 
of assignment was sent by Commercial Solvents to the Dallas com-

https://indebtedne.ss
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modity office on April 1, 1959; receipt was adrnowledged by the 
Dallas office on April 2. In notifying the Dallas commodity office of 
the assignment, Commercial Solvents Corp. identified itself as a 
"financial institution." The assignment to Commercial Solvents was 
renewed in August 1960; at that time Commercial Solvents identified 
itself as a "person or firm holding lien or encumbrance" rather than a 
"financial institution." 
Inaccurate Reports to Subcommittee 

For several years the subcommittee has been receiving, at its 
request, monthly reports from the Commodity Credit Cor_poration 
identifying the recipient and purpose of each CCC payment m excess 
of $50,000. A review of reports received by the subcommittee during 
the period of Estes' storage operations disclosed that Commercial 
Solvents was properly identified as the recipient of only two of the 
many payments it received under the assignment from Billie Sol 
Estes. The two payments, which were made on April 15 and June 18, 
1959, totaled approximately $307,000. 

Commercial Solvents received CCC payments aggregating more 
than $7 million after June 1959. However, reports made to the 
subcommittee showed these :payments as being made to United 
Elevators, Plainview, Tex., with no mention bemg made of either 
Commercial Solvents or Billie Sol Estes. The payments to United­
although- 'very large-did not stand out because payments as large 
or even larger were being made to other warehouses. 

If the payments being made by CCC under the assignment had 
beenjroperly reported, reports to the subcommittee would have dis­
close that constantly increasing amounts were being paid to Com­
mercial Solvents Corp., 260 Madison Avenue, New York City. Since 
payments to a chemical sales firm on grain storage contracts are 
hardly a usual occurrence, the situation might well have attracted 
the subcommittee's attention. If the payments to Commercial Sol­
vents had been properly identified, some inquiry almost certainly 
would have been made in early 1961, when the subcommittee learned 
through reports in trade journals that Walter Berger, former execu­
tive vice president of the Commodity Credit Corporation, had become 
associated with Commercial Solvents. 

Dallas commodity office officials and employees responsible for 
preparing the reports of payments over $50,000 were questioned by 
subcommittee representatives concerning the failure of such reports to 
properly identify payments to Commercial Solvents. They ascribed 
the omission of Commercial Solvents' name as a clerical error. The 
subcommittee's investigation did not disclose evidence to the contrary. 

GOVERNMENT SHIPMENTS OF GRAIN TO ESTES' WAREHOUSES 

Allegations of Favoritism 
When Billie Sol Estes was arrested in March 1962, he owned or 

had an interest in grain atorage facilities in west Texas which were 
approved for the storage of a total of 87 million bushels of Government 
grain. While approval of a warehouse for Government storage 
does not necessarily mean that any grain will be shipped there, Estes' 
elevators actually were storing many millions of bushels of Govern-
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ment-owned grain sorghum and a substantial amount of CCC wheat. 
After Estes' arrest, there were many widely circulated rumors and 
allegations concerning the manner in which he obtained Govern­
ment grain for storage. 

A fairly typical example of these allegations is the one made by 
Marshall Formby, then a candidate for Governor of Texas, the day 
after Estes' arrest. According to an Associated Press report published 
in Texas newspapers, Formby issued a statement which included 
the following language: 

How did Estes fill grain storage bins with a reported 85 
million bushels unless he had help from high officials in 
Washington? The annual income of Estes must have been 
around $8 million a year. The question unanswered is why 
were his storage bins always full when the bins of many other 
grain men were half full? 

The validity of Formby's allegation was not hard to assess. In­
stead of being full, as charged by Formby, Estes' warehouses actually 
contained a total of not quite 34 million bushels of Government­
owned grain when he was arrested-less than 40 percent of their 87 
million bushel capacity. An additional 12 million bushels of grain 
belonging to producers who had pledged it as collateral for Govern­
ment loans was also stored in Estes' facilities, but even if loan grain 
had been included the total would have reached only 46 million bush­
els-less than 55 percent of capacity. 

Many other rumors and accusations were publicly circulated con­
cerning the manner in which Estes obtained Government grain for 
storage; most of them involved a comparatively few basic charges. 
Some of these charges related to alleged preferential treatment of 
Estes by Government employees in ordering shipments of grain to and 
from his warehouses; in substance they were: 

1. Unnecessary shipments of gram were made from the Kansas 
area to Estes' warehouses, bypassing available storage space in 
the Kansas area on the way to west Texas. 

2. Estes' warehouses were given preference over those of 
competitors in the allocation of Government grain being "recon­
centrated" for further storage. In addition to general allegations 
of favoritism in allocation of grain shipments, specific charges 
were made that-

(a) Shipments were dispatched to Estes' warehouses 
before construction was completed, causing a serious accu­
mulation of unloaded railroad cars. 

(b) Substantial unnecessary freight costs were incurred 
through shipments of grain to Estes' facilities when ship­
ments could have been made at a lower cost to warehouses 
in other parts of Texas. 

3. Estes' warehouses were not unloaded as rapidly as those of 
his competitors. 

Another category of allegations involved the offering of free storage 
and other inducements to producers in order to obtain grain for 
storage. 

No evidence--or even specific allegations--of favoritism in ship­
ments of Government grain to Estes' warehouses was submitted 
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by anyone directly to the subcommittee; however, an effort was 
made to confirm or disprove every such allegation which came to 
the subcommittee's attention through news reports or its own in­
vestigat.ion. This was not an easy task. Practically all of the 
allegations were general rather than specific, and most of them 
necessitated examining the treatment of Estes' competitors, as well 
as Estes himself, in order to determine whether he had received 
preferential treatment. In its examination of this subject, the 
subcommittee made considerable use of information developed by 
personnel from the General Accounting Office on temporary assign­
ment to the Senate Committee on Government Operations. On 
this assignment, GAO staff members reviewed movements of CCC­
owned grain through the Dallas Commodity Office area (Arkansas, 
Louisiana, New Mexico, Oklahoma, and Texas) during calendar 
year 1961. The review was made by personnel from GAO offices in 
Washington, Dallas, Kansas City, and Chicago who were experienced 
in grain storage and transportation matters. Other GAO personnel 
also examined shipments of grain into Estes' warehouses to determine 
whether any excess transportation costs to the Government resulted 
from such shipments. 

Through the courtesy of Chairman McClellan of the Senate com­
mittee, the subcommittee was given access to data developed in the 
review by GAO personnel on assignment to that committee. Comer 
Harvill, the GAO supervisory accountant who had been in immediate 
charge of the work done for the Senate committee, was then tempo­
rarily assigned to the subcommittee by the General Accounting 
Office. While on this assignment, Mr. Harvill prepared a statement 
for the subcommittee based primarily on the data collected in the 
earlier study for the Senate committee. Mr. Harvill's full statement 
appears on page 393 in the appendix of this report. 
Grain Movement Patterns and Procedures 

An understanding of the usual pattern for movement of CCC and 
privately-owned grain is essential in evaluating the propriety of 
shipments to Estes' warehouses. In its operations, the Commodity 
Credit Corporation normally utilizes the "usual and customary 
channels, facilities, and arrangements of trade and commerce" in 
warehousing and transporting its inventories of agricultural com­
modities. Consequently, grain acquired by CCC from producers 
under the price-support program is, for the most part, stored in 
commercialwarehouses, and shipments of Government grain usually 
follow the same pattern as movements of privately-owned grain. 

At harvesttime, producers normally bring grain by truck to 
"country" elevators near the point of production. The grain may be 
sold to the elevator or, if eligible, pledged at the elevator as collateral 
for a price-support loan; if the producer does not redeem it by paying 
off the loan within a specified time, the grain is then "taken over" 
by CCC. Some grain (usually feed grain) is sold at country points 
to meet local needs; marketing of the remainder is handled through 
shipments to "terminal" elevators. Terminals have official weight 
and grading services which are not available at country elevators and 
are normally situated at more convenient locations for marketing 
and further transportation. 
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Wheat produced in the Kansas area which is sold for export usually 
moves by rail from terminal elevators, many of them in Kansas City, 
to Texas and Louisiana port cities. Because of insufficient space at 
port elevators, grain intended for export frequently cannot be moved 
directly from Kansas terminals to port locations; in such cases, it is 
usually stored in terminal elevators en route. 

Grain storage operations of the Commodity Credit Corporation, 
the wholly owned Government corporation which holds legal title to 
Government commodity inventories, are carried on through Depart­
ment of Agriculture employees in Washington and in regional com­
modity offices. During the period covered by the subcommittee's 
investigation, two regional commodity offices were involved in ship­
ments of Government grain to west Texas elevators for stol'age. 
They were the Kansas City office, which handled Government grain 
storage operations in Kansas, Nebraska, Missouri, Colorado, and 
Wyoming, and the Dallas office, which had responsibility for operations 
in Texas, Oklahoma, New Mexico, Louisiana, and other States. (In 
1963, the Dallas Commodity Office was closed and its duties assumed 
by the Kansas City office.) 

Donald Smith, director of the Kansas City Commodity Office, 
testified at subcommittee hearings that his office analyzed the need 
for "reconcentration" movements (movement of grain for further 
storage) in the Kansas City area, coordinating its work with the Dallas 
and Washington offices. Smith told the subcommittee: 

* * * It is our responsibility to review the situation in 
the area as to the storage needs as we can foresee them in 
the future, not only for Commodity Credit Corporation's 
requirements on grain that they may take over from price­
support operat10ns, but also to make certain that there is 
adequate space available for the producers to store their 
new crop. 

Consequently, it is our responsibility to attempt to analyze 
this situation as far in advance as we can and to project the 
needs and then plan actions necessary to give the necessary 
relief to the storage situation in our area. * * * 

Generally the overall plans are proposed by our office and 
when space is available in the Dallas area, the Dallas office 
and our office generally work in conjunction with one another 
in determining the movement into that area. Movements 
to some of the other areas are generally specifically authorized 
out of the Washington office. In all instances, the general 
movement of grain on the reconcentration program is known 
to my Washington superiors through various communications. 

Smith testified that movements of grain from the Kansas City area 
are made for two purposes-to meet program needs such as export 
and domestic sales of CCC grain, and to free space needed for storage 
of CCC and producer grain. Smith described the normal movement 
of wheat being shipped from the Kansas City area as follows: 

Generally the wheat would move out of our area to the 
southeast, or to the south, or the gulf. That is the normal 
movement for most of the wheat that is produced in the 
Kansas City area. The freight rate structures are set up to 
provide that type of a movement. * * * 
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Policy Considerations Relating to Grain Movements 
According to USDA witnesses, it is the policy of the Commodity 

Credit Corporation not to move Government-owned grain unneces­
sarily from the point where it is originally stored. Donald Smith 
described his understanding of this policy in the following testimony 
at subcommittee hearings: 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Is it the policy of Commodity Credit 
Corporation that grain is not to be moved from the point 
of production, unless such movements are necessary? 

Mr. SMITH. That is correct. Necessary for the purpose 
of program needs, necessary for the purpose of providing 
space for grain which we acquire as a result of price support, 
and necessary to provide space for the oncoming crop. 

The reasoning behind CCC's policy against unnecessary grain 
movements was explained by C. H. Moseley, Director of the Dallas 
Commodity Office. In his testimony Mr. Moseley told why CCC 
prefers "flat" grain (grain which has not been moved bv rail) to 
grain which has been shipped by- rail from the producing ..area to a 
storage facility at another locat10n: 

Mr. NAUGHTON.rs it more advantageous for Commodity 
Credit to have grain in storage, without billing, assuming this 
is where it was brought by the producer? 

Mr. MosELEY. Very definitely. We always prefer flat 
grain, and we prefer to leave our flat grain flat as long as pos­
sible, for several reasons. 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Would you explain those for the record? 
Mr. MosELEY. Yes. 
First, we don't like to have the money tied up in trans­

portation. Second, we don't like to have to pay annual 
renewal charges on the freight. Third, because of the in­
fluence of truck competition, in our area at least, flat grain 
is worth more than rail grain with the freight backed off. 
The flat grain, of course, can go anywhere. It is in the ideal 
merchandising position, because it can go anyplace. With 
the rail grain, you are tied up as to where you can go. 

Analysis of Shipments 
An analysis of CCC accounting records made by GAO personnel on 

temporary assignment to the Senate Committee on Government 
Operations disclosed that a total of 16.5 million bushels of CCC grain 
had been ordered shipped to United Elevators and other Estes-related 
facilities (Hale County Grain Co., Palo Duro Grain Co., Allied 
Elevators, and South Plains Grain Co.) by Government employees. 
This was 37 percent of the total amount of 44.8 million bushels of 
Government-owned grain which Estes acquired for storage. Of the 
16.5 million bushels, 8.5 million was reconcentrated from the Kansas 
City Commodity Office area and the other 8 million was shipped 
from within the Dallas Commodity Office area. (The remaining 
28.3 million bushels of CCC grain acquired by Estes was in storage 
when he acquired elevators, or was obtained through producers or 
other warehousemen; because USDA had loaded out 11.1 million 
bushels of grain prior to Estes' arrest, only 33. 7 million bushels was 
still in storage at the end of March 1962.) 
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The analysis of CCC records showed that 3.5 million bushels of 
GovQl.'nment grain (22 percent of the 16.5 million bushel total) was 
shipped to Estes' facilities in 1959 and 1960; the other 13 million 
bushels was shipped during 1961; 8.6 million bushels of the total 
movement was wheat and the remaining 7.9 million was grain sorghum. 
Most of the wheat originated in the Kansas City Commodity Office 
area, while shipments from within the Dallas office area were pri­
marily grain sorghum. The heaviest movement to Estes' facilities 
took place in the late spring and early summer of 1961, when about 
7.5 million bushels of wheat and nearly 2 million bushels of grain 
sorghum were received. (A table showing shipments of grain to 
Estes' warehouses by years appears in appendix 13A, p. 428.) 

The grain shipped to Estes' warehouses from the Kansas City area 
during 1959, 1960, and 1961 was only a small part of the total move­
ment of grain from the Kansas City area during the 3-year period. 
USDA records indicate that reconcentration orders for a total of 312 
million bushels of grain were issued by the Kansas City Commodity 
Office during calendar years 1959 through 1961 ; of this total 273 
million bushels was ordered shipped to the Dallas office area and 
8.5 million went to Estes' facilities. 

Donald Smith, director of the Kansas City Commodity Office, told 
the subcommittee that shipments out of country elevators in his area 
had been necessary to make room for grain to be harvested, and that 
shipments to the Dallas area were made only because terminal space 
was ·not available in the Kansas City area. Smith described the 
situation in 1961 as follows: 

* * * in 1961 when our movement out of the area was 
substantial, we had many, many requests from terminal 
elevators to move grain out. And we had to move grain 
out of terminal elevators in order to make space for grain 
we were bringing in from the country. In that year we 
moved around 110 million bushels of grain out of country 
elevators into terminal space in our area, and in order to 
make room for that grain, we had to move grain out of the 
terminals, to program needs or to other areas. 

N e,cessity for Shipments From Kansas City Area 
In his statement to the subcommittee, Comer Harvill gave the 

following description of the investigation his group made to ascertain 
whether 1961 movements from the Kansas City area were necessary: 

In addition to reviewing the commodity office records in 
this matter, we interviewed the president of the Terminal 
Elevator Grain Merchants' Association in Kansas City. 
The association represents all of the major terminal mer­
chandisers, comprising more than 1 billion bushels of capacity, 
of which about 321 million bushels is located within the 
Kansas City area. The president of the association con­
firmed the information contained in tM commodity office 
records with respect to the tight storage situation, and the 
plans for reconcentrating grain out of the Kansas City area. 
He also informed us that he had received no complaints 
from the members of the association that space offered t-A 
CCC was not being utilized during the reconcentratio,-, 
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We also reviewed the CCC occupancy of all Kansas City 
area terminals east of Salina, Kans. (107 terminals), al!d. 
interviewed all warehousemen storing CCC-owned grain at 
an average of less than 60 percent of their capacity during 
the quarter ended June 30, 1961. The interviews, with 
warehousemen representing 37 terminals, included reviews 
of the warehouse records where necessary, and were oriented 
toward determining whether the Kansas City commodity 
office knowingly bypassed available terminal space in 
shinping grain into the Dallas area. 

The review disclosed no indication that the Kansas City 
Commodity Office had bypassed eligible terminal elevators 
in the Kansas City area m order to send grain to Estes' 
warehouses. 

Donald Smith told the subcommittee that the. Kansas City area 
"had an acute grain storage situation up until about October of 1961"; 
after that time, Smith stated, the shortage of storage space eased. 
Most of the grain shipped to Estes' facilities in 1961 arrived at its 
destinations in May, June, and July, with the final small shipments 
reaching there before the end of September. 

Since part of the Government grain shipped into Billie Sol Estes' 
facilities originated from warehouses within the Dallas area, GAO 
personnel also reviewed reconcentration of CCC-owned grain from 
other Texas warehouses into Estes' elevators. Comer Harvill 
described the result as follows : 

* * * The review disclosed that these movements were 
made from country warehouses to terminals in accordance 
with normal procedures. Specific allegations as to the ship­
ment of grain from three country warehouses located within 
the Plainview area into United Elevators, Plainview, were 
checked. Interviews with the warehousemen, and a review 
of the Dallas Commodity Office records, disclosed that two 
of the three warehousemen had requested that the CCC 
grain be moved, and the third movement wa.s a normal 
reconcentration. 

The detailed review by GAO personnel of CCC shipments to Estes' 
warehouses did not cover the 3.5 million bushels of grain shipped to 
these facilities prior to 1961. The subcommittee's investigation of 
this subject also did not include a specific examination of the 1959 
and 1960 shipments of Government grain to Estes' facilities; however, 
the subcommittee's ~eneral investigation did not disclose any indica­
tion of irregularities m these shipments. 
Grain Allocation Procedures 

The directors of both the Kansas City and Dallas Commodity Offices 
told the subcommittee that, while their superiors in Washington were 
informed of general movements of grain from one commodity office 
area to another, Washington did not decide and was not informed 
which elevators received grain shipments. Both men testified that 
the Kansas City office decided whether shipments to the Dallas area 
were necessary, and the Dallas office decided which warehouses in its 
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area would receive the shipments. Donald Smith, director of the 
Kansas City office, told the subcommittee: 

Mr. NAUGHTON.Do your Washington superiors know to 
which elevators grain is being shipped, particular elevators? 

Mr. SMITH. No, sir. * * * 
Mr. NAUGHTON.Now, when you get an order, let's say, 

for shipment of a million bushels of grain from the Kansas 
City area down to Mr, Moseley's area, would that order indi­
cate which warehouses are to receive that grain or would it 
leave it up to you as to which ones would get it? 

Mr. SMITH. No; the actual elevators that will get the 
grain is determined by the Dallas office and we are instructed 
which elevators to ship the grain to. * * * 

C. H. Moseley, director of the Dallas Commodity Office, confirmed 
Smith's account in the following testimony: 

Mr. FouNTAIN. * * * Did any of your superiors in Wash­
ington have anything to do with the allocation of grain to 
the various storage facilities? 

Mr. MosELEY. They did not. 
Mr. FouNTAIN. That was all done by your office? 
Mr. MosELEY. Yes. 
Mr. FouNTAIN. All Washington does is set policy? 
Mr. MosELEY. Yes. They were mindful of each move­

ment between areas; but they had nothing whatever to do 
with designating the origins; that was done by the Ransas 
City office; or designating the destinations, which was done 
by the Dallas office. 

The subcommittee devoted considerable attention to the reasons 
why one grain storage facility might receive grain shipments in pref­
erence to another, assuming both wanted grain for storage. C. H. 
Moseley, director of the Dallas Commodity Office, told the subcom­
mittee that CCC gave priority first to terminal elevators over country 
warehouses. He gave the following reasons: 

First, it is a normal and customary trade practice. No 
one would move grain into country positions were there not 
a critical shortage of storage space m terminals. 

That situation has prevailed from time to time. 
Secondly, since most of the grain will have to move to ter­

minals ultimately, we would incur an additional in-and-out 
cost if we shipped it first to country houses. 

Third, all terminals have official weights and grades which 
make it possible for us to catalog our inventories and to 
know what our stocks are when the time comes for a sale or 
other disposition. 

Terminals can generally operate faster and make our de­
liveries faster to meet our export schedules. They can mix 
and blend grain and deliver out uniform qualities in a manner 
most advantageous to the owner 

The terms of the Uniform Grain Storage Agreement are 
more explicit for terminals. We expect and receive accurate 
deliveries of both quality and quantity from a terminal. 

38-588-64--10 
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The terminals not only receive priority on the inbound 
movement; they receive priority on the outbound movement, 
as we make most of our export deliveries from terminals. 

Moseley described the factors involved in choosing between terminal 
elevators as follows: 

The first consideration-and here are several of the con­
siderations-the first one is the amount of space offered 
which can best meet our needs as I have described them. 

Then we attempt frequently to select qualities and quan­
tities to fit existing stocks by moving mto terminals the 
proper qualities and quantities of grain, to enhance our mer­
chandising position. 

We must consider the age and the quality of the old rail 
billing held by the terminals, both before and after the move­
ment. 

For example, a terminal may hold old billing which it is 
imperative to move; and yet the stocks of grain may not be 
suitable for immediate merchandising. The addition of the 
proper qualities and quantities of new grain may enable us 
to move out the old billing. 

In many years an important consideration is to save some 
space for local needs because we must meet the harvests as 
they approach. We give some consideration to the record of 
terminal warehousemen in doing a good job and in meeting 
our load-out schedules. 

Then, last in this list of criteria is reasonably equitable 
treatment of terminal warehousemen. 

During periods when Dallas area terminal warehousemen offered 
more storage space than there was grain to fill it, a grain allocation 
committee of the Dallas Commodity Office determined the amount 
of grain to be shipped to each warehouse. This committee was 
formally established by Moseley on March 22, 1960, but had operated 
informally prior to that time. In his testimony, Moseley gave the 
following description of the committee's operations during the period 
when shipments were made to Estes' facilities: 

* * * it is composed of four men-a marketing specialist, 
a traffic man, a storage specialist, and an allocation and 
shipping man. * * • They decide which warehousemen are 
to receive the grain based on our policies and based on the 
various criteria which must be considered. 

Our basic policy is ·very simple: That it must be what is 
in the public interest. From there on, it becomes quite 
complicated, as we must weigh the many factors which 
determine where grain can be stored best. 

Alleged Prejerenti,aJ, Allocation of Grain 
The charge that Billie Sol ~stes had received preferential treatment 

in the allocation of Government grain shipments, as compared with 
other Texas warehousemen, was one of the more frequent and per­
sistent allegations made concerning his operations. 

In testimony before the subcommittee, USDA witnesses denied 
emphatically that Estes had received preferential treatment either in 
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the allocation of CCC grain shipments or in the acquisition of Govern­
ment grain by other means. To support their position, the witnesses 
relied heavily on tables comparing the amount of Government grain 
in Estes' facilities with the amount stored in other Texas warehouses; 
they also presented tables comparing space offered and shipments 
allocated to Estes' houses with similar data for other warehouaemen. 
This data related, for the most part, only to Estes' major storage 
enterprise, United Elevators, and did not include figures for the 
other warehouses in which Estes had an interest; however, it is 
doubtful that mclusion of the other storage operations (Hale County 
Grain Co., Palo Duro Grain Co., Allied Elevators, and South Plains 
Grain Co.) would have made any significant difference in the picture 
presented. 

When Estes was arrested in March 1962, Agriculture Department 
witnesses pointed out, United Elevators had a total capacity of 
approximately 54 million bushels of which less than half-approxi­
mately 25.6 million bushels-was being utilized to store Government­
owned grain. The witnesses stressed the fact that United Elevators 
had only 47 percent of its approved space filled with Government 
grain, while the warehouse operators with the four next largest 
capacities in Texas had their space from 52 to 77 percent occupied 
by Government grain at the same time. 

The Department of Agriculture also provided a table showing 
that all west Texas terminal elevators in which Billie Sol Estes had no 
interest were filled to an average 63 percent of capacity with Govern­
ment grain at the time of his arrest, as compared with United's 47 
percent. However, the Department's statistics did not reflect the fact 
that United Elevators had completed construction of nearly 9 million 
bushels of storage space after the 1961 harvest, while three of the 
other four warehousemen had not added any substantial amount of 
additional storage capacity. 

Still another table presented by USDA indicated that United 
Elevators had offered CCC storage space for more than 20 million 
bushels of grain in 1961 and early 1962 and received allocations 
totaling lAss than 7 million bushes-31 percent of the space offered. 
The table indicated that other terminal warehouses in west Texas in 
which Estes had no interest offered space for 26.5 million bushels of 
grain during the same period and were allocated 19.5 million-73 
percent of the space offered. 

The comparative data presented by the Department of Agriculture 
demonstrated the erroneous nature of some allegations made about 
Estes' acquisition of Government grain-such as the charge that 
his elevators were full while those of his competitors were half empty. 
However, the comparisons did not have much significance to the 
subcommittee beyond that, since the point at issue was not really 
the amount of Government grain in Estes' warehouses but the 
circumstances under which it got there. In testimony at a later 
stage of the subcommittee's hearings, Secretary Freeman conceded 
that percentages were "relatively irrelevant." 
Alleged Shipments to Un.fini,shed Facilities 

Because of the many different factors involved in determining 
which warehouse should receive Government grain shipments, a 
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comparison of the amounts of grain received by different warehouses 
does not have much meaning in the absence of additional information. 
However, if shipments of CCC grain had been sent to Estes' ware­
houses before they were completed it would have strongly indicated 
the existence of either preferential treatment or gross negligence. 
C. H. Moseley, director of the Dallas Commodity Office, was ques­
tioned at subcommittee hearings about allegations that such ship­
ments had been made; he responded as follows: 

* * * The way it was stated, that grain was arriving 011 

track while warehouses were under construction is true as 
far as it goes, because warehouses were under construction 
almost constantly during 1961 and no grain could arrive on 
track at a time when there wasn't a warehouse under con­
struction. 

But the significant fact is that we never allocated to him a 
bushel of grain and never shipped him a bushel of grain until 
after the warehouse had been approved, examined, licensed, 
and bonded. 

Moseley's statement was supported by the investigation conducted 
by GAO personnel. Comer Harvill informed the subcommittee that-

The inquiry at the Dallas Commodity Office into the 
allegation that CCC-owned grain was shipped to Estes' 
warehouses before completion consisted of a comparison 
of the inventory position of United Elevators with commodity 
office grain allocations on a day-to-day basis for a period from 
May 1960 through December 1961. The comparison, based 
on information obtained from sources other than the com­
modity office, as well as the commodity office records, 
disclosed that the commodity office did not allocate CCC­
owned grain to United Elevators before the warehouse space 
was approved under the uniform grain storage agreement. 

The subcommittee's investigation confirmed that there was a 
considerable amount of congestion because freight cars were arriving 
at Estes' major facility in Plainview faster than they could be un­
loaded. C. H. Moseley told the subcommittee that such congestion 
is not uncommon in connection with large-scale grain movements; 
Moseley said the problem was particularly troublesome in 1961 
because: 

Kansas City's needs rose rather late in the season * * *. 
It came at a bad time of year for us, because of our own 
activity and the harvest season, which was imminent. If 
we could always plan these things with certainty, they could 
be strung out over a longer period in a much more orderly 
manner. But the grain had to go someplace and congestion 
always results. 

Wayne Cooper, general manager of Estes' storage operations, 
attributed unloading difficulties to the simultaneous arrival at Plain­
view of shipments from several different origins in Kansas. Cooper 
said that when heavy shipments were coming in from Kansas: 

* * * we experienced some difficulty in unloading for the 
reason that there were various shippers, I think out of Kansas, 
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and rail movement is not consistent, it does not move on a 
24-hour basis, so I think we did experience some difficulty 
there by simultaneous arrival from various elevators. 

C. H. Moseley told the subcommittee that delays in unloading 
freight cars at Plainview did not result in any additional cost to CCC, 
since any demurrage charges incurred had to be paid by Estes. 
Alleged Unnecessary Freight Costs 

Considerable publicity was given after Estes' arrest to allegations 
that a substantial amount of unnecessary freight had been paid in 
order to ship grain to Estes' warehouses, rather than to other Texas 
warehouses. In connection with these allegations, it was pointed out 
that the rail distance from Kansas City to Galveston (export point for 
most grain from west Texas) through west Texas was more than 300 
miles longer than the more direct route through Fort Worth or Dallas. 
However, this was not necessarily significant, since the cost to the 
Government would reflect the rate charged by the railroad, rather 
than the actur.l cost of shipment. 

An important factor to be considered in ascertaining whether un­
necessary freight costs have been incurred is the "transit privilege" 
permitted under railroad tariffs; this privilege permits storage of grain 
en route from origin to ultimate destination under certain circum­
stances without additional freight cost. Storage in transit, if per­
mitted by applicable railroad tariffs, can be at points which are not 
on the most direct rail route from origin to destination. When grain 
intended for export is stored in transit, the "local" freight rate is paid 
for the distance moved from origin to the transit storage point; when 
a further movement is made to the ultimate destination, the shipper 
pays only the difference between the amount already paid and the 
export rate from origin to destination rather than the higher local rate 
from the storage point to the export point. 

Since grain is a fungible commodity, transit billing (which evidences 
entitlement to the transit privilege) does not have to be used on the 
identical grain brought in by rail; it can be applied to an identical 
quantity of grain which arrived at the storage facility by other means 
if the warehouseman so desires. However, the potential value of 
transit billing can be realized only if shipments of grain are made by 
rail to the destinations permitted under the applicable tariffs. Transit 
privileges do not apply to truck shipments. At subcommittee 
hearings, 0. H. Moseley gave the following explanation of the im­
portance of transit privileges: 

Whenever we move grain, if we are not going to final des­
tination, we must store that grain in transit. The rail­
roads provide in their tariffs that we can pay the domestic 
freight rate into the point of storage which can be considera­
bly out of a direct line of movement. It can be stored any­
where in a very broad area. Then when we ultimately move 
the grain out to gulf export, or its final destination, the rates 
are adjusted to where our actual cost is the same as it would 
have been had we gone from the origin point directly to 
gulf export. In other words, the railroads waive any out­
of-line costs which might be incurred. 

Another important factor, of course, is that when the 
grain goes export it takes a cheaper rate. and the rates are 
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then adjusted to where CCC pays the export rate from the 
original point of origin to the final destination, as though it 
were a straight line. 

Grain has several transit stops. You can stop it several 
times. 

These transit privileges also apply to the products. 
You can bring wheat in and it can be milled in transit and 
then the flour and bran moved out on the same transit privi­
lege. This makes it pretty necessary from a practical 
standpoint that we make our reconcentrations by rail and 
not by truck; whereas, when we are going all of the way to 
the gulf, with flat grain, we can go by truck. * * * 

Gf:meral A~counting Office personnel made a comprehensive review 
of freight costs on substantially all shipments of CCC grain into 
warehouses associated with Estes during a 3-year period from A:pril 1, 
1959, through March 31, 1962. The review included grain shipped 
from both Kansas and Texas, and covered about 17.6 niillion bushels 
of grain. (The quantity exceeded the 16.5 million bushels shipped 
to Estes' facilities because the review also included grain shipped to 
the McSpadden Grain Co.) 

Orvel L. Tate, a supervisory traffic management specialist in 
the Transportation Division of the General Accounting Office, gave 
details of the GAO work in the following testimony at subcommittee 
hearings: 

Loading orders that were issued by the Kansas City and 
Dallas ASCS offices were forwarded to the Department's 
main building, and they were sealed when I received them. 
I opened the documents myself, and we conducted a com­
parison of the planned movements indicated in the load 
orders and compared them with other available transporta­
tion costs by alternative routes, to see whether there had 
been any excess costs incurred by the ASCS offices. This 
rate examination was conducted by journeyman technicians. 
All were selected by myself and one of the assistant direc­
tors as being well qualified to do this. 

It was reviewed by three separate individuals, not each 
shipment was reviewed three times, but the three individuals 
reviewed all of the original work done by these technicians 
and it was again given a spot review by myself and another 
technician of the same grade that I am. 

GAO witnesses told the subcommittee that the General Accounting 
Office recovers around $20 million annually in overcharges found 
through its overall audit work on Government freight costs-an 
amount which far exceeds the cost of the audit work and is sufficient 
to pay for a very substantial percentage of GAO's other operations. 
Total freight costs on shipments to Estes' facilities were estimated at 
around $4 million; results of the GAO review of these costs were de­
scribed by Comptroller General Joseph Campbell as follows: 

Our examination disclosed minor differences in rates appli­
cable via alternative routes, resulting in higher net transpor­
tation costs of approximately $650 for 6,679,000 pounds of 
grain out of the approximate total of 531.5 million pounds 
of grain reconcentrated into the warehouse named above. 
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According to Orvel Tate, the $650 additional cost on shipments to 
Estes' facilities was due to clerical errors in making tariff changes and 
probably would be voluntarily refunded if a request were made to the 
railroads involved. Tate said the $650 in additional charges was 
substantially less than the cost of the GAO audit, which required 
550 man-hours. 
Review of Shipments to Estes' Warehouses 

Although evidence deve]oped by GAO personnel and the subcom­
mittee's investigation clearly established that Estes' e]evators were 
complete when shipments were ordered there and that freight costs 
for shipments to his facilities were no higher than to other possible 
destinations, this did not eliminate the possibility that Estes might 
have been given preferential treatment over his competitors in the 
allocation of CCC grain for storage. Neither did the fact that Estes 
received less grain in proportion to the amount of space offered than 
his competitors eliminate this possibility, since much of his space was 
offered after the period of heavy grain shipments and since CCC's 
stated policy in determining where to store grain is t.o give a high 
priority to the best interests of the Government and a low priorit.y to 
equal division among competing warehousemen. 

In view of this, GAO personnel made a thorough review of the 
management considerations involved in allocating grain to Estes' 
warehouses during 1961, the period when the heaviest shipments of 
grain were made to his facilities. The comprehensive nature of this 
review can be seen from the fol1owing description by Comer Harvill 
of the records examined in making it: 

The review of the Dallas Commodity Office's allocation 
of CCC-owned grain to terminals primarily involved the use 
of information compiled by the Dallas Grain Allocation 
Committee, which maintains a card record of each terminal 
warehouse, known as a "terminal participation record." 
Each warehouseman's offer of space to CCC is recorded on 
his card as the offer is made; adjustments are made as grain 
is shipped into the warehouse, and as the warehouseman 
changes his offer. These records, combined with tabulations 
of the type and quality of CCC grain already in store in the 
warehouse serve as a basis for selecting the warehouse to 
receive CCC grain. The records, therefore, are the logical 
basis for reviewing the selection of warehouses to receive 
g_rain, provided the records can be supported as to accuracy. 
The records were verified by (1) reference to a letter survey 
of terminal space available made by the Dallas Commodity 
Office on April 13, 1961, (2) records of telephone offers from 
the warehousemen, (3) interviews with gram terminal ware­
housemen in Fort Worth, and (4) reconciliation of informa­
tion recorded on the terminal participation records with 
accounting data in selected instances. 

In addition to the terminal participation records, we 
utilized (1) daily correspondence between the Kansas City 
and Dallas Commodity Offices covering the 1961 reconcentra­
tions, (2) data processing listings, prepared from accounting 
records, showing the source and disposition of each loading 
order issued during the 1961 reconcentration, (3) data 



146 OPERATIONS OF BILLIE SOL ESTES 

processing listings, showing the source, and the disposition 
of each loading order issued in connection with moving grain 
into or out of Estes' warehouses for the entire period that 
Estes was known to be associated with the warehouses. 
These records were supplemented by documents supporting 
the transactions between the Dallas Commodity Office and 
Estes' warehouses. 

According to Comer Harvill, an analysis of allocation of CCC 
grain to Estes' warehouses and those of about 40 competitors disclosed 
that the key decisions to allocate most of the 13 million bushels 
which Estes received during 1961 were made by the Dallas office 
during April, May, and June of that year. Because of the normal 
timelag between decisions to allocate and actual deliveries of grain, 
the heaviest shipments to Estes' warehouses were in May, June, 
and July. Although some of his competitors received shipments 
after that time, no shipments of CCC grain were made to Estes' 
warehouses after September. 
Shortage of Storage Space in Texas During 1961 

C. H. Moseley, director of the Dallas commodity office, told the 
subcommittee that, although the situation eased considerably later in 
the year, the principal factor considered by his office in allocating grain 
during the spring and summer of 1961, when shipments were being 
made to Estes' warehouses, was where space could be found in terminal 
warehouses in line of transit to the Gulf of Me:x-ico. Moseley said 
CCC was forced to incur added expense to move more than 8 million 
bushels of grain into country warehouses, because suitable terminal 
space was simply not available. He described the situation as follows: 

* * * when we reconcentrate grain it is the only economical 
thing to do, to place that grain in terminal warehouses. 
There was not an excess of storage space in terminal ware­
houses in the second and third quarters of 1961. In fact, 
there was a rather critical shortage of storage space in termi­
nal houses at that time. You understand, of course, that 
this thing changes ve.ry, very rapidly from one year to 
another, and at the present time there is excess space almost 
everywhere in our territory. But at that time the terminals 
were substantially filled with grain, or they were holding 
space in anticipation of the 1961 crop harvest, which is 
their normal function, to receive that grain from farmers. 
The space was not made available to us in the quantities 
which we desired. That is illustrated by the fact that during 
this same period of time we actually reconcentrated more 
than 8 million bushels into country warehouses in Texas 
and Oklahoma., a very undesirable thing to do. There was 
space in country houses and we were forced to use about 8 
million bushels of it, much to our disadvantage. 

The Department of Agriculture furnished the subcommittee with 
a detailed listing showing the location of the country elevators receiving 
grain, and the dates and amounts of CCC grain allocations to these 
elevators. The tabulation showed that a total of 8,507,437 bushels 
of grain-4,388,416 bushels of wheat and 4,119,021 bushels of grain 
sorghum-had been ordered shipped to country elevators between 
April 20 and August 16, 1961. 
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GAO personnel made a detai]ed review to ascertain whether or not 
suitable space in other terminals was avaiJable when grain was 
allocated to Estes' facilities. On the assumption that terminal spac~ 
closest to export ports should have been utilized, if feasible, before 
elevators further inland in order to facilitate prompt delivery when 
export outlets were found, the GAO personnel first checked the 
availability of space near ports and then reviewed the situation 
further inland. Comer Harvill gave the subcommittee the following 
description of what was done: 

* * * starting at the gulf coast and working north, we 
reviewed the daily availability of terminal spare offered to 
CCC in each of 50 competitive terminals located on railroad 
lines from Fort Worth to the gulf coast and in west Texas 
during the months of April, May, and June 1961. Most of 
these terminaJs were not offering any space during this period, 
but a detailed review was made of any space that pos8ibl_y 
could have been used as an aJternative to shipping grain to 
Estes' warehouses. Satisfactory explanations were obtained 
in all situations where space was not used. The most im­
portant reasons why offered space could not be used included 
(1) the Kflnsas City commodity office was shipping wheat 
while many of the terminals were substantially filled with 
CCC-owned grain sorghums and were offering space only 
for grain sorghums, and (2) some terminals were storing 
qualities (particularly protein value) of wheat that could 
not be profitably blended with CCC-owned stocks that were 
being reconcentrated. * * * 

Harvill summed up the results of the review by GAO personnel of 
1961 reconcentrations of grain to Estes' facilities as follows: 

The review disclosed no preferential treatment in the 
allocation of this CCC-owned grain to Estes' warehouses. 

Alleged Favoritism in Loading Out Grain 
Although perhaps not as widespread as charges of preferential 

treatment in shipments into his facilities. t,here were a number of 
allegations of favoritism to Estes in the loading out of Government 
grain. The basic charge made was that Estes' warehouses were 
loaded out at a slower rate than his competitors; another allegation 
made was that warehousemen who complained against Estes ,vere 
loaded out at a faster than average rate. 

C. H. Moseley told the subcommittee that the Dallas commodity 
office had no fixed procedure for al1ocating load-out orders "because 
there are so many, many factors to be considered". Moseley indicated 
that the primal'y consideration is "where we can get the delivery of the 
kind and proteins and test weight and qualities that we require to fill 
out loading orders." Another important factor, according to Moseley, 
is the age of transit billing on rail grain; he explained this as follows: 

* * * after considering the qualities and kinds and grading 
factors of that grain which is needed, then the next criterion 
we look at is the age of the billing. We move the oldest bill­
ing first, in order to protect ourselves against ultimate 
expiration. 
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Another factor limiting CCC's freedom of choice in loading out 
grain, Moseley stated, is that-

Whenever we are selling the grain, it is the buyer who has 
perhaps the loudest voice in determining which warehouse 
we are going to load out. * * * 

Prior to the arrest of Billie Sol Estes, 11.1 million bushels of CCC 
grain had been loaded out of his facilities forr:Jtort or other program 
uses; 6.9 million bushels was wheat and 4.2 · ion bushels was grain 
sorghum. More than 10 million of the 11.1 million bushels was 
shipped out after February 28, 1961, practically all of it in late 1961 
and early 1962. 

During their inquiry, GAO personnel gave specific consideration 
to allegations that Estes had received preference by having his ware­
houses loaded out at a slower rate and that warehousemen who 
complained against Estes were loaded out more rapidly. Comer 
Harvill described the nature and results of this review as follows: 

Since all terminals considered competitive to Estes' ware­
houses were substantially filled by June 30, 1961, load-out was 
not significant in an evaluation of whether preference was 
being given to Estes' warehouse at that time. Our review of 
comparative load-out histories, made largely in conjunction 
with the review of reconcentration of CCC-owned grain into 
the Dallas warehouses, covered the period from November 
1961, through March 1962. During the review, specific con­
sideration was given to allegations that (1) Estes' warehouses 
were given preference by being loaded out at a slower rate 
than other terminals; and (2) warehousemen who complained 
against Estes were being loaded out at a greater rate than 
average. 

The review consisted of summarizing pertinent information 
from the terminal participation record (confirmed as to ac­
curacy as described above) of each terminal under Dallas 
commodity office jurisdiction, and comparing the load-out 
history of each terminal. The history of any warehouse 
showing a greater than average load-out was reviewed in 
detail. The review disclosed no preference either to Estes' 
warehouses or to other warehouses. 

Satisfactory explanation of higher than average rates of 
load-out, obtained in all cases examined, included (1) loading 
out warehouses storing wheat of specific protein content to 
meet export demands; and (2) movements to utilize old 
transit billing in meeting export demands. 

C. H. Moseley told the subcommittee that Estes called him not 
long before his arrest in an unsuccessful attempt to get the classi­
fication of his main facility at Plainview changed from a "9" or 
terminal installation to an "8" or country warehouse in the belief 
this might slow down the rate of unloading. Moseley said Estes 
also contacted others in the Dallas office and Moseley's immediate 
superior in Washington, Frank Hussey, in an attempt to obtain the 
reclassification; he gave the following description of these incidents: 

Mr. NAUGHTON.Did Mr. Estes at any time complain 
about load outs from his elevators? 
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Mr. MosELEY. By inference, at least, he complained in 
the one telephone call I received from him. That was the 
only time I ever carried on a conversation with him. You 
will recall from my earlier testimony he wanted to change 
his warehouse from a 9 house to an 8 house for the purpose 
of slowing down our load out. 

Mr. NAUGHTON.You normally load out from terminal 
elevators? 

Mr. MosELEY. Yes; and we were calling upon him rather 
heavily for deliveries of milo on sales, and we were not 
calling on 8 houses to that extent, and he wanted to change 
over, and I refused to do that. 

Mr. FouNTAIN. When was that? 
Mr. MosELEY. It was quite recently. I think perhaps in 

January of this year. 
Mr. NAUGHTON.Did you have any discussion with Mr. 

Hussey concerning this attempt by Estes to get his Plain­
view facility reclassified? 

Mr. MosELEY. Yes. Mr. Hussey told me that Mr. Estes 
had spoken to him about it, also. 

Mr. NAUGHTON.What was the substance of your conver­
sation? 

Mr. MosELEY. We just discussed the problem, and our 
unwillingness to permit a warehouseman to give poorer serv­
ice to the Government. And we agreed that the change 
should not be made. 

I might say previously that I had been told that some of 
Mr. Estes' people had made the request of some of the people 
in my office. I had learned through m;y-staff 'that the ques­
tion had been raised concerning changmg United Elevators 
at Plainview from a 9 house to an 8 house; and my staff had 
told them "No.," as I did. . 

Mr. NAUGHTON.How was it raised with your staff, do 
you know? And with which staff people? 

Mr. MosELEY. I don't remember for sure. Probably 
someone from the Storage Management Division told me the 
question had been raised and they had given a negative 
reply, and I concurred in that. 

While the subcommittee did not find any indication that other 
warehouse operators tried to get the classification of their facilities 
changed, Billie Sol Estes was by no means the only one who was un­
happy about the rapid load out of Goverp.ment grain during late 1961 
and early 1962. Secretary Freeman told the subcommittee in his 
testimony that "commercial storage operators protested quite vigor­
ously"; the Secretary also said the Department of Agriculture "re­
ceived dozens-perhaps hundreds-of letters from warehousemen 
protesting the load out." 
Claims of Influence 

Although a thorough investigation developed no credible evidence 
to support his allegations, the subcommittee found ample evidence 
that Billie Sol Estes himself claimed or suggested he could obtain 
Government grain for storage by means of influence, political pressure, 



150 OPERATIONS OF BILLIE SOL ESTES 

or bribery. Frank M. Phariss, assistant general manager of Producers 
Grain Corp., Amarillo, stated in a September 8, 1961, letter to C. H. 
Moseley concerning Estes that: 

* * * The Department and the present administration is 
getting a lot of criticism because of some of the rumors 
which have been spread and that actually originated from 
this warehouseman. 

When asked about the rumors, Moseley told the subcommittee that: 
* * * Mr. Estes and his people gave the inference at 

various times that they had no worries in obtaining grain for 
storage. Those inferences were a part of his buildup in 
arranging financing and constructing these buildings as he 
continued his expansion. He was being successful in 
attracting a certain amount of grain from farmers and, in 
order to continue expansion and financing, he painted an 
optimistic picture of his future prospects. 

Testimony of Frank Cain, a Dallas lawyer, at a State hearing in 
Dallas was the source of more specific allegations concerning Estes' 
purported ability to obtain Government grain through improper 
methods. Cain, who represented Pacific Finance Co., had a series 
of meetings with Billie Sol Estes shortly before Estes was arrested; 
the primary purpose of these meetings was to ascertain whether a 
plan could be worked out for Estes to pay back money obtained from 
finance companies on fraudulent tank mortgages. According to 
Cain, Estes proposed using grain storage revenues to pay the finance 
companies; Cain attributed to Estes statements to the effect that he 
could keep his stm-age facilities full of Government grain through 
"payoffs" of "a hundred thousand to two hundred thousand dollars 
a year." Cain said Estes gave no details concerning the identity of 
persons allegedly receiving "payoffs," and the subcommittee found no 
evidence that any had been made. Cain himself testified that he did 
not believe Estes was telling the truth. 

GRAIN ACQUIRED FROM PRIVATE SOURCES 

Sources of Grain Stored by Estes 
When Billie Sol Estes was arrested in March 1962, a total of 44.8 

million bushels of Government-owned grain either were or had been 
stored in his warehouse. An additional 12.3 million bushels of grain 
being stored in Estes' warehouses by producers at the time of his 
arrest was acquired by CCC under the price-support program on 
April 1, 1962. 

An analysis by GAO personnel disclosed that only 37 percent-
16.5 million bushels-of the 44.8 million bushels of Government grain 
stored in Estes' facilities for varying periods of time prior to his 
arrest was directed there by Government employees; the other 63 
percent was acquired through the actions of private firms or indi­
viduals. 

The analysis by GAO personnel showed that 13 percent of the 
CCC-owned grain-5.9 million bushels-was already in storage in 
warehouses at the time they were acquired by Estes. Another 16 
percent-7 million bushels--was acquired through "exchange' 
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transactions with Cargill and other warehouse operators. These 
transactions were described by Comer Harvill, who supervised the 
GAO personnel, as follows: 

* * * The exchange contract was developed by the Dallas 
commodity office to reduce the loss of value in transit billing 
as it ages. The contract permits CCC to exchange grain 
having transit billing with a grain merchandiser, who will 
ship the grain immediately, for grain sold to the merchandiser 
in various warehouses without transit billing. Each exchange 
is initiated from the grain trade. Most of the requests come 
from exporters. The warehouseman actually storing the 
grain is usually not a party to the transaction; ownership 
of the grain in store has merely changed hands. 

The inquiry for the Senate subcommittee disclosed that 
Cargill, Inc., a worldwide merchandiser, had owned most of 
the 7 million bushels of grain in Estes' warehouses prior to 
exchanging it with CCC for grain stored in other warehouses. 
The grain which Cargill received was, in most cases, delivered 
to Cargill's export warehouse at Port Arthur, Tex. Inter­
views with personnel of Cargill, and a review of the Dallas 
commodity office records disclosed that Cargill had also 
purchased substantial quantities of CCC-owned grain stores 
in Estes' warehouses. The review disclosed no irregularities. 

Thirty-four percent of all Government grain which was in or had 
passed through Billie Sol Estes' storage facilities before his arrest-
15.4 million bushels-belonged to producers at the time it was brought 
to his warehouses and was later taken over by the Government under 
the price support program. Although this was slightly less than the 
37 percent (16.5 million bushels) which entered Estes' warehouses 
through Government shipments, the producer grain was more im­
portant as a source of storage revenue. 

This was true because the bulk of Government shipments were not 
made until 1961, and most of the wheat shipped in at that time was 
loaded out within a few months; on the other hand, substantial 
amounts of grain sorghum brought in by producers as early as 1959 
were still in storage when Estes was arrested. Since production of 
wheat is comparatively limited in the area in which Estes' ware­
houses were located, almost all of the producer grain acquired was 
grain sorghum. Grain sorghum accounted for more than 85 per­
cent of the storage revenues of United Elevators, Estes' major 
storage operation. 
Heavy Production of Grain Sorghum 

The predominance of grain sorghum as a source of storage revenue 
for Billie Sol Estes is hardly surprising in view of the location of his 
warehouses in the heart of the heaviest sorghum producing area in 
the Nation. C. H. Moseley gave the following testimony on this 
point at subcommittee hearings: 

Mr. FouNTAIN. Was the production of grain sorghum 
concentrated in that area? 

Mr. MosELEY. The production of grain sorghum was 
concentrated in that area . That is the largest grain sorghum 
producing area in the Nation. 
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Mr. FouNTAIN. I ask that question because as I recall 
in examining one of the maps which we had in one of our 
reports, it indicated to me that practically all of the grain 
sorghum was concentrated in the States of Texas and 
Kansas. 

Mr. MosELEY. And concentrated on the South Plains. 
Hale County, Tex., the county where Plainview is located, 
grows more grain sorghum than a great many States do, a 
great many grain sorghum States. 

Billie Sol Estes built or acquired grain storage facilities in eight 
different counties of the Texas Plains area. Seven of these counties­
and 7 more counties adjoining them-were among the leading 20 
counties in the Nation in acreage of sorghum, according to the 1959 
U.S. Census of Agriculture. These 14 counties had a combined total 
acreage of 2.7 million acres of sorghum in 1959, more than 15 percent 
of the national total. However, because production per acre on the 
irrigated and heavily fertilized land of the Plains area far exceeds the 
national average, the 14 counties produced 113 million bushels of 
grain sorghum that year, more than 20 percent of the national total. 
Hale County, in which Estes' largest storage facility was located, 
produced nearly 16 million bushels, a total exceeded by only six States. 

The 1959 production of grain sorghum in the areas near Este's ware­
houses was almost double the amount produced in 1954, according to 
production statistics from the U.S. Census of Agriculture. Wayne 
Cooper, general manager of Estes' storage operations, attributed the 
increase to greater use of fertilizer. Cooper gave the subcommittee 
the following description of sorghum production in the Plains area: 

Our area production is relatively stable. Hale County, 
in which Plainview is located, I think you will find probably 
95 percent under irrigation. It is not dependent upon rain­
fall, and production, when the acreage is planted, is assured. 
So, there is not much gamble on the production in the 
irrigated section. 

The harvest in that area has been increased considerably 
by the application and more use of fertilizer, and produc­
tion since the time that I went into the grain business in 
1955 has probably gone from an average of say 2,000 to 
2,500 pounds to the acre to a possible average of 5,000 to 
6,000 pounds to the acre at present. Now that is since 
1955. I might be off on my figures, but they are roughly 
correct. 

Lloyd Stone, an employee of Estes in the Lester-Stone Co. at 
Plainview, linked the increase in grain sorghum production to reduced 
prices for anhydrous ammonia in the following testimony at Plainview: 

Q. Now, on that score, is it a fact that a cheaper price on 
anhydrous ammonia actually increased the total production 
of grain in the area here? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Can you give me some idea on the figures on that on a 

per acre basis? 
A. I think up until the time that ammonia got so cheap 

that the average production, probably, of Hale County, was 
some 4,000 pounds per acre, and that also with hybrids 
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considered. But with the increased use of fertilizer, and 
most people use twice as much as they had ever used be­
fore because they were buying it at a price that they could 
afford to do that. And, in the process, I imagine Hale 
County this year probably averaged 6,000 pounds to the acre. 

Selection of TFarehouse by Producers 
Under provisions of the price-support program, producers may ob­

tain _CCC loans on eligible grain at harvesttime. If the producer 
repays the loan at any time before a specified "takeover" date, the 
grain remains his property; if the loan is not repaid, the grain be­
comes the property of CCC. Price-support loans can be obtained on 
grain stored on the farm, a practice which is customary procedure in 
Midwestern corngrowing areas. However, most price-support loans 
for wheat and grain sorghum are made on grain stored in commercial 
warehouses; rf price-support loans are not repaid, CCC takes owner­
ship of the grain in storage. Almost all producer-owned grain stored 
in Estes' facilities was grain sorghum, which is harvested in the fall of 
the year and, if not redeemed by its owner, taken over by CCC on 
April 1 of the following year. 

In order to be eligible for price-support loans, grain stored in 
commercial warehouses must be in a facility approved for the storage 
of CCC grain; however, under CCC procedures, the producer selects 
the particular wanhouse in which his grain is to be stored. Grain 
taken over by CCC normally remains in storage in the same ware­
house indefinitely, being moved out only when necessary to meet 
program needs or to make space for grain being harvested. The 
producer is responsible for paying storage charges up to the takeover 
date; after that time payments are made by CCC. 

When asked at subcommittee hearings whether CCC exercised any 
control or influence over the choice of an elevator for storage of loan 
grain by a producer, C. H. Moseley testified: 

No, sir; we do not. * * * when the farmer delivers at 
harvesttime we definitely have nothing whatever to say 
about it. 

The subcommittee's investigation included interviews with a 
number of producers and competing warehousemen in the area where 
Estes' facilities were located. All those interviewed told subcom­
mittee staff mdmbers that they knew of no instance in which any 
Government officer or employee had influenced or attempted to 
influence producers to store grain in Estes' warehouses. 
Competition j or Producer Grain 

The Commodity Credit Corporation stores grain in more than 
10,000 commercial warehouses throughout the country under terms of 
a standard uniform grain storage agreement (UGSA). This agree­
ment does not. insure that the warehouseman will get any CCC grain 
for storage; it merely approves his facilities for storage of a specified 
maximum quantity of grain. If the facility is subsequently utilized 
for storage of Government grain, the terms and conditions of the 
UGSA apply to tha CCC grain stored there. 

All warehouses storing Government grain are paid a uniform storage 
rate. Prior to July 1, 1960, tha storage rate averaged around 16}6 
cents per bushel on an annual basis; after that tima it was reduced 
to around 13}~ cents per bushel. 
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Grain brought to a warehouse by producers for storage under 
Government price support loans is often stored in the same ware­
house for substantial periods of time after it is taken over by CCC; 
acquisition of such grain is obviously attractive to warehousemen with 
storage space which would otherwise be unused. Although there 
were many local and seasonal exceptions, storage space was generally 
in short supply in major grain-producing areas from the early l 950's 
until late in 1961; under such conditions, the warehouseman could 
fill his elevator at harvesttime with little or no effort. However, 
when the amount of storage space available substantially exceeded 
the amount needed, as has been the case generally since late 1961 and 
occasionally before that time, there was considerable incentive for 
warehousemen to actively seek producer grain for storage. As a 
result, the offering of inducements in order to influonce producers to 
bring grain to a pt1.rticular warehouse was a common practice in many 
producing areas. 

A frequent inducement offered producers by warehousemen was 
free storage for grain sorghum under price support loan from the time 
it was harvested and brought to the elevator in October or November 
until it was taken over by CCC on April 1 of the following year. Since 
the storage rate was more than a cent a bushel per month the free 
storage period was worth more than 5 cents per bushel. According 
to Wayne Cooper, general manager of Estes' storage operations, a 
shorter period of free storage was given producers at first and then 
gradually lengthened; Cooper told the subcommittee: 

* * * It became progressively worse. * * * Three years 
ago, there would have been very little giveaway storage. I 
would say in 1960, for the crop in the fall of 1960, storage 
giveaway probably averaged sometime in January. Then 
last year, 1961, it became almost universal practice in Texas 
that the storage was given away through March 31. 

Cooper freely acknowledged that Billie Sol Estes gave free storage 
to producers; the subcommittee's investigation confirmed his conten­
tion that practically all warehousemen in Texas did the same thing. 
C. H. Moseley told the subcommittee that free storage was not the 
only inducement offered: 

Mr. MosELEY. In addition to free storage there is a prac­
tice of not deducting shrinkage for moisture which is in the 
grain and giving the farmer the benefit of gross weight. 

Mr. FouNTAIN. I think we have brought some of that out 
in some of our previous hearings. 

Mr. MosELEY. There are other inducements, even includ­
ing Gold Bond stamps. 

Mr. FouNTAIN. Including what? 
Mr. MosELEY. Gold Bond stamps, green stamps. 

USDA witnesses told the subcommittee that the Dallas Commodity 
Office was aware that Estes and other Texas warehousemen were 
offering free storage. However, they stated that neither Texas law nor 
the Department of Agriculture's regulations and policies prohibited 
such practices. Roland Ballou, a Washington official of USDA, 
described the Department's position as follows in his testimony: 

Our attitude is that, until such time as Commodity 
Credit. Corporation acquires ownership of the grain in 
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question, the relationship between the producer and the 
elevator operator is their business and not the Depart­
ment's business. We do not purport to be a policeman 
for the storage industry insofar as their competitive prac­
tices are concerned. 

* * * we have consistently taken the attitude that we 
were not in position of exercising control over those prac­
tices. I don't think that the industry has ever recommended 
that the Department institute regulations which regulate the 
competitive position of one elevator against another. 

We have declined to get into that field. 
Although free storage was not against the Department's regu­

lations, USDA officials testified that the practice of purchasing 
producer's equities in loan rrain was prohibited. Warehousemen 
who engaged in this practice, in effect, made cash payments to pro­
ducers to induce them not to redeem g-rain under Government loan; 
as a result, g-rain which might otherwise have been sold on the com­
mercial market was acquired by CCC and remained in the warehouse 
at Government expense. C. H. Moseley testified that the Depart­
ment of A!!riculture took steps to halt this practice: 

* * * we have definitely frowned upon the purchasing of 
equities in this manner. It is a violation of the regulations 
in the handbook for warehousemen to purchase equities. We 
have investigated a number of warehousemen and we have 
admonished them not to do it. 

Moseley told the subcommittee that confusion between the offering 
of free storage (which was permitted under USDA regulations) and 
the purchase of equities (which was not allowed) probably led to 
allegations that Estes had been permitted to offer free storage while 
his competitors had been restrained from doing so. 
Alleged Use of Low-Cost Ammonia as Storage Inducement 

In its investigation, the subcommittee gave particular attention 
to the allegation that Billie Sol Estes had obtained producer grain for 
storage in return for selling them anhydrous ammonia at reduced 
prices. A letter from Estes to Wayne Cooper, general manager of 
his storage operations, on December 28, 1960, clearly indicates that 
Estes was considering offering a discount on fertilizer to producers 
in return for their promises to store grain in his facilities. In the 
letter, Estes stated: 

* * * my thinking now is that we should try this fertilizer 
deal whereby we will give IO-percent discount off of what­
ever the prevailing price is in the area and give this discount 
the 10th of the month to farmers. I understand if we are not 
competitive in every way, that the farmers would not be 
obligated in any way to bring us their grain. If Continental 
should get the grain, we couldn't hold them liable. 

I think we should do this in the name of Wheeler Fertilizer 
Co. and see bow it works. You know a smart man is a man 
that can win a battle and not get blood all over him, and I 
feel this will cause some commotion among the fertilizer 
people, but I believe it will work. 



156 OPERATIONS OF BILLIE SOL ESTES 

Let's try to put this into action in the Hereford area. 
You and Stoney [Lloyd Stone of the Lester-Stone Co.] 
think this over, and we will make a definite decision and 
give it a try. 

However, Wayne Cooper told the subcommittee that the fertilizer­
grain storage proposal was never put into effect. Cooper testified 
that: 

I am sure that it was Mr. Estes' intention at that time to 
try to work a tie between grain and fertilizer: He tried that 
on several occasions in telephone conversations with me, and 
it just never happened, we never combined them; I never 
solicited a farm customer on the basis of a reduction of fer­
tilizer cost to him, for his grain business, in all my time with 
Estes. So I think the results, the end results of that, were 
absolutely nil. 

Gerron S. "Mutt" Wheeler, who operated the Wheeler Fertilizer 
Co. for Estes, also denied that fertilizer sales had been tied to grain 
storage. Wheeler gave the following testimony at a hearing in 
Amarillo: 

Q. * * * Did you give any special concessions in the sale of 
anhydrous ammonia to a farmer if he would store grain in 
one of Estes' grain elevators? 

A. No, sir. 
Q. You did not? 
A. No. 
Q. In your operation there wasn't any hooking of the grain 

storage business to the ammonia sales? 
A. No, sir. 

Subcommittee staff members interviewed a number of producers 
and competing warehousemen in the Plainview area; according to 
their statements, none of those interviewed had been offered reduced 
ammonia prices as an inducement to bring grain to Estes' warehouses, 
nor did they know of such an inducement beinp-offered to anyone else. 
The subcommittee's investi~ation disclosed, moreover, that the 
Department of Agriculture took the position that fertilizer discounts­
like other inducements offered to secure -grain-were not prohibited 
by its regulations. On April 7, 1960, the office of Senator Ralph 
Yarborough of Texas forwarded to the Department a complaint from 
a Texas constituent that: 

Payments for storing p-ain and other co:q1modities are so 
high that this storage has become a very lucrative business. 
To obtain grain to store, persons are cutting fertilizer prices 
and :.are encouraging a vicious circle of overplanting. It 
is grossly unfair business competition for a storer of grain 
to lose money selling fertilizer in order to reap more profit 
on his storage business. 

On April 20, 1960, Raymond J. Pollock, then Director of the 
Grain Division, in the Washington Office of USDA's Commodity 
Stabilization Service, sent th!3 following reply to Senator Yarborough: 

This is in reply to your letter of April 7, 1960, enclosing 
a letter from Mr. Richard T. Weber, Pasadena, Tex., com-
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menting on practices being followed wherein some grain 
warehousemen are cutting the price of fertilizer in order to 
attract storage business. 

You are probably aware there is a surplus of grain ware­
house space existing in the Southwest at the present time. 
Under such conditions it is not uncommon for warehouse­
men to offer various forms of inducements to attract cus­
tomers. Apparently the situation referred to in Mr. 
Weber's letter is one type of inducement currently being 
employed. We have heard of others such as warehousemen 
offering producers free storage time. 

Any such inducements or arrangements made between pro­
ducers and warehousemen prior to the time that Commodity 
Credit Corporation has an interest in the commodity, are 
beyond our _Lurisdiction and must be resolved by the parties 
involved. We therefore are unable to take or suggest any 
remedial action in the instant case. 

According to testimony at subcommittee hearings, Pollock did not 
call the allegations made in Weber's letter to the attention of the 
Dallas Commodity Office. In December 1960, Estes made arrange­
ments to have Lucian Morehead, a· Plainview lawyer, contact the 
Dallas Commodity Office concernmg the legality of offering discounts 
on fertilizer to obtain grain for storage. In a letter to Estes on 
December 22, 1960, Wayne Cooper reported the results of this inquiry 
as follows: 

* * * it has been developed through Lucian Morehead in 
his conversation with the Dallas Commodity Office that 
they do not regard such discounts as in violation of any rules 
or regulations under the uniform grain storage agreement 
or other commodity requirements. 

Estes' Methods of Obtaining Producer Grain 
Although Estes offered producers free storage, this practice did not 

give him a significant competitive advantage because other warehouse­
men were matching his off er. However, a number of other factors 
worked to Estes' advantage in obtaining grain from producers. 

Wayne Cooper, general manager of Estes' storage operations, told 
the subcommittee that Estes retained the same management when he 
acquired additional warehouses as a means of promoting goodwill and 
thereby obtaining grain for storage. Cooper's testimony on this point 
at subcommittee hearings was as follows: 

Mr. FouNTAIN. What sort of program· of public relations 
did you have in effect in an effort to get the farmers to store 
their grain in Mr. Estes' facilities? 

Mr. Coo PER. In each case of purchase by Mr. Estes of 
operating elevators, we would retain the same management in 
the elevator. It was more or less of a succession from the 
previous owner, where the . manager and personnel were 
retained, who had built up the goodwill of the farmers over 
a period of years. We were hopeful, Mr. Estes was hopeful 
of maybe not securing more ~ain, but holding at those 
particular elevators the goodwill of the customers that the 
elevator had had, and that was the source of our grain and 
our public relations. 
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Mr. FouNTAIN. So when you bought facilities, to some 
extent you depended upon the goodwill which had been 
created and farmers who had been doing business with that 
facility, continuing to do business with it. 

Mr. CooPER. That is true and I think he put quite a lot 
of value, in his purchase price of these elevators, on the 
goodwill that had been built up in those areas where the 
elevators were located. 

Perhaps the most important single reason for Estes' success in 
obtaining producer grain was the location of his facilities in the heart 
of an area where production of grain sorghum was both heavy and 
expanding. Estes was able to exploit this location to a greater degree 
than some other warehousemen because he had both terminal and 
country elevators. Estes' country houses, which were scattered at 
several different locations, were able to draw truck deliveries of 
grain from producers in a large section of the Plains area; his terminal 
facilities were well located to handle rail shipments of both CCC and 
producer-owned grain from more distant points. 

By 1961, Billie Sol Estes had country warehouses at Plainview and 
five other locations (Kress, Lamesa, Silverton, South Plains, and 
Levelland); these facilities could receive grain from producers and 
ship it by rail to Plainview for storage in Estes' huge facility at that 
location. During 1961, Estes began to put into effect a plan to build 
100 country receiving points for grain throughout the Plains region: 
according to popular accounts, Estes planned to place these receiving 
points a few miles apart on every paved highway in the area. If 
Estes' planned network of receiving stations had been completed, he 
would have been able to take delivery from most producers at points 
far closer to their farms than the warehouses of his competitors. 

Another device successfully used by Estes to obtain producer grain 
for storage was to pay a commission to other warehousemen to ship 
producer grain to his facilities when their own country points were 
too full to take additional grain. The Cargill elevator at Plainview 
was among those receiving such commissions. Paul Russell Daly, 
manager of the elevator, gave the following testimony at Amarillo: 

Q. * * * did Estes make overtures to other elevators 
that would permit other elevators to make a profit by moving 
grain to his elevators? 

A. Yes. He would, in my opinion, let's say, have the 
people receive the grain from the farmers, then they would 
load the cars, and instead of storing it in their own elevator, 
for one reason or another, they would load it up and ship it 
to his elevator * * *. 

QUANTITY AND CONDITION OF GRAIN 

Warehouse Examinat,ions 
Witnesses from the Agricultural Marketing Service placed con­

siderable emphasis on the value of warehouse examinations in insuring 
that the quantity and quality of grain in storage in federally licensed 
warehouses is adequate to protect depositors. Such examinations are 
obviously indispensable. However, testimony at subcommittee 
hearings, which follows, indicated that examiners could at best only 
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estimate the amount of grain in storage. The testimony also indi­
cated that accurate measurement of grain in flat warehouses was 
particularly difficult: 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Of course, the proof of the pudding as to 
whether the stocks are there and the condition they are in 
occurs when you issue the loadout orders, doesn't it? Your 
warehouse examiners go in and measure the stocks and do 
their best to estimate whether they are all there. But you 
really find out when you load that out, examine it, and put 
it on the scales and weigh it. 

Mr. MosELEY. That is correct, that is the only time you 
actually know. 

Mr. NAUGHTON. I think there was a case in Illinois several 
years ago in which the warehouse examiners were finding 
that the grain appeared to be all there, as they measured 
the bins, and one day somebody came along and used an extra 
long probe and found a false bottom about 6 feet below the 
top of the bin. 

Mr. MosELEY. I read of that. 
Mr. NAUGHTON. And I think you had a Commodity 

Credit loss of over a million dollars on that one, even though 
it appeared the grain was all there. 

Mr. MosELEY. We are now using power probes. They 
will go down all the way. 

Mr. NAUGHTON. The point I am trying to establish is that 
you can go along for a long period of time when you are 
maintaining constant inventories, or increasing Government 
inventories, and shortages don't tend to show up as readily 
as they do when you issue a loadout order. 

Mr. MosELEY. You can't determine them accurately 
until you issue a loadout order, but you can determine a 
reasonable approximation by measurement. However, the 
measurement of flat warehouses is extremely difficult. One 
of my friends last week compared it to measuring the ocean 
on a rough day. The hills and valleys in these enormous 
flat warehouses are so great that they are extremely difficult 
to measure accurately. 

Mr. NAUGHTON. This is because instead of being con­
structed so the buildings are completely filled with grain and 
you simply measure the capacity of the house, the grain is 
put in piles and, there may be large open spaces, so this 
causes your difficulty. 

Mr. MosELEY. There are many piles and the grain is put 
in at several different points, and it is drawn out at several 
different points along the building, which makes a series of 
hills and valleys in the grain. 

Periodic examinations of Billie Sol Estes' storage facilities by AMS 
warehouse examiners disclosed no significant shortages or quality 
deficiencies. A special joint examination of Estes' warehouses at 
Plainview was made by AMS and ASCS examiners in September 1961 
because of rumors circulated by other warehousemen concerning 
alleged serious deterioration of grain there. On September 15, 1961, 
the Wichita office of the AMS Warehouse Act Branch sent a memoran-
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dum to Washington about the special examination which stated in 
part: 

Subject: 3-4458, Billie Sol Estes d.b.a. United Elevators 
Plain view, Tex. 

We submit Mr. McCoy's and Mr. Pollard's report of sub­
sequent examination of United Elevators. They worked 
with a crew of CCC examiners, at the request of Mr. C. H. 
Moseley, Director, Dallas CCC. It appears Mr. Moseley 
was disturbed about repeated complaints about this opera­
tion. The results of the examination indicate that these 
rumors are unfounded. 

Results of Loadout 
Neither periodic examinations made before Estes' arrest nor a 

special examination made shortly after it disclosed significant short­
ages in the quantity of grain in storage at Estes' warehouses. How­
ever, when the warehouses were loaded out, a deficiency in quantity 
of well over a million bushels was disclosed. Because of the tremendous 
amount of grain handled by Estes' facilities, the deficiency was some­
what less than 2½percent of the total grain handled. A table showing 
results of the loadout by location appears on page 428 of the appendix. 

An audit by the Office of the Inspector General, Department of 
Agriculture, examined the reasons for undershipments from Estes' 
facilities; the audit also included undershipments of about 100,000 
bushels from warehouses operated by Coleman McSpadden. The 
report on this audit contains the following analysis of the causes of the 
undershipments: 

The overall undershipment of 1,572,963 bushels represented 
2.:1215 .Percent of grain handled. Losses due to decreases in 
the moISture content accounted for 0.9253 percent and losaes 
from other sources amounted to 0.0283 percent, leaving 
1.3679 percent attributed to handling. 

The losses attributed to decreases in moisture content 
were based on a comparison of the moisture content of grain 
received with the moisture content of grain shipped. For 
each 1 percent decrease in moisture, the commodity office used 
a conversion factor of 1.25 percent in determining the weight 
loss. Where moisture was shown to be a factor in the weight 
decrease, our determination of the average outbound mois­
ture content compared favorably with that determined by 
the commodity office. The average moisture of grain re­
ceived was determined by warehouse examiners from records 
at the warehouse location. The total quantity of grain 
handled by the warehouse (CCC and others) was also 
determined by the warehouse examiners at the warehouse 
location. 

The subcommittee's investigation, as well as those conducted by 
the Department of Agriculture and the Internal Revenue Service, 
disclosed no evidence of conversion of Government grain. A special 
survey made by the Office of the Inspector General at the request of 
the subcommittee indicated that purchases of grain by United Ele­
vators exceeded sales by approximately $50,000. 
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The subcommittee's investigation indicated that Estes accepted 
high-moisture grain from producers in order to encourage storage of 
grain in his warehouses. However, "shrinkage" was not written off 
to compensate for moisture losses. Testimony by Wayne Cooper, 
general manager of United Elevators, on this point follows: 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Did you ever talk with Mr. Estes about 
the fact that he apparently was not allowing for shrinkage, 
as was the custom? 

Mr. CooPER. I talked with Mr. Estes about that on 
numerous occasions. In the operation of our company, 
prior to the sale to Estes, we realized that shrinkage would 
occur on grain, of high moisture grain, and we periodically 
charged back to shrinkage. It was our practice, and a 
necessary thing to do, and I suggested to Mr. Estes numer­
ous times that this be done. In fact, in 1959 I think that I 
arbitrarily charged off $33,000 worth of shrinkage just to 
meet that particular period of time. I think that was in 
1959 because it had been my practice in the operation of 
grain storage to do that. But I probably reported to him 
I had done that, and that was probably when he told me not 
to charge off shrinkage; that we would make it up sometime 
later. 

I had numerous conversations with him concerning 
shrinkage and handling loss, because it occurs in any grain 
operation. Even though you receive 13 percent moisture 
grain, which is required for delivery by Commodity Credit, 
you still have moisture loss under 13 percent, and grain 
becomes drier and drier the longer it is in store. 

In other words, you might-this grain may come to a 
moisture of 10½ or 11, and the same percent of loss in weight 
is there whether you are shrinking from 15 to 13 percent, as 
it is from 13 to 11 percent. 

Mr. NAUGHTON. Was some of the grain you were taking 
over from farmers fairly wet? 

Mr. Coo PER. The grain that-it was common practice 
there, and has been since the year 1957, when we had a very 
wet fall, that year I think imtiated it, that grain would be 
taken of moisture content in excess of 13 percent; and then 
it developed that the farmer was not charged back with the 
shrinkage of this grain to reduce it to 13, and this has been 
absorbed by the warehousemen for the last 2 or 3 years. 

AMS Warehouse Act Branch officials were asked to explain why the 
examination of Estes' warehouses shortly after his arrest in late March 
1962 did not disclose the substantial quantity deficiencies revealed when 
the grain was loaded out. They suggested that the following might 
have been contributing factors: 

I. A substantial period of time elapsed between April 1962 and 
the final loadout, and some unknown portion of the shrink and 
operational loss occurred during that time. 

2. With respect to grain received at the facilities in the fall of 
1961, it is likely that the major portion of the shrink occurred 
after April 1962 when warmer weather occurred. 
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3. The measurement technique which was the basis for the 
April determinations is subject to some margin of error. This is 
particularly true in determination by measurement of the quantity 
of grain in large tanks or flat storage buildings of the sort which 
characterized the Estes operation. An error of as much as 1 
percent in this determination could affect the determination by 
as much as 400,000 bushels. 

4. It is difficult to obtain a truly representative sample of 
a large mass. If the test weight per bushel on samples obtained 
from stored grain is as little as 0.5 pounds different from the true 
test weight of the entire mass, this alone can account for a differ­
ence of 1 percent in results. 

USDA storage contracts provide that the warehouseman is re­
sponsible for the monetary value of any quantity deficiencies dis­
closed when grain is loaded out. Since the claim for such deficiencies 
against Estes was less than the amount of storage payments accrued 
but not paid for storage of Government grain in Estes' warehouses, it 
was not necessary to file claims against bonds on these facilities. The 
Department of Agriculture has advised the subcommittee that it is 
taking steps designed to obtain a higher degree of accuracy in the 
measurement of grain inventories. 

FINANCIAL OPERATIONS OF UNITED ELEVATORS 

Pro.fits of United Elevators 
During the 3-year period in which Billie Sol Estes operated United 

Elevators, the Commodity Credit Corporation paid approximately 
$7 .6 million for storage and handling of Government grain stored in 
United's warehouses. According to records maintained by Wayne 
Cooper, general manager of United Elevators, net profits on United's 
operations averaged substantially more than $100,000 per month 
during 1960 and 1961. Testimony by Cooper at subcommittee hear­
ings follows: 

Mr. CooPER. For the year 1959 the statement prepared 
by United Elevators' accountant, for the grain operation 
only> showed net profit of $430,925.91. For the calendar 
year 1960, the net profit of the operation of United Elevators 
w11.s$1,345,824.67. I do not have the final month of 1961. 
Through the month of November for the year 1961 our books 
reflected a net profit of $1,539,149.52. That was for 11 
months of the year 1961. That could be projected percent­
agewise for 1 more month and it should reveal closely the 
income of that company for the year 1961. 

Cooper furnished the subcommittee with detailed profit-and-loss 
statements for United Elevators covering the years 1959 and 1960 and 
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the first 11 months of 1961. A summary of data shown on the state­
ments follows: 

Jan. 1 to 
1959 1960 Nov. 30, 1961 

Storage/handling income •• •• •__• _ $875,445.55 $2,713,027. 93 $3, 324, 130. 50 
61,188.21

Other income _________________________________________________ 104,099.35 155,518.90
1----1-----1----Total income .. _________________________________________ _ 2,817,127.28 3,479,658.40936,633.76 
l====,1=====1====Depreciation ••• _______________________________________________ 198,585.41 367,740.16 697,879.23Interest _______________________________________________________ 43,732.44 225,187.52 20'2,886. 96 Other expenses_____________________________________________•• _ 263,390.00 878,374.93 1,039,742.69 
t----➔-----1----Total expenses__________________________________________ 505,707.85 1,471.302. 61 l, 940,508.88 
t====:I====~====Net profit_ _____________________________________________ _ 430,925.91 1,345,824.67 1, 539, 149. 52 

In addition to payments for storage of Government grain by United 
Elevators, the Commodity Credit Corporation also paid approxi­
mately $1.7 million for storage of grain at other facilities owned or 
controlled by Billie Sol Estes. These payments were not covered by 
Estes' assignment to Commercial Solvents Corp.; however, most of the 
payments were assigned to pay construction costs. 

A table showing payments for storage of Government grain in 
facilities owned or controlled by Estes appears on page 429 of the 
appendix. 
Source of Operating Funds 

Although storage operations of United Elevators were extremely 
profitable, Billie Sol Estes realized almost no cash from them because 
CCC storage payments were assigned to Commercial Solvents. Con­
sequently, cash from other sources had to be used to meet operating 
expenses of United. Testimony by Wayne Cooper, general manager 
of United Elevators, concerning this situation follows: 

Mr. CooPER. When we would need money in the operation 
of United Elevators, I would call on the manager of the ferti­
lizer company, Lester-Stone Co., and tell him the amount 
of money I would have to have to meet expenses that I 
anticipated possibly 10 to 15 days in advance, and if he could 
not furnish the money to me, if he did not have it in his bank 
accounts, then I would call Mr. Estes or Mr. Foster and ask 
permission to draw a draft on an account in Pecos, usually on 
Billie Sol Estes, at the First National Bank, Pecos, Tex. 

Mr. FouNTAIN. Did you ever go through any mental strain 
wondering whether or not you were going to get the funds to 
meet expenses? 

Mr. CooPER. Chairman Fountain, that was constant. It 
wasn't just seldom, it was constant. 
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In testimony at Plainview, Lloyd Stone, who worked for Estes at 
the Lester-Stone Co., gave the following testimony concerning the 
transfer of funds to United: 

We furnished the operating capital for United Elevators. 
There was no set amount that we would give them. We 
would give them all that we could afford to from time to 
time. And, each month, and sometimes several times a 
month, we handed them money for their operation capital. 
Those funds were transferred to the United Elevators from 
Lester-Stone. We carried [it] on our books as a payment for 
our fertilizer to Pecos and charged Billies Sol Estes' account 
with that. 

United Elevators had a bank account at the Hale County State 
Bank in Plainview from late 1958 until October 1960, when the ac­
count became inactive. R. D. Payne, president of the Hale County 
State Bank, told subcommittee representatives that there were 
numerous times when United's balance was insufficient to pe.y checks 
written on its account. Payne said that a deposit was usually me.de 
the next, day to cover such checks before they were returned unpaid. 
Accordi.D:_gto Payne, the bank had to make five or six calls a month to 
Wayne Cooper because checks in excess of Estes' balance had been 
received and were being processed for return unpaid. 

The subcommittee's mvestigation indicated that the volume of 
overdrafts on United's account led to "a sort of request" from officials 
of the He.le County State Bank that it be moved. The United account 
was then moved to the First National Bank, Tulia Tex. Marvin 
Carlyle, president, of the First National Bank of Trilia, told Federal 
investigators that it was necessary for him to call Cooper from time to 
time to cover overdrafts on the United account. 



AMMONIA SALES OPERATIONS 

BACKGROUND 

Use of Commercial Fertilizers 
Since World War II, agricultural productivity in the United States 

has increased greatly; a major factor in this development has been 
greater use of commercial fertilizers. 

Commercia.I fertilizers are used to supply primary plant nutrients­
nitrogen, phosphoric acid and potash-to soils which are deficient in 
these elements. Other elements needed for crop production-calcium, 
magnesium and sulfur-are known as secondary plant nutrients and 
a.re usually present in the soil in adequate quantities. Commercial 
fertilizers can be produced and applied in either solid or liquid form, 
and different types of fertilizer contain varying percentages of one or 
more of the three primary plant nutrients. The amount of nitrogen, 
phosphoric acid, and potash in a. _particular type of fertilizer is shown 
by a. three-number formula which gives the respective percentage of 
ea.ch of these nutrients. For example, ammonium phosphate, which 
contains 11 percent nitrogen and 48 percent phosphoric acid but no 
potash, would be designated 11-48-0. 

In 1940, according to Government estimates, agricultural use of 
the three primary plant nutrients in the United States totaled 1.8 
million tons of which 419,000 torn~ was nitrogen, 912,000 was phos­
phoric acid, and 435,000 was potash. By 1962, tota] agricultural 
consumption of these nutrients had increased nearly fivefo]d, to 8.4 
million tons. Nationwide use of nitrogen was up approximately eight 
times, to 3.4 million tons, while consumption of phosphoric acid and 
potash had reached 2.8 and 2.3 million tons, respectively. The 
amount of nitrogen used for agricultural purposes in Texas increased 
much more rapidly than in the rest of the United States, rising from 
less than 7,000 tons in 1940 to more than 256,000 tons in 1962. 

Anhydrous ammonia (NH a), a liquid fertilizer containing 82 per­
cent nitrogen, has become one of the more important types of fertil­
izers used in the United States. Its popularity is due to several 
advantages which it has over most other types of fertilizer. Because 
of its high nitrogen content, anhydrous ammonia costs less per pound 
of nutrient. As a liquid, it is particularly well adapted for use in 
irrigated farming where it can be added to the irrigation water. 
Anhydrous ammonia's liquid form also eliminates the labor involved 
in lifting and carrying heavy bags of solid fertilizer. 

Prior to World War II, the percentage of nitrogen applied to crops 
in the form of anhydrous ammonia was very small. By 1962, how­
ever, about 23 percent of the total nitrogen used for fertilizer in the 
United States was in the form of anhydrous ammonia. In Texas, 
more than half of all nitrogen used in 1962 was applied as anhydrous 
ammonia, most of it in irrigated areas in the western part of the 
State. 

165 
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Production and Distribution of Anhydrous Ammonia 
About 75 percent of total world production of anhydrous ammonia 

is synthetic, with the remainder being obtained as a byproduct of other 
processes. Synthetic anhydrous ammonia is produced by bringing 
together nitrogen and hydrogen gas at high temperatures and pres­
sures in the presence of a suitable catalyst. The end product is 
ammonia gas, which can be used directly, converted to liquid by 
refrigeration, or absorbed in water to make ammonia solution. 

The nitrogen used to synthesize ammonia is extracted from the air; 
natural gas is the cheapest and most commonly used source of hydro­
gen for ammonia production in the United States, although oil, coal, 
or water can also be used. Economical manufacturing of ammonia 
requires a continuous operation, since procedures for shutting down 
and restarting the manufacturing process are time consuming and 
expensive. 

Anhydrous ammonia is usually stored at local distribution points 
in storage tanks ranging in size from 6,000 to 30,000 gallons until 
it is dehvered to farmers for use in the field. It is customary for 
a retail distribution outlet to have portable tf;tnks with capacities of 
500 to 1,000 gallons which are used to transport the ammonia to the 
fields where they are left until emptied by the farmers. These tanks 
can also be used for storage at the distribution point during the 
off-season. 
Price Structure 

For some commodities, sales competition is based partially, or even 
primarily, on: factors other than _price, such as quality or special 
suitability for a particular use. However, this is usually not so in 
the case of anhydrous ammonia, which, for all practical purposes, is 
identical regardless of where or by whom it is produced. While fac­
tors such as prompt service, customer loyalty, and availability of 
storage facilities or application equipment may sometimes be signifi­
cant, price is ordinarily the dominant consideration. 

Anhydrous ammonia prices are customarily quoted by producing 
companies on an f .o.b. plant basis, with freight to the delivery point 
being added to arrive at the total price. Consequently, if different 
producers quote identical prices at producing plants, the quoted 
delivered price would normally be lowest from the nearest plant 
because of a lower freight cost. For example, if Commercial Solvents 
and Phillips Petroleum quoted identical f .o.b. plant prices for ammo­
nia produced at Solvents' plant at Sterlington, La., and Phillips' 
plant at Etter, Tex., the list price for Solvents' ammonia delivered 
at Etter would exceed the list price for Phillips' ammonia at Etter 
by the cost of freight from Sterlington to Etter. 

However, under what William Leonhardt, Commercial Solvents' 
financial vice president, identified in testimony as an "industrywide 
formula," price differences due to freight costs are equalized. Under 
this formula, instead of charging the distributor the actual freight 
cost from plant to destination, the manufacturer would charge only 
an amount equal to the freight cost from the nearest competing pro­
ducing plant to that destination. 

In the example given above, the actual price charged by Solvents 
for ammonia delivered to Etter would be the same as that charged by 
Phillips because Solvents would absorb the entire freight cost. For 
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ammonia delivered to destinations near Etter, Solvents would absorb 
the amount by which freight costs from Sterlington exceeded freight 
costs for the much shorter distance from Etter. While "freight 
equalization" makes it feasible for manufacturers to sell ammonia in 
areas closer to another firm's plant, it also tends to create a more 
uniform price structure than would otherwise be present. 

Perhaps three-fourths of the anhydrous ammonia produced in the 
United States goes into liquid or solid forms of fertilizer. The re­
mainder is used for a variety of industrial purposes such as manufac­
ture of chemicals, explosives, and synthetic fibers. 

Production of anhydrous ammonia, as might be expected, has in­
creased rapidly in recent years to keep up with increased demand. 
In 1950, 22 plants with a combined annual capacity of 1.7 million tons 
produced anhydrous ammonia. By 1962, there were 62 such plants 
with an estimated annual capacity of 5.9 million tons. As of January 
1960, there was only one anhydrous ammonia plant with a capacity of 
158,000 tons annually located in the western part of Texas. However, 
a number of such plants with a combined annual capacity of more 
than 750,000 tons were located in east Texas and Louisiana. 

Marketing of anhydrous ammonia for use as a liquid fertilizer does 
not follow a fixed pattern. Some ammonia producers maintain their 
own distribution system for selling ammonia at the wholesale or even 
retail level; in other cases, bulk distribution facilities are maintained 
by cooperative associations. A large percentage of anhydrous am­
monia is marketed through independent bulk distributors; these inde­
pendent distributors may maintain their own retail outlets or sell at 
wholesale to independent retailers or both. 

Most anhydrous ammonia is transported from producing plants to 
distribution centers in railroad tank cars with a capacity of 10,000 
gallons (25.7 tons), although some is transported in tanktrucks with a 
lesser capacity. The ammonia is usually loaded directly into railroad 
tank cars or tank trucks as it is produced rather than being stored at 
producing plants. 

ESTES' EARLY SALES OPERATIONS 

Aggressive Sales Tactfos 
Billie Sol Estes began selling anhydrous ammonia produced by 

Commercial Solvents Corp. in 1958, some 7 years after his arrival 
in Pecos. Estes had been selling farm chemicals in the Pecos area 
since the early 1950's, when he began ordering insecticides for resale 
to his neighbors along with those purchased for use in his own farming 
operations. By 1957, Estes had expanded his product line to include 
solid fertilizer and anhydrous ammonia and his sales territory to 
include much of the area around Pecos and El Paso. Estes obtained 
chemicals from a number of different suppliers, both before and after 
he became a customer of Commercial Solvents. 

From the beginning of his operations, Estes demonstrated consider­
able ta]ent for selling agricultural chemicals, usually disposing rapidly 
of everything shipped to him and asking his suppliers for more. 
Estes made sales by using aggressive competitive methods, particularly 
with respect to price. His flamboyant tactics are demonstrated by 
the following excerpt from an advertising circular distributed by the 
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"Farmers Co-op" in 1956 (while described as a co-op, this enterprise 
was actually owned and controlled by Estes): 

Phone: HI 5-3057 
Night phone: HI 5-2854 or HI 5-3108 

FARMER'S Co-OP, Box 1052, PEcos, TEXAS 

THE EYE OPENER 

THE FARMERS FRIEND 

THE GIANT KILLER 

JULY 28, 1956 

The Co-{)p has already broken insecticide __prices 22½ per­
cent and will strive to break it more. We will have the best 
wholesale prices that we can obtain at all times. Let's join 
hands for a greater savings and convenient finance. 

PURPOSE OF CO-OP 

1. To supply farmers insecticides and fertilizers at whole­
sale prices. 

2. To have strong purchasing power by buying on volume 
basis. . 

3. To obtain Fall terms. 
4. To meet demand by having large stock on hand, .and 

contracted for. 
5. To be in a position to obtain as good a wholesale price 

as available. 
Officers of Go-Op are the only ones responsible for indebtedness 

or any obligation made by Farmer's Go-Op. 

APPLICATION AND DELIVERY 

1. Application: Planes available when needed. 
2. Delivery: Free on all insecticides, any amount. 

A specific example of Estes' methods was provided by a former 
competitor, who told the subcommittee that: 

In the sw:nmer of 1957 Estes was selling Ag Chem insecti­
cide and at one time sold a truckload to a farmer in the Lazy 
L Cafe in Pecos at $4 per hundredweight when our cost on 
this material was approximately $7 per hundredweight to 
manufactur.e at the time. He dared one of our salesmen to 
sell some at the same price. 

Prior to Billie Sol Estes' entry into the business, fertilizer prices 
in the Pecos area had been relatively stable. W. J. "Coot" Worsham, 
who became an associate of Estes' in the grain storage business after 
unsuccessfully trying to com_pete with him in the fertilizer business, 
described in testitnony at Pecos how the situation changed after 
Estes began his operations: 

Q. Now, Mr. Worsham, I think that you were a partner 
and owner of Worsham Enterprises, is that right? 

A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. And I believe that you used to sell fertilizer until 
about 1957? 

A. Yes sir.4Q. Ane1 I think then you sold out to Southwest Fertilizer? 
A. Yes. . . 
Q. Wh[ did°you sell out? 
A. We , it looked to me like the thing was getting so 

highly competitive and prices being cut until I didn't figure 
I could stay there. 

Q. Who was responsible for that situation? 
A. Well, there had been a little price cutting, but not so 

much but what we could live with until Mr. Estes got into it. 
In addition to his· fertilizer business, Worsham also operated a 

crop dusting service which utilized airplanes to spray crops with 
insecticide. In further testimony at the same hearing, Worsham 
explained why he decided to get out of the crop dusting business in 
the Pecos area: 

Q. Was there any particular reason for that that Mr. 
Estes was associated with? 

A. Well, yes, I had heard that he had bought some air­
planes so I figured "the handwriting was on the wall." 

Another of Estes' former competitors in the Pecos-El Paso area 
gave the subcommittee the following account of the effect of Estes' 
sales tactics on his business: 

In 1957, which was the first year Estes started in the am­
monia business-, this company sold approximately 4,000 tons 
of anhydrous ammonia. From 1957 through 1961 we 
operated the same branches in the same area but our sales of 
ammonia dropped to approximately 800 tons for the year 
1961. 

Credit Problems 
While Billie Sol Estes' eagerness to order progressively larger quan­

tities of chemicals must have been a continual source of joy to the sales 
departments of his suppliers, his talent for running up fantastically 
large unpaid bills was a constant problem for company officials 
responsible for credit and collections. Although the more than $5 
million balance charged against his account with Commercial Solvents 
was by far the largest, Estes ran up unpaid bills in six-figure amounts 
with at least three other farm chemical suppliers and owed smaller 
overdue accounts to a number of others. Estes' maximum indebted­
ness to Agricultural Chemicals, Inc. of Llano, Tex. (a firm then 
controlled by the Murchison interests of Dallas), exceeded half a 
million dollars, as did the amount owed the Pennsalt Chemical Co. 

Billie Sol Estes may not have invented the slogan "Buy now, pay 
later," but he was undoubtedly one of its most enthusiastic followers­
a circumstance which helps to explain his apparent ability to sell farm 
chemicals at a loss without going out of business. A west Texas man 
familiar with Estes' cheniical sales operations described his "marketing 
pattern" with a succession of suppliers as follows! 

* * * he would sell the supplier into letting him have a 
large quantity on terms; Estes would promptly dump the 
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material for whatever cash price he could get (from 10 
to 80 percent below cost), use the money raised to putout some 
local brush fires, and then ride the supplier as long as he could. 
It all could be summarized as a kiting operation in which he 
had to promote a bigger deal every year so he could raise 
enough cash to make a partial payment on deals he had 
promoted in years before. 

Most of Estes' creditors, large or small, seem to have shared at least 
one common experience-they had trouble collecting from him. A 
typical example is the experience of the California Spray-Chemical 
Corp., which began selling Estes insecticides in the spring of 1954. 
Under its agreement with Estes, CalsJ:!ray was to provide Estes with 
a $75,000 line of credit under terms calling for payment of all invoices 
by the 10th of the month following the month of delivery. Four per­
cent interest was to be charged on amounts not paid on time, with 
final settlement to be made no later than December 31, 1954. In a 
letter written on October 28, 1957, Calspray described its experience 
tmder this agreement as follows: 

Under this arrangement our account reached a high credit 
of $65,000. No payments were made during the course of 
the season, and the full balance of $65,000 was owing on 
Decern her 1. Sporadic payments were received. during the 
first 4 months of 1955 and final settlement for 1954 business, 
including the interest, was received in June of 1955. 

With some misgivings we entered the 1955 season under 
a similar expression of agreement as to terms. In 1955 our 
account reached a high credit of $92,000, with no payments 
during this season. Payments began in May of 1956 and 
the principal amount was eventually settled by a payment in 
April of 1957. We have not collected the $3,000 interest 
and are at the present time filing suit for this amount. 

Having been burned 2 years in a row, we declined-to make 
further credit available to Mr. Estes under any circumstances 
for the 1956 season. Undoubtedly this has contributed to 
the slowness with which the account was settled, in addition 
to the fact that Mr. Estes invariably had many other places 
to use our money. 

While it was usually difficult to collect from Estes, it was not im­
possible. Most of his earlier creditors were eventually paid, and some 
of those who took vigorous action managed to collect fairly promptly. 
Olin Mathieson Chemical Corp. told the subcommittee that--

• • • during the period beginning May 29, 1957 and end­
ing July 31, 1957, Olin sold Mr. Estes approximately $95,000 
worth of agricultural ammonia. 

The terms of payment under which the ammonia was sold 
to Mr. Estes were net cash, 30 days after date of invoice, 
interest to accrue thereafter, the entire unpaid balance to 
be paid according to the terms of Mr. Estes' promissory 
note, with final payment due February 1, 1958. This note 
was not paid when due and it was necessary to use legal 
means to collect. The entire amount due was collected on 
March 5, 1958, and Olin terminated its business arrange­
ment with Mr. Estes. 
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Throughout his operations, Billie Sol Estes displayed remarkable 
talent for finding new chemical suppliers when those he already owed 
refused to extend further credit. Although he usually found new 
suppliers who did not know or were willing to disregard his question­
able previous record, Estes did not hesitate to make new approaches 
to former suppliers. Olin Mathieson described what took place after 
it suspended business dealings with Estes in March, 1958: 

Thereafter, in the late spring or early summer of 1958, 
Mr. Estes again approached Olin with another proposal to 
purchase agricultural ammonia. At this time Mr. Estes 
offered a substantial cash payment in advance which he 
proposed that Olin accept with the understanding that when 
the advance cash was used up, a substantial line of credit in 
excess of any previous line be granted by Olin for Mr. Estes' 
use. This proposal was not accepted by Olin, because of its 
previous experience with Mr. Estes described above. 

Many of Estes' early attempts to secure new or renewed credit 
from chemical suppliers were successful. However-as the Olin 
Mathieson situation indicated-by early 1958 and even before, Estes' 
poor credit record was catching up with him. In testimony at 
Amarillo, N. J. Cain told why he refused an order from Estes for 
40 cars of ammonia in 1957, when Cain was an employee of the 
Monsanto Chemical Co.: 

Q. Was that delivery made? 
A. No, I cut the order on him. 
Q. Why did you cut the order? 
A. I considered he wasn't a good credit risk at the time. 
Q. And approximately when was that? 
A. It was about 5 years ago, approximately. 
Q. That would have been about 1957, then? 
A. Yes, that is correct. 
Q. Well, did you hear of and know of Mr. Estes before 

you met him? 
A. Yes, sir. We had heard a great deal of him in this 

Pecos situation. At one time he had ordered two cars 
from Lion Oil, and there was some difficulty in getting the 
money at that time. That was about 1954 or 1955. 

In November 1957, a letter from Calspray describing its unhappy 
experience with Estes in detail we.s read at a meeting of the Agri­
cultural Chemicals Credit Association. After that time, until he 
tried Commercial Solvents, Estes apparently had no success in ob­
taining additional supplies of ammonia on credit. Estes himself 
told an associate, Coleman McSpadden, according to testimony by 
McSpadden at Amarillo, that "he had tried a number of other places, 
maybe as many as 25 other comi>anies, and he hadn't been able to 
locate anybody that would supply him." Unlike many of Estes' 
stories, this one-while perhaps exaggerated-may have been essen­
tially accurate. 

AMMONIA SALES IN 1958 

Complementary Problems 
As Billie Sol Estes' credit difficulties were becoming more acute, 

Commercial Solvents Corp. was having troubles of a different sort. 
38~588~4-12 
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By 1958, according to testimony of Commercial Solvents' president, 
Maynard Wheeler, the company had lost most of its customers for 
direct-application anhydrous . ammonia. How this happened was 
described as follows in a November 1958 memorandum from Wheeler's 
predecessor, J. A. Woods, to members of Commercial Solvents' 
executive committee: 

A large part of the output of our Sterlington ammonia 
plant was sold initially for direct application in agriculture. 
As new ammonia producers entered the field in recent years, 
they moved to secure a market for their ammonia by out­
right purchase or financial support of direct application dis­
tributors (Dow bought· Chemical Enterprises, Continental/ 
Cities Service bought Mid-South, Escambia bought South­
eastern Liquid, Standard of Indiana. bought Schrock, etc.). 
As these end other ammonia producers moved to buy up or 
control distribution facilties, many of whom were our cus­
tomers, our potential market has been effectively squeezed. 
We have also been adversely affected by direct competition 
from the tax-free co-op, Mississippi Chemical, to whom we 
have lost most of our market in Mississippi. 

Because of its vulnerability to competiton in the direct-application 
ammonia market, Commercial Solvents had invested in plants which 
could convert approximately 75 percent of its 140,000-ton annual 
output of ammonia into nitric acid, nitrogen solutions, and solid 
ammonium nitrate. However, this still left about 35,000 tons to be 
disposed of as anhydrous ammonia; much of it had to be sold to 
industrial users at price levels far lower than those prevailing in 
agricultural markets. 

As matters stood, in early 1958 Billie Sol Estes had tremendous 
sales talent but no ammonia. Commercial solvents had plenty of 
anhydrous ammonia, but was unable to dispose of it at attractive prices. 
In the circumstances, it was hardly surprising that Estes ~ot quick 
results when he contacted Solvents in May 1958, to inquire about 
distributing the company's ammonia. Coleman McSpadden sum­
marized Estes' account of what happened as follows: 

He said that Commercial Solvents needed an outlet and 
distributor for their anhydrous ammonia, and of course he 
needed the anhydrous ammonia, and it was kind of love at 
first sight for ho-th parties. 

They needed each other, and that is probably the reason­
well, he told me that was the reason they were able to make 
this deal on his first trip to see them. 

By June 2, 1958, Estes had signed a contra.ct to buy from 1,000 to 
3,000 tons of anhydrous ammonia and from 250 to 1,000 tons of nitro­
gen solution during the remainder of 1958, and the first shipments 
were already on the way to west Texas. Estes agreed, in. the event 
payment was not made within 30 days, to give notes bearing interest 
at 5 percent and payable on February 28, 1959. According to May­
nard Wheeler, before entering into the June agreement Commercial 
.Solvents made "what we considered (and still consider) thorough in­
quiries concerning Estes' credit standing and reputation as a business­
man." 

https://contra.ct
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Rapid Disposal of Ammonia 
Almost before the ink on his contract with Commercial Solvents was 

dry, deliveries of anhydrous ammonia to BilJie Sol Estes had not only 
reached but exceeded the maximum quantity it called for. On July 
18, 1958, Clyde T. Marshall, then general manager in charge of agri­
cultural sales for Commercial Solvents, noted in an interoffice memo­
randum to Fred Burg, assistant treasurer, referring to the Estes 
contract, that 

The maximum 3,000 tons anhydrous ammonia covered by 
our written agreement has been exceeded by about 400 tons 
thus far in July and it is estimated that requirements during 
August and September will be for 750 to a maximum of 1,500 
tons. 

Shipments of ammonia to Estes were consigned to the Farmers Co. 
of Pecos, a business name under which Estes had been selling ammonia 
on a comparatively small scale since 1957. The Farmers Co. handled 
insecticides as well as fertilizer, and conducted business at several 
locations in the Pecos and El Paso areas. C. M. "Chuck" Wesson was 
sales manager for the Farmers Co.; Estes had hired Wesson away from 
a competing firm in May 1958. According to Wesson, the retail 
price of ammonia in the Pecos area at the time he joined the Farmers 
Co. was about 6 cents a pound or $120 a ton; Wesson described 
what happened thereafter in testimony at Pecos: 

Q. Now, that price prevailed through the territory served 
by the Farmers Co.? 

A. That is right. Until we had a price war ,and Billie 
Sol came out with a cheaper price. 

Q. When was that? 
A. That was June or July. 
Q. Now, by "price war", do you mean somebody else 

dropped the price first? 
A. No, sir. . Billie S9l Est~s did. 
Q. In other words, ·there .wasn't any price war. As a 

matter of fact, he just started cutting the price? 
A. That's right. 

* ** * * 
Q. Now, what did you drop the price to? 
A. As I recall, it was down to 1 cent and then it went to 

4 cents. 
Q. Way below his cost? 
A. Yes, sir. But there was a deal there that they had to 

buy with every dollar's worth of anhydrous ammonia, the 
farmer, I think, would have to buy $10 worth of insecticides, 
as I recall. 

Q. All right, sir. Now, how long did that continue? 
A. Oh, I presume it continued for maybe a month. 
Q. Then it went back up? 
A. Around 6 cents or 6½cents, somewhere around there. 

Failure to Pay 
Before the end of July 1958, officials of Solvents began to exhibit 

some signs of uneasiness about collecting from Estes. After noting 
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in his July 18 memorandum to Burg that deliveries of ammonia to 
Estes had already exceeded the maximum quantity called for by the 
contract, C. T. Marshall continued: 

In view of this it is suggested that definite settlement 
arrangements be made with interest-bearing notes covering 
all material that has or will exceed 30 days net terms. 
During June 5 and 6 at Pecos, Tex., I made it clear to 
Messrs. Estes, Foster, and Wesson in our M. K. McConnell's 
presence that CSC would not extend credit beyond 30 days 
without interest as per our agreement * * *. 

In a letter to Estes on July 22, 1958, Burg made the following 
comment: 

We believe that in conversations with our Mr. McConnell 
before inception of our contract for anhydrous ammonia and 
AN A nitrogen solution you did indicate that you expected 
to pay for this material on approximately one-third discount, 
one-third net 30 days and one-third 5 percent interest­
bearing notes. We were sorry to learn that competition has 
prevented your carrying out your original intention of dis­
counting and paying on net terms. You did, however, in 
our last conversation with you, feel that by August 10 
funds would be available so that a substantial remittance 
could be made about that time. 

On August 6 and September 8, 1958, Massey K. McConnell, who 
was then sales supervisor for Commercial Solvents in charge of agri­
cultural chemical sales in the southern sales district, went to Pecos 
to discuss payment of Estes' account. 

However, these collection measures were unsuccessful. William S. 
Leonhardt, then treasurer of Commercial Solvents, reported to then 
President Woods on October 30, 1958, that: 

* • • to date sales to Mr. Estes have totaled 4,953 tons 
of anhydrous ammonia and 1,078 tons of dixsol solutions. 
No payments have been made to date. We hold $510,000 
of 5-percent interest bearing notes due February 28, 1959, 
and there is $37,000 in the open account for which notes 
will be requested 30 days after shipment. 

(Estes had actually made one $10,000 payment on his account in 
August, but Leonhardt apparently was not aware of it.) 

It was about this time, according to testimony by Leonhardt in 
Dallas, that Commercial Solvents-

asked Mr. Estes to come in to talk about a past due ac­
count on some fertilizer we had sold him during the period 
of, roughly, May through August, 1958, and Mr. Estes said 
he had a proposal that he would like to make to Commercial 
Solvents. 

GRAIN STORAGE-FERTILIZER AGREEMENT 

Estes' Proposal 
The proposal Billie Sol Estes made to Commercial Solvents in the 

fall of 1958 was for that firm to provide financing for his entry into the 
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storage business in the Plains area of Texas ano to postpone collection 
of the more than half a million do1lars in notes due on February 28, 
1959. In return, Estes offered to buy more fertilizer from Solvents, 
assign Government grain storage payments to Solvents, and provide 
security for his debt. 

Since Billie Sol Estes declined to answer questions, the subcom­
mittee has no direct testimony from him as to why he proposed the 
grain storage-fertilizer agreement. According to testimony at Ama­
rillo of Coleman McSpadden, Estes said he got the idea from observing 
the operations of Harry Igo, a fertilizer distributor and operator of the 
Plainsman Elevator at Plainview. McSpadden quoted Estes as 
saymg: 

* * * he had visited with Mr. Igo at Plainview, Tex., and 
Mr. Igo had a very wonderful operation, grain storage and 
fertilizer * * *. 

Billie Sol Estes took many actions during his business career which 
appear to have been motivated more by his personal inclination toward 
rapid expansion and di versification than by any real consideration of 
the possible long-range consequences. In this instance, however 
Estes' proposal offered two obvious advantages from his point of view. 
In the first place, it would enable him to postpone the necessity for 
either paying his debt to Commercial Solvents or defaulting on his 
notes because he could not pay. In addition, it offered Estes an 
opportunity to enter the lucrative grain storage field with someone 
else's money. 

On November 5, Estes came to New York City where he remained 
until November 12. During this time, he discussed sales aspects of 
his proposal with Massey McConnell, C. T. Marshall, and W. W. 
Jackson, Solvents' vice president in charge of sales. Financial aspects 
of the proposal were discussed with William S. Leonhardt, treasurer of 
Commercial So]vents Corp. To supplement the discussions with 
Estes, Solvents officio.ls analyzed market prospects in west Texas 
and made an investigation of Estes' credit. 

On November 14, 1958, a memorandum summarizing the results of 
Commercial Solvents' study of the Estes proposal was sent by Presi­
dent Woods to the members of the executive committee. 

Potential Benefits for Commercial SolvPnts 
In his memorandum President Woods described the attractive 

market for anhydrous ammonia in the Pecos area and the even more 
attractive potential market in the Plains area as follows: 

Om sales department has investigated the market for 
anhydrous ammonia and .aitrogen solutions in the State of 
Texas and particularly in the Pecos and South Plains areas 
served and to be served by Estes. From a marketing point of 
view this is an attractive area of operations for 080. 

A recently conducted market survey shows that last year's 
consumption in the Pecos area was 11,000 tons of anhydrous 
ammonia and 2,200 tons of nitrogen solutions. In this mar­
ket Mr. Estes' organization sold for CSC during the past 
season 5,000 tons of anhydrous ammonia and 1,000 tons of 
solutions. In the coming year and forward, he is projecting 
sales of 6,000 tons of ammonia and 2,000 tons of solutions, 

https://officio.ls
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which we believe he can do. In the South Plains area there 
was a consumption of 58,000 tons of anhydrous ammonia and 
2,300 tons of solutions. In this market Mr. Estes has pro­
jected sales of 3,000 tons of anhydrous ammonia and 800 ton~ 
of solutions, which we feel is conservative. 

With an abundance of water from irrigation sources and 
with resulting high yields, these areas should continue to 
support an increase in nitrogen consumption. A share of 
these markets, therefore, can be obtained for CSC providing 
our dealer is in a position to influence sales to farmers in the 
area. As a substantial farmer and with a lengthy and suc­
cessful reco-rd in selling equipment and service to farmers, 
we feel that. the Estes organization can develop and hold the 
nitrogen tonnage projected. 

Woods also stated that the west Texas sales being made through 
Estes were the company's most profitable volume market for anhy­
drous ammonia and made the following comparison with sales to 
industrial ammonia users: 

* * * A typical case is our contract earlier this year with 
Atlas Powder for approximately 9,000 tons of ammonia at a 
price returning a gross profit to us of $125,000. Even lower 
prices have recently been quoted Atlas which, if we had met 
them, would have reduced our gross profit on this total bus­
iness to $50,000. On the basis of our actual experience this 
year the equivalent ammonia sold in the west Texas agricul­
tural market would have returned a gross profit of $325,000. 
This additional profit, plus the present oversupply of am­
monia in all markets, is the basis for our proposal that we 
consider financial assistance to our dealer, Billie Sol Estes, 
whereby he can expand and increase CSC's volume of am­
monia in this area to approximately 9,000 tons a year or 
better. 

While Woods did not break them down, the figures he quoted indi­
cated a potential gross profit of more than $36 per ton on sales to 
Estes as compared with about $5.50 per ton for sales to Atlas at pre­
vailing price levels. 
Oredit Investigation 

In his November 14, 1958, memorandum, President Woods told 
the executive committee that: 

Our credit department he.a investigated Mr. Estes' financial 
and credit standing and has concluded that he is a satisfac­
tory risk for the $550,000 now outstanding in his account and 
for the additional amount of credit now under considera­
tion. * * * 

Among the major credit references for Billie Sol Estes cited by 
Woods were the John Deere Co., Anderson-Clayton Co., and the First 
National Bank of Pecos. Their comments were reported to the ex­
ecutive committee as follows: 

John Deere Plow Corp. (Dallas Divi.~ion).-Deere reported 
they have been doing business with Mr. Esten for several 
years and have completely checked him out. They found 
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that a good opinion of Mr. Estes was held by all. Deere's 
exposure with Estes ran from $400,000 to $500,000 and all 
paper was met on time when due. Mr. Estes took over a dis­
tributorship for them in Fort Stockton during 1958 and sold 
a half million dollars' worth of large cotton-picking machines. 
Deere report that in their opinion Mr. Estes has done an 
outstanding job in agricultural development in his area. As 
to Mr. Estes' personal integrity, the Deere re_presentative 
stated that he holds nothing back and is perfectl.v frank anci 
puts all the facts on the table. 

Anderson Clayton & Go. (Western Cotton Oil Division).­
Their representative verified most of the information we 
had obtained. They have been with Mr. Estes on a yearly 
loan on his cotton crop since 1949. Loans have been in excess 
of $1 million. As security for these loans, they hold a second 
lien on some of Mr. Estes' acreage. To our question as to 
their opinion of Mr. Estes personally, their answer was "the 
best." They also stated that through the years, Mr. Estes 
has always settled his crop loans in accordance with contract 
terms. 

First National, Bank of Pecos.-They have been doing 
business with Mr. Estes since 1951 and for the past 7 years 
have extended him credit up to the amount of their loan 
limit which is $46,000. They have also secured loans for him 
through their corresponding banks up to a total of $200,000. 
In their dealings with Mr. Estes, they have found him to be 
honest and reliable in his dealings. This bank reports that 
they and corresponding banks have been satisfied in every 
way. 

A Dun & Bradstreet report, dated August 5 and received by Com­
mercial Solvents on August 21, 1958, was less favorable. In a. 
summary, the report made the following comment concerning Estes' 
operations: 

CURRENT DETAILED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
IS LACKING. RECENT EXPANSION HAS BEEN 
VERY RAPID AND PUBLIC RECORDS WOULD INDI­
CATE THAT EXPANSION IS BEING HANDLED 
LARGELY THROUGH NOTES. ESTES HAS SUB­
STANTIALLY DIVERSIFIED HIS HOLDINGS. 
THERE IS CONSIDERABLE SLOWNESS IN RETIR­
ING TRADE OBLIGATIONS. 

The Woods memorandum indicated that Estes had submitted an 
unaudited statement showing a personal net worth of around $5 mil­
lion, as of April 1, 1958, and that his financial statement was being 
investigated more thoroughly. William Leonhardt, Commercial Sol­
vents' treasurer, went to Texas shortly after the memorandum was 
distributed; Leonhardt was in Pecos from November 17 through 
Nove;mber 20, 1958. In testimony at Dallas, Leonhardt summarized 
the action taken as a result of the credit investigation as follows: 

* * * Our position on all of it was that we had examined 
his financial statement, we were wiable to obtain an audited 
statement, so on this statement we felt that the only posi-
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tion we could take was to obtain all the security we could 
get. We instructed our legal counsel to prepare the best 
type agreement that we could get as far as we were con­
cerned, and to get the type of collateral that we needed to 
record the mortgages, etc. Our lawyers were instructed that 
we wanted the best protection for Commercial Solvents we 
could get. 

In testimony at subcommittee hearings Leonhardt emphasized that 
Commercial Solvents had relied on security rather than Estes' financial 
statements; according to Leonhardt: 

From the very beginning with Mr. :Estes in 1958, right up 
until March 1962, we followed this policy of always obtain­
ing security from Mr. Estes. We did 
financial statements. 

not rely on his 

Security Ojf ered by Estes 
Under the proposed agreement with Estes, Commercial Solvents 

was to obtain notes from Estes totaling $900,000, payable in five 
annual installments beginning on February 28, 1960. Of the $900,000 
total, approximately $550,000 was to be applied to existing indebted­
ness for anhydrous ammonia delivered in 1958; another $125,000 was 
t.o cover additional shipments of ammonia to be made in 1959. The 
remaining $225,000 was to be advanced in cash for use in purchas­
ing the Smith-Bawden grain storage facilities at Plainview, Tex. 

The Woods memorandum stated that, "The basis for Mr. Estes' 
request for a loan is that he has invested $900,000 in ammonia tanks 
and application equipment in the Pecos area, and has contracted to 
purchase $600,000 in equipment to handle direct application of 
ammonia in the South Plains area." According to the memorandum, 
payment of Estes' notes would be secured by the following: 

1. Chattel mortgage lien on 800 ammonia tanks of 1,000 
gallon capacity and 400 tanks of 500-gallon capacity pur­
chased in 1958 by Mr. Estes at a cost of approximately 
$890,000. 

2. Second mortgage on land, buildings, and equipment used 
or pertaining to grain storsge business to be purchased on 
December 1, 1958, from Smith-Bawden for $850,000-two 
grain elevators in Hale County, Tex. Present replacement 
cost estimated by Mr. Estes at $1,100,000. 

3. Assignment of an existing life insurance policy on the 
life of Mr. Estes-face value of policy $500,000. 

4. Beginning December 1, 1958, Mr. Estes will assign, ea.ch 
year, all storage receipts from grain stored in two grain 
elevators, to be applied on next installment due on notes­
excess to be applied to open account-current and future 
receipts estimated at minimum of $470,000 per annum . 

.5. Mr. Estes has given us appraisals on six pieces of land 
totaling 22,905 acres having a cost of $5,800,000 and en­
cumbered by mortgages, etc., totaling $1,054,000. Mr. 
Estes agrees that he will not sell, transfer, etc., or pledge, 
mortgages, etc., on this property without prior approval of 
Commercial Solvents Corp. during the life of the loan. 
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Although the security offered by Estes may have seemed impressive, 
much of it was misrepresented or subject to qualifications. The second 
mortgage on the Smith-Bawden warehouses was subject to the prior 
claim of the original owners. Estes' life insurance policy was payable 
only in the event of his death. The value of real estate which Estes 
pro~osed not to further encumber or transfer was grossly overstated. 

The chattel mortgage on ammonia tanks was virtually worthless 
because most of the tanks did not exist and Estes had already signed 
mortgages for several times the value of those that did. The sub• 
committee's investigation disclosed that tank mortgages totaling 
around $900,000 were recorded in Estes' name in Reeves County 
during 1958. However, according to an Ernst & Ernst audit made 
after Estes' arrest, the value of tanks and equipment actually acquired 
by Estes during 1958 was only around $275,000. 

By contrast, the assignment of Estes' grain storage revenues eventu­
ally resulted in larger payments to Commercial Solvents than were 
originally predicted. 
Evaluation of Grain Storage Situation 

In his November 14, 1958, memorandum to Commerical Solvents' 
executive committee, President Woods pointed out that Billie Sol 
Estes' contract to purchase the Smith-Bawden facilities included 
a guarantee that there would be at least 1,500,000 bushels of CCC grain 
in storage there on December 1, 1958. Under Estes' proposal to 
Solvents, payments for storage of the CCC grain would be assigned 
to Commercial Solvents; in effect, the U.S. Government would serve 
as collection agent for Commercial Solvents. 

While William Leonhardt was in Pecos meeting with Billie Sol 
Estes, W. W. Jackson, Commercial Solvents' vice president in charge 
of sales, was in Washington talking with officials of the Department 
of Agriculture. The purpose of Jackson's visit to the Department, 
according to a November 19 memorandum from Jackson to S. T. 
Ellis, then executive vice president of Commerical Solvents, was "to 
better evaluate" the value of the proposed assignment of storage 
revenues. In the memorandum Jackson reported that: 

At the office of the Commodity Stabilization Service, Grain 
Division, I had a lengthy meeting with Mr. John Tripp, 
Deputy Director. Mr. Tripp was most helpful and direct 
in his answers to my inquiries. Their Division is responsible 
for the administration of the grain storage program and he 
was quite familiar with the Plainview area. A summary of 
Mr. Tripp's comments follows: 

(a) The Government owns 2 billion bushels of storage now 
and is expected to require over 4 billion bushels of storage 
in 2 years, based on the current program. 

(b) It is costing the Government over $1 million per day 
to store surplus. 

(c) The 300 to 400 million bushels additional storage, 
currently programed, is not sufficient to handle the 1959 
surplus. They believe they will require up to 1 billion 
bushels additional storage. 

(d) There is no indication in the next 5 ye~rs of any change 
in the grain storage program that can or will affect Estes' 
storage position. 
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(e) Based on the storage rates in Texas for wheat, the 
Estes storage should bring him 17.155 cents per bushel per 
year, plus 2.25 cents throughput (basis: rail). This is 
$170,000 per year for storage for each million bushels, plus 
$22,500 per year per million bushels, based on one through­
put. Truck charges would increase the throughput to either 
5¾cents per bushel or 8 cents per bushel, depending upon 
the storage procedures. On the basis of 2.8 million bushels 
stored per year, this would give Estes $480,000 per year to. 
assign to CSC. 

Approval by Board of Directors 
Minutes of a meeting of the executive committee of Commercial 

Solvents on November 24, 1958, indicate that Estes' proposal was 
discussed and that the executive committee unanimously adopted a 
resolution recommending that the board of directors authorize com­
pany officers to accept it. A board of directors meeting was held 
later the same day. Following is a verbatim extract of the portions 
of the minutes of that meeting dealing with the Estes proposal: 

The president then submitted a, memorandum dated 
November 14, 1958, addressed by him to the members of the 
executive committee, with respect to a proposal that the 
corporation make a term loan in the amount of $900,000 and 
extend credit terms to a dealer, Mr. B. S. Estes, in connection 
with his purchases from the corporation of anhydrous 
ammonia and nitrogen solutions for resale in the State of 
Texas, and he stated that the executive committee, at its 
meeting held this date, had adopted a resolution recom­
mending to the board of directors that the officers be author­
ized to make a term loan in an amount not in excess of 
$900,000 and extend credit terms to Mr. Estes in accordance 
with said memorandum. 

After discussion, on motion, duly made and seconded, the 
following resolution was unanimously adopted: 

Resolved, That the officers of this corporation be, and 
they hereby are, authorized to make a term loan in an amount 
not in excess of $900,000 and extend credit terms to Mr. B. S. 
Estes, in connection with his purchases from this corporation 
of anhydrous ammonia and nitrogen solutions for resale in 
the State of Texas, in accordance with the memorandum of 
the president with respect to said matter, dated November 14, 
1958, submitted to this meeting. 

On November 24 and 25, Billie Sol Estes was in New York and 
reached final agreement with officials of Commercial Solvents on 
details of his proposal. A master agreement and separate fertilizer 
agreement, each dated as of December 1, were executed at this time. 

Under the master agreement, Billie Sol Estes gave Commercial 
Solvents Corp. promissory notes totaling $900,000 payable in equal 
annual installments over a 5-yearperiod beginning February 28, 1960; 
$225,000 of this Amount was to cover a cash advance made by Com­
mercial Solvents to Estes; the remainder was to secure existing and 
future indebtedness for anhydrous ammonia. 

As security, Estes gave Commercial Solvents a chattel mortgage 
covering 800 1,000-gallon ammonia tank-trailers and 400 500-gallon 
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acid tank-trailers. Estes also gave Commercial Solvents a second 
mortgage on the Smith-Bawden storage facilities and assigned to 
Solvents life insurance policies on his life with a total face value of 
$500,000. 

In addition, Estes agreed to assign to Commercial Solvents pay­
ments for storage of Government grain in the Smith-Bawden facilities. 
Solvents agreed to turn over the first $105,400 in Government storage 
payments to the prior owners of the Smith-Bawden facilities. Estes 
also promised to assign to Solvents Government storage payments 
on any additional grain storage facilities he subsequently acquired 
in Floyd or Hale Counties. 

Under the fertilizer agreement entered into at the same time as 
the master agreement and also dated December 1, Estes agreed to 
purchase his req_uirements of ammonia from Commercial Solvents at 
its published prices with a proviso that Commercial Solvents Corp. 
was not obligated to deliver more than 12,000 tons in any year. 
Solvents agreed to meet competitive prices in the event that ammonia 
was available to Estes from other suppliers at a lower price than quoted 
by Solvents. Estes was to be allowed a line of credit not to exceed 
$500,000 evidenced by promissory notes with interest at 5 percent. 

With the agreements signed, Billie Sol Estes was ready to expand 
his ammonia sales operations from Pecos to the heavily irrigated 
Plains area more than 200 miles to the northeast. 

ESTES EXPANDS OPERATIONS TO PLAINS AREA 

Preliminary Steps 
Billie Sol Estes did not begin ammonia sales operations in the 

Plains area until after December 1, 1958, when his grain storage­
fertilizer agreement with Commercial Solvents was signed. However, 
Estes was apparently considering such a move-and potential com­
petitors were concerned about the. possibility it might occur-much 
earlier in 1958. 

At least one ammonia distributing firm in the Plains area became 
concerned about the possibility that Estes might establish operations 
there almost as soon as Estes began handling Commercin,l Solvents 
ammonia. In the following testimony at Amarillo, N. J. Cain de­
scribed an incident which happened shortly after Cain became an 
official of Southern Farm Supply Association, of Amarillo, in May 
1958: 

* * * We were dealing with Commercial Solvents, we did 
not have an exclusive on their products, and did not ask for 
it, but I had only been here about 2 weeks, and along the 
first part of tTuneI heard that Commercial Solvents was ~oing 
to supply Billie Sol Estes. We were familiar with the Pecos 
situation, the pricing down there, we did not want to see it 
get in such a situation as it had gotten on the High Phiins. 
I drove to Louisiana and talked to Clyde Marshall, the sales 
manager, and Mr. McConnell, the sales supervisor, of Com­
mercial Solvents Corp. They told us that they were going 
to supply Billie Sol E,stes, and he would confine that operation 
strictly to Pecos and he would not be competitive with us in 
this area. * * * 
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By late 1958 reports were circulating in the Plains area that Billie 
Sol Estes was planning to move in. One source of these reports was 
Harold Orr, then an ammonia tank salesman for Superior Manufac­
turing Co., of Amarillo, and later a participant in Estes' fraudulent 
tank mortgage activities. In testimony at Plainview, Fred Sims, who 
was a fertilizer dealer at the time, gave the following account of an 
incident which took place in his office at Black, Tex., a small town 
northwest of Plainview: 

A. * * * back in the fall of 1958. Harold Orr came by 
and told me that there's a man in the country that was going 
to move in up there and take over the fertilizing business, 
and if I wanted to stay, I'd better line up with him. 

Q. Who was that? 
A. Harold Orr. 
Q. Who was he talking about? 
A. Billie Sol Estes. 

Acquisition of Lester-Stone Go. 
Under his December 1, 1958, agreement with Commercial Solvents, 

Billie Sol Estes was assured more than half a million dollars in ad­
ditional credit for anhydrous ammonia. In order to sell this ammonia 
in the Plains area, Estes needed both a wholesale distribution system 
and local retail outlets. He moved rapidly to acquire them. 

In December 1958, Estes began negotiating to acquire control of 
the Lester-Stone Co. Like Estes' recently purchased storage facilities, 
the Lester-Stone Co. was located at Plainview, a town of around 
18,000 people in a heavily producing irrigated farming area about 50 
miles north of Lubbock. The Lester-Stone firm, a partnership of 
Glenn Lester and Lloyd Stone, had been a fertilizer distributor since 
1955 and serviced about a dozen retail outlets in small towns around 
Plainview. 

On January 1, 1959, Estes bought out the partnership interest 
of Lloyd Stone. The circumstances and negotiations leading to sale 
of his partnership interest were described by Stone in the following 
testimony at Plainview: 

Mr. Estes had acquired the ownership of the Smith­
Bawden Grain Co. here in Plainview sometime in November. 
And he came to me sometime in December and told me that 
he needed to acquire a fertilizer business in this area; that he 
was going into the fertilizer business. And he told me that 
he had looked around and he wanted to buy a going business; 
and that he judged ours to be the kind that he wanted. He 
told me that he was coming in here to go into the fertilizer 
business and that he would be rough competition. And he 
wanted to let me know that he was coming; that there 
would be rough competition; and that he wanted to buy us 
out; and that he felt like it would be a favor for me because 
we were small, insignificant; and that we had experienced 
some difficulties in fertilizer business as far as the price. And 
we felt like, or I did, that the best thing I could do was to sell 
out to him and get the money out of it that I could and go to 
work for him. 
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According to testimony at Plainview by Glenn Lester, Estes prom­
ised to give Stone $70,000 for Stone's partnership interest, paying 
part of that amount in cash and giving notes for the remainder. 
Stone remained with the firm as an employee. 

After Estes bought Stone's interest in January 1959, the Lester­
Stone firm terminated its business arrangements with the Monsanto 
Chemical Co., which had been its ammonia supplier, Bnd began using 
ammonia produced by Commercial Solvents and billed to Lester-Stone 
through Estes' Farmers Co. By the end of 1959, because of below­
cost sales, Lester-Stone had incurred a huge book loss and owed 
Farmers Co. a large unpaid fertilizer bill. What happened next was 
described by Lester as follows: 

* * * Mr. Estes decided he was going to have another 
sale to sell some more cheap ammonia. I said, "No. I be­
lieve we have sold enough of that." He said, "Well," he 
said, "Whether you like it or not, we're going to sell it." 
He said, "I'll just call for payments until the ammonia­
for what Lester-Stone Co. owes Farmers Co.", which was 
one of his concerns, he said, "We'll just close out the deal." 
He said, "You'll just be out in the cold." 

* * * * * 
Q. He stated that he would call that account in effect just 

to foreclose on the partnership and close you out? 
A. That's right. 
Q. What did you reply to that? 
A. Well, I don't remember exactly. But it didn't set 

very well with me. We had a few words. And finally, 
he said, "Well, I'll just buy you out, then." And we come 
up with a trade whereby he agreed to pay me so much money, 
and I would continue to work for the concern and I'd take a 
note for the balance. 

Q. What was your trade? 
A. Well, he said that he would give me $25,000 for what I­

my equity, if there was any, and if I would continue to work 
for the company. And he paid me $5,000 in cash and gave 
me notes for $20,000 . 

Q. Will you give, as you remember it, the specific words 
that Mr. Estes said to you when he offered you the prospects 
of either being foreclosed or selling out at this price of 
$25,000? What did he say to you at that time? 

A. Yes, I remember the words very plainly. He said, "Well, 
we'll just temper the rod with a little mercy here." [Audience 
laughs.] 

And, Judge, I couldn't laugh about it when he said it, 
either. 

Lester's testimony did not indicate whether or not he and Stone 
had been equal partners and why he had acquiesced in a course of 
conduct involving below-cost sales. 
Establishment of Wheeler Fertilizer Go. 

After acquiring an interest in the Lester-Stone Co., in January 1959, 
Estes turned his attention to Hereford, a town of about 7,500 popu-
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lation some 65 miles northwest of Plainview. This time, instead of 
taking over an existing fertilizer distribution firm as he had done in 
Plainview, Estes started a new one. The business was established 
in the name of Gerron S. "Mutt" Wheeler, a filling station operator 
who, by his own account, was "a stranger to the fertilizer business." 
Although ostensibly_ an inde_pendent distributor, Wheeler was actually 
an employee of Billie Sol Estes; he described his arrangement with 
Estes in the following testimony at Amarillo: 

Q. Tell us the substance of the contract arrangement you 
had with Billie Sol Estes. 

A. I was to deliver and handle his ammonia, on salary 
plus commission on the net profits, and he was to tell me 
what to sell it at, the prices quoted and the equipment to 
be furnished. · 

Q. What did you call your business? 
A. Wheeler Fertilizer. 
Q. Was that a partnership or a corporation? 
A. Supposed to be a proprietorship. 
Q. What was your salary? 
A. The first year was $10,000. 
Q. And after that? 
A. Up to $15,000; I am drawing $15,000 now. 
Q. And in addition you were to get 25 percent commission 

on net profits of your operation? 
A. Correct, yes, sir. 

Estes also disposed of ammonia through a Lubbock distributor, 
Coleman McSpadden. Estes' relationship with McSpadden is 
discussed on page 381 of this report. 
Obtaining of Additional Retail Dealers 

Using the Lester-Stone Co. as his primary base of operations, Billie 
Sol Estes moved rapidly in early 1959 to acquire additional retail 
outlets. To obtain additional dealers, Estes offered them a guaran­
teed margin of profit. In bis testimony at Plainview, Glenn Lester 
described what was done: 

Q. Now, Mr. Lester, did Estes give you any instructions 
about the acquisition of additional dealers and additional 
distributors? 

A. Well, yes. He aske~ us to get out and get the boys in 
and move all the ammonia we could. 

Q. Did he give you instructions about how to do it? 
A. Well, yes. We were to guarantee them so much margin 

regardless of the price that they sold ammonia for. We 
guaranteed to meet any competition. · 

Q. In other words, in this thing he first dropped the price 
below cost? · 

A. That's right. 
Q. And then he told you to go to other dealers and other 

distributors and tell them that you would guarantee them a 
margin of profit no matter wb at the cost was? 

A. That's right.
Q. And no matter what the price was or was selling for? 
A. That's right. 
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Q. Now, what was that margin of profit? 
A. Well, we started out $10 plus the use of the equipment, 

the rental that they got out of the equipment that they 
rented to the farmers. About $10 a ton. 

Estes did not hesitate to threaten destructive competition in case 
dealers were r.eluctant to buy their ammonia from him. In testi­
mony at Plainview, James Winders, a dealer at Earth (a town of 
about 1,000 located 40 miles west of Plainview), gave the following 
description of a telephone conversation with Estes in early 1959: 

A. • • • he told· me if I did not buy anhydrous ammonia 
from him the next year, he would put me out of business. 

Q. What did you respond to that? 
A. Well, I asked him if he didn't think he should come up 

and talk to me about it. At that time, I didn't have a large 
business but I didn't owe anyone anything, and I thought 
the man ought to come and talk with me before he just took 
over my business. He said, "There's nothing to talk about. 
That's just the way it is." 

Estes used promises as well as threats to obtain dealers, according 
to testimony of Weldon Bradley at Plainview. Bradley, who at the 
time was a dealer at Dimmitt (a town of 3,000, 40 miles northwest of 
Plainview) gave the following account of a conversation with Estes 
at the Lester-Stone office: 

A. * * * He said he didn't want to hurt me. He wanted 
to sell me ammonia, and fix it so I would have a margin in it 
so that I could meet anybody's price. And made me feel 
pretty good. And I come out of that place pretty well as­
sured that I was going to be taken care of. * * * 

As Billie Sol Estes began to make good on his threats to sell 
ammonia below cost, more and more dealers decided to obtain their 
supplies from Lester-Stone. According to Lloyd Stone, "* * * they 
were in a position that they weren't competitive and they couldn't 
do any business; so, they came to us and wanted to join us." In his 
Plainview testimony, Stone described the speed and extent of Lester­
Stone's growth: 

Q. Now, when you started, you had 10 dealers. How 
many dealers do you have now? 

A. Seventy-eight.
Q. So, you expanded from 10 to 78 dealers? 
A. That is correct. 

ESTES CAPTURES LARGE SHARE OF MARKET 

Price-Cutting and Attempted Price-Fixing 
According to testimony of associates and acquaintances, Billie Sol 

Estes declared in advance that he intended to seize a large share of the 
Plains ammonia market. In testimony at Amarillo, Harold Orr 
described a comment made by Estes in January 1959, at the Hilton 
Hotel in Plainview. According to Orr: 

Mr. Estes stated he was going to control the anhydrous 
ammonia business in the Panhandle area, and he was going to 
do it by dropping the bottom out of the price marketing. 



186 OPERATIONS OF BILLIE SOL ESTES 

In his Plainview testimony, Lloyd Stone gave the following descrip­
tion of a conversation with Estes in early 1959: 

Q. Now, what did Billie Sol Estes say to you about how to 
go about building the business and expanding it? 

A. Billie Sol always used analogies, and he said, "Now, we 
can go in here and work real hard for 15 years and build a 
business, or we can come in and"-as he said it, "Now, these 
people have all of this business just in their little hot hands." 
And he said, "Now, if we try to get it this way, we're not 
going to be able to get it." But, he said, "If we hit them, it 
will all fly up in the air and when it falls down, then, we'll 
1Uab our part of it." 

Despite Billie Sol Estes' talk of price cutting, one of his associates 
was apparently actively promoting a price-fixing meeting at about the 
same time. In testimony at Amarillo, Coleman McSpadden-a com­
petitor of Estes at the time, although he later became an associate­
told of a meeting in the ballroom of the Jim Hill Hotel at Hereford 
on January 14, 1959. McSpadden said the meeting was called by 
Lloyd Stone of the Lester-Stone Co., but Estes did not attend. 
McSpadden gave the following account of what took place: 

Q. What was the topic of discussion, or what was the 
purpose of the meeting? 

A. Of course, we were all called together to try to raise 
the price of ammonia to where the dealers could make a 
profit on the sale of anhydrous ammonia. 

Q. There were dealers from all major suppliers there? 
A. Yes, sir, and the ballroom was substantially full of 

people. It was a great turnout. 
Q. You knew a good many of them? 
A. Yes, sir, I knew quite a few of them. 
Q. Now, did they arrive at an agreed price at that meeting? 
A. Yes, sir. 

According to McSpadden, those attending the meeting agreed to 
charge uniform prices for anhydrous ammonia; McSpadden's testi­
mony on this pomt follows: 

Q. Tell us what the retail prices were that were agreed 
upon at that meeting.

A. We agreed to sell anhydrous ammonia at 5.75 at the 
dock in the customer's tank. 

Q. That is cents per pound? 
A. Cents per pound, yes, sir; 6.25 at the dock in the 

dealer's tank. 
Q. That is where the dealer furnished the tank to the 

farmer? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. All right? 
A. And 6.75 with the dealer's tank and applicator. 
Q. That is where the dealer was furnishing the tank and 

app1icat.or? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. All right, sir? 

https://app1icat.or
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A. And 7.50 cents per pound for a turnkey job, where the 
dealer takes his tractor and goes out and applies it for the 
farmer. 

Q. Was there a general consent and general agreement 
among__!,hose present on that set of prices? 

A. We took a vote. 
Q. You took a vote? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did it pass or fail? 
A. Oh, it passed. 

Estes' Sales Tactics 
Despite the high hopes of its participants, the Hereford meeting­

according to McSpadden's further testimony-did not stop Estes. 
McSpadden described subsequent events as follows: 

Q. What happened. immediately after that meeting? 
A. Well, before most of us could get back to our offices, the 

Estes group broke the price back to, I believe it was 4.50 
cents a pound, and they started booking immediately, just 
as fast as they could. 

* * * * * 
Q. Then almost before you could get back to your work, his 

people were in the field at a lesser price? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Did they pile up a deal of business by that? 
A. Yes, sir, they did. * * * 

Customary commercial terms are hardly adequate to describe the 
sales tactics used by Billie Sol Estes to take over a major share of the 
Plains ammonia market in 1%9. In a way, perhaps the mo3t ·appro­
priate description of what happened is the World War II term 
"blitzkrieg," defined by Webster as "war conducted with lightninglike 
speed and force." 

Estes' competition was extremely difficult, if not impossible, for 
most retail dealers to combat with their own resources. This is 
illustrated by testimony at Plainview of Fred Simms, a dealer near 
Hereford who agreed to handle ammonia provided by Estes; Simms 
gave the following account of instructions he received from Estes: 

* * * he told us he would pay us $10 a ton for every ton 
we sold, and we'd start out selling it for 4½ cents a pound. 
And then, he said if anybody meets that price up there, then 
drop it a quarter of a cent. And he said, "And then if any­
body meets that, drop it another quarter." And he said, 
"Until it gets to 3 cents a pound." And he said, "There's 
no need of calling me or anything, bothering me until it gets 
down to 3 cents a pound. And when it gets that cheap, 
then, let me know." 

Estes' low prices, as might be expected, made it easy for his do::1.lers 
to sell to farmers. In his testimony, Simms described what happened 
when he publicized the reduced price: 

A. * * * I contacted a few farmers and told them. I'd 
have to drive over the country, you know, and contact 
them. But then after about the first week, well, they would 
come to my office. 

38-588-64---13 
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Q. They were lined up to get in? 
A. Yes, sir. They were wanting it. It wasn't very hard 

to sell. 
The results of the sales tactics inaugurated by Estes in early 1959, 

were summed up by Coleman McSpadden as follows: 
* * * from that date forward, Mr. Estes practically con­

trolled the anhydrous ammonia market in the area, and other 
dealers were either going broke or going out of business or 
merging or selling out * * * 

Advance Booking 
A sales practice which Estes probably originated and certainly used 

extensively wa.s that of "advance booking." In his testimony at 
Amarillo, N. J. Cain, of Southern Farm Supply Association, stated that 
the custom was peculiar to the Plains area aud had come into wide use 
about 1959. Cain indicated there were two types of advance booking, 
"jawbone" or "conversational" booking, which was simply a promise 
of delivery at a future date with payment to be made on delivery, 
ar d "cash" booking in which advance payment was made for future 
delivery of ammonia at a guaranteed price. 

Billie Sol Estes made substantial sales of ammonia on a cash-in­
advance, basis. In testimony at Plainview, Lloyd Stone gave the 
following description of the technique Estes used to obtain large 
amounts of advance booking without giviug competitors an oppor­
tunity to match his price: 

* * * to use his terminology, we'd just surround them and 
then hit them. What ha meant by thn,t was that we'd get on 
the telephone and notify all of our dealers at a certain day­
and not to begin before and not to let the word out-but on 
a certai11 day, a certain morning, we'd start bookiog ammonia. 
And we'd contact everybody that we could. And, by night, 
we would have a lot of it in. 

Some of Estes' dealers suffered losses when they booked advance 
orders at reduced prices and then were unable to obtain ammonia 
from Estes with which to make deliveries. In testimony at Plain­
view, Weldon Bradley of Dimmitt said he had booked advance orders 
for a substantial amount of ammonia at four and a quarter cents per 
pound; Estes was to provide the ammonia and guarantee Bradley 
$10-per-ton margin. Bradley described what happened next as. 
follows: 

Q. What happened after that? 
A. ~ell, the next thing I knew, I couldn't get any 

ammoma. 
Q. From the Lester-Stone Co.? 
A. That's right. 
Q. And then what did you do? 
A. Well, I made a trip down here every day for about a 

week trying to get the thing straightened out. And find 
out why-I had these farmers' money and they were want­
ing their ammonia. They didn't seem to want their money 
back. All they were interested in was the ammonia. And 
I held them off so long as I thought I could. And one time 
I came down here and it seemed that they were very des--
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perate for ammonia. And they called Pecos and they wanted 
me to talk to Billie Sol myself. Because I had a bunch that 
was after me. And I told them I would talk to him. I 
would like to find out what the deal was. And they couldn't 
get a hold of Billie. But they did let me talk to-I suppose 
it was his top man. 

Q. Foster? 
A. I believe it was Foster. He said, "Bradley, we'll have 

you a load of ammonia in there by 9 o'clock in the morning." 
He said, "I'll see to that personally." Well, I went back 
and assured my customers that they could start lining up out 
there and get 1t as long as the transport would last. But it 
never did arrive. 

Bradley finally gave up hope of obtaining the ammonia promised 
by Estes. In further testimony, he described how he secured ammonia. 
to meet his commitments: 

Q. Then, what did you do? 
A. Well, I went back up to Lowell Sharp [a distributor at 

Hereford]. I went back to Phillips at Dimmitt to see if I 
could buy some ammonia they were selling. And they told 
me that they wouldn't sell anybody any ammonia that had 
anything to do with Estes. But finally, there was one that 
said, "I'll sell you some." At that time, ammonia had gone 
back up to 6 cents a pound. He said, "If you will let me 
unload at night," says, "I'll bring you some in the morning 
at 6 cents a pound." I .filled all of those contracts, those 
four-and-a-quarter contracts with 6-cent ammonia. 

Q. How much did you lose on that transaction? 
A. About $7,500. 
Q. Then, did you have any further relationship with 

Lester-Stone? 
A. No; I didn't. * * * 

Effect on Competitors 
A number of fertilizer dealers went out of business because they 

could not meet Billie Sol Estes' price competition. Lowell Sharp of 
Hereford was formerly a partner in the Plains Fertilizer Co., a whole­
sale and retail fertilizer business at Hereford. In a hearing at Am­
nrmo, Sharp described his experience after Estes began to compete 
with him. 

Q. What was the name of the concern that Mr. Estes was 
selling through, in your area? 

A. Lester-Stone Co. 
Q. What was the price at which Lester-Stone people were 

putting it on the market? 
A. Well, his dealers were booking the ammonia to the 

farmers at $80 per ton, delivered to the farmers. 
Q. Now, that was some $7 or $8 below your cost, wasn't 

it? 
A. That's right. 
Q. What did that do to your business? 
A. Stopped it. 
Q. It stopped it? 
A. Yes, sir. 
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There were reports-which were not verified by the subcommittee­
that as many as 80 fertilizer dealers went out of business because of 
competition from Estes. W. W. Jackson, vice president of Com­
mercial Solvents, commented on this point during his testimony before 
the subcommittee as follows: 

Mr. NAUGHTON.Is it or is it not true, as reported, that 
some 80 fertilizer distributors in west Texas were forced out of 
business by the practice of Billie Sol Estes of consistently 
selling fertilizer below the cost at which he himself acquired it? 

Mr. JACKSON. You are asking me now for my personal 
opinion. I will present it on that basis. In my opinion, sir, 
that is not true. 

Mr. NAUGHTON.What is your opinion as.to the tnrnstate 
of facts? 

Mr. JACKSON. My opinion is that many of those operat,ors 
were marginal operators, some of them were truckdrivers 
who got into the business of anhydrous ammonia as a work of 
opportunity, and it is quite understandable. Others were 
companies who tried to get in on the beginning of what 
appeared to be a rapidly growing and lucrative market. It 
is true it was rapidly growing, but unless you are set up with 
all the equipment, which represents a maJor investment, it is 
pretty difficult to stay in business. 

We have seen cases where these companies were absorbed 
by our competition. As a matter of fact, one of our largest 
customers, if not the largest customer, back before we ever 
heard of Estes, was completely absorbed by a major petro­
leum company. 

Another was lost to us by an oil company. Standard took 
over Shrock. The Mid-South, a very substantial Midsouth 
distribution account which was in many respects similar to 
Estes in that they had substantial investment in tanks, 
trailers, applicators, equipment, was lost to us because a 
producer came in, a producer-a combination of Cities 
Service and Continental Oil-that bought out this equip­
ment. 

So it is very difficult to generalize. 
I think that there probably were companies who were, in 

effect, discouraged from continuing business. This is 
normal. 

The dealers who managed to stay in business in competition with 
Estes found the going rough. Harry Igo, operator of Plainsman 
Fertilizers in Plainview, considered selling his business to Estes but 
decided against it because, in !go's words, "* • • he had a non­
compete clause in there that provided I wouldn't go back into business 
anywhere in the United States or the world or any planet in outer 
space that was now existing or any that would be discovered." 
Although Igo stayed in business for himself until January 1962, when 
he sold out to W. R. Grace Co., he stated in testimony at Lubbock 
that there was no profit in the fertilizer business during the 3 years 
he was competing with Estes. 

Southern Farm Supply of Amarillo, a regional wholesale cooperative, 
found itself in the position of having to send customers to competitors 
because "they were selling cheaper than we could buy." As a result 
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Southern Farm Supply became an agent for the Monsanto Chemical 
Co. handling ammonia on a consignment basis rather than as an 
independent dealer. 

James Potts, general manager of the Taylor-Evans Farm Store) 
indicated in the following testimony at Amarillo that competition from 
Estes was more severe in some areas than in others: 

Q. Now, did you sell any anhydrous ammonia in any other 
area of your operation, other than Amarillo area? 

A. Yes; our largest sales in ammonia are south of here in 
the Tulia and Happy area, but the price hasn't been nearly so 
severe in that area. 

Q. Would you say prices in that area were more stable? 
A. Somewhat. The dealers representing Mr. Estes were 

friends of ours, and refused to be as cutthroat as in some of 
the other places. 

Q. Now, approximately how much did your business drop 
here in Amarillo area? 

A. This last year the tonnage was down at least 1,500 tons. 
Q. Have you ever had opportunity to sit down and 

actually figure it on a percentage basis? 
A. Here at Amarillo and the points west of here our 

tonnage, our business, was down from 80 to 90 percent; in 
the Canyon-Dawn area, approximately 40 to 50 percent. 
The further we got away from Wildorado and Bushland, 
where we were competing against these lower prices, th~ 
more ammonia we moved 

Q. In other words, the competition was greater right. 
here in the Amarillo area, in your operations, than it was 
south of here? 

A. That's right. 
Potts also described a practice to which his firm was forced to resort 

in its efforts to meet Estes' competition. 
* * * Mr. Estes and his associated dealers, or whatever 

association there might be, were selling fertilizer for le~s 
than we could buy it, and so we couldn't ask our farmers to 
pay more (that is, our customers) and what little we did 
sell in this area, we disguised our men as farmers, and went 
to their storage and picked it up, and paid $60 a ton for it, 
because we could not buy it for that price.

Q. Now, what's that-let's go over that again--
A. We were unable to compete at all, so in Bushland and 

Wildorado we disguised several of our employees as farmers, 
took the names off our tanks, and went into their operation 
and bought ammonia, to where we could at least be a little 
competitive, where people really wanted to trade with us; 
and that was about all the ammonia we bought, was what we 
bought through them, and they thought they were selling to 
farmers; but that was the only way we could stay in the 
picture. 

Q. Did you have a title for this, like "Farmer Jones" 
operation? 

A. The boys went under their own names. 



192 OPERATIONS OF BILLIE SOL ESTES 

While competing distributors and dealers felt the impact most 
heavily, producers of ammonia with markets in the Plains area were 
also seriously affected. In order to maintain any sales volume at all 
in areas in which Estes was competing, they had to reduce their price 
sharply. The result, in a number of instances, was smaller sales at 
lower prices. 
Complaints to Commercial Solvents 

The aggressive sales tactics used by Billie Sol Estes in taking over a 
large share of the Plains ammonia market in 1959 resulted in a con­
siderable amount of ill feeling toward Estes' supplier, Commercial 
Solvents. The intensity of this reaction is documented in letters of 
complaint sent to Commercial Solvents by officials of Southern Farm 
Supply of Amarillo. Aside from Billie Sol Estes, Southern Farm was 
the only substantial ammonia customer Commercial Solvents had in 
west Texas at that time. 

On September 2, 1959, N. J. Cain, agricultural chemicals manager 
for Southern Farm, wrote a letter to Massey McConnell, Commercial 
Solvents' regional sales supervisor, in which Cain stated: 

Speaking of doubtful parentage, CSC's dealings out here 
are beginning to look more and more like the unhappy re­
sults of a "shotgun marriage." Of course, you have no con­
trol over retail prices, as that would be illegal; however, when 
the retail price drops a considerable amount below the whole­
sale price, it should be a matter of immf'di1-1te concern to every­
one interested in the future of the industry * * *, 

In his letter, Cain told McConnell that one of the rumors then 
prevalent in west Texas was that below-cost sales of ammonia were 
being made as part of-

a pyramid scheme to convert ammonia into quick cash to 
invest in other enterprises such as grain elevators and 
dropping CSC some hush puppies in the form of grain assign­
ments. Some rumormongers go so far as to assert that CSC 
willingly entered into such an agreement to dispose of surplus 
ammonia, while others are of the opinion that it is a case of 
reaching an arm in the buzz saw to try to recover a finger. 

On October 15, Tom C. Jones, general manager of Southern Farm, 
wrote to Ward Jackson, Commercial Solvents' vice president in charge 
of sales. In the letter, Jones commented: 

* * * I have, over a period of the last lO months or a year, 
registered protests to Mr. Marshall [then general manager in 
charge of agricultural sales for Commercial Solvents] as to 
your underwriting and supplying of one particular individual 
in this area, who operates with devious and unscrupulous 
tactics in the sale of ammonia and those tactics have dis­
couraged many potential dealers of ours from entering into 
the ammonia business. 

We are quite firmly of the opinion that these low, vacillat­
ing and unstable retail prices are responsible for less tons of 
ammonia being applied this past spring than was used the 
previous spring. We feel that this came about because the 
farmer felt that the longer he waited, the more chances he 
would have to get an even lower price with the inevitable 
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result that as the end of the season (because of plant size) 
came, they all wanted ammonia at once, and there was not 
enough time, facilities nor product to supply the demand. 

Each time we complained about these 4½-cent retail 
prices on ammonia, Mr. Marshall would give me his re­
peated assurance that this particular individual was and 
had been paying the accepted, prevailing dealer prices for 
the ammonia; but in many cases, he had been hauling the 
ammonia considerable distances and then delivering to 
ammonia dealers or applicators at prices in the neighborhood 
of $14.25 per ton less than what the prevailing dealer­
applicator's price would be in the area, and to competitors. 

If this were a single instance, we could very well accept it 
as a temporary or local condition, but where it has the con­
tinuing appearance of a widespread disease, and has pro­
longed itself over a matter of many months, we are forced to 
the inevitable conclusion that the pricing policy on ngricul­
tural ammonia for application in this area by Commercial 
Solvents Corp., must certainly be open to challenge and to 
question. 

We have had a most difficult time in living with these 
conditions, and marketing ammonia, when it has been 
generally known that we are procuring ammonia from the 
same source as this opera tor. 

In a reply to Jones' letter dated November 23, 1959, Vice President 
Jackson, of Commercial Solvents, stated: 

I have discussed the Texas anhydrous ammonia situation, 
particularly that current in the Hereford area, with our 
representatives and with Mr. Loy Everett [who had replaced 
C. T. Marshall as general manager for sales of agricultural 
chemicals]. I have also rechecked all invoices and contract 
commitments with customers operating in this area. 

While I cannot say that all details have been brought to 
my attention, I have very definitely established the fact that 
other purchasers of anhydrous ammonia in the Texas area 
are paying our market price, which is also our published list 
price. I might say that with one specific account in the 
Texas area, we neither condone, nor understand, his methods 
of operation; however, he is purchasing anhydrous ammonia 
from CSC at market price, with no discount whatsoever from 
this price, which is currently $86 f.o.h., Sterlington, La., 
plus normal freight equalization with Etter, Tex., and will 
be $88 f.o.b., Sterlington, La., freight equalized, beginning 
January 1 through June 30, 1960. We well realize that the 
reports on this account, together with specific actions we, 
ourselves, have verified, would cause one to question our 
relationship with this organization, but I can assure you of 
the facts as mentioned above. 

On November 30, 1959, Jones again wrote Jackson, commenting 
that: 

The price at which you are billing this particular cus­
tomer is not of primary importance, but the crux of the 
whole issue is that you are providing several tools with which 
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he conducts a business practice that is apparently directed 
toward the elimination of competition. 

Jones closed his letter with the following paragraphs giving Com­
mercial Solvents formal notice that Southern Farm would no longer 
handle Solvents' ammonia: 

I am quite sure you cnn ret1lize and appreciate our past 
position in attempting to market anhydrous ammonia at a 
current quotation when this same individual was offering to 
deliver ammonia to some of our accounts at a price ranging 
from $80 per ton delivered, down to as low as $50 per ton 
delivered. 

In view of these things, we have no other alternative than 
to discontinue any purchasing relationship from Conunercinl 
Solvents Corp. and this letter will constitute a formal notifi­
cation that we will be taking no further shipments of anhy­
drous ammonia and/or any other product manufactured by 
Commercial Solvents Corp. from this time. * * * 

In a personal letter to Massey McConnell, written on December 15, 
1959, Jones made the following comment concerning the operations 
of Billie Sol Estes: 

I do not know how close you have been to the situation 
regarding Commercial's preferred customer here in the High 
Plains area, but this bird is completely unscrupulous and is 
a price butcher and completely devoid of any business ethics 
whatsoever. I hope you will keep yourself personally clear 
from as much of his operations as you can, for certainly, 
sooner or later, this bird is going to run afoul of the Justice 
Department or the Federal Trade Commission, by virtue 
that he not only breaks the price down to $50 per ton de­
livered on ammonia, but he has made entirely too many 
statements to the effect that he was going to put thus and so 
out of business, and these statements together with his actions 
are not endorsed 
are on the Federal 

by the various 
books. 

antitrust statutes which 

Estes Becomes Largest Ammonia Distributor 
Before the end of 1959, Billie Sol Estes was in a position to call 

himself-probe bly accurately-the largest anhydrous ammonia dis­
tributor m the world. The following table, prepared from data 
supplied by Commercial Solvents, i;hows the number of tons of 
Solvents' ammonia shipped to Estes by months and quarters during 
1958 and 1959: 

1958 1959 1958 1959 

A~ust....................... 678 3, 644 1anuary--········-··········· O 1,045 
September.................... 358 4, 175if~c'tarY-······---·-··-······ g i;~ 

1---1----

1---l---- Total, 3d quarter....... 2, 781 14, 200 
Total, 1st quarter_______ 0 7,502 

1,06632October._---··-·-··---·-·-···== November ___•••.••••••.•••••• 1,272284~·--·-···-····-···-····--- 0 2, 141 December .••..•••••.•••••• ___ 607 1,460BY-----···---·····-·····--·- 1,281 2,376 
1une·--•···-····-·-··········· 743 4,472 

Total, 4th quarter...... 923 3, 798 
Total, 2d quarter....... 2,024 8.989 ==== 

Total for yeBI'. ___-···-- 6, 728 34,649 
1uly.......................... 1,845 6,441 
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During 1958, Billie Sol Estes sold less than 6,000 tons of Commercial 
Solvents' ammonia, none of it in the Plains area. During 1959, 
Estes disposed of 34,500 tons of Solvents' ammonia, a sixfold increase; 
most, of it was sold in the Plains area. The key to Estes' tremendous 
increase in volume of ammonia handled was his willingness to sell 
large amounts at low prices and his ability-with occasional excep­
tions-to obtain sufficient amounts of ammonia to make promised 
deliveries. It is intere~ting to note that the amount of ammonia 
sold by Estes in 1959 almost exactly equaled the 35,000 tons surplus 
for which Commercial Solvents was trying to find an agricultural 
market. 

Billie Sol Estes had rather neatly solved Commercial Solvents' 
problem of finding a market for its surplus ammonia. In the process, 
however, at least two other problems of a potentially serious nature had 
been created. The first was that Commercial Solvents had become 
almost completely dependent on Billie Sol Estes for its agricultural 
sa]es of ammonia. The aggressive tactics which had multiplied 
Estes' sales volume had also alienated Commercial Solvents' other 
customers and kept it from getting new ones. By the end of 1959, 
Estes was Commercial Solvents' only important customer in west 
Texas and was accounting for more than three-fourths of the com­
pany's total sales of direct application ammonia. The second 
problem was the size of Estes' indebtedness to Commercial Solvents, 
which exceeded $3.5 million by the end of 1959. 

According to testimony by representatives of Commercial Solvents, 
Billie Sol Estes was billed for ammonia at the company's regular 
published market prices. During the time in which Estes was distrib­
uting Solvents' ammonia, these prices ranged from a low of $80 per 
ton to a high of $92 per ton f.o.b. the company's Sterlington, La., 
plant. Part of the variation in prices represented seasonal factors, 
since ammonia prices customarily are lower in the late summer and fall 
than during the winter and spring months. The remaining variation 
was accounted for by increased prices beginning in late 1960. Com­
mercial Solvents' officials testified that--except for a $4 per ton 
"off-railhead freight allowance" Estes was given no discounts or 
rebates from published prices. 

According to Ward Jackson, the cost of shipping ammonia from 
Sterlington to Billie Sol Estes' receiving points in west Texas averaged 
around $20 per ton. Jackson said that Commercial Solvents absorbed 
an average of about $ 12 per ton of this amount to "equalize" shipping 
costs from Louisiana with the lower freight rate from the Phillips 
Petroleum Co. ammonia plant at Etter, Tex.; the remaining $8 per 
ton was paid by Estes. 

When the list price of anhydrous ammonia was $88 per ton, the 
net delivered price to Estes-after deducting $4 per ton allowance and 
payment of around $8 per ton freight-was about $92 per ton. The 
net return for Commercial Solvents-after absorbing the $4 allowance 
and paying $12 freight-was approximately $72 per ton. Com­
mercial Solvents' manufacturing cost, according to testimony at 
Dallas by William Leonhardt, was $30 to $35 per ton. 
Pro.fits and Losses 

The wholesale price of ammonia delivered in West Texas to Billie 
Sol Estes averaged more than $90 per ton. However, Estes frequently 
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made retail sales for less than that amount. As a result, the books of 
his distributing firms showed tremendous losses. Glenn Lester, who 
was associated with Estes in the Lester-Stone Co., gave the following 
testimony at Plainview concerning what happened in 1959: 

Q. Now then, at the end of the year, did your partnership 
with Mr. Estes, did that turn out to be a profitable partner­
ship for you? 

A. Not for me; no. 
Q. What kind of a loss did your Lester-Stone Co. show at 

the end of the first year? 
A. Oh, I believe it was something over $300,000. 
Q. In other words, in order to achieve this expansion and 

t9.ke most of the market here, you took a loss that year of 
about $300,000? 

A. That's right. 
Although Billie Sol Estes' ammonia sales operations in 1959 resulted 

in tremendous paper losses, they also provided him with an extremely 
large amount of money to spend-perhaps as much as $2 million. 
This paradoxical result occurred because Estes was selling for cash and 
buying on credit. During 1959, Estes received ammonia shipments 
from Commercial Solvents priced at a total of more than $3 million. 
However, Estes made direct payment,s to Commercial Solvents 
during this period of only around $15,000. (Commercial Solvents 
also received net payments of about $400,000 under its assignment of 
Estes' grain storage revenues.) Consequently, after operating ex­
penses were paid, money received by Estes from ammonia sales was 
available for storage operating expenses, construction of additional 
storage facilities, or other purposes. 

The circumstances under which Estes succeeded in obtaining such 
a huge amount of credit from Commercial Solvents during 1959 are 
discussed in detail in the following section of this report. 

OTHER 1959 EVENTS 

Assignment of Grain Storage Revenues 
In his November 14, 1958, memorandum describing the proposed 

agreement with Billie Sol Estes, President Woods of Commercial 
Solvents told members of the executive committee that "Mr. Estes 
is using this vehicle of grain storage relations with the farmers as his 
entrance into the anhydrous ammonia business in the South Plains 
area." Since Estes had agreed to assign the revenues derived from 
storage of CCC grain to Commercial Solvents, the company had an 
obvious interest in the s•.1.ccess of Estes' storage operations. This 
interest was demonstrated by Vice President Jackson's visit to the 
Department of Agriculture to inquire about the grain storage situa­
tion before Commercial Solvents signed the storage-fertilizer agree­
ment with Estes. 

Estes' agreement with Commercial Solvents was siO'ned on Decem­
ber 1, 1958. However, apparently because of diflicu1ty in obtaining 
n surety bond, Estes did not obtain a Federal warehouse license until 
February 24, 1959. Estes' first Uniform Grain Storage Agreement, 
which made him eligible to store CCC grain, was not, approved until 
March 9, 1059. In accordancP with his December 1, 1958 agreement 
Estes signed a CCC form assigning storage revenues under the UGSA 
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to Commercial Solvents. The assignment form was dated March 4, 
1959 but did not become effective until it was received by the Dallas. 
com~odity office on April 2, 1959. 
Inquiries by McConnell 

In the period before issuance of Estes' Federal warehouse licenser 
Commercial Solvents apparently sought information concerning him 
from James McConnell, then a member of its board of directors. 
McConnell, a former Assistant Secretary of Agriculture, had at one 
time been in charge of the Government grain storage program. On: 
January 3, 1959, McConnell wrote a letter to C. T. Marshall, Solvents' 
agricultural sales manager, in which he said, referring to Billie Sol 
Estes: "I have not yet heard anything from my various inquiries· 
about. how he is regarded in various quarters." 
Refusal To Endorse Bond 

The subcommittee's examination of Commercial Solvents' files did 
not disclose any further communication from McConnell concerning 
the results of his inquiries about Estes at this time. A few days later, 
however, Commercial Solvents declined to endorse a surety bond for 
Estes' grain storage operations. In a January 14, 1959, letter written 
to William Leonhardt at Estes' request, Wayne Cooper, general 
manager of United Elevators, had requested Commercial Solvents to 
sign as additional indemnity on Estes' application for a $200,000 bond 
needed to obtain a Federal warehouse license. The letter stated that 
"The warehouseman's bond is of utmost importance to our operation 
for without it we will be unable to store grain." Solvents' refusal to 
honor this request was described by Leonhardt in the following 
testimony at Dallas: 

Q. Did your company go on the bond of United Elevators 
that they put up for the Commodity Credit Corporation? 

A. No, sir; we refused it. 
Q. You were asked to do that? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. By Mr. Estes? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And why did you refuse? 
A. Because we were not in the grain elevator business and 

we assumed that everything that he was doing, as far as we 
were concerned, was his business and not ours. 

McConnell Becomes USDA Consultant 
On January 19, 1959, McConnell was appointed a consultant-to 

the Secretary of Agriculture. McConnell's testimony at subcom­
mittee hearings concerning the circumstances leading to his appoint­
ment follows: 

Mr. FouNTAIN. How did that come about? What were 
the circumstances? 

Mr. McCONNELL. I can't remember, sir. I don't recall 
what the circumstances were. 

Mr. FouNTAIN. Did the Secretary ask you to become a 
consultant? 

Mr. McCONNELL. Yes, he did. 
Mr. FouNTAIN. Did he explain the reasons why he wanted 

your services? 
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Mr. McCONNELL. He must have, but I have forgotten 
what they were. 

Mr. FouNTAIN. That was January 1959. You don't recall 
your being given that appointment at all? 

Mr. McCONNELL. Well, I am not clear on it, as to how 
that happened. 

In further testimony, McConnell was asked whether his duties 
·included advising the Secretary on matters involving storage of 
.Government grain: 

Mr. FouNTAIN. Did your duties include advising the 
Secretary on problems in connection with price supports, 
storage, and sale pro~ams on agriculture commodities? 

Mr. McCONNELL. No. It was more on personnel, going 
over talks that he made, things of that character, and 
visiting with him about his problems. 

The Secretary at that time was under strong opposition on 
:reducing price supports. As I recall there was not much 
1Jhange in the legislation being proposed at that time. 

Mr. FouNTAIN. Do you recall any of the matters which you 
discussed with him during that period of time when you 
served as consultant? 

Mr. McCONNELL. Not particularly. I recall his asking 
about certain people for certain jobs he had to fill. 

Mr. FouNTAIN. Mr. Naughton? 
Mr. NAUGHTON.Mr. McConnell, are you familiar with 

the language of your appointment, the description of your 
duties as they appear in the official appointment? 

Mr. McCONNELL. No. 
Mr. NAUGHTON.Let me read them to you. This is a 

description of a new position which I believe relates to you: 
"Effective January 19, 1959, Office of the Secretary, 

immediate office." 
The description is as follows: 
"Serves as a consultant to the Secretary of Agriculture and 

advises him on problems in connection with Goverment price 
support, storage, and sales programs on agricultural com­
modities, particularly those relating to cotton and tobacco." 

Whatever you may have done, your duties did call for 
advising the Secretary on Government price supports, stor­
age, and sales programs, did they not? 

Mr. McCONNELL. That is what that says; yes. 
Mr. NAUGHTON.And, as a matter of fact, wasn't one of the 

questions that was foremost in the Department's mind at this 
time, the question of whether or not the Uniform Grain 
Storage Agreement rates should be reduced? 

Mr. McCONNELL. Possibly. 
Department of Agriculture records indicat~ that McConnell was in 

Washington in connection with his service as a consultant on January 
23-28 and February 15-20, 1959. 
Change in Commercial Solvents' 1'{.anagement 

While Billie Sol Estes was taking preliminary steps to move into 
the Plains ammonia market, important changes were taking place in 
the management and control of Commercial Solvents. 
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· According to an article published in Fortune magazine in May 
1959, a series of events occuring earlier in 1959 had resulted in the 
departure of J. Albert Woods, who had been president of Com­
mercial Solvents since 1950. In January 1959, the article stated, the 
Jeremiah Milbank family interests advised Solvents' directors that 
they opposed reelection of Woods as president and were prepared to 
fight a proxy contest to prevent it. The Milbank interests represented 
aeeording to Fortune, over 800,000 shares-, or a.round 30 percent of 
Solvents' 2,700,000 shares of outstanding common stock. As a remilt 
of the Milbank ultimatum, Fortune said, Woods resigned as president 
on February 16, 1959, and Senior Vice President Maynard C. Wheeler 
was made "acting president" to fill the vacancy. 

Fortune described what took place at Commercial Solvents' 1959 
stockholders meeting as follows: 

The Milbanks supplied all nominees to be elected at the 
April 2 annual meeting. In addition to Jeremiah, Jr., who 
was standing for reelection, they nominated Paul Shields, 
William W. Burch, a member of the Jeremiah Milbank 
organization, H. V. Sherrill, a partmr in the Shields firm and 
a classmate of young Jeremiah, an:l Arthur E. Palmer, Jr., 
a lawyer associated with the Jeremiah Milbank interests. 

On April 8, the board of directors met to elect Maynard Wheeler 
president and to make Jeremiah Milbank, Jr., chairman of the execu­
tive committee. William S. Leonhardt, who had been Solvents' 
treasurer, was promoted to vice president in charge of financial affairs. 

ESTES' INDEBTEDNESS REACHES $3.5 MILLION 

Estes Allowed To Exceed Credit Limu 
Under terms of his December 1, 1958, agreement with the company, 

Billie Sol Estes had given Commercial Solvents notes totaling $900,000 
to cover existing indebtedness for fertilizer of $540,000, additional 
deliveries of fertilizer in the amount of $135,000, and a $225,000 cash 
advance. The notes were payable in equal annual installments, with 
the first payment due on February 28, 1960. In addition, Solvents 
gave Estes a $500,000 line of credit for purchase of additional fertilizer 
on open account. At the end of February 1959, Estes' total indebted­
ness to Solvents was approximately $1,200,000. Only about 
$300,000-well within the $500,000 limit-was on open account. 

During March 1959, Commercial Solvents shipped Estes nearly 
4,000 tons of ammonia. By the end of March, Estes' open account 
indebtedness exceeded $675,000-more than $175,000 over the agreed 
credit limit. 

Although Estes had already exceeded his line of credit, Commercial 
Solvents continued to ship him increasingly larger amounts of am­
monia during most of the rest of 1959. Shipments from April through 
June totaled nearly 9,000 tons-an average of almost 3,000 tons per 
month. From July through September, Solvents shipped Estes more 
than 14,000 tons of ammonia-an average of well over 4,500 tons a 
month and more than five times tts much as he had used during the 
same pP,riod in 1958. Although some grain storage revenues were 
received by Solvents under its assignment, Estes made no direct 
payments for ammonia during the spring and summer of 1959. By 
the end of September, as a result, Estes owed Commercial Solvents 
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about $3.5 million. Since $2.7 million of this was on OJ.Jen account, 
Commercial Solvents had allowed Estes to exceed his line of credit 
by more than $2 million. 

Although Commercial Solvents apparentlyflaced no restrictions,on 
shipments of anhydrous ammonia to Billie So Estes during- the spring 
and summer of 1959, there were indications of some concern on the 
company's part about the Estes account during this period. Solvents' 
records indicate that, its representatives held -three QJ.eetin~--one 
ea.eh in January, February, and March-with Estes during the first 
3 months of 1959, but that these meetings did not include personnel 
responsible for credit or collections. In April. however-R.fter his 
line of credit had been exceeded-William Leonhardt,, Solvents' chief 
financial officer. met twice in New York with Estes. 

Estes' increasingly large indebtedness was called to the attention 
of Commercial Solvents' board of directors on May 25, 1959. Minutes 
of a meeting on that date contain the following statement: 

The president then described the substantially incrensed 
volume of sales of anhvdrous ammonia and nitrogen solu­
tions being made and anticipated to be made to Mr. Billie 
Sol Estes, in Texas, in excess of that contemplated at the 
meeting of the board held on November 24, 1958, and he 
outlined the increased amount of credit and the extended 
eredit terms being ~anted Mr. Estes in support of his sales 
program. There followed a general discuss10n of the matter. 

Minutes of a meeting of Solvents' executive committee on June 18, 
1959, indicate that William Leonhardt told the committee Estes had 
"expanded h;s sales from .the original basis of 51000 tons per year to 
an estimated 25,000 tons per year, and that a new contract was being 
prepared to provide for an increased amount of credit and extended 
credit terms in su_pport of the expanded sales program of Mr. Estes." 
On June 22, President Wheeler advised the board or directors that 
Leonhardt was then in Texas "reviewing with Mr. Estes his e.ntiro 
operations and discussing with him the proposed new arrangements 
bet.ween Mr. Estes and the corporation." 

On July 27, 1959, President Wheeler told the board that the pro­
posed new agreement with Estes would probably be ready for execution 
before the next meeting of the board. After discussion, according to 
the minutes, "it was agreed that the matter should be referred to the 
executive committee for approval of the proposed new agreement or 
such other action as it might deem appropriate." 

President Wheeler's forecast that an agreement with Estes would 
be ready for signing before the August meeting of the board did not 
materialize. An August 18, 1959, memorandum from Leonhardt to 
Wheeler, which was submitted to a meeting of the executive committee 
on that day, indicated that under new arrangements still being dis­
cussed with Estes it was anticipated that both the amount of ammonia 
Estes was required to take under this contract and Estes' open line 
of credit would be-doubled. Under the proposed arrangement, Estes 

- would be required to take a minimum of 10,000 tons and a maximum 
of 24,000 tons annually instead of the previous 5,000-ton minimum 
and 12,000-ton maximum; Estes would also be permitted a maximum 
of $1 million indebtedness on open account instead of the previous 
limit of $500,000. According to the memorandum, it was contem­
plated that Commercial Solvents would receive added security in the 
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form of additional storage revenue assignments and second mortgages 
on storage facilities. 
Signs of Increased Concern 

In addition to describing the proposed new agreement, Leonhardt's 
August 18, 1959, memorandum also discussed Billie Sol Estes' financial 
condition. Leonhardt stated that "It is my understanding that the 
question has again been raised regarding the obtaining of certified 
audited financial statements from Mr. Estes. Mr. Estes operates 
principally as a sole proprietor and has refused to have his statements 
audited by outside mdependent accountants." After describing his 
own initial examination of Estes' unaudited financial data, Leonhardt 
commented that "Because of the type of check made, it was not pos­
sible to ascertain the exact extent of Mr. Estes' unrecorded liabilities. 
In the writer's opinion, based on D. & B. reports, conversations, etc., 
Mr. Estes' unrecorded liabilities could be significant." 

After considering the data in Leonhardt's memorandum, members of 
the executive committee expressed the belief that management should 
at least try to obtain further security before entering the proposed 
agreement. According to minutes of the August 18, 1959, meeting of 
the committee: 

* * * It was the consensus that the officers of the corpora­
tion should continue their efforts to obtain a purchase money 
chattel mortgage on material sold by the corJ>oration to Mr. 
Estes and held in his inventory pending resale by him, and 
should also endeavor to obtain, as additional security, a 
mortgage on certain farm.lands in Texas owned by Mr. Estes; 
but that if, in the judgment of the officers, such mortgages 
or other additional security could not be obtained, it would 
be advisable to enter into the proposed new agreement in any 
event. 

On August 24, 1959, according to minutes of the board meeting 
on that date, President Wheeler stated that the officers of the corpora­
tion would try to obtain the additional security discussed by the 
executive committee. Wheeler also described plans to tighten up on 
the Estes' account, stating that the officers would "station an em­
ployee of the corporation in Texas to maintain contact with Mr. 
Estes' operations there and keep the management informed with 
respect thereto" and would "reiterate to Mr. Estes that, as provided 
in the proposed new agreement, the corporation would expect full 
settlement on February 28, 1960, of all amounts then due." After 
Wheeler's statement, the board of directors adopted a resolution 
authorizing the officers of the corporation to enter into the proposed 
agreement with Estes. 

President Wheeler's announced intention to require full payment 
from Estes of all amounts due on February 28, 1960, had considerable 
significance. At the time it was stated, Estes owed Solvents nearly 
$2.5 million on open account-nearly $1.5 million more than the 
credit limit in the proposed agreement. In addition, a payment on a 
note of $180,000 plus interest was also due on February 28, 1960. 
Since payments under the grain storage revenue assignment were not 
likely to exceed half a million dollars between August and the end of 
February, Estes would have been forced to raise more than a million 
dollars by February 28 to keep his account with Solvents current. 
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Two days after the board meeting, on August 26, 1959, W. W. 
Jackson sent a memorandum to J. V. O'Leary, .then general sales 
manager, in which he made the following comment concerning the 
Estes contract: 

The administration of the contract will be watched very 
carefully and Mr. Wheeler has asked that no chan~es in the 
contract or application of the contract be made without his 
specific approval. 

On September 10, 1959, Billie Sol Estes came to New York where 
he remained until September 12 for meetings with Wheeler and 
Leonhardt. From a subsequent report on these meetings made by 
:beonhardt to the executive committee, it appears that Estes objected 
to making such a large payment on February 28, 1960, and offered 
further security in return for extended credit. According to minutes 
of the executive committee meeting on September 15, 1959, Leonhardt 
reported that-

* * * as a practical matter he [Estes] could not operate his 
fertilizer business under the payment and credit provisions of 
his present arrangements with the corporation. Mr. Leon­
hardt then reported on the extended payment and credit 
arrangements being discussed with Mr. Estes, and ~aid that 
to secure such arrangements Mr. Estes had orally agreed to 
give the corporation, in addition to the present security held 
by the corporation, a chattel mortgage on material sold him 
by the corporation and held in his inventory pending resale 
by him, to assign to the corporation all receivables from 
sales of such material, and to give th_e corporation a mortgage 
on certain parcels of land in Texas owned by him. * * * 

A similar report on discussions with Estes was made by President 
Wheeler to the board of directors at a meetin~ on September 28, 1959. 

Despite the promises made by Estes in September, a new agreeme, t 
still had not been signed by October 22. On that date, Loy Everett, 
Solvents' agricultural sales manager, sent the following telewam to the 
company's Sterlington plant: "Please make no further shipments to 
Billie Sol until further notice.'' 

CONTINUHfG PROBLEMS FOR COMMERCIAL SOLVENTS 

Signing of Revised Agreement 
Negotiations for a revised fl.greement between Commercial SolventA 

and Billie Sol Estes, which had been fagging during the summer and 
early fall of 1959, proceeded rapidly after ammonia deliveries to Estes 
were cut off on October 22. 

On October 29, President Wheeler, William Leonhardt, and Jamea 
McConnell wont to Texas where they remained until November 1. 
During the trip, according to Commercial Solvents, Wheeler and 
McConnell inspected Estes' properties at Plainview and Pecos, and 
Leonhardt discussed with Estes proposed chang~s in the ngreement with 
Solvents. A revised fertilizer agreement was signed as of November 1. 

As might have been anticipated from reports made to Solvents' 
executive committee and board of directors in September, the Novem­
ber t agreement was significantly more favorable to Estes than the 
proposal originally discussed. The original proposal would have called 
for collection of substantially more than a million dollars from Estes 
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on February 28, 1960. The agreement actually signed relaxed this 
requirement considerably. Instead of imposing a maximum credit 
limitation of $1 million (which Estes had already far exceeded), the 
new agreement set a potential limit close to the amount Estes currently 
owed. In effect, it retroactively approved the status quo. 

The November 1 agreement provided that Estes' total indebtedness 
(not including tbe amount owed on long-term notes) could not exceed 
$2.5 million plus the amount of CCC storage payments which had 
been earned but not yet paid. The actual amount of credit extended, 
within the $2.5 million limitation, was not to exceed the amount owed 
for unsold fertilizer in Estes' inventory covered by a chattel mortgage 
to Solvents plus the amount of customer accounts receivable assigned 
by Estes to Solvents. Since the balance payable on Estes' open 
account with Solvents was around $2.8 million on November 1, the 
revised agreement gave Estes an opportunity to defer payment of 
practically all of it if he had sufficient fertilizer in inventory and 
assigned a large enough amount of customer accounts receivable to 
comply with the terms of the agreement. 

As of December 15, 1959, a revised master agreement was signed 
which provided for Estes to give Solvents added security, including 
mortgages on land and additionM.l storage facilities. Estes also agreed 
to give Solvents a chattel mortgage on unsold ammonia held in in­
ventory. 

While the 1959 negotiations with Commercial Solvents were going 
on, Estes apparently had also been talking with at least one of Sol­
vents' competitors-a circumstance which may have had some bear­
ing on the credit concessions given him. A December 9, 1959, file 
memorandum by W. W. Jackson stated that: "Apparently Grace 
Chemical has given Billie Sol Estes a suggested offer covering anhy­
drous ammonia • • •." The Grace offer to Estes, according to 
Jackson's memo, would have permitted Estes to pay only $20 per ton 
in cash for Grace ammonia, with the balance due being available for 
investment in grain, cotton, or ammonia storage facilities on which 
the Grace Co. would take a mortgage. 

Another feature of the Grace offer, according to Jackson, was that 
Estes would be given a $3 per ton handling credit on anhydrous 
ammonia. Commercial Solvents subsequently gave Estes a $4 per 
ton handling credit on ammonia, which was made retroactive for all 
of 1959. 
Restrictions on Ammonia Shipments 

Although Commercial Solvents made substantial concessions in its 
announced plans to make collections on Billie Sol Estes' indebtedness 
to the company, it did impose significant restrictions on further 
ammonia shipments to Estes after the signing of the revised agre~ment. 
William Leonhardt, Commercial Solvents financial vice president, 
gave the following description of these restrictions in testimony at 
subcommittee hearings: 

We had quite a running battle with Mr. Estes from the 
very beginnmg. Mr. Estes was a very difficult bmfoessman 
to handle and control. He was continuously selling more 
anhydrous ammonia than he was projecting. The balance 
would climb up, we would withhold credit from Mr. Estes, 
we would tell him we wouldn't ship any more unless we got 

38-588-64-14 
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more security. In 1959 we found it necessary to make 
.another arrangement with Mr. Estes. In 1960 there were 
.at least four or five times during the year when we really had 
the screws on Mr. Estes as far as I was concerned. We would 
not ship him ammonia. In that year we shipped him the 
lowest amount of ammonia during the 3-year period. We 
insisted on additional collateral. Each time we did this Mr. 
Estes would either come to New York, or once or twice I 
went down to Texas. He would finally furnish good col­
lateral for us, and in essence met all the conditions that we 
laid down. But it was a very difficult thing to keep up with 
Mr. Estes and keep the credit under control. I think we 
did that job on him. 

Documents in Commercial Solvents files amply support Leon­
·hardt's testimony that shipments to Estes were restricted. On No­
vember 20, 1959, Loy Everett, agricultural sales supervisor for Sol­
vents, sent the following telegram to its regional sales representative, 
Massey McConnell: 

Have discussed ammonia supply with Leonhardt. Do not 
ship additional ammonia cars until advised further. 

Other communications throughout most of 1900 authorized release 
of specified amounts of ammonia to Estes. 

Ammonia shipments to Estes averaged around 2i000 tons per month 
during 1960. On occasion, Estes would he shipped amounts of 
ammonia larger than those to which he wac;; considered entitled with a 
proviso that excess shipments he deducted from his quota for subse­
quent months. An example of this is the following teletype sent by 
F. J. Burg, assistant treasurer of Solvents, to the Sterlington plant 
on May 2, 1960: 

Billie Sol Estes anhydrous ammonia credit approval for 
May 2,000 tons, less excess taken in April, which we figure 
to be approximately 148 tons. 

Report to Board of Directors 
During the summer and fall of 1959, the minutes of practically 

every meeting of Commercial Solvents' executive committee and the 
board of directors contain some reference to a report by management 
on developments involving the Estes contract. The last such refer­
ence appears in the minutes of the November 23, 1959, meeting of the 
board of directors. At this meeting, according to the minutes, Presi­
dent Wheeler described the trip that he, Leonhardt, and Jamefl. Mc­
Connell had made to Texas in late October to visit the Estes enter­
prises. Leonhardt gave a report on the status of Estes' open account 
credit. The minutes contain the following reference to a favorable 
report by McConnell on the Estes storage and farming operations: 

Mr. McConnell then reported to the board that he was 
very favorably impressed with the operations conducted by 
Mr. Estes, with respect to farm productivity, method of dis­
tribution of nitrogen; and facilities for the storage of grain, 
and that he was also very favorably impres:;;e<l with the orga­
nizn,tion and personnel in charge of the variom~ operations 
of Mr. Estes. 
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After the favorable report by McConnell at the November 23, 1959, 
meeting of the board, minutes of meetings of Commercial Solvents' 
executive committee and board of dii·ectors contain no further .refer­
ence to Billie Sol Estes until late April 1960. Howeve.r, although 
there is no indication that the executive committee or the board of 
directors we.re notified, OoIIlIUercial Soly-ent's management was 
having eerious problems with Estes--during tbi; period. 

At its August 1959 meeting, the board of directors had been in­
formed that management intended to tighten up on the Estes account 
by-among other measures--stationing a company employee in Texas 
to watch Estes' operations. This step had been suggested by W.W. 
Jackson as early as August 14, 1959. In a memorandum to J. V. 
O'Leary on that date, Jackson said: 

I am very concerned about * * * our apparent inability 
to keep a close check on the Billie Sol Estes operations. * * * 
I wonder if it would not be possible and practical to have a 
OSC representative, with either production and/or account­
ing experience, established in the Estes area to assist Estes, 
where possible. Obviously, the man's main job will be to 
keep a very close watch on our investment and the Estes in­
ventory and operations. 

O'Leary agreed with Jackson's suggestion in a memorandum to 
Jackson on August 17, 1959, in which O'Leary commented that "I am 
most anxious that someone be specifically assigned to this area." On 
August 24, 1959, President Wheeler told Solvents' board of directors 
that the officers would station a man in Texas to "keep the manage­
ment informed" with respect to Estes' operations. Two days later, 
on August 26, 1959, Jackson sent another memorandum to O'Leary 
in which Jackson said: 

In a discussion with Mr. Wheeler on the Billie Sol Estes 
contract and its administration, it has been agreed that we 
will make a man available to handle various aspects of this 
account. This man will locate in Texas, presumably in either 
Pecos or Plainview. His duties and operations will be de­
fined after further discussion. 

Commercial Solvents told the subcommittee that the plan to station 
·a man in Texas was not carried out because "it was eventually learned 
that Estes would not accept any such arrangement as we had in mind." 
Minutes of the executive committee and the board of directors do not 
reflect any report by management concerning Estes' attitude and the 
abandonment of the announced plan. 
Proposed Sales Control S'ystem 

Concern on the part of Commercial Solvents management as to 
the disposition of ammonia being shipj>ed to Estes was reflected in 
November 1959, in a proposal by William Leonhardt that a sales 
control system be el tablished. The proposal was made by Leonhardt 
to Loy Everett, Commercial Solvents' sales manager fo.r agricultural 
-chemicals, in a meeting on November 12, 1959. A memorandum 
written by Everett to Leonhardt on November 13, 1959, contained 
the following description of the proposed system: 

* * * In your office yesterday you advised me that you 
wanted a sales control system established promptly and that 
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Messrs. McConnell and Rainer should immediately go to 
Texas to i nqtall the system. I understood from you that 
you had already ad vised Massey of the details for him to 
handle. I list below the reports which you requested under 
the control system. 

1. "WEEKLY REPORT"-Close of day Friday. 
(a) Ammonia inventory by shipping points. 

1. By raiJhead points. 
2. By off-railhead points. 

2. "MONTHLY REPORT" 
(a) Opening inventory by shipping points. 
(b) Ammonia receipts for the month. 
(c) Sales for the month. 
(d) Closing inventory. 

The above reports are to be made on the basis of tons of 
anhydrous ammonia. I have suggested that we also include 
numbers of loaded tank care by shipping points. Since Mr. 
McConnell was out in the territory I advised Mr. J. E. 
Wheeler and Mr. Rainer of your request and asked that they 
advise Mr. McConnell to handle this as quickly as possi­
ble. • • * 

As of November 27, 1959, the requested reports had not yet been 
received. An inquiry concerning them from W.W. Jackson to Everett 
on that date was answered in a November 30, 1959, memorandum to 
Jackson as follows: 

The reports ref erred to in your letter of November 27 
have not been put in effect for lack of information. Mr. 
McConnell reported when he returned from his recent tt·ip 
to Texas that he was unable to obtain the information needed 
for the report during his trip but stated that the information 
had been promised and that he expected the reports to be 
submitted to him by mail from the Estes organization. 

It seems evident at this ti.ille that our personnel will be un­
able to make the report from their own observations but 
must rely on such information as may be given to them by 
Mr. Foster. 

Price Reduction Scheme 
By late 1959, complaints about Billie Sol Estes' business ethics and 

tactics must have been a familiar story to Commercial Solvents 
management. This may explain why a reported attempt by Estes to 
bribe a competitor as part of a scheme to obtain an undeserved price 
reduction from Commercial Solvents apparently did not surprise 
company officials. 

James Oates, a representative of the Monsanto Chemical Co., 
testified about the incident at a hearing in Lubbock, Tex. Oates, 
who had refused a job offer from Estes in early 1959, described a sub­
sequent contact with Estes as follows: 

A few months later he did contact me regarding the price 
of ammonia on the plains, and asked me if I would be interested 
in making $5,000 for a few minute's work. And I said, 
"Well, I don't know, what's the proposition?" And he 
said, "I would like for you to set the price of one load of 
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ammonia to one of your customers at a figure which I would 
give you at the time that I tell you to do this, and for this 
little chore, I would put $5,000 in the bank in your account 
today and give you the bank account-give you the slip 
-on this." 

Q. Did you-what reply did you make to that? 
A. I told him that I wouldn't be interested in it at all. 
Q. Now, what he wanted you-what was his purpose, 

did he say, in making that kind of--
A. Well, I did ask him what his purpose was, and he said 

that he had sold quite a number of tons, if I remember 
correctly, something around 10,000 tons of ammonia, at a 
-discount price, and that he had a contract with his company 
at that time, which, if some major competitor should break 
the price below that, he would-they would back him up. 
In other words, he would make the difference between what 
he had sold already in advance and the price that he told 
me to set this one load on. 

Ward Jackson, vice president of Commerical Solvents, discussed 
the matter in the following testimony in subcommittee hearings. 

Mr. JACKSON. I can't recall the whole circumstance, but 
we can make that particular report available. It is in our 
file. I do recall the name of the company. I don't recall the 
name of the man. As I remember, and this is purely from 
memory because I don't have the docket with me today, Mr. 
Estes is reported to have offered $5,000 to a Monsanto sales­
man if he would sell him x number of cars at x or y below 
market price. And the purpose of that was pretty obvious. 
We had him on a market-price contract. Under the terms of 
that contract we had no method or reason for extending to 
him lower than market price unless he could prove to us that 
he had had a bona fide competitive offer, something in writing, 
and this is very clearly presented in our contract for the 
P.urpose of avoiding pressure from rumors and things like that, 
if we could see it, we would evaluate it on that basis. 

Also, in terms of our contract, we did not have to accept 
that, but we had the right to. We had the right to be 
competitive. 

One can speculate that Mr. Estes' purpose in this was to 
force us to be competitive with this particular offer. 

Again, as I recall, the offer was refused as it would be 
refused by any respectable and reputable manufacturer. 

It didn't surprise us. It has happened before in other 
industries. 

Estes' Chiseling on Freight Equalization Allowance 
Another deceptive tactic engaged in by Billie Sol Estes involved 

attempts to obtain excessive allowances for freight equalization by 
misrepresenting the intended destination of ammonia picked up at 
Commercial Solvents' Sterlington, La., plant. W. W. Jackson de­
scribed these attempts in the following testimony at subcommittee 
hearings: 
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Mr. FouNTAIN. Mr. Jackson, I believe you wrote a 
memorandum at one time indicating that Mr. Estes was 
chiseling on freight, did you not? 

Mr. JACKSON. Yes, sir. Several, not just one. 
Mr. FouNTAIN. Several? 
Mr. JACKSON. Yes, sir. Are you asking a question about 

that? 
Mr. FouNTAIN. What were the circumstances, briefly? 
Mr. JACKSON. Briefly he was in the propane and butane 

business, and had his own trucks in this service. Of course 
with his own trucks he had every right to pick up anhydrous 
ammonia f.o.b. our plant because this is our selling term, 
f.o.b., Sterlington, La. Under such arrangements we would 
allow him the freight to the final destination. This is fine 
and all right if the man is going to move it to that destination 
but I think you can readily see if the destination established 
is $20 freight away and he only moves it $5 freight away he 
has made himself a little advantage. 

We stopped this practically immediately. We found out 
through some of the truckers that the anhydrous ammonia, 
and I think there were some solutions involved, too, did not 
go to the destination intended, and this presents not only a 
poor marketing practice but if it goes over the State line 
presents some further difficulties. This we couldn't tolerate. 
That is the substance very briefly. 

One of the memorandums to which Jackson referred was written by 
Loy Everett, Solvents agricultural sales manager, to J. V. O'Leary, 
then general sales manager, on March 23, 1960. Everett gave this 
description of a tel~phone conversation with William Rainer, shipping 
order clerk at Solvents Sterlington ammonia plant: 

In a phone conversation with Mr. Rainer today he pointed 
out two -things which we shall need to watch on truck deliver­
ies for the Estes account. He mentioned that Mr. Kennedy 
who is a resident of Louisiana and is promoting ammonia 
sales in our plant area for Mr. Estes phoned our plant for the 
purpose of contacting the Farmers Co. truckdriver to ar­
range for a Louisiana State inspection of the truck to enable 
Farmers Co. to make Louisiana deliveries of ammonia from 
our plant. Another point brought out was that an. order 
for 20 transport loads sent in by Mr. Estes to be delivered by 
Lowell Transport Co, of Hereford, Tex., showed the delivery 
point for the 20 loads as Sunray, Tex. In each case the 
drivers have been asked by our plant personnel for the deliv­
ery point of the shipments made on this order. In each case 
the drivers have stated Hereford, Tex. The net difference 
to CSC is about $4 less Aqualization on the tonnage shipped 
to Hereford and thus far our hand has not been called on 
equalizing against Sunray. 

Mr. Rainer has been alerted to keep us posted on this 
subject. · 

Signs of Financial Problems 
While some of the questions which arose in the course of Billie Sol 

Estes' business relationship with Commercial Solvents in late 1959 
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and early 1960-whatever they might suggest concerning Estes' 
ethical standards-did not necessarily involve his financial stability 
or the soundness of his business operations, others did. 

During 1959, according to testimony by William Leonhardt, 
Commercial Solvents made an attempt to check on the existence of· 
ammonia tanks on which it held a chattel mortgage. In August 
1959, William Leonhardt reported to the executive committee and the 
board of directors that Est.es had refused to provide certified financial 
data and that his "unrecorded liabilities couJd be significant." In 
early 1960, Solvents requested copies of Estes' Federal income tax 
returns which were apparently not provided. 

There are indications that Estes' sales of ammonia at sharply 
reduced prices were motivated to a considerable extent by need for 
quick cash. EEtes did not sell fertilizer at prices below his cost on a 
continuous basis. His below-cost sales (which were called "fire sales" 
by some of those familiar with them) usually involved collecting cash 
in advance for ammonia to be delivered later. In testimony at 
Amarillo, Coleman McSpadden said that Billie Sol Estes usually 
argued in favor of higher prices at trade meetings; according to· 
McSpadden 

A. * * * each meeting we would have a hard time settling 
on the price we would retail it at. 

Sometimes it was 5H cents. 
Of course, at each meeting, we would start high and work 

down to where we thought maybe we might or could compete. 
And at each time Mr. Estes was present, he would agree 

that it ought to be even higher than that. 
Q. It ought to be higher? 
A. Yes, sir; so we would settle on 5%, and he would suggest 

that it ought to be 6 cents, but he would finally agree that 
we were right, 5½ cents, or Mt 

In further testimony, McSpadden indicated that Estes often· 
reduced ammonia prices after meetings because he needed money: 

Q. How long would that last? 
A. The meeting? 
Q. No, the price. 
A. Very seldom would we ever get back to our offices before 

we would find out that Billie Sol or some of his agents had 
called and started an immediate booking campaign at a 
much lower price, to raise money. 

Q. When you say "immediate", do you mean that same 
day, or--

A. Sometimes the same hour. 
Q. That the price would be broken? 
A. Not that the price would be broken. They would need 

to raise some money, and he would issue orders to get out 
and book a given amount of ammonia from the farmers. 

According to textimony at Amarillo by Harold Orr, an associate of 
Estes, Commercial Solvents representatives were aware that Estes 
sold ammonia below cost when he needed money. Orr described a. 
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meeting which allegedly too~J>lace between Estes and representatives 
of Solvents in the Plainview Hilton Hotel in the fall of 1959 as follows: 

On that occasion, they were all in a real good mood, and 
they were discussing the price structure in the Panhandle 
area. 

At that time, anhydrous ammonia was running anywhere 
from 2 cents up, depending upon how Mr. Estes felt about 
the price. 

They were just joking with one another and ribbing Mr. 
Estes, "You're a bad boy, to cut prices-when you need 
money, you cut it to 2 cents, and when you don't need money, 
you sell it for 6 cents." 

Sales Outside Texas 
Billie Sol Estes' desire to capture a large share of the Plains ammonia 

market was undoubtedly an important factor in his cut-price sales 
to farmers, along with his need for cash. However, the necessity 
to raise money in a hurry appears to be the only logical explanation for 
below-cost sales of ammonia by Estes far outside his own trade 
territory. 

There were numerous reports that Estes had sold ammonia to 
dealers for cash or traded it for something he needed. One example, 
which was confirmed by the subcommittee, was the sale of a carload 
of ammonia by Estes to the Continental Fertilizer Co., of Nevada, 
Iowa. A February 23, 1960, memorandum in Commercial Solvents' 
files indicated that a car of ammonia was being shipped to the Iowa 
firm for Estes' account. Continental Fertilizer Co. advised the 
subcommittee that it bought the carload (26 tons) of ammonia from 
Estes for $75 per ton delivered to Nevada. Continental received the 
ammonia in March 1960, and paid Estes for it on the day it was 
delivered. 

The day after Solvents was advised of the shipment to Continental, 
further shipments apparently planned by Estes to other Midwest 
destinations were at least temporarily halted. William Rainer, 
shipping clerk at Solvents' Sterlington ammonia plant, was instructed 
on February 24, 1960, not to ship five tank cars of ammonia for Estes' 
account "to Nebraska or Minnesota or whatever the Midwest State 
was". 

Commercial Solvents concern about the manner in which Estes 
was disposing of ammonia may have been at least partly responsible 
for action taken by the company to obtain a chattel mortgage on 
his unsold ammonia inventory. During negotiations leading to the 
revised agreement in the fall of 1959, Estes had agreed to give Com­
mercial Solvents a chattel mortgage covering ammonia shipped to him 
by the company which had not yet been sold. The promised mortgage 
was finally obtained by Commercial Solvents on February 17, 1960. 
Massey McConnell Leaves Oommercwl Solvents 

Documents in Commercial Solvents files indicate that some 
company officials were concerned about the relationship between 
Massey McConnell, Solvents district sales supervisor for agricultural 
chemicals, and Billie Sol Estes. 

The following paragraph, contained in a January 22, 1960, memo­
randum from Loy Everett to J. V. O'Leary discussing the handling 
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of the Estes' account, indicates the existence of some friction between 
McConnell and the home office: 

Massey McConnell phoned me from Sterlington Wed­
nesday morning and carried on a very normal conversation 
without any reference to our conversation last week. I 
conclude that our predictions that he would not resign were 
correct. 

A February 3, 1960, memorandum from Everett to O'Leary, with. 
carbon copies to Wheeler, Leonhardt, and Jackson, suggested that 
McConnell might be cooperating with Estes in a "plot" to test 
whether Solvents would ship ammonia to destinations outside of 
Texas for Estes. The memorandum stated that: 

Two cars of anhydrous ammonia which were ordered by 
Estes for shipment to Kansas were diverted to a Texas point. 
I am advised by Mr. Rainer that Mr. McConnelI was in 
Pecos when it was decided that they would place an order on 
Sterlington simply to see if CSC would make a shipment 
outside of Texas. 

Once the cars were shipped Mr. Estes contacted the rail­
road to divert the cars to Texas points as he did not have an 
order for Kansas shipment. Since the consignee was the Haskell 
County Grain Co., Sublette, Kans., the railroad would not 
divert the car without our consent. It was not until the rail­
road contacted Sterlington was it evident that this was 
strictly a plot to test CSC on out of Texas shipments. I 
understand Mr. McConnell has since acknowledged as much 
to Mr. Rainer. 

In March 1960, McConneJl's association with Commercial Solvents 
terminated. In December 1960, Estes sent McConnell a U.S. savings 
bond with a face value of $500. 

Loy Everett subsequently- advised the subcommittee that the specu­
lation concerning McConnell's resignation occurred because of a prior 
report that McConnell was going to leave Solvents to go into business 
for himself. Everett also stated that McConnell left Solvents volun­
tarily and was not asked to resign by the company. 
Misrepresentation of Ammonia Inventory 

Documents in Commerical Solvents files indicate that the company 
knew Billie Sol Estes was misrepresenting the amount of unsold 
ammonia he had in storage. On April 27, 1960, Loy Everett wrote a 
memorandum to J. V. O'Leary describing a field trip made by Everett 
to Plainview earlier in April. In the memorandum, Everett stated 
that Lester-Stone personnel in Plainview had told him on April 19 
that "of the 52 points they do business in, all were dry of ammonia." 
However, Everett indicated in his memorandum that Estes had given 
him conflicting information on April 20. According to Everett: 

Estes said that he had 12,000 to 14,000 tons of anhydrous 
ammonia but all in the wrong places and that it would cost 
$26 per ton to relocate the ammonia. Since the Lester-Stone 
facilities were dry this would leave only Pecos and the Here­
ford area to have this large inventory. Since the Hereford 
area has been trucking from our Sterlington plant it does not 
seem reasonable that any would be left in Hereford so that 
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any inventories must be in the Pecos area. It is very doubt­
ful if there is more than 1,000 to 2,000 tons maximum 
inventory even in Pecos. * * * 

Everett also learned in Plainview that Estes had collected cash for 
ammonia which had not been delivered and which Estes did not have. 
In his April 27 memorandum to O'Leary, Everett described an incident 
which took place during his visit to the Lester-Stone Co., as follows: 

During my presence one large customer who had already 
paid for his ammonia and had a credit balance remaining of 
$1,200 wanted 1 ton of ammonia. He did not seem to be dis­
turbed when told they did not have it available and simply 
stated that he knew a dealer who had the ammonia and that 
he would obtain the balance due by Lester-Stone at a later 
date. 

A memorandum sent by W. W. Jackson to Loy Everett on July 25, 
1960, indicates that Commercial Solvents was still concerned at that 
time about the disposition of its ammonia. The memorandum con­
tained the following instructions from Jackson to Everett: 

Will you please try to determine, if possible, where the 
current anhydrous ammonia being shipped in the month of 
July is beinO' used. I believe it reasonable to assume that 
because of the current high price of $88 which will drop to 
$84 on August 1, all of the anhydrous ammonia is being used 
in the field or being converted into cash. 

It is important that we attempt to obtain additional in­
formation as to its destination. Please let us have as much 
information as possible on this subject. 

The subcommittee asked Commercial Solvents Corp. to supply it 
with the information it had developed concerning the ultimate destina­
tion of ammonia sold to Estes. In response to the subcommittee's 
request, Commercial Solvents confirmed that it had attempted to 
0'1tain information as to the ultimate destination of fertilizer sold to 
Estes. However, the company stated,"* * * Very little information 
wag obtained. CSC has records as to where it delivered fertilizer to 
Estes, but has no reliable information, and can give no estimates, as 
to where he actually used the fertilizer. * * *" 

• 
t ESTES DEFAULTS ON AGREEMENTS 

Controller Questions Estes Account 
During late 1959 and early 1960, as has been described previously, 

the officers of Commercial Solvents were understandably concerned 
about the Billie Sol Estes account. However, the company's records 
do not indicate that the board of directors, the executive committee, 
or the stockholders were notified of management's concern about 
Estes and the matters causing it. Minutes of the executive committee 
meetings refer to a discussion of the Estes account on September 15, 
1959; the next mention of Estes occurs in the minutes of a meeting on 
.June 21, 1960-more than 9 months later. Minutes of a board of 
directors meeting on November 23, 1959, refer to a discussion of the 
Estes account by Leonhardt and a favorable report by James Mc­
·Connell on an inspection of the Estes operations; more than 5 months 
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subsequently elapsed before a further reference to the Estes account 
was made in minutes of a meeting on April 25, 1960. 

Documents in Commercial Solvents files indicate that the com­
pany's audit committee-consisting· of three of its directors-dis-­
cussed the Estes account at a meeting with the Solvents outside 
auditing firm on February 3, 1960. However, the audit committee 
~oncluded that no action need be recommended concerning the Estes 
account. 

The subcommittee asked Commercial Solvents to provide it with 
-copies of any reports or documents in which its outside auditing firm, 
Arthur Young & Co., had questioned the amount of the Estes account, 
or the nature and validity of the security held for its payment. In 
response, Solvents advised the subcommittee that" The reviews initi­
ated by the auditors of matters bearing on their examinations of the 
accounts of CSC were in no case covered by written memorandums 
or letters detailing the subjects to be discussed · or commenting on 
such matters." 

On April 20, 1960, Commercial Solvents controller, J. A. Uhl, sent 
a memorandum to William Leonhardt in which Uhl stated that Estes 
had defaulted on his agreements with Solvents and confirmed plans 
for a meeting with Leonhardt and W. C. Ings of Arthur Young & Co. 
(Solvents' outside auditing firm) on the next day. Uhl sent carbon 
copies of his memorandum to President Wheeler and Ings. The full 
text of the memorandum follows: 

COMMERCIAL SOLVENTS CORPORATION, 
New York, April 20, 1960. 

Memorandum to: Mr. W. S. Leonhardt, New York. 
Subject: Billie Sol Estes. 

We have from time to time reviewed together the status of the 
Billie Sol Estes account. We agreed at the close of the year 1959 
that based on our experience to that date there was no basis for setting 
up a reserve in respect thereto. We agreed that before the end of 
the first quarter of 1960 we would again review this matter. 

In view of the facts outlined below will you please let me have your 
opinion of the reserve, if an_y, required in respect of this account. 

Billie Sol Estes has defaulted in respect of our agreements with him 
as follows: 

1. Has not paid Note A-1 which was due February 28, 1960-
Principal amount __________-·-.: ____________________________ $180, 000 
Plusinterest_____________________________________________ 55,533 
Total ___________________________________________________235,533 

2. Has refused to allow examination of his books and records by 
a representative of CSC as provided under Paragraph 4(c)(VIII) of 
the Revised Master Agreement. 

3. Has refused to execute an Assignment of Accounts Receivable 
to CSC in respect of all his accounts receivable from the sale of 
fertilizers and has refused to execute a Notice of Assignment as 
provided in Paragrayh 7(a) of the Revised Master Agreement. 

4. Has defaulted m making the payment required under Paragraph 
5(b) of the Amended Fertilizer Agreement effective November 1, 1959, 
which default at April 20, 1960, amounted to $1,347,130 as follows:· 
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Account Receivable at April 14, 1960 __ ------------------------- $3,266,677
Additional shipments-April 14-17, 1960________________________ 25,200 

3,291,877 
Less Credit for freight allowances-Credit Memorandum No. 667-April 19, 1960_____________________________________________ - 16, 180 

3,275,697 
Note due February 28, 1960, unpaid at April 20, 1960, $180,000 plus

interest, $55,533___________________________________________ 235,533 

Account Receivable at April 20, 1960 ___________________________ 3,511,230 
Under Paragraph 5(b) of Amended Fertilizer Agreement effec-

fcctive November 1, 1959, Estes is obligated to make cash 
payment so that aggregate amount owed CSC shall not ex-
ceed at any time, the aggregate of-

(i) (A) ____________________________________________ $2,500,000, plus 
(B) "then accrued CCC payables" which at April 20, 

1960, are estimated to be_____________________ 558,000 

3,058,000 
or 

(ii) (A) amount owed CSC by Estes for fertilizers held by 
Estes unsold in inventory and which are subject to 
a valid, recorded chattel mortgage--latest inven­
tory report at February 29, 1960, Estes showed in­
ventory of 16,060 tons (im•entory at April 20, 1960, 
probably substantially lower) _________________ _ 1, 606, 100, plus 

(B) face amount of all outstanding accounts receivable 
from customers of Estes arising out of fertilizers 
purchased from CSC which are validly assigned to 
CSC (Estes has not made assignment) _________ _ 0 

(C) "then accrued CCC payables" ________________ _ 558,000 

2,164,100 
Cash payment due at April 20, 1960 ($3,511,230-$2,164,100) =$1,347,130 

5. Estes' refusal to allow us to review his books and records has 
prevented us from establishing the procedures outlined in Mr. J. H. 
Marshall's memorandum to you dated December 17, 1959. As su~­
gested by Mr. Marshall "CSC's entire security interest in the gram 
elevator proceeds may be in leopardy until and unless such procedures. 
are instituted and conscientiously carried out." 

The financial data made available is inadequate for me to form an 
opinion re the reserve, or if any is required on this account. As 
agreed with you, we will jointly review this matter with Mr. Ings on 
Thursday morning, April 21, 1960, in order to come to a conclusion 
in respect of our first-quarter account.s. 

J. H. UHL, Controller. 
JAU:dd. 
cc: Mr. M. C. Wheeler; Mr. W. C. Ings, Arthur Young & Co. 

Report to Board of Directors 
On April 21, 1960, Uhl sent another memorandum to Leonhardt 

(with a carbon copy to President Wheeler) in which Uhl stated that 
"Following up our discussion of this morning, no reserve is being pro­
vided in the first-quarter 1960 accounts in respect of Billie Sol Estes~'' 

Uhl noted in the memorandum that: 
You have advised me that the board of directors has been 

informed from time to time of the status of this account. 
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Uhl closed the memorandum with the following statement: 
I recommend that the status of the account be reported to 

the board on April 25, specifically, covering the facts detailed 
in my memorandum to you dated April 20, 1960. 

On April 22, 1960, Billie Sol Estes arrived in New York City, where 
he remained until April 25 for meetings with Wheeler and Leonhardt. 
Uhl was not asked to participate in the meetings with Estes. 

Minutes of the board of directors meeting on April 25, 1960, contain 
the following reference to the Estes account: 

Billie Sol Estes-status of indebtedness. 
Mr. Leonhardt reported in regard to the present status of 

the indebtedness of Mr. Billie SoJ Estes for anhydrous 
ammonia ammonia-ammonium ni~ste solutions, and solid 
ammonium nitrate purchased by him from the corporation. 
He stated that Mr. Estes had failed to pay his not~ in 
amount of $180,000 which was due on February 28, 11960, 
plus interest in amount of $55,000, but that Mr. Estes 
stated he would make a payment of $110,000 during the week 
of April 25 and would make a further payment of $125,000 
in June, and that Mr. E.stes had agreed to assign to the 
corporation notes payable to him in amount of about 
$300,000. Mr. Leonhardt also stated that the present open 
account indebtedness of Mr. Estes to the corporation was 
approximately $3,300,000; that accrued receivables to date 
from Commodity Credit Corporation for the storage of 
grain, assigned to this corporation by Mr. Estes, amounted 
to $600,000 and that, over a period of a year, the grain stor­
age earnings from Commodity Credit Corporation would 
amount to $3,100,000. He further stated that the various 
chattel mortgages held by the corporation on properties, 
equipment, and inventories owned by Mr. Estes have a 
present estimated value of $4,500,000. 

The matter was discussed by the board and it was the 
consensus of the directors present that the arrangement 
with Mr. Estes should be continued, and that negotiations 
should also be continued with Mr. Estes to obtain the addi­
tional collateral promised in order to keep the credit limit 
within the $2,500,000 authorized. 

Uhl was not present at the April 25, 1960, board meeting, and the 
minutes do not indicate that his April 20, 1960, memorandum was 
read to the directors. 

Uhl had been an employee of Commercial Solvents for more than 
20 years. His association with the company was terminated almost 
immediately after the April 25 board meeting. 
Submission of Dubious Notes 

Billie Sol Estes did not keep the promise made to Leonhardt to pay 
$110,000 the week of April 25 to apply ~ainst a note payment due 
February 28, nor did he make the additional payment of $125,000 
promised in June. Minutes of meet~ of Commercial Solvents 
executive committee and its board of directors do not indicate that 
Estes' failure to keep his promise was ever called to their attention by 
management. 
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Estes had also promised to assign to Solvents notes payable to him 
in the amount of approximately $300,000. On May 9, 1960, F. J. 
Burg, assistant treasurer of Commercial Solvents, wrote the following 
letter to inform Estes that the notes were not being credited to his 
account: 

We acknowledge receipt of the following notes endorsed 
by you: Note of J. W. Harris dated May 3, 1960, for$109,626-
ma.turing May 3, 1961; and Gerron S. Wheeler dated 
May 3, 1960, for $111,850-maturill_g May 3, 1961. We 
also acknowledge receipt of note of Eddie R. Hutto dated 
May 3, 1960, for $93,724-maturing May 3, 1961. This note 
has not heen endorsed by you. 

All three notes are-interest bearing at the rate of 5 percent 
per annum from date aJmoJ:urity and we will hold them, but 
no actual reduction of your account can l;>e made until. that 
time. However, should we .decide to discount these notes, 
we would of col.d~e credi't 1)7't>ur account in the event such 
notes were discounted without recourse to Commercial 
Solvents Corp. 

We will continue to invoice you monthly for the interest 
charges on unpaid items in your account beyond 30 days. 

One of the note signers, Gerron S. Wheeler, although ostensibly 
an independent fertilizer dealer, actually was a sale..ried employee of 
Billie Sol Estes. In testimony at Amarillo, Harold Orr, an associate 
of Estes, gave the following account of the manner in which Estes 
had obtained signatures on notes from Harris, Wheeler, and Hutto 
in 1960: 

* * * Mr. Estes was in our office, and he called Mr. Ed 
Hutto with Thi·ee-way Chemical Co. at Bovina, Tex., and 
asked Ed to come up to his office, and I believe Mr. J. W. 
Harris, his partner, accompanied him. 

Q. Now, Mr. Orr, if you don't know, let's don't state 
anything that you don't know. 

A. Well, I know Ed Hutto was there, and he came up to 
my office and Billie Sol pulled out one of these blank promis­
sory notes and asked Ed to sign it. Ed said, "Good gosh, 
Bill, what for'?" And he said, "Well, you don't need to 
worry, I am just going to fill in the date and it is going to be 
signed over to Commercial Solvents." 

Q. How much amount? 
A. There was no amount put on the note, so he signed it 

in blank. 
At the same time he pulled out these other notes to show 

Ed and Mutt Wheeler had signed one with Wheeler Fertilizer 
Co., and there was some signed by other various people of his. 

As Estes put it, "These peo_ple all owe me money"-none 
of them owed him any monPy, but-"they owe me money and 
these promissory notes will be endorsed over by me to Com­
mercial 'Solvents as extra collat-eral." 

Guarantee by Superior Manufacturing Go. 
On June 2 end 3, 1960, Eillie Sol Estes was in New York City for­

meetings with Leonhardt, Jackson, and Everett. 
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On June 15, 1960, according to testimony of Harold Orr at Amarillo, 
a meeting was held at, the Hilton Hotel in Plainview, Tex., not long 
after Orr, Coleman McSpadden, and Ruel Alexander had purchased 
Superior Manufacturing Co. (The circumstances under which 
Superior was acquired are described later in this report.) Orr 
described what took place as follows: 

* * * Mr. Estes flopped out three promissory notes that 
were made out to Commercial Solvents for $900,000 each, and 
he wanted Superior Manufacturing Co. to guarantee the 
notes. 

In other words, we signed under Billie Sol Estes' name. 
Billie Sol signed, and there was a place for Superior Manu­
facturing Co., Harold E. Orr and R. W. Alexander, to sign. 
We told Bill if that stuff ever hit Dun & Bradstreet, we 
would be ruined, and he said, "You don't worry about that." 

He said, "I have got one fellow with Commercill.l Solvents 
in their office there that knows more about me thu,n you do." ·1 

And he evidently did. 
But he su.id, "This will never be recorded, no portion will 

ever be recorded," and it wasn't. He said, "You never need 
to woITy about it. Don't ever worry about it." 

Q. What was the necessity of those deals? 
A. We asked him that, too. He stated thu,t Commercin.l 

Solvents' board of directors occasionu,lly would look at his 
deal and demand extra collateral. 

And he said, "This is the way I give him extra collateral." 
And he said, "This is all it takes to hush them up." 

A promissory note for $900,000 dated June 24, 1960, wr.s given to 
Commercial Solvents by Estes. Payment w11,sguaranteed by Superior 
Manufacturing Co. and the note wn.s secured by a chnttel mortgt~ge 
on 1,046 ammonia tanks on trailers; 210 more tanks wei·e added to the 
security by a chattel mortgttge du,ted July 7, 1960. 

M·isleading Reports by Wheeler and Leonhardt 
Minutes of a board of directors meeting on June 27, 1960, reflect 

the following report by President Wheeler: 
The president then reported that the notes and accounts 

receivable, less accrued Commodity Credit Corporation re­
ceipts, due from Mr. Billie Sol Estes, which aggregated 
$3,900,000 on March 31, 1960, had been reduced to $3,400,-
000 at May 31, 1960, and that it was anticipated that the 
indebtedness would be reduced to $3,200,000 by June 30, 
1960. 

The subcommittee's investigation-which included a specific 
request to Commercial Solvents for this information-did not dis­
close any factual basis either for President Wheeler's reassuring report 
to the board of directors concerning reduction of Billie Sol Estes' 
account of for a similar report previously made to the executirn 
committee by Vice President Leonhardt. During April and May 
1960, the subcommittee's investigation indicated, net s'tornge pay­
ments by CCC to Solvents for Estes' account were less than $10,000; 
ammonia deliveries during the same months totaled more thun 
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$400,000. Consequently, Wheeler's report should have indicated an 
increase in the Estes account, rather than a half-million-dollar reduc­
tion. Minutes of the board of directors meetings reflect no further 
reference to the Estes account until December 18, 1961. (A resolu­
tion adopted at a meeting on February 27, 1961, authorized construc­
tion of an ammonia storage facility at Hereford but did not mention 
Estes.) 

Commercial Solvents' management apparently made an overly 
optimistic report on Billie Sol Estes' payment record on at lea~t one 
-occasion to an outside credit reference agency. A report on Billie Sol 
Estes issued by the Tarnell Co. of New York on October 28, 1960, 
listed four credit references, including Commercial Solvents. Two 
of the companies reporting indicated that Estes had been placed on a 
-cash basis following collection troubles; another indicated that further 
credit had been refused because Estes was 1 to 2/ears slow in paying. 
Commercial Solvents, however, apparently ha furnished a report 
indicating that Estes paid the company promptly. 
Submission of Additional Notes 

On July 14, 1960, Billie Sol Estes and A. B. Foster, Estes' general 
manager, met in New York with Leonhardt, Jackson, and Everett. 

Some time later, Solvents received three more notes payable to 
Estes and endorsed by him to Solvents. Each of the notes was dated 
Julv 15, 1960, and was due on July 16, 1961. The notes bore the 
same signatures as those received in May, and were in the following 
amounts: 
Gerron S. Wheeler ______________________________________________ $255, 680 
J. W.Harris___________________________________________________ 83,750 
Eddie R. Hutto________________________________________________ 72,970 

Personal Transactions Involving Leonhardt and Estes ·i, -

A personal transaction involving Leonhardt and Estes occurred 
at approximately the same time the $900,000 note guaranteed by 
Super10r was given to Solvents. Leonhardt described the matter at 
subcommittee hearings as follows: 

Mr. SMITH. Mr. Leonhardt, did he bestow gifts upon 
you, too? 

Mr. LEONHARDT.I have received several gifts from Mr. 
Estes, and I have also given him a few. 

I would like to say at this time that there was one trans­
action that somebody might consider of some value: I 
did not at the time, I can tell you this. I think it was in 
May of 1960 I bought a small interest in an oil and gas well 
from Mr. Estes, and I think I paid him $20 for it. It was 
the same as a sweepstakes ticket to me. It was very specu­
lative; it had no value. As a matter of fact, I didn't even 
have the deed recorded. It might be available someplace 
in Texas; I'm not too sure. 

I gave the interest to my son. I think it was about a year 
later he started receiving some royalty- payment from the 
Gulf Oil Co. I think they started out m the range of over a 
hundred dollars a month and they are now down to about 
$20 a month. This turned out, a year later, to have some 
value. 

This is the extent of the gifts that I received. 
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Mr. SMITH. You are reasonably sure that at the time $20 
was the value? 

Mr. LEONHARDT.I thought it was too much at the time, 
I can tell you that. Mr. Estes was a very talkative fellow. 
He threw things around quite a bit. This was one that I got. 

Mr. SMITH. These hundred-dollar payments started how 
long ago? 

Mr. LEONHARDT.A year later, I think in June 1961. 
Further inquiry by the subcommittee disclosed that Estes had 

transferred a %4interest in oil, gas, and minerals in a tract of land in 
Reeves County to W. S. Leonhardt, Jr., by means of a deed dated 
June 25, 1960, and acknowledged before a notary by Estes on June 
30, 1960. Consideration was stated as $10. 

Payments made to W. S. Leonhardt, Jr., by the Gulf Oil Co. 
totaled $1,560.52, and consisted of compensatory royalties because of 
an offset well rather than payment for production on the designated 
tract itself. The first payment of $668.97 was not made until May 
25, 1961; however, it covered royalties for the period from June 1960 
through March 1961. 

The subcommittee asked the Gulf Oil Corp. when owners of interests 
in the land concerned first learned or had reason to believe they would 
receive payments and received the following answer: 

The owners of interests in the above half section first 
learned, or had reason to believe, that they would receive 
compensatory royalties in June of 1960. They were advised 
of this fact by the request for them to execute amendments to 
their leases allowing for payment of compensatory royalties. 
These owners were formally notified by letters from Gulf Oil 
Corp. on November 7, 1960, that compensatory royalties 
would be paid [on a retroactive basis covering production 
for a period] commencing June 1, 1960. 

Under further questioning, Leonhardt described another incident 
involving Estes: 

Mr. SMITH. Mr. Leonhardt, was that the extent of the 
gifts that you received? 

Mr. LEONHARDT.That I received? 
Mr. SMITH. Yes. 
Mr. LEONHARDT.No; there was another gift that I 

received. 
Mr. SMITH. What was it? 
Mr. LEONHARDT.The first question was what I accepted, 

I believe. 
At Christmastime, 1960, I received at my home three 

$1,000 Government bonds. They were sent by registered 
mail from Mr. Estes. I wrote Mr. Estes a very nice note, 
thanked him, that I could not accept such a gift, and I put 
it in an envelope and my secretary mailed it back, registered 
mail. 

Mr. SMITH. This was at Christmastime, 1960? 
Mr. LEONHARDT. 1960, yes, sir, that I returned them. 

said I could not accept a gift of such value. 
Mr. SMITH. Did you write a cover letter for that? 

38-588-64-15 

I 

https://1,560.52


220 OPERATIONS OF BILLIE SOL ESTES 

Mr. LEONHARDT.It was a personal note; yes. 
Mr. SMITH. You didn't keep a copy of that? 
Mr. LEONHARDT.No; I did not. But my secretary has 

records on this, if you would like to check it. * * * 
The subcommittee's investigation disclosed that three $1,000 de­

nomination U.S. savings bonds made out to W. S. Leonhardt were' 
cashed for the purchase price of $750 each at the First National 
Bank of Pecos on May 4, 1961. Leonhardt's name was endorsed on 
the bonds, but the signature did not appear to be in his handwriting. 
An investigation conducted by the Treasury Department at the 
subcommittee's request did not succeed in ascertaining the identity 
of the person cashing the bonds. 

FORGED NOTES AND NONEXISTENT T.ANKS 

Warning of Tank Deals 
In their testimony before the subcommittee, Commercial Solvents' 

officers indicated they had no knowledge of Estes' illegal tank deals 
until around the time he was arrested. President Wheeler took this 
position even more emphatically in a letter to Commercial Solvents' 
stockholders on May 24, 1962, in which Wheeler stated: 

The board of directors, the executive committee and the 
management of the company were kept fully and constantly 
informed regarding Mr. Estes' account with us. At no time 
did we have any reason to question the soundness of CSC's 
relationship with him. And at no time did any basis exist 
for terminating his credit or for suspending sales to Mr. 
Estes. 

The charges of fraud and other allegations which have 
been made against Mr. Estes came as a shock to the manage­
ment and to the board of your company. We had no 
knowledge or indication of any wrongdoing on his part. 

In testimony at Amarillo, Harold Orr stated that Billie Sol Estes 
had told him on many occasions prior to March 1962 that "the 
Commercial Solvents people knew the tanks were not in existence." 
In a number of instances, the subcommittee investigated statements 
reportedly made by Estes and found that there was either no reliable 
evidence whatever to prove the statement was true or that there was 
convincing evidence to establish its falsity. 

In this case, however, the subcommittee found that a Commercial 
Solvents employee had sent a report to the New York office about the 
tank deals more than a year before Estes' arrest. The warning was 
sent by A. W. Kinnard III, who replaced Massey McConnell as sales 
supervisor for the southern sales district. It was sent in a memo­
randum to Loy Everett on January 23, 1961, after Kinnard had made a 
trip to west Texas during which he talked to W. G. Nelson, an official 
of Southwestern Fertilizer & Chemical Co., of El Paso, and other 
persons who were not identified. In the memorandum, Kinnard 
stated: 

* * * information I gathered both here and elsewhere, is 
that Estes has been borrowing money on nonexistent am­
monia storage tanks. I saw a photostatic copy of a listing 
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showing capacities and locations of these tanks. This in­
formation is being gathered by interested 
purpose of taking Mr. Estes into court. 

parties for the 

Handling of Kinnard Memorandum 
According to notations on it, the Kinnard 

ceived by Everett on January 26 and copies 
memorandum 
were ordered 

was 
sent 

re­
to 

Jackson and Leonhardt. In an affidavit submitted to the subcom­
mittee, Everett stated: 

That to his knowledge the only investigation made by 
Commercial Solvents Corp. to determine the disposition 
by Estes of ammonia delivered in the first quarter of 1962 
was made by representatives of the controller's department 
of Commercial Solvents Corp. and that he does not have ac­
curate knowledge of the results of this investigation. 

That he had received a memorandum dated January 23, 
1961, from a Mr. A. W. Kinnard which contained in part a 
statement to the effect that Estes had been borrowing money 
on nonexistent ammonia storage tanks; that he does not re­
call having discussed this memorandum with anyone prior 
to the arrest of Mr. Estes. 

That he has no recollection of having informed anyone con­
cerning the said memorandum or its contents but that he 
must have done so since the records of Commercial Solvents 
Corp. indicate that he sent copies of this memorandum to 
Mr. W.W. Jackson and Mr. W. S. Leonhardt. 

William Leonhardt stated in an affidavit provided to the subcom­
mittee: 

That he is familiar with a memorandum dated January 
23, 1961, from A. W. Kinnard III to L.A. Everett; tMtt he 
understands that, in a search of CSC's files under the direc­
tion of counsel for CSC, after Estes' arrest, a _photocopy of 
that memorandum was found in the "Estes" file maintamed 
by his (Leonhardt's) secretary; that said fhotocopy was not 
initialed by him, and that it 1s his genera practice to initial 
documents which he has read before they are filed; that he 
has no recollection of ever having received either that 
memorandum or said photocopy thereof, or discussing the 
memorandum or the information which it contained with 
anyone, prior to Estes' arrest; that he has no recollection of 
ever seeing the original of the memorandum; and that the 
first time he can recall seeing said photocopy was when it 
was brought to his attention by counsel after Estes' arrest. 

Vice President Jackson said in a sworn statement that he had no 
recollection of ever having received the memorandum or a copy of it 
or discussing it or the information it contained with anyone prior to 
Estes' arrest. President Wheeler also provided a sworn statement 
denying any knowledge of the memorandum prior to Estes' arrest. 

Commercial Solvents stated in a letter to the subcommittee that 
no follow-up action was taken with respect to the tank information in 
the Kinnard memorandum. 
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Other Adverse Information 
In addition to the report concerning nonexistent tanks, the Kinnard 

memorandum of Januar:r 23, 1961, contained other adverse informa­
tion about Estes' operations. In the memorandum, Kinnard stated: 

Before making this trip I had anticipated receiving a few 
complaints concernin~ our west Texas customer, Mr. Billie 
Sol Estes, but I received far more than expected. I came 
home very much enlightened as to the feelings these people 
have for Mr. Estes and for CSC. 

This visit was with Mr. W. G. Nelson, vice president, 
secretary-treasurer (of Southwest Fertilizer & Chemical Co. 
of El Paso), an old friend who has always spoken to me 
"straight from the shoulder," and he certainly had a lot on 
his mind concerning our company; none too complimentary, 
I might add, but all good naturedly because of our long 
friendship. 

Listed below in numerical order is a condensed version of 
Bill Nelson's statements to me concerning Mr. Estes: 

(1) Estes swapped John Chase, Port Fertilizer & 
Chemical Co., Los Fresnos, Tex., CSC ammonia for 
Phillips sulfate and triple. Chase got ammonia for 
$20 under market price. 

(2) Estes swapped Mathieson dealer in Pecos CSC 
ammonia for urea and Mathieson products. 

(3) Estes swapped CSC ammoma for one Cadillac 
and three pickup trucks in Nebraska. 

(4) Everyone betting even money Estes will break 
csc. 

(5) Nelson can sell nothing with CSC name in area 
for anything like his cost, because Estes undersells or 
swaps for so little. 

(6) Nelson knows Estes well-in 1954 Estes told him 
if he ever got into a large company for as much as $1 
million, he would be set for life. 

Bel.ow-Cost Sales and. Unpaid Bills 
In May 1961, Loy Everett advised his superiors at Commercial 

Solvents that he had heard reports Estes was selling ammonia below 
cost to raise money needed fot' storage expansion. A May 11, 1961, 
memorandum from Everett to Maynard Wheeler, with copies to 
Jackson and Leonhardt, contained the following paragraph: 

It is reported that Mr. Estes reduced his retail price to 
the farmer from $110 per ton to $90 per ton on Monday of 
this week. This, of course, is below Estes' cost of the 
material without adding charges for handling. This ;price 
has been quoted on the basis of cash with order and delivery 
any time between now and the end of December. Rumors 
are that Mr. Estes needs $500,000 quickly to finance addi­
tional grain storage and that on his first day he obtained 
$200,000 through this practice. I am told that at least 
three competitors have met this situation as they are not 
willing for Mr. Estes to obtain all the cash business. Sup­
posedly, this situation is being met on one-half day intervals 
so that competition can be withdrawn on one-half day notice. 



223 OPERATIONS OF BILLIE SOL ESTES 

One day later, on May 12, 1P61, A. W. Kinnard sent a report to 
the home office describing the apparent existence of a substantial 
unpaid debt f.rom Billie Sol Estes to International Minerals & Chemi­
cals. The report was contained in a memorandum from Kinnard 
to Everett which was marked "Personal and Confidential" and stated: 

While in I.M. & C. 's Texarkana office on May 9 I was in 
the position of being able to read a memo on Mr. Burn's desk. 

The memo was on interoffice paper and addressed to a Mr. 
H. C. Brumlow with a copy to Mr. Burns. I could not de­
termine who sent the memo. It was headed "Prior year's 
receivables as of April 30, 1961." The body listed about 10 
names and amounts. The name and amount that headed 
the list was-"Billie Sol Estes-$52,443.20." 

The memo asked for the above mentioned to be checked on 
and the writer given monthly reports. 

This is for your information. 
Written notations on the memorandum indicated that it had been 

examined by Jackson and Leonhardt, as well ae EvereU. 
Unusual Handling of Endorsed Notes 

May 3 and July 16, 1961, were the due dates of notes with a total 
face value of more than half a million dollars which were payable to 
Estes and had been endorsed by him a year before to Commercial 
Solvents. These notes bore the signatures of Gerron S. Wheeler, 
J. W. Harris, and Eddie R. Hutt.o. 

October 1, 1961, was the due date for two additional notes payable 
to Estes, signed "H. E. Wilson" and "T.roy Burson," which had been 
endorsed by Estes to Solvents in September 1960. The face amounts 
of these two notes totaled more than three-quarters of a million 
dollars. None of the notes were paid on the due date or at any 
subsequent date, and the subcommittee found no indication that 
Commercial Solvents made any attempt to collect on them. 

In a letter to the subcommittee, Commercial Solvents gave the 
following descriptioa of its handling of the notes: 

During 1960 and 1961, at various times, Estes gave us, 
as additional collateral, promissory notes of various farmers 
and dealers, for the most part made payable to Estes and en­
dorsed by him in blank. These were returned to Estes in, we 
believe, September 1961. With one exception, we can find 
no correspondence covering either their delivery to us or their 
return to Estes; deliv~ry and return were mostly done by 
hand. The one exception is a letter dated May 9, 1960, 
from Burg to Estes, a copy of which is enclosed, acknowledg­
ing receipt of three notes. Since all these notes were held as 
collateral only, and were not given us in payment of Estes' 
debt, we made no attempt to collect on them. No direct 
check was made with their makers by ~ither us or our 
auditors. 

F. J. Burg, assistant treasurer of Solvents, told the subcommittee 
that Leonhardt only, and not Burg, had responsibility for Estes' credit 
and security. Burg stated that he knew very little about the security 
arrangements with Estes, except that from time to time he was 
given documents to hold in his custody. Burg said he was given some 

https://Estes-$52,443.20
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"farmers' paper" by Leonhardt to hold as custodian, but that he never 
attempted to appraise the value of such paper as security and did not 
know its ultimate disposition. 

When asked by the subcommittee to identify the makers of the 
"farmers' paper" at one time held by Commercial Solvents as security 
for Estes' indebtedness, the company furnished a list of 10 notes. 
Eight of the notes were those described above; six of these eight notes 
bore the names of E. R. Hutto, J. W. Harris, and G. S. Wheeler (two 
each), and the other two were listed in the names of Troy Burson and 
H. E. Wilson. Two other notes dated September 13, 1961, c1.nd due 
September 13, 1962, were listed in the names of W. R. Winters and 
E. J. Carpenter. The total face amount of all 10 notes was slightly 
more than $2 million. 

Despite Commercial Solvents expressed belief that the notes had 
been returned to Estes in September 1961, a memorandum submitted 
to CSC's board of directors on December 18, 1961, listed the following 
item as security for payment of Estes' account: 

Dealers and customers promissory notes-Various with 
face value up to $2 million. 

Testimony concerning the manner in which Estes obtained the 
Hutto, Harris, and Wheeler notes appears in the preceding section of 
this report. Both Burson and Wilson subsequently denied signing or 
having any knowledge of the notes bearing their names which were 
submitted to Commercial Solvents by Estes. The Winters and Car­
penter notes are discussed below. 
Submission of More Forged Notes 

By August 1961, Billie Sol Estes' indebtedness to Commercial 
Solvents had reached a peak of more than $6 million. However, 
according to its own statement, Commercial Solvents had made no 
attempt to collect more than half a million dollars in notes endorsed 
to the company by Estes which matured in May and July 1961. 

Even though the due dates on paper it already held had passed 
without action, Solvents continued to request additional paper. On 
August 11, 1961, F. J. Burg, assistant treasurer of Solvents, sent a 
telegram to Estes asking when the company could expect "additional 
paper discussed with Mr. Leonhardt." On August 15, Estes ad­
vised "* * * we are working on this at this time and will forward 
it to you in the very near future." 

On August 17, Burg again sent another telegram to Estes which 
was answered on August 21 by Estes' assurance that "* * * you 
may expect to receive these notes not later than September 10." 
Subsequently, Solvents received two additional notes for $266,000 
each, payable to Estes and endorsed to Solvents. One note bore the 
name of W. R. Winters as promissor and the other E. J. Carpenter; 
both notes were dated September 13, 1961. 

W. R. Winters subsequently told the subcommittee that: 
I did not sign a note for $266,000 payable to Commercial 

Solvents. The only knowledge I have of this is that Mr. 
Cathers with Internal Revenue Service, Pecos, said that he 
had noticed this listed in an audit prepared for Harry Moore, 
receiver for Estes' estate. Mr. Cathers said there was one 
for approximately the same amount with Eddie Carpenter. 
Mr. Carpenter had no lmowledge of this either. Both of 
these apparently are forgeries. 
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REJECTED PROPOSALS 

Proposed Anhydrous Ammonia Facilities 
On a number of occasions during the 4 years he dealt with Com­

mercial Solvents, Billie Sol Estes tried to interest the company in 
proposals involving construction of ammonia storage or production 
facilities in west Texas. One such incident is described in a memo­
randum written by Loy Everett to J. V. O'Leary, then general sales 
manager for Solvents, on April 27, 1960, after a visit by Everett to 
Pecos. In his memorandum, Everett stated: 

I suw a letter * * * from the Lummus Co. dated April 14, 
headquarters 385 Madison Avenue, New York, N.Y., branch 
office at Houston, Tex., wherein they were giving preliminary 
figures on an anhydrous ammonia plant equipped to produce 
200 tons a day. On the basis of a loan of $10 million at 5% 
percent interest and of a gas cost of 20 cents, the figures pro­
jected a payout in 4.6 years. They projected a cash-flow ratio 
to loan of 2.36 with the return on investment of 12.5 percent 
and a profit after 52 percent taxes per year of $1,250,000. 
These calculations, however, were based on the plant operating 
at 66,700 tons per year with a value of $88 per ton f.o.b. 
plant with no allowance for freight equalization and tank 
car cost. Also no allowance wus made to carry inventories 
and accounts receivable. * * * 

Everett summarized Estes' proposal and his evaluation of it as 
follows: 

* * * Mr. Estes states that he can obtain the money at 5 
percent interest and would like to go in with CSC to build 
a plant in west Texas. His first two initials adequately 
express my opinion of such a venture. 

In a letter to the subcommittee, Commercial Solvents described 
further proposals by Estes during 1961 as follows: 

In early 1961, he proposed that CSC build a new 20,000-
ton storage facility for his use in we . .:t Texas. CSC explored 
this proposal, and on February 23, 1961, the Board approved 
a request for capital appropriation for $520,000 to construct 
a 5,000-ton ammonia storage facility in Texas. The officers 
of CSC eventually decided, however, not to proceed with this 
project, although Estes continued to push for construction 
of the tank throl!gh May 1961. 

In May 1961, Estes proposed that CSC immediately com­
mence construction of an ammonia plant in Plainview to be 
owned by CSC, or by CSC 50-50 with Estes; Estes would 
guarantee to purchase the output until the plant was "paid 
out." 

In June 1961, A. B. Foster sent Leonhardt a proposal for 
a corporation to be jointly owned by CSC and Estes which 
would own and operate grain elevators, an ammonia plant 
and fertilizer distribution facilities. On August 3, Leon­
hardt wrote Estes to ask for additional information; he said 
the proposal was receiving serious consideration. 
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Commercial Solvents ultimately did not accept any of Estes' 
proposals for construction of ammonia storage or product10n facilities 
m west Texas. One factor influencing Solvents decision may have 
been the fact that facilities being constructed by Grace Chemical Co. 
at Big Spring and the Shamrock Oil & Gas Co. at Dumas were ex­
pected to be producing ammonia by early 1962. The Grace plant 
was ex~ted to have an annual production capacity of 85,000 tons 
and the Sham.rook plant 50,000 tons. 
Threatened and Actual, Sal,es Negotiations 

On several occasions during Billie Sol Estes' business relationship 
with Commercial Solvents, Estes either threatened to sell or negotiated 
for sale of his fertilizer distribution business to one of Solvents' 
competitors. 

One report of a contact between Estes and the Grace Chemical Co. 
occurred as early as December 1959. W.W. Jackson, vice president 
of Commercial Solvents, made the following comment in a file memo­
randum written on December 9: 

Apparently Grace Chemical has given Billie Sol Estes 
a suggested offer covering anhydrous ammonia as follows: 

1. Grace will provide a $3 handling credit for all out­
bound freight. A 5-percent sales discount will also be pro­
vided; 6 percent interest on money he owes will be charged. 

2. Estes is to pay freight collect on equalized freight for 
the first year. 

3. Estes is to pay $20 per ton back to Grace in cash. 
The balance can be invested in grain, cotton, or ammonia 
stora,ge. Grace will take a second mortgage behind CSC, 
but CSC account cannot exceed $5 million. 

4. One-half of the ammonia requirements are to be for 
Grace. 

Testimony by Douglas Lewsader, pilot of Billie Sol Estes' airplane, 
indicated that Estes made trips to Bartlesville, Okla., March 10 and 
May 26, 1960. Bartlesville is the location of the home office of the 
Phillips Petroleum Co., which has an ammonia plant at Etter, Tex. 

In a letter to President Wheeler on September 20, 1960, James 
McConnell had warned of risks Solvents was taking in the Estes 
account, including one "that Billie may some day become unmanage­
able." In his testimony before the subcommittee, McConnell 
explained this comment as follows: 

Mr. FouNTAIN. Would you care to comment on that letter? 
Mr. McCONNELL. Yes. The use of the word "unmanage­

able" was the fact that Billie was constantly talking to or 
said he was talking with other suppliers who seemed to feel 
they would like to get a chance at the account, too. 

That was one of the big question marks always in this 
account, whether he would stay with us or not. 

During the latter part of 1961, Estes was actively discussing with 
Grace Chemical Co. and with Phillips Petroleum Co. proposals which 
would have involved transferring all or most of Estes' ammonia 
business from Solvent to Grace or Phillips. Commercial Solvents 
told the subcommittee in a letter that "CSC had learned of these 
negotiations and considered them a real threat to the continuation of 
its business with Estes." 
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